Assessing Electronic Government Readiness of Public Organisations – Effect of Internal Factors

(Case of Egypt)

A thesis submitted to Middlesex University in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Student's name Nahed Amin Azab

University's School School of Engineering and Information Sciences

Middlesex University

December 2009

Abstract

Governments have become more and more interested in embracing Information and Communication Technology (ICT), and have made a remarkable progress over the last few years. Electronic Government (e-government) - described as the strategic use of ICT to transform the public sector - is presently recognised as a driver and a key enabler of citizen-centric, cooperative, and seamless modern governance. E-government implementation implies not only a profound transformation in the way government interacts with the governed, but also a reinvention of its internal processes and how public organisations carry their business both internally as well as externally while interacting with the other segments of the community.

Based on the literature, it is frequently claimed that the availability of an effective E-Government Readiness (EGR) assessment framework is a necessary condition for advancing e-government proper implementation. Most e-government appraisal models address the Electronic Service (e-service) dimension of e-government that focuses on the services provided by the government to the citizens on the Internet. This gives a very narrow perspective to e-government ignoring a key dimension: the Electronic Administration (e-administration), that highlights the importance of modernising the public sector, increasing government productivity, and transforming its internal processes. Furthermore, developed models assess E-Government Readiness (EGR) on a country as a whole without conducting an in-depth assessment on a public organisation scale. In addition, the majority of these models do not take into consideration the opinion of the civil servants involved in such e-government programs, a key stakeholder that affects their success.

The objective of this thesis is to develop a framework that assesses EGR focusing on eadministration within public organisations through obtaining its employees' feedback. The suggested framework investigated the internal factors affecting EGR categorised into four dimensions: (i) strategy, (ii) people, (iii) technology, and (iv) processes. A number of measuring constructs are identified under each dimension. The framework components, relationships, and hypotheses were derived from the literature on Electronic Readiness (ereadiness), EGR, Information Systems (IS) and Electronic Commerce (e-commerce) success. In order to test the proposed framework, the thesis examined the relations and interactions of these components in an emerging e-government environment using four case studies of different characteristics to represent public organisations in Egypt. These organisations cover municipalities, investment, tax payment, and health sectors.

ii

Quantitative data collection method was through distributing a questionnaire to a sample of employees in each organisation. Data obtained from the questionnaire in each organisation was triangulated with data gathered from other sources of evidence: (i) interviews with top management, (ii) documentations, (iii) archival records, and (iv) observations.

Findings of the empirical research were evaluated against the framework suggested in the beginning leading to a final framework that assesses EGR of public organisations. Findings revealed that framework's hypotheses were all confirmed. Concerning Egypt's EGR assessment, results proved that processes, technology, and people have a high effect on EGR, whereas strategy has a modest impact on it. This reflects that strategy is not given a high value in terms of e-government and that top management need to further promote e-government within public Egyptian organisations. Findings revealed also the modest impact of strategy on the two dimensions: technology and processes compared with its high effect on people. The research highlighted also the different measuring constructs that have the highest weights in each of the four dimensions. This helps in understanding e-government environment of public organisations in Egypt, showing the main components that affect EGR.

The thesis though provides a rich insight into investigating e-administration within public organisations especially in a developing country such as Egypt, and presents a systematic approach to assess EGR of public organisations based on the four e-government building blocks: (i) strategy, (ii) people, (iii) technology, and (iv) processes. Therefore the thesis contributes to research areas in the literature related to assessments of information systems, e-commerce, e-readiness, and e-government readiness.

Acknowledgment

I would like first to thank God for giving me the strength and persistence to pursue my thesis, and for helping me throughout the entire process especially during the numerous times when feeling out of ideas, and then suddenly the flow of ideas come.

I would like to express my deep appreciation to my supervisors, Dr. Sherif Kamel, Dr. Georgios Dafoulas, and Mr. Abou Bakr Abdel Motaleb. I was lucky to have them because they provided me with all the help I needed from different perspectives.

Dr. Kamel's understanding, guidance, and availability have been pivotal in directing the research to fruitful results whereby the objectives are reached. Dr. Sherif aptitude to listen and follow others' thoughts, his experience, and wide knowledge were invaluable. He set me an example in support and in being available whenever needed that I try to follow with my students.

As for Dr. Dafoulas, his natural enthusiasm for the subject not only led to opening up for new ideas and venues for enriching the thesis but also reflected positively on my approach to it. He was always giving me confidence and allocating me always from his time and effort.

Dealing with Mr. Abdel Motaleb allowed me to organise my ideas. His ability to look at several bits, combine them and put himself at the place of readers and reviewers, helped in rectifying my path throughout the whole research.

The learning resources staff at Middlesex has been very helpful in replying quickly to my requests, and in securing accessibility to resources and online libraries.

I wish to thank in advance the professors of Middlesex who will act as readers to this dissertation, and whom I have not had the pleasure of knowing yet.

I would like also to express my deep gratitude to the people who allowed me to gather information from the Egyptian public organisations studied: Eng. Sameh Bedair, Consultant at the Ministry of State for Administrative Development (former E-Government Program Manager), Mr. Ahmed Fathy and Mrs. Noha Ahmed from Montaza District; Eng. Fathy Abdel aziz, Mr. Shokry, and Mrs. Gehad from the Tax unit for Non-Commercial Professions; and Dr. Ihab Talkhan and Dr. Amr Abou elFadl from the Public Hospital. They are truly way beyond a "thank you". They were generous with their time, knowledge and information. Suffice it to say that without their genuine support this research could not

have been realised. Also, I would like to show special appreciation to all of those who participated in filling the questionnaire: you were very kind. Without even knowing me you gave valuable contribution to my work.

The sincere prayers of my mother and father; the love and caring of my intimate friends Ola, Nashwa, Nesrine, and Ghada, made me feel I am not alone in pursing my objective.

I would like also to thank my family. My beloved husband and best friend, Ahmed, who always listened, helped whenever he can. He also had to put up with my ups and downs, uncertainty, guilt when not coming up with ideas or not working. My son Nabil and my daughter Farah were always proud of me, and were certain that I will be able to complete this thesis. They were always following the progress in my research and helped me in entering questionnaire data on the computer. My family's extending unconditional love and patience as well as their belief that my success is theirs was a pivotal factor in completing my thesis. To them I dedicate this work.

Table of Contents

1.	Introduction	1					
1.1	The problem being addressed and the research question						
1.2	The thesis aim and objectives						
1.3	Research process	6					
1.4	Contribution towards Electronic Government (e-government)	8					
1.5	Rationale for the organisation of the thesis	9					
1.6	Summary	10					
2.	Literature Review	12					
2.1	Definition of Electronic Government (e-government)	13					
2.2	Electronic Readiness (e-readiness) measurement models	15					
2.3	E-Government Readiness (EGR) Assessment Models	17					
2.4	Information Systems (IS) success models	22					
2.5	Electronic Commerce (e-commerce) success models	26					
2.6	Summary	33					
3.	Methodology 34						
3.1	Research design 35						
3.2	Epistemology 36						
3.3	Research strategy 38						
3.4	Desk research method	41					
3.5	Prenaration for data collection	42					
3.5	3.5.1 Investigation of case studies	43					
3	B.5.2 Pilot case study	45					
3.6	Data collection methods	46					
3	3.6.1 Interviews	46					
3	3.6.2 Documentation	49					
3	3.6.3 Archival Records	49					
3	3.6.4Direct Observations50						
3.7	Data Analysis	50					
3	<i>B.7.1 Analysis of quantitative data</i>	51					
ŝ	8.7.2 Analysis of qualitative data	56					

3.8	Data	Data Validation 56					
3.9	Summary 56						
4.	EGR Framework 58						
4.1	Suggested framework for assessing EGR 59						
4.2	Des	cription of the suggested EGR framework	61				
4	.2.1	Strategy	62				
4	.2.2	Processes	63				
4	.2.3	Technology	65				
4	.2.4	People	67				
4	.2.5	Inter-relations between the four dimensions	68				
4.3	Sum	ımary	69				
5.	Case	e Studies	70				
5.1	Cou	ntry profile	71				
5.2	Des	cription of the research case studies	73				
5	.2.1	74					
5	5.2.2 Case study 2 - Tax Unit for Non-Commercial Professions (TUNC)						
5	5.2.3 Case study 3 – Ministry of Investment (MOI)						
5	5.2.4 Case study 4 – A Public Hospital (PH) 7						
5.3	Data	a collection process	80				
5	.3.1	Montaza District (MD)	81				
5	.3.2	Tax Unit for Non-Commercial Professions (TUNC)	82				
5	.3.3	Ministry of Investment (MOI)	83				
5	.3.4	Public Hospital (PH)	83				
5.4	Com	parison of data collection in the four case studies	85				
5.5	Mai	n remarks on data collection	86				
5.6	Sum	imary	88				
6.	Data	a Analysis	89				
6.1	Find	ings of quantitative data	90				
6	.1.1	Demographics	90				
6	6.1.2 Testing research model						
6.2	Find	ings of qualitative data	102				
6	.2.1	Montaza District (MD)	102				
6.2.2 Tax Unit for Non-Commercial Professions (TUNC)							

6	.2.3	Ministry of Investment (MOI)	108			
6	.2.4	Public Hospital (PH)	110			
6.3	Sum	ımary	112			
7.	Disc	ussion	113			
7.1	Com	paring quantitative and qualitative data	114			
7	.1.1	Montaza District (MD)	114			
7	.1.2	Tax Unit for Non-Commercial Professions (TUNC)	119			
7	.1.3	Ministry of Investment (MOI)	126			
7	.1.4	Public Hospital (PH)	132			
7.2	EGR	framework of Egypt	138			
7.3	Sum	imary	140			
8.	Con	clusion	142			
8.1	Sum	mary of the thesis	143			
8.2	Ans	wering the research question	144			
8.3 Considerations for the organisations studied						
8.4 Considerations for policy makers						
8.5 Limitations of the thesis						
8.6 Recommendations for future research						
8.7	8.7 Epilogue					
Refe	erence	25	153			
Арр	endix	A: E-Readiness Models	170			
Арр	endix	B: E-Government Readiness (EGR) Questionnaire	171			
Appendix C: Interviews' Questions						
Appendix D: Final Factor Analysis 18						
Appendix E: Correlations 2						
Арр	endix	F: Reliability	231			
Арр	endix	G: Validity	235			
Арр	Appendix H: Partial Models (LISREL Version 8.72) 23					
Арр	Appendix I: Combined Data of Egypt 2					

List of Tables

	Table 2.1 - Dimensions of E-Government	15
	Table 2.2 – Assessment Criteria for E-Readiness Models	16
	Table 2.3 – Comparative Analysis between E-Readiness Models	17
	Table 2.4 – Comparative Analysis between EGR Models	19
	Table 2.5 - Main Constructs used in E-Commerce Success Research	28
	Table 4.1 – Gartner's Four Phases of E-Government (Baum and Maio, 2000)	62
	Table 4.2 - Main Constructs of "Strategy" and Corresponding Questions (Part A of the Questionnaire in Appendix B)	e 65
	Table 4.3 - Main Constructs of "Processes" and Corresponding Questions (Part B of the Questionna67	ire in
Арр	pendix B)	
	Table 4.4 - Main Constructs of "Technology" and Corresponding Questions (Part C of the Questionn 67	aire in
Арр	pendix B)	
	Table 4.5 - Main Constructs of "People" and Corresponding Questions (Part D of the Questionnaire in Appendix B)	69
	Table 5.1 – Comparison of Data collection at the Four Case Studies of Public Organisations	90
	Table 6.1: Description of the Sample Used at MD, TUNC, MOI, and PH	97
	Table 6.2: Software Usage and Training at MD, TUNC, MOI, and PH	97
	Table 6.3: Comparison of the Average of the Four Dimensions between MD, TUNC, MOI, and PH	99
	Table 6.4 – Partial Research Model Results (Rows showing different results in both cases are highlighted by the second se	ghted) 102
	Table 6.5: Average of the Four Dimensions for all Cases Combined	103
	Table 6.6 – Partial Research Model Results for Egypt	104
	Table 7.1 – Comparison between Quantitative and Qualitative Results (MD)	123
	Table 7.2 – Comparison between Quantitative and Qualitative Results (TUNC)	130
	Table 7.3 – Comparison between Quantitative and Qualitative Results (MOI)	136

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 - Overall Research Process	8
Figure 1.2 - Organisation of the Thesis	10
Figure 2.1 - Information System Success (DeLone and McLean, 1992)	24
Figure 2.2 – The Reformulated IS Success (DeLone and McLean, 2002)	25
Figure 2.3 - E-Commerce Success Model (Molla and Licker, 2001)	28
Figure 2.4 - Website Performance Framework (Huizingh, 2000)	31
Figure 2.5 - Electronic Commerce Domain Matrix (Riggins and Rhee, 1998)	33
Figure 3.1 – Research Design	37
Figure 4.1 – Proposed E-Government Readiness (EGR) Framework	63
Figure 4.2 – Proposed E-government Readiness (EGR) Framework (Revised Version)	71
Figure 7.1 – Final E-Government Readiness (EGR) Framework of Egypt	143
Figure 8.1 – E-Government Readiness (EGR) Framework	150

"The idea of reengineering through technology is critical. We didn't want to automate the old, worn processes of government. Information technology (IT) was and is the great enabler for reinvention. It allows us to rethink, in fundamental ways, how people work and how we serve customers."

(Albert Arnold "AL" Gore, Jr., 1997, Vice President Of United States of America)

1. Introduction

Objectives of chapter 1

- Introduce and provide a context for the thesis.
- Describe the foundation of and the motivation for the research.
- Discuss the problem addressed by the thesis.
- Outline the aim and objectives of the thesis.
- Summarise the research process.
- Identify the areas of research to which the thesis contributes.
- Provide the rationale for the organisation of the thesis' chapters.

Electronic Government (e-government) - simply described as the strategic use of Information and Communication Technology (ICT) to transform the public sector (Phang et al., 2008) - has started in the late 1990s (Chan and Pan, 2008). It is already a reality expected to draw further interest among both academic and business communities (Alican, 2007). The benefits perceived by Electronic Commerce (e-commerce) (such as, convenient access to information and to more products and services, efficient customer service, ability to customise products and services, easy and fast transactions, cheaper products and services, etc.) have raised the level of expectations of citizens, demanding faster, better and more access to government services (Krishnaswamy, 2005), and providing the flexibility and client focus of the private sector (Grönlund and Horan, 2004; Flak and Rose, 2005; Lee et al., 2005). Governments anticipate similar increases in efficiency, productivity improvements and cost savings similar to those experienced by the private sector (Stamoulis et al., 2001; Clark, 2003).

E-government implementation can realise considerable benefits such as provide citizens and organisations with better information and services (Grönlund, 2002; Fountain 2005; Lam, 2005; Torres et al., 2005; Tung and Rieck, 2005), increase the efficiency of the public administration through simplifying administrative procedures and cutting costs (Bhatnagar, 2000; Dawes et al., 2004; Gilbert et al., 2004; Tung and Rieck, 2005; Zhang et al., 2005; Mayer-Schönberger and Lazer, 2007), and incorporate democratic processes

1

(Guerrini, 2008) through citizens' participation (Sharma, 2004). These benefits result in increasing trust in local government (Tolbert and Mossberger, 2006), and in improving government transparency, responsiveness, and accountability (Belanger and Carter, 2008).

The benefits perceived through e-government drove a large number of developed and developing countries worldwide to allocate substantial resources to implement egovernment (Tassabehji, 2005). According to the United Nations Survey 2008 "From E-Government to Connected Governance", 189 out of 192 member countries (98%) operate government websites (UNDESA, 2008). However, how these benefits would be reached is still a matter of controversy (Krishnaswamy, 2005). Although most e-government researchers express optimistic views regarding the impact of e-government (Heeks and Bailur, 2007), e-government is still in an early stage (Leith and Morrison, 2004) and has not achieved many of the expected outcomes (Moon, 2002; Ke and Wei, 2004; Heeks, 2006b). Moreover, the failure rate of e-government projects was estimated somewhere between 60-80% (UNDESA, 2003b). This is mainly due to the applications which tend to reflect low levels of back-stage reengineering and inter-department cooperation in public organisations (Grant and Chau, 2005). E-government is more than a technological phenomenon; it is transformative in nature (Dada, 2006); comprising a broad spectrum of activities that are offered using ICT (Northrup and Thorson, 2003) affecting the management of human, technological, and organisational resources (Jansen, 2005; Cocchiglia and Vernaschi, 2006) and the coherent integration between them (Pappa and Stergioulas, 2005).

Given the amount of time and money being spent today on e-government, it becomes increasingly important for governments to identify measures of success and regularly monitor and evaluate performance (Stowers, 2004; Guerrini, 2008; Irani et al., 2008). E-Government Readiness (EGR) assessment is considered an important study to the success of e-government initiative. Such assessment would raise awareness, describe e-government environment, and confirm the feasibility of application of e-government approaches (UNDESA, 2003a). EGR assessment would also provide a roadmap for politicians, economists and other stakeholders to guide them towards the right direction (Jansen, 2005). In addition, assessing the impact of ICT on the back office of public organisations would reveal several aspects that may not be perceived otherwise.

Benchmarking e-government initiatives has been developed and studied for around a few years (Salem, 2007), but it is argued that such initiatives do not provide a comprehensive and unifying framework (Esteves and Joseph, 2008) that may help to assess, classify and

compare different e-government programs (Hu et al., 2005; Grant and Chau, 2005). This is attributed to the fact that information systems in the public sector are a process of experiential and subjective judgment grounded in opinion and world views (Irani et al., 2005). There is still a need for an "efficient EGR framework" (Ojo et al., 2007) to allow for assessment, comparison and explanation of current efforts to vis-à-vis past and future investments in the e-government enterprise and on increasing cross functional efficiencies (Grant and Chau, 2005).

The aim of this thesis is to fill the research gap in assessing E-Government Readiness (EGR) of public organisations. Most assessment approaches of Electronic Readiness (e-readiness) and EGR are more suitable for the appraisal of the overall development of e-government; they are not directly focusing on the problems that exist in e-government projects or on the internal factors affecting a public organisation. Furthermore, most of these approaches ignore the view of civil servants (Heeks, 2006a) even though they constitute the cornerstone in the success of any e-government project as the direct users.

The research process started by investigating the appraisal frameworks and models available in the literature. E-readiness assessment models were discussed before the major EGR assessment ones. Such approach was taken given the fact that e-readiness is the foundation area of EGR, and that the e-readiness concept – investigated prior to EGR – reached satisfactory common grounds among both researchers and governments. Both e-readiness and EGR models were analysed, their deficiencies were pointed out and by drawing on their merits, and on a number of models addressing Information Systems (IS) and e-commerce success, the research developed an EGR framework of e-government project success focusing on electronic management. Although being a principal dimension of e-government, electronic management is often slighted because it is mostly invisible to the public but should not be ignored by governments (Dawes, 2002). Since implementation of e-government takes various forms, the goal of the research was to contribute to the understanding of the impact of ICT in a government organisation.

The thesis recommends that in order to reach success in developing and implementing egovernment, public agencies should realise the importance and interrelation between all e-government building blocks which are: (i) strategy, (ii) processes, (iii) technology, and (iv) people. An EGR framework is proposed encompassing all these issues, and then

3

tested by getting feedback from the employees working in a number of public sector organisations in Egypt.

Apart from the availability of case studies and reasonable access to data for this research study, Egypt was also selected as a very suitable environment for e-government research due to several reasons:

- The lack of research pinpointing the potential of e-government in developing countries (Corea, 2007; Gupta et al., 2008). Compared to developed countries, different issues related to the context within which e-government is implemented (such as institutional, cultural, and administrative) "has not received adequate attention in the e-government literature" (Nour et al., 2008). This requires the need for additional research and proposed approaches (Ndou, 2004; Schuppan, 2009), and Egypt is no exception.
- The slow progress in e-government adoption in developing countries compared to developed ones (Sagheb-Tehrani, 2007) in addition to the high failure rate of e-government in them (Heeks, 2003). Such facts instigate the requirement of further research to investigate this unexplored issue (Dada, 2006) and to identify the critical success factors affecting EGR in developing countries.
- The progress that Egypt has achieved in e-government based on the only two benchmarks that included Egypt in their rankings¹: West (2007, 2008) and UNDESA (2005, 2008). Since the benchmarking criteria in both reports focus on the nations' websites without any attention directed to the back office, this progress in e-government in Egypt raises the following question: is this improvement reflected in e-management as well? Do public organisations in Egypt have the suitable foundation to support the front office, or that the official Egyptian portal providing online services is just an external layer that is not incorporated in the bone of the overall system in public organisations?

The results obtained from the empirical research were used to verify the viability of the suggested framework in terms of the suggested dimensions (strategy, processes, technology, and people) and their classification. Furthermore, findings provided an assessment of EGR in Egypt (indicating the weight of each dimension), presented indepth investigation of the degree of involvement of employees in shaping e-government

¹ Assessment criteria in both benchmarks are explained in chapter 2: Literature Review, section 2.3. Egypt's rank in each benchmark is provided in chapter 5: Case Studies, section 5.1.

initiatives, and indicated the extent of communication between top management and employees in public organisations in Egypt.

1.1 The problem being addressed and the research question

Reviewing studies on e-readiness, E-Government Readiness (EGR), IS and e-commerce success factors reveals the existence of a research gap if one's aim is to assess internal factors affecting EGR. The majority of previous studies perform their assessment based on a national scale. As for the small number of research assessing EGR on a micro level, i.e. within a public organisation, they are not considering all internal factors affecting EGR; moreover they are conducted on developed countries without verifying their applicability on a developing country such as Egypt. This led to the following research question:

What is the framework that could best assess E-Government Readiness (EGR) encompassing all internal factors affecting e-government within a public organisation?

The literature investigated can certainly be useful as a foundation for further research to fill this research gap.

1.2 The thesis aim and objectives

The previous section discussed the issues that were addressed in this thesis leading to the presentation of the research question. The research question is the starting point that determines the research aims and objectives.

Based on the research question, the thesis aim was to identify all the internal building blocks of E-Government Readiness (EGR) of a public organisation as well as the relations between them. This aim was reached through attaining the following distinct but closely related objectives:

- 1. Research the concept of e-government and the different ways it is perceived.
- 2. Derive from the literature the critical success factors for EGR along with the constructs that aid in measuring each factor.
- 3. Extract only the internal factors that affect EGR of public organisations (i.e. excluding external factors affecting EGR that are related to the whole country such as, economical, political, regulatory, etc.).
- 4. Build a primary EGR assessment framework presenting the specified factors along with suggested relations between them.

- 5. Compile a list of the organisations used as case studies for the empirical research based on their suitability in representing the main characteristics of public organisations in Egypt.
- 6. Conduct empirical research on the selected case studies.
- 7. Compare the empirical research findings with the different components of the primary framework that was developed earlier (step number 4).
- 8. Refine the primary framework based on the results obtained from the empirical research.

1.3 Research process

Once articulated, the research objectives directed the researcher to the appropriate approaches to be embraced in order to reach them. To achieve these objectives it was necessary to gather a variety of data about different aspects of the problem addressed in the thesis, and to analyse this data using different techniques.

Theory building

An initial research foundation was formed in terms of an investigation of e-readiness and EGR assessments. Analysis of these assessment models indicated their several shortcomings and their inadequacy in assessing EGR of public organisations; this lead to undertaking a second literature review phase in the areas of e-commerce and information systems success. Although all models described in the literature do not address all factors affecting EGR, they served as a theoretical foundation to determine such factors. The identified factors were then used to define a set of requirements for EGR assessment and to develop a preliminary framework that assesses EGR within a public organisation.

Empirical research

In order to test the suggested framework, an empirical research was conducted in a number of public organisations in Egypt. A case study research strategy was selected since it is a well known approach for exploratory, theory-building research (Eisenhardt, 1989) allowing in depth investigation (Pettigrew, 1990; Walsham, 1993; Yin, 1993; Majchrzak et al., 2000; Shane, 2000; Krogh et al., 2003; Chen and Hirschheim, 2004). Both quantitative and qualitative data were collected. Quantitative data served in testing the research hypotheses statistically attempting to cover a sample of employees in public organisations in Egypt. The research gathered also qualitative data to obtain a profound insight into the situation of e-government in the case studies investigated. Both kinds of data were compared for the purpose of triangulation to confirm the validity of the findings acquired from the empirical research (Ragin, 1987; Yin, 2002; Saunders et al., 2000; Sarker and Lee, 2003; Davison et al., 2004; Johnson and Onwuegbuzie, 2004).

Quantitative data was collected through distributing a questionnaire on a sample representing employees working in administrative positions. Qualitative data was collected through in-depth unstructured and semi-structured interviews (Yin, 2002; Malterud, 2001; Dube and Pare, 2003) with top management, key people, and with a number of employees. Interviews were combined with observations of the workplace, and with a review of documents and archival records available in the public organisations studied.

Figure 1.1 presents an illustration of the overall research process that was adopted to reach the aim and objectives of the thesis. The foundation for this research study was on EGR assessment. In the beginning, a literature review provided early hypotheses regarding EGR of public organisations forming a preliminary framework. In order to test the proposed framework, data was gathered from a number of selected public organisations in Egypt. Results obtained from the empirical research served in evaluating them against the primary framework derived from the literature leading to a revised conceptual model of EGR assessment of public organisations in Egypt. The final stage comprises the main ideas concluded from the entire research highlighting the research contributions of this thesis.



Figure 1.1

Figure 1.1 - Overall Research Process

1.4 Contribution towards Electronic Government (e-government)

The different stages of the research process led to the development of a systematic approach to assess EGR of public organisations. Such aim definitely contributes to e-government; a still immature field (Hu et al., 2005) lacking formal theory development and testing (Heeks and Bailur, 2007); and in which many perspectives are still unexplored (Esteves and Joseph, 2008). Further studies in this direction evidently enrich knowledge in such domain as it merges traditional modelling practices in more established fields (such as IS and e-commerce) in measuring ambiguous notions, and provides conceptual models for them.

Assessing EGR of public organisations is always overlooked because the main focus of EGR assessments research is on e-government front office, underestimating the effect of the back office integration on e-government success. The reason behind this interest in the front office perspective of e-government lies in its importance in enhancing the image of government locally and internationally because: (i) existing EGR benchmarks monitored regularly by policy makers and researchers assess mainly website performance, without addressing back office related progress and efficiency; and (ii) back office efficiency is not much perceived by citizens as opposed to the presence of an official website. In addition, the focus on implementing a website and on including continuous additional services to it does not require much resources and efforts compared to those needed in improving back office performance through the use of ICT. Only recently, e-government literature (such as UNDESA, 2008 and Accenture, 2007) realised the value of the back office and tried to provide an insight into the main issues associated with it. This reflects the fact that e-administration assessment is by far less exploited, hence the inevitability to conduct this research at present.

1.5 Rationale for the organisation of the thesis

This thesis consists of eight chapters organised under three categories: research positioning (chapters 1 and 2), research body (chapters 3 to 6), and research outcomes (chapters 7 and 8). Figure 1.2 demonstrates the organisation of the thesis diagrammatically.

The first chapter (Introduction) provides the context for the thesis, highlights the research gap, presents the research question, identifies the thesis aim and objectives, and explains the research process. Chapter two (Literature Review) discusses the meaning of e-government, and investigates different e-readiness and E-Government Readiness (EGR) assessment models, as well as several IS and e-commerce success models. The chapter conducts a critique of all presented appraisal models pinpointing their shortcomings in assessing internal factors affecting EGR of a public organisation.

Chapters three, four, five, and six discuss the core research of this thesis and focus on aspects of originality. More specifically, chapter three explains the methodology that was embraced in order to realise the thesis objectives. Chapter four presents a suggested framework for assessing EGR. This chapter is directly linked with chapter two in order to provide a conceptual foundation for the proposed framework. The fifth chapter starts by highlighting the e-government initiative in Egypt. Next, the chapter presents the case studies selected for the empirical research, and discusses the rationale behind selecting them along with a description of their contexts. Chapter six reviews briefly the data analysis process (explained in detail in chapter 3: Methodology, section 3.7), analyses the data gathered from the case studies, and reports the main findings of the research.



Figure 1.2 - Organisation of the Thesis

The last two chapters of this thesis present the main outcomes of this research study. Chapter seven focuses on the comparison of results obtained from the organisations studied (chapter six), with the preliminary framework presented in chapter four (suggested based on the literature of related areas of research). The results of the comparison lead to the development of a final framework. Finally, chapter eight reflects upon the thesis and considers its contribution to research in the computer science fields of information systems in general and in e-government in particular. A number of future research avenues are suggested focusing on generalising the developed framework over other contexts. The last chapter draws on the first one to confirm that the research reached its objectives, and that it answered the research question posed in the first chapter.

1.6 Summary

This chapter highlighted the main points of the problem being addressed leading to the research question. The aim and objectives capable of answering the research questions were defined. Also a brief introduction of the research methodology used to attain these objectives was presented explaining the overall research process. Contribution of the thesis to its relevant research area was discussed followed by an illustration of the organisation of the thesis' chapters. In the next chapter, a more-in-depth review of e-readiness, E-Government Readiness (EGR), information systems (IS), and electronic commerce (e-commerce) assessments will be undertaken, to pinpoint their inadequacy in solving the research problem. The chapter will also discuss the main factors that can be extracted from the criteria employed in the above assessments to help in developing an assessment EGR framework for public organisations.

Chapter 2

2. Literature Review

Objectives of chapter 2

- Introduce the concept of e-government from its different perspectives.
- Investigate Electronic Readiness (e-readiness) assessment models.
- Undertake an in-depth investigation of E-Government Readiness (EGR) assessments.
- Discuss the main Information Systems (IS) success models available in the literature.
- Present existing Electronic Commerce (e-commerce) assessments.



several areas of research. This chapter highlights the main theoretical concepts in the literature related to this topic providing an insight into the research area. It starts by

introducing the meaning of e-government through presenting the different ways researchers perceive it; this leads to a deduced e-government definition that will be referred to in this thesis. Next, the chapter discusses several assessment models to check the availability of a tool to be employed in assessing EGR of a public organisation. E-readiness assessment models are first investigated, followed by other tools developed specifically for assessing EGR. E-readiness assessment models are presented due to two reasons: first e-readiness is the foundation area of EGR; and second the e-readiness concept has a standard and common understanding among both researchers and governments since research in e-readiness was investigated prior to EGR. Next, it was necessary to investigate IS and e-commerce success models since e-government is an application of Information and Communication Technologies (ICT) (Gordon, 2002) as well as of e-commerce (Guo and LU, 2005), providing opportunities for the development and use of ICT in the public sector. After conducting a critical analysis on the presented assessment models, the researcher concluded that relevant models in the literature cannot be used entirely to assess EGR of public organisations.

2.1 Definition of Electronic Government (e-government)

E-government is a concept causing debates because it does not have a common meaning for all researchers and stakeholders (Seifert and Relyea, 2004). Due to the fact that e-government is a multidimensional, multidisciplinary, and immature field (Jaeger, 2003), as well as the existence of different e-government implementation approaches, it is becoming increasingly difficult to set a common definition (Roy, 2003). There exists a number of different definitions of e-government in the literature, ranging from being too narrow and specific into extremely general and broad, reflecting different meanings and definitions to different people. Narrow e-government definitions focus only on using ICT particularly the Internet (Turban et al., 2002), whereas broader definitions consider ICT as a mean towards better government practices (OECD, 2003a). Such 'better government' increases efficiency of public services (E-Europe, 2005), improves citizen participation (Janakova, 2004, OECD, 2003b), and ensures electronic availability of all internal and external government activities (NAO, 2002).

Other broad definitions view e-government as the use of ICT, particularly the Internet, as a tool to achieve better government (The Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development-OECD, 2003a; 2003b), or smarter government (Netcaucus, 2001). Furthermore, The World Bank (2003) sees that ICT is used mainly to transform the relations with citizens, businesses, and other government entities. The European Commission's Information Society describes e-government being "for people to be online,

13

not in line" (Europa, 2001). Reinermann (2001) sees it as "the transformation of public institutions into 'cyberspace' – an area without restrictions caused by space, time or hierarchies".

Some researchers - taking the broad e-government view - provide a composite egovernment definition comprising three or four dimensions. For example, Heeks (2001) classifies three dimensions for e-government: electronic service (e-service), electronic administration (e-administration), and electronic society (e-society) (concerned with building society through fostering interactions and partnerships between the government and all constituents of the society). The two dimensions e-service and e-administration are also pointed out by Dawes (2002) and Jansen (2005), and they identify electronic democracy (e-democracy) as a third dimension. Dawes (2002) adds also a fourth dimension: e-commerce, viewed principally as the electronic exchange of money for goods and services.

The researcher concludes that the classification of Jansen (2005) - that provides three egovernment dimensions: e-service, e-administration, and e-democracy - is the most indicative since it combines all views of e-government. The examination of the e-society dimension defined by Heeks (2001) indicates that it has the same meaning as edemocracy; as of the fourth dimension – e-commerce – stated by Dawes (2002), it can be considered as part of e-services. Table 2.1 shows these dimensions and their meanings.

Dimension	Meaning
E-service	Comprises the delivery of all types of electronic services
	(Centre for Technology in Government, 2001; Dawes, 2002; E- Europe, 2005; Fang, 2002; Grönlund 2000; Heeks, 2001; Kearns and Taylor, 2003; Prins, 2006; Schubert and Hausler, 2001; Turban et al., 2002; Wyld, 2004).
E-administration	Includes various types of management work and internal processes and operations
	(Centre for Technology in Government, 2001; Chadwick and May, 2003; Dawes, 2002; E-Europe, 2005; Fang, 2002; Grönlund 2000; Heeks, 2001; Janakova, 2004; Koh et al., 2006; Prins, 2006; Schubert and Hausler, 2001; Wimmer, 2002).
E-democracy	Focuses on the political processes and interaction between the constituents and the government
	(Centre for Technology in Government, 2001; Janakova, 2004; Dawes, 2002; Fang, 2002; Grönlund, 2000; Heeks, 2001; Prins, 2006; Schubert and Hausler, 2001; Wyld, 2004).

Table 2.1 - Dimensions	s of E-Government
------------------------	-------------------

The Classification of e-government into the above three dimensions (e-service, edemocracy, and e-administration) is described by Maio et al. (2002) who define egovernment as "the transformation of public-sector internal and external relationships through Internet-enabled operations and information and communication technology to optimise government services delivery, constituency participation and internal government processes". The researcher suggests that such definition reflects to a great extent all egovernment aspects and could be a common definition agreed upon by most researchers.

After concluding on an e-government definition, it is also important to place the context of e-administration in relation with e-government types of relationships. Based on the view suggested by different researchers, Hiller and Belanger (2001) classify these relationships into the following: (i) government providing services to citizens (G2IS); (ii) government fostering communication and participation of citizens concerned with the political process (G2IP); (iii) governments facilitating offering online services to business (G2BC); (iv) government facilitating transactions with businesses, such as e-procurement (G2BMKT); (v) governments enabling access to information and services to their employees (G2E); and (vi) governments ensuring collaboration among public agencies (G2G).

Following such categorisation, one could argue that e-administration – which is the main focus of this study - address chiefly the relation between government and employees (G2E) and between public organisations (G2G). The study investigated these two types of e-government, and researched also the relation between government and citizens (G2IS) through getting the feedback of employees and top management about online services provided and means of evaluating citizens' perceptions towards these services in each of the four public organisations investigated.

2.2 Electronic Readiness (e-readiness) measurement models

Assessing E-Government Readiness (EGR) dictated the need to investigate e-readiness assessment approaches: since EGR is a main element of a country's overall e-readiness (Kovacic, 2005). A country's "e-readiness" is essentially "the degree in which a community is qualified to participate in the Networked World. It is measured by judging the relative advance of the most important areas for the adoption of the ICTs and their most important applications" (Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002).

GeoSINC International (2002) identifies five main areas of activities that contribute to the overall e-readiness of a country: (i) access and connectivity; (ii) training; education and public awareness; (iii) government leadership; (iv) business and private sector initiatives; and (v) social development that builds up on the result of initiatives taken in other areas but

should also be promoted. After a thorough investigation of 17 e-readiness models, the researcher identifies five key categories of assessment criteria: (i) IT infrastructure, (ii) human resources, (iii) policies and regulations, (iv) environment (economical, political, cultural), and (v) e-government transformation (addressing internal factors affecting e-government such as public websites and ICT usage by government). Table 2.2 lists each category, and the underlying items associated with it.

Area	Content
Information Technology	Usage in terms of type and quality of services available,
Infrastructure	software and hardware.
Human Resources	General, and in terms of the information technology sector.
Policies and Regulations	Information and communication technology policy in terms of security policy, security standards, legal recognition of digital signature, intellectual property rights (IPR), and protection and privacy policy.
Environment	Economic implications on the information technology sector as well as the political structure, culture, and e-leadership (key players – negotiations)
E-government Transformation	Availability of government websites and public e-service, and use and promotion of ICT in the government.

Table 2.2 – Assessment Criteria for E-Readiness Models

Bridges.org, a non-profit organisation dedicated to research related to ICT is the most entity referred to in the literature that publishes reports compiling the majority of ereadiness models and providing a detailed comparison between them. The most applied ereadiness assessment models are included in the reports issued by Bridges.org in 2001 and 2005. Table 2.3 shows a comparative analysis between these models presenting the main components measured by each model according to the classification presented in table 2.2.

Model	IT Infrastructure	HR	Policies and Regulation s	Environmen t	E-government Transformation
Center for International Development – Harvard University and IBM (CID)	V	\checkmark	\checkmark	V	 Government effectiveness in promoting the use of ICT Availability of online government services Extent of government websites Business Internet interactions with government
Center for International Development and Conflict Management (CIDCM)	~	\checkmark	\checkmark	1	
International Telecommunicatio n Union (ITU)	\checkmark				
The World Information Technology and Services Alliance (WITSA)	V	V	\checkmark	V	
U.S. Agency for					 ICT usage in government

International Development (USAID)					(hardware, software, and networks in each ministry)
World Bank (Knowledge Assessment Methodology - KAM)	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	 Availability of online government services
World Economic Forum, Infodev & INSEAD (Network Readiness Index - NRI)	V	\checkmark	V	\checkmark	 Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Volume of transactions that businesses have with governments Availability of online government services

Table 2.3 – Comparative Analysis between E-Readiness Models

The analysis presented in table 2.3 indicates that some e-readiness models, such as CIDCM, ITU, and WITSA do not include e-government in their assessments. The other tools (CID, KAM, NRI, and USAID) do not consider all internal factors affecting EGR; they only assess availability and number of online services, and promotion and usage of ICT by the public sector. The same conclusion can be applied on additional tools included in e-readiness literature. Appendix A provides a full listing of these additional tools.

Since e-government is only a component of e-readiness, e-readiness assessment models do not undertake an in-depth research of e-government; they ignore vital elements, such as culture and technology acceptance of public officials (Dada, 2006), quality of ICT in government, strategic alignment, etc. In addition, e-readiness indicators are over-simplified measurements not reflecting a veritable e-government status, omitting more relevant dimensions difficult to be measured (Bannister, 2004). Most importantly, in studying e-government in Latin America, Altman (2002) concludes that there is no direct relation between e-readiness and e-government implementation in a country; this clarifies Jansen's (2005) recommendation to focus on the most particular factors to e-government when attempting to measure it. Based on the analysis presented, the study confirmed the inadequacy of e-readiness models for assessing EGR, which necessitated the investigation of models developed specifically for this purpose.

There are still some factors derived from e-readiness assessments that can affect EGR such as the availability of online services, the extent of ICT usage in public organisations and efficiency of ways of promoting it, and the degree of communication between citizens and government through public websites.

2.3 E-Government Readiness (EGR) Assessment Models

Early publications on EGR assessments appeared around 2000 (Hu et al, 2005) (e.g., the first Accenture report issued in 2000 (Accenture, 2005), and the first Darrell West's assessment at Brown University published in 2001 (West, 2006)). Since then and until

nowadays, Bannister (2007) states that "at least three e-government benchmarks have been published each year as well as a regular stream of one-off measurements". Such assessments propose basic assessment criteria, conceptualising e-government development and implementation (Jansen, 2005). Table 2.4 presents several EGR models, the corresponding regions or countries measured, and the measurement criteria used by each model.

Framework	Countries/Regions	Measurement Criteria
Accenture (2005)	22 countries	 Service maturity (breadth, depth)
		 Customer service maturity (citizen-
		centred interactions, cross-
		government service interactions,
		multi-channel service delivery,
		proactive communication and
		education)
Accenture (2007)	22 countries	 Service maturity (breadth, depth)
		 Customer service maturity (citizen-
		centred interactions, cross-
		government service interactions,
		multi-channel service delivery,
		proactive communication and
		education)
		 Citizen voice
Bertelsmann Foundation	12 case studies	 Benefit (quality and quantity of e-
(2002)	from developed	services)
	countries (e-	○ E-participation
	government portals	○ E-transparency
	belonging to	 Change management
	governments.	 Efficiency (IT architecture and
	regions and local	infrastructure, resource planning.
	authorities)	human resources)
Commonwealth Centre for	5 developed	 Public access and usage of
Electronic Governance	countries	broadband connectivity
(2002)		○ Citizens' access of e-services
()		\circ Readiness of a public key
		infrastructure (PKI)
Koh and Prybutok (2003)	City of Denton.	○ Internal and external e-government
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	Texas	functions in 3 categories:
		informational, transactional,
		operational)
		 E-services transformation at 3 levels:
		strategic, system, data
UNDESA (2003b, 2004,	179 UN country	• Web presence
2005, 2008)	members	 Telecommunication infrastructure
,		○ Human capital
Cap Gemini Ernst and	18, 28, 28 European	 Quality and usage of public e-
Young (2003, 2004, 2006)	countries	services
WASEDA University (2006)	32 Countries	○ IT infrastructure
- Japan		 Online systems and applications
		 Management optimisation (enterprise
		architecture, ICT investment, system
		optimisation, integrated network
		system, administrative and budgetary
		systems, public management reform
		by ICT)
		 o Homepage features

		 Chief Information Officer (CIO) related aspects Promotion of e-government (priority of planning and strategy, promotion activities, legal framework, evaluation system)
West (2006, 2007, 2008) - Brown University	Websites in 198 countries	 Features of government websites

Table 2.4 – Comparative Analysis between EGR Models

The analysis of the above models reveals that they do not cover all dimensions and aspects of EGR. Most of them focus on one dimension of e-government: e-services, evaluating services offered by governmental websites (West, 2006, 2007, 2008; UNDESA, 2003b, 2004, 2005, 2008; Cap Gemini Ernst and Young, 2003, 2004, 2006). Such evaluation based on only measuring the front of public websites is a too narrow view on e-government (Peters et al., 2004) and cannot be considered a sufficient approach to assess EGR. UNDESA (2003b, 2004, 2005, 2008) reports go further to evaluate the telecommunication infrastructure and the human capital. The telecommunication infrastructure is also measured by the Commonwealth Centre for Electronic Governance (2002) but limited only to the availability and usage of broadband connection. In addition, the Commonwealth Centre for Electronic Governance (2002) considers in his criteria the existence of a public key infrastructure to ensure the security of interactions with government websites. The Bertelsmann Foundation benchmarking (2002) investigates both e-democracy and e-administration dimensions, but is limited only to the efficiency and change management behind the e-services provided by the case studies investigated. Finally, besides evaluating a country's ICT infrastructure and online applications, WASEDA University (2006) addresses important issues related to the back office related to strategic management, e-government promotion, presence of a Chief Information Officer (CIO), and homepage characteristics; but does not cover all issues related to e-administration.

Accenture - a consulting, technology services and outsourcing company - publishes a yearly e-government evaluation since 2000 (Accenture, 2005), but stresses mainly on the concept of treating citizens as customers from the part of public institutions. This study focuses on the reports of the last three years to discuss Accenture's most advanced research. In 2005, the company ranks 22 countries according to two main criteria: the maturity of the services offered at their national government websites, and the extent to which governments are managing and maintaining relationship with their customers. In 2006, Accenture did not conduct a country's ranking and decided to perform an in-depth qualitative research through conducting interviews with e-government policy makers. In its 2007 report, Accenture (2007) adds to the previous criteria a third component that

considers the citizens' feedback in the same countries studied to understand their perception towards the services offered to them. In addition, Accenture (2007) reports real-life lessons from 52 senior government executives in 17 of the 22 countries selected in the ranking. Eventually such additional qualitative data aids in understanding e-government success factors and in identifying the best practices from these different countries.

As seen from the presentation of all EGR assessments discussed above (table 2.4) that while much research focuses on the front-office and the use of e-services by citizens and businesses, it seems that there is less attention to the streamlining of back office operations (Homburg and Bekkers, 2002) prescribing how governments need to reorganise to meet the challenges and opportunities represented by ICT. This is not surprising, as almost exactly the same conclusion has been drawn from the first phase of the "dot.com" wave in which enterprises went on Internet without changing their internal business organisation (Jansen, 2005).

To summarise, all EGR models presented in table 2.4 cannot be used to assess EGR of a public organisation:

- 1. They are all result-oriented, focusing mainly on quantifiable results and seldom addressing several unquantifiable but important factors of e-government. Although Accenture (2006, 2007) includes important qualitative information, it is mainly centred on customer service and is not considered in the evaluation criteria. In addition, Bannister (2007) poses reservations about the Accenture reports as being driven by marketing objectives concentrating on commercial interests to the company.
- 2. They are one-sided (citizen-centred), and emphasise the promotion of the e-service dimension, appraising only the websites to facilitate quantification, which makes the appraisal of e-government inaccurate.
- They do not concentrate on factors directly related to e-government. They rather investigate external ones such as IT infrastructure, and human capital which, whilst important, are already addressed in e-readiness assessments.
- 4. The examination of the three EGR assessments that approach the e-administration dimension: Koh and Prybutok (2003), the Bertelsmann Foundation (2002), and WASEDA University (2006) revealed that the first two limit their assessment on developed countries without verifying their applicability on developing countries.

Moreover, when assessing e-government back office management, they do not address all aspects affecting EGR. WASEDA University (2006) is also no exception; the people dimension related to employees working in the public sector is not fully investigated. Such assessment simply considers the position of a Chief Information Officer (CIO) without investigating the competency of other employees using computers in public organisations. In addition, WASEDA University (2006) does not approach many factors related to the technology dimension such as the quality of information, software applications, and hardware devices. Furthermore, WASEDA University (2006) does not explain the rationale behind the selected criteria to clarify the theoretical foundation upon which these measuring criteria are employed.

Only in its latest report, UNDESA (2008) recognised the importance of back office assessment through providing a chapter in its report that contains several issues crucial to back office in public organisations. The end of the chapter includes these issues in the form of a checklist to help policy makers check their availability in their organisations. Certainly, this chapter represents a remarkable progress in recognising the value of back office management, yet it does not provide answers to several questions such as, can these issues be categorised into different dimensions? What is their interrelationship? Do they all have equal weights in affecting the government back office?

- 5. Except for Koh and Prybutok (2003), these models approach e-government in a macro or national level, rather than in a micro one, i.e. over an organisation (Hu et al, 2005).
- 6. Finally, these models are assessed relying on one or more of three methodologies: 1) secondary data; 2) citizens' feedback; or 3) policy makers of e-government projects. Except for the model developed by Koh and Prybutok (2003), the other models do not investigate EGR from the perspective of government employees; how they perceive e-government, and to what extent they are aware of all aspects related to the viability of e-government projects. This group could be the best candidate to identify the most important factors affecting EGR since civil employees are one of the major project's stakeholders and are aware of most of the organisation's functions and activities. Additionally, it is very important to investigate the extent of communication between government employees and e-government policy makers and the degree of the employees' involvement in public organisations.

After discussing e-readiness and EGR models and demonstrating that they cannot be the perfect mean to assess EGR within a public organisation, it became essential to investigate IS appraisal models because e-government is mainly an application of ICT. Thus, researching such models aimed to verify the existence of an assessment to be employed in realising the objective of this study.

2.4 Information Systems (IS) success models

Publications in assessing IS success started in the late seventies (e.g., King and Rodriguez 1978; Matlin, 1979; Rolefson, 1978). One of the most widely cited models is the DeLone and McLean (1992) IS success model (Heo and Han 2003; Myers et al., 1998), referenced by over 150 articles (DeLone and McLean, 2002).

In their model, DeLone and McLean (1992) argue that IS success is a dependent variable affected by six independent and interrelated dimensions or constructs. These variables are: system quality, information quality, use, user satisfaction, individual impact, and organisational impact. The following lines explain briefly each construct as stated by the study:

- System quality: refers to the contribution of information processing system. Some of its measures are: convenience of access, flexibility of system, integration of systems, response time, realisation of user expectations, reliability, ease of use, ease of learning, perceived usefulness, etc.
- Information quality: concerning the quality of information produced by the system. This can be measured by accuracy, timeliness, reliability, completeness, conciseness, relevance, understandability, etc.
- Use: defined as the user utilisation of the output of an IS. Some of its measures are: use or non use of different systems, frequency of use, motivation to use, etc.
- User satisfaction: presenting recipient reaction to the output of an IS. Main construct measures are: difference between information needed and information received, user complaints regarding information centre services, user satisfaction concerning different facets of the IS, etc.
- Individual impact: refers to the effect of information on the recipient's behaviour.
 Major measurements include: user confidence, efficient decisions, quality of decision analysis, quality of career plans, cost awareness, etc.

 Organisational impact: defined as the effect of information on organisational performance. Some of this construct's measures are: profitability, cost reduction, production scheduling costs, market share, etc.

The model states that system quality and information quality (independently and jointly) have an effect on use and user satisfaction. In addition, both use and user satisfaction have an effect on each other; and they lead to an impact on individuals. Finally, such impact on individual performance should have some impact on organisation. The authors recommend that the model should be tested, and that the selection of measures for each construct should be based on each research context. Figure 2.1 shows the model expressing the relationships between its different constructs.

DeLone and McLean's (1992) model is an important contribution to the literature on IS Success measurement because it is the first study that tries to impose some order on IS researchers' choices of success measures. Since the model was developed, a number of studies were conducted to test and validate it (Seddon and Kiew, 1996; Fraser and Salter, 1995; Rai et al., 2002).



Figure 2.1 - Information System Success (DeLone and McLean, 1992)

Many researchers use the model as a foundation for suggesting modified frameworks for assessing information systems. For example, Pitt et al. (1995) argue that an IS assessment should not focus only on the quality of the product but should also consider the quality of the service. They highlight the role of the IS department in an organisation as a provider of both products and services. As a result, they include service quality as an additional construct to information quality and system quality. This view is supported by other researchers confirming the importance of including service quality measure as a part of IS success (Kettinger et al., 1997; Li, 1997; Wilkin and Hewett, 1999; Wilkin and Castleman, 2003). Moreover, Wilkin and Hewett (1999) stress on the importance of evaluating the quality of service as expected and perceived by different stakeholders.

Seddon (1997) criticises DeLone and McLean's (1992) model arguing that it is confusing because it combines two sorts of models: (i) variance models (based on causal

relationship from the part of an independent variable on a dependent one, without the interference of other variables); and (ii) process models (based on the necessity of the existence of all events in a certain sequence, to cause a certain outcome). Variance and process models have different meanings leading to different interpretations of the same framework. He also presents three different meanings underpinning the use construct which are: (i) benefits from use; (ii) beginning of a process that leads to user satisfaction, individual impact, and organisational impact; or (iii) future use. For this latter meaning, Seddon (1997) confirms that use in this case is a behaviour and should not be considered as a measure or indicator of IS success. To overcome the limitations of DeLone and McLean's (1992) model, he suggests a re-specified model through adding the following constructs: expectations about the net benefits of future IS use, consequences of IS use, perceived usefulness and net benefits of IS use to society. Although the framework highlights essential points in measuring IS success, it is not tested empirically to prove its validity.

Aiming to examine and learn from all contributions and re-specifications undertaken on their framework proposed in 1992, DeLone and McLean (2002) present a reformulated IS success model (see figure 2.2). The new model adds one more dimension to quality: service quality, since the progress that occurred in IS environment triggered the creation of end-user computing enabling IS organisations to be service providers as well as information providers. To avoid the different interpretations of the use construct, the model replaces use by intension to use, which describes an attitude in the case of IS voluntary use. Also, individual impact and organisational impact are replaced by only one construct: net benefits, to ensure that the net impacts or outcomes are positive. Net benefits combine the positive IS impact on different stakeholders. This is due to the fact that IS impact has developed to affect several stakeholders other than the direct user only. Other IS impacts could be workgroup impacts (Myers et al., 1998), societal impacts (Seddon, 1997), and consumer impacts (Hitt and Brynjolfsson, 1994; Brynjolfsson, 1996). The model does not specify the different impacts because it argues that such impacts depend on specific research contexts. Finally, the model assumes that if net benefits occur, this will eventually lead to further increase in both constructs: intension to use, and user satisfaction.



Figure 2.2 – The Reformulated IS Success (DeLone and McLean, 2002)

In an attempt to apply DeLone and McLean (1992) model in assessing e-government in Australia, Guo and LU (2005) claim that the existence of a website providing a communication channel between citizens and governments is vital in the case of e-government. Accordingly, they argue that when investigating IS quality, the new construct, web presence quality, should be added to the original two: information quality and system quality.

After reviewing the above IS assessment models, the study concluded that the criteria selected to assess IS success are classified into three categories: (i) quality: of information, system, service, and organisation's website; (ii) stakeholders' perceptions and expectations of the information system; and (iii) benefits realised from using the system. Attempting to apply these categories on the context of this research (that argues that an EGR framework comprises the four building blocks (or dimensions): (i) strategy, (ii) processes, (iii) technology, and (iv) people), the researcher determined that constructs under each category should be included in the proposed EGR framework. For example, the first category related to the quality of information, system, service and the website was included under the technology dimension. As for the second category related to the perception and expectations of stakeholders as well as the third category concerned with the benefits reaped (or to be reaped) from e-government implementation, the researcher considered them in the proposed framework in more than one dimension. Such issues should be taken into account by top management when setting an e-government strategy, and should be usually evaluated. In addition, it is important to investigate these issues from the employees' point of view to understand the way they perceive e-government and whether it has a positive impact on their working practice.

Evidently the above three assessment categories are essential in evaluating an information system, but are not sufficient because IS should be viewed as a multifaceted socio-technical issue (Klein and Hirschheim, 1987; Orlikowski, 1992; Walsham, 1993),
focusing on the interaction between social and technical aspects (Morton and Rockart, 1984; King and Kraemer, 1986; Symons, 1990), and affected by the organisational environment as well as the people involved (Serafeimidis and Smithson, 2000).

This approach is more applicable in considering e-government as a strategic information system (SIS) (Koh and Prybutok, 2002) since it has the ability to transform internal and external relationships of government. Many researchers believe that SIS should not be narrowed to IS domain only, but should also be regarded, managed, and evaluated as an organisational issue (Henderson et al., 1987; Hufnagel, 1987; Segars and Grover 1998).

This conforms with what Heeks (2003) views as e-government aspects in his ITPOSMO model measuring Information, Technology, Processes, Objectives and values, Staffing and skills, Management systems and structures, and Other resources such as, time and money. Such dimensions are not yet captured entirely in one framework.

Following the discussion above, IS models consider critical factors to EGR related to the quality of technologies, stakeholders' expectations, and benefits realised from IS implementation. It could also be argued that IS models do not cover entirely all aspects affecting EGR of public organisations especially those related to organisational environment such as business processes, human resources, strategic management, etc. This led to further research of a related field in the literature concerning the models that assess e-commerce systems because beside being considered an IS system, e-government is seen an e-commerce system and though it was important to undertake a review of the literature in such domain to investigate the suitability of e-commerce assessment models in assessing EGR, and to highlight the common aspects included in the evaluation of such models.

2.5 Electronic Commerce (e-commerce) success models

DeLone and McLean model is used as a theoretical foundation in a number of studies attempting to measure e-commerce success (e.g., Loiacono et al., 2000, 2002; Palmer, 2002; Barnes and Vidgen, 2002, 2003; Liu and Arnett, 2000; Huizingh, 2000). These studies view that this model is effective due to two reasons: first, since an e-commerce system can be considered as a type of information system (Molla and Licker, 2001), IS success models can be applicable when investigating e-commerce success; and second, the model is used and tested intensively in IS literature.

Molla and Licker (2001) extend DeLone and McLean's (1992) model to cover all functions and aspects related particularly to e-commerce such as, marketing phases: pre, during,

and after sales, and e-commerce different objectives in providing information, transactions, or services. In their suggested framework, Molla and Licker (2001) replace user satisfaction by customer e-commerce system satisfaction and consider it an independent variable to e-commerce success. Also, system quality is substituted by e-commerce system quality, and information quality by content quality.



Figure 2.3 - E-Commerce Success Model (Molla and Licker, 2001)

The model does not include organisational impact since e-commerce users are not commonly part of the organisation. Two other independent variables are added: trust, and support and services, which both have an effect on use and on customer e-commerce satisfaction. Figure 2.3 shows the model indicating its different constructs and the relations between them. The proposed model cannot be generalised in assessing e-commerce success since it is limited to only one facet of e-commerce targeting customers who use the World Wide Web. Moreover, it requires further research to be validated and tested empirically.

Following a literature review specifically on e-commerce assessments, the study revealed that researchers have not yet agreed on a standard framework, but the six main constructs identified in most studies are: (i) design, (ii) ease of use, (iii) system quality, (iv) information quality, (v) service quality, and (vi) security and privacy. Table 2.5 shows each dimension along with the study that uses it.

Construct	Description	Sources

1) Design	Aesthetics and navigational system of the website	Barnes and Vidgen, 2002, 2003; Palmer, 2002; Yoo and Donthu, 2001; Liu and Arnett, 2000; Loiacono et al., 2000, 2002; Turban and Gehrke, 2000; Farquhar et al., 1998	
2) Ease of Use	The ability to use and interact with the website without effort	Parasuraman et al., 2005; Barnes and Vidgen, 2002, 2003; Palmer, 2002; Schubert and Dettling, 2002; Yoo and Donthu, 2001; Elliot et al., 2000; Loiacono et al., 2000, 2002; Henneman, 1999; Nielsen, 1999; Farquhar et al., 1998;	
3) System Quality	Reliability, page loading speed, availability, etc. of the website	Cao et al., 2005; Parasuraman et al., 2005; Palmer, 2002; Molla and Licker, 2001; Yoo and Donthu, 2001; Han and Noh, 2000; Turban and Gehrke, 2000; Kim, 1999; Loiacono and Taylor, 1999; Von Dran et al., 1999; Farquhar et al., 1998	
4) Information Quality	Quality of information and of its presentation on the website	Cao et al., 2005; Barnes and Vidgen, 2002, 2003; Palmer, 2002; Molla and Licker, 2001; Elliot et al., 2000; Liu and Arnett, 2000; Loiacono et al., 2000, 2002; Turban and Gehrke, 2000; Farquhar et al., 1998	
5) Service Quality	Support provided to users of the website to assist them throughout their interaction with the website	Cao et al., 2005; Barnes and Vidgen, 2002, 2003; Palmer, 2002; Molla and Licker, 2001; Elliot et al., 2000; Huizingh, 2000; Liu and Arnett, 2000; Loiacono et al., 2000, 2002; Farquhar et al., 1998	
6) Security and Privacy	Security in performing transactions and in protecting the personal information of users.	Parasuraman et al., 2005; Barnes and Vidgen, 2002, 2003; Schubert and Dettling, 2002; Molla and Licker, 2001; Yoo and Donthu, 2001; Han and Noh,	

	2000; Loiacono et al., 2000, 2002;	
	Turban and Gehrke, 2000; Farquhar et	
	al., 1998	

Table 2.5 - Main Constructs used in E-Commerce Success Research

The assessment criteria presented in table 2.5 were included in the proposed framework of this research due to their importance in evaluating the success of an e-commerce system. While the studies that developed such criteria were tested on university students as a sample representing users of websites (which do not represent the users of the websites (Parasuraman et al., 2005)), this research used a sample of employees using computers in their work representing employees working in the public sector. Certainly governmental websites are targeted mainly to be used by citizens seeking services from their corresponding organisations, but since a large part of the assessment criteria is related to the internal factors that exist in public organisations, and that website quality constitutes a small part of such evaluation, employees are the most suitable subjects to provide valuable contribution. Furthermore, since they are aware of the work life cycle and a large percentage of them interact with citizens, they should visit the website continuously to verify its compatibility with the work life cycle, and with requirements of the variety of citizens they serve as part of their jobs.

Researchers criticise most studies assessing e-commerce success because they do not cover all facets of service quality (especially order fulfilment). Although Barnes and Vidgen (2002) admit that a large percentage of the selected sample have committed purchases, Parasuraman et al. (2005) note that the questionnaire to be filled does not investigate their experience in order fulfilment in dealing with the bookstores' websites. This gap is filled in the recent studies only (Fassnacht and Koese, 2006; Parasuraman et al., 2005; Wolfinbarger and Gilly, 2003). For example, Parasuraman et al. (2005) include fulfilment as a dimension in their developed E-S-QUALScale. They also define E-RecS-QUAL, a subscale of E-S-QUALScale that measures the recovery service provided through Websites whenever consumers encounter any problem. Aiming to cover all aspects of service quality, Fassnacht and Koese (2006) develop a conceptual model encompassing all aspects of electronic services. Their model includes three dimensions: (i) service environment, concerned with the physical appearance of the services; (ii) service delivery, related to the interaction process between the company and the consumers; and (iii) service product, focusing on the result of the service exchange. Since this research gathered data mainly from employees working in public organisations and not citizens, the first two dimensions: service environment and service delivery can be evaluated by employees. As for the third dimension related to service delivery, it was not considered in the research framework.

Reviewing the studies that developed the assessment criteria presented in table 2.5 revealed that such studies limited the evaluation of website quality only in a business-toconsumer model concerned with online shopping activity. There may be further assessment criteria in other contexts. For example, Huizingh (2000) includes business-tobusiness websites as well, and argues that selling online is not the only purpose behind implementing an e-commerce solution. His model (see figure 2.4) investigates several aspects related to the organisation that transforms to e-commerce such as, characteristics of the company, drivers and purposes of implementing a website (web initiative), features of the website (website characteristics), and ways to promote the website and to align its promotion with the organisation's marketing plan obtaining the required support throughout the organisation (web strategy). It was therefore important to include these aspects in the research framework of this study because, if considered while formulating an e-government strategy, such aspects will definitely contribute to the success of e-government in any public organisation.



Figure 2.4 - Website Performance Framework (Huizingh, 2000)

Although Huizingh (2000) addresses more aspects than website quality, they are only directed towards the website investigating: company characteristics that could have an effect on web presence, motives and objectives of implementing an e-commerce solution, and means to be adopted to market it. This led to an important question:

Is it sufficient to evaluate e-commerce success by relying on web presence only?

In order to answer this question, further research was conducted on the meaning of ecommerce as viewed by researchers. Zwass (1996) defines e-commerce as "the sharing of business information, maintaining business relationships, and conducting business transactions by means of telecommunications networks." He states that e-commerce is not limited only to buying and selling goods, but includes also the various processes that support the website activities within each organisation. The same view is supported by Applegate et al. (1996) who see that e-commerce involves using ICT to perform several activities throughout the value chain both inside and outside the organisation. This is due to the fact that companies nowadays base their strategy on intensive information that necessitates its collection and processing among customers, suppliers, and within the company itself (Glazer, 1993). Kalakota and Whinston (1997) classify e-commerce applications into three different categories: inter-organisational (business-to-business), intra-organisational (within a business), and consumer-oriented (customer-to-business).

Riggins and Rhee (1998) propose a framework - the e-commerce domain matrix - that defines four types of e-commerce applications based on two characteristics: the location to the application inside or outside the system firewall, and the type of relationship expressing the role of IT either in enhancing existing relationships or creating new ones that were not possible without IT existence. Figure 2.5 demonstrates this framework indicating the four types of e-commerce classified upon the two characteristics: location and type of relationship.

Seybold (1998) points out that redesigning business processes is a crucial factor in realising successful e-commerce strategies and in evaluating the quality of electronic services (Fassnacht and Koese, 2006). Despite the importance of internal activities in organisations as expressed by researchers, such activities are always ignored (Elliot et al., 2000) since integration of Internet activities with the back office operations and with

traditional information systems constitutes a security threat, and requires high budget allocation (Schubert and Dettling, 2002).

Based on the above views, the study confirmed that measuring e-commerce success dictates investigating internal issues related to the organisation that implements an e-commerce solution. Such issues are not considered in the discussed e-commerce success models. Nonetheless, there are critical success factors in these models that can be applicable on EGR.

	Improve	Market	
External	coordination	creation to	
External	with existing	reach new	
1	trading	customers	
Location of	partners		
Application User		Cell 4	
Relative to System			
Firewall	Improve	Information	
	coordination	exchange to work	
	with internal	with new team	
Internal	business units	members	
	Cell 1	Cell 2	
	Technology	Technology	
	enhanced facilitate		
	Type of Relationship		

Figure 2.5 - Electronic Commerce Domain Matrix (Riggins and Rhee, 1998)

Reviewing e-commerce success models available in the literature revealed that no model could be entirely adopted to assess EGR of a public organisation because they focus mainly on website evaluation or the activities directly related with it. Such models do not consider all critical success factors related to the internal activities in a public organisation such as business processes, identification of challenges, leadership and top management support, skills of employees using ICT, etc. Even so, literature in this area of research provided a valuable contribution in the development of the research framework since it highlighted a number of issues that should be added to the framework such as the technology aspect related to the quality of the website, the integration between internet activities and the back office, and the strategic role of each organisation's website.

2.6 Summary

Initially, this chapter provided the foundation for this research study and introduced previous work on assessments related to e-government. First, it included an overview of the different meanings of e-government and the e-government definition selected by the researcher that covers all e-governments aspects. The other sections of the chapter presented the different e-readiness and EGR assessments models as well as various models developed to assess information systems and e-commerce. Analysing these assessment tools revealed their inadequacy in assessing EGR of a public organisation. Nonetheless, they can be used as a foundation for developing a framework to perform this assessment. The next chapter will explain the methodology that was followed to reach such objective.

3. Methodology

Objectives of chapter 3

- Present the knowledge claim selected.
- Identify the research strategy embraced.
- Explain the methods followed for data collection, analysis, and validation.



The previous chapter presented a review of the literature relevant to E-Government Readiness (EGR) assessment. Critical analysis of the various measurement models available in the literature revealed the absence of a framework for assessing EGR of a public organisation. This chapter explains the methodology used starting by a brief presentation of the research design and the procedures for conducting the study (described in chapter 1, section 1.3). Next, the chapter investigates the knowledge claim relevant to the research design, which paves the way to selecting a research strategy that could best fit this study. The chapter presents then the research methods to be employed under the chosen research strategy explaining the preparation for data collection phase including pilot testing and sampling of the instrument developed for collecting quantitative data. Finally, data collection methods are discussed, followed by an explanation of the analysis of both quantitative and qualitative data, and of the approaches used for data validation.

3.1 Research design

The initial part of the research process (see figure 3.1) comprises an investigation of the literature relevant to the area of research leading to the development of a preliminary EGR framework. This framework was tested through undertaking an empirical research on a number of public organisations in Egypt.

Data gathered and analysed from the empirical research was compared with the framework proposed earlier leading to the development of a final EGR assessment framework of public organisations in Egypt. The last stage in the research design was to highlight the contribution of the thesis to the e-government field, and in filling the research gap mentioned in the beginning.



Figure 3.1 – Overall Research Process

Realising each stage in the research design dictated an investigation of the research methodologies to set a pragmatic approach that provided guidance through the overall research process. Based on Crotty's (1998) framework, Creswell (2002) suggests that the research design can be set based on the following three main issues:

- The epistemology (or knowledge claim) is to be selected by the researcher.
- The research strategy (or strategies) that could be relevant to this knowledge claim.
- The research methods to be adopted for data collection and analysis.

The following sections attempt to provide an answer to the three inquiries stated above.

3.2 Epistemology

Positioning the research philosophy (or epistemology) gains always special interests from the part of researchers because it aids researchers to analyse not only their work but also others work, and ascertains the academic credibility of a research field (Heeks and Bailur, 2007). In order to select the appropriate epistemology, it was important to identify the main paradigm of this research. It was based on the view of Newell et al. (1967) who define computer science as "the study of phenomena related to computers", emphasising

on the importance of collecting observations concerning computational phenomena leading to building theories that explain such phenomena.

Myers and Avison (2002) propose three epistemological categories of research: (i) positivist (and post-positivist), presuming that reality is objectively given and can be expressed through measurable means, mainly concerned with testing hypothesis and with quantifiable measures of variables; (ii) interpretive, assuming that reality can be discovered through interactions, based principally on understanding phenomena and how people's perceptions could be interpreted; and (iii) critical, suggesting that reality is in a continuous shaping by people who have limited capability to change their social and economic status due to various constraints, essentially directed towards criticising and highlighting these conditions or constraints.

Clarke (1992) conceptualises information systems domain into two fields of study: (i) computer science, concerned with software engineering, database management, and applications of software development; and (ii) business clusters of disciplines, addressing systems analysis and organisational behaviour. This view is extended by Clarke (2000) who classifies research traditions in information systems and particularly in e-commerce into three main categories: (i) conventional scientific research (or positivist), proposing hypothesis that should be tested to provide feedback which could guide in formulating a theory; (ii) interpretivist research, assuming that reality can be differently interpreted depending on many factors in addition to the researcher's perspective; and (iii) engineering research, including artifacts, techniques, or both of them. He states that the first two categories are related to the business disciplines field, whereas the third one belongs to the computer science domain. Clarke (2000) stresses on the importance of considering the first category, conventional scientific research, an instrumentalist discipline that investigates the impact of the developed theory on the real world, and points out the significance of the research results with regard to professionals and managers.

Following an in-depth review of the philosophical assumptions stated above, the researcher concluded that positivist was the most appropriate approach in terms of its compatibility with the research process identified in the beginning. Since the research addressed the factors affecting EGR, the weight of each factor as well as the relation that exists between them, there was a need to develop a framework to:

• Conceptualise the suggested ideas: classify the identified factors and combining them in one EGR assessment framework under different categories.

- Identify variables: translate such factors into dependent and independent variables.
- Set hypotheses: pose assumptions about the type of relations between those variables.
- Focus on observable aspects: determine the appropriate parameters for measuring those variables.
- Adopt a testability principle: test the framework's hypotheses through conducting an empirical research in a number of public organisations in Egypt.

This was completely compatible with the description of the positivist approach mentioned by many researchers (Myers and Avison, 2002; Creswell, 2002; Khazanchi and Munkvold, 2003; Clarke, 2000). Positivist research was also selected because it is characterised by its objectivity, generalisation, and the separation of the researcher from the observed (Wilford, 2004) since the researcher is not a part of the research environment, and his role is limited to gather the data that helps him in understand the situation in the case studies researched. This was the main objective of this research because the researcher focus was to collect data about all the internal factors affecting EGR through different sources of data gathering without interfering or attempting to incorporate any changes in the organisations studied. In addition, triangulating the data gathered through several sources minimised the researcher's objectivity since any reality was determined from more than one source. Finally, undertaking the research in different types of public organisations in Egypt allowed for generalisation because the organisations researched represent, to a great extent, public organisations in Egypt.

3.3 Research strategy

Determining the philosophical assumption governing the research led to a subsequent stage that involved the investigation of the most relevant research strategies. Since the positivist approach selected for the study is associated with setting hypotheses and seeking to test them empirically in the research environment, the researcher deduced that two strategies are relevant to this approach that could serve in reaching the research objectives: surveys, and case studies.

Surveys rely on the concept of collecting data from a sample that represents a whole study population, revealing associations and causal effects among several factors (Hakim, 1987). Surveys are widely used due to their many advantages. For example, they provide transparency and accountability (Hakim, 1987). They can also be reused and repeated to

allow for comparison over different groups, times, or places enabling theory testing in an objective manner (Newsted et al., 1998).

Despite the different advantages of surveys, attempting to apply them in this study would not have been appropriate due to the following three reasons:

- Since surveys are associated with large scale research (Denscombe, 2003), this cannot be realised in several situations especially in case of a developing country such as Egypt, where a small number of public agencies provide online services. Even for those realising that constraint, trying to use surveys for data collection would not have been feasible due to the relatively low number of candidates capable of responding; computer users still constitute a very small percentage of employees at any Egyptian public agency (for example, for Montaza District, the first case investigated, computer users constitute 3% of the total number of employees working at the district [130 out of 4200]. Further discussion on the data collection method is provided in the next chapters).
- Surveys do not provide in-depth understanding of context and history of a given computing phenomena (Pinsonneault and Kraemer, 1993). Such understanding is required in a complex topic such as e-government that is affected by a variety of factors. For example, the researcher did not rely only on quantitative data through distributing a questionnaire to the employees working in the organisations studied, but gathered data also through interviewing top management and some of the employees who replied to the questionnaire. The researcher reviewed also several documents related to the organisations studied and had the opportunity to observe the work place. This qualitative data allowed the researcher to obtain a complete picture about the real ICT situation and its role in each organisation. It provided a rich insight into several important issues related to the working environment such as the internal workflow, management style, culture of employees, major challenges, extent of communication and collaboration among employees, etc. Qualitative data collected from the questionnaire.
- Depending on quantitative data as the sole data gathering method characterised by its formal and rigid structure would have not encouraged employees to reveal

their point of views. They usually prefer to express their ideas and opinions in what appears to be a casual setting and avoid any structure tightness.

Since surveys proved to be inadequate for this research based on the three points raised above, case studies research strategy was investigated. Denscombe (2003) and Blonk (2003) characterise case studies by their focus on one or few instances, their ability to highlight important areas of research due to their in-depth study nature, their power in explaining relationships, causes, and processes rather than relying only on outcomes. Denscombe (2003) reveals that the major strength of case studies approach is its ability to allow the researcher to use a variety of methods in collecting data (see also Platt, 1992; Stake, 1995). She also describes the case of investigation to occur in its natural settings and not artificially created for the purpose of the study (which is the case in this research). This view is supported also by Amoroso et al. (1989), who denote that when adopting case studies strategy, the researcher does not have any control over the phenomenon; he focuses on seeking the relation between context and the phenomena of interest.

The features of the case studies approach explained above proved its ability in overcoming the challenges highlighted in the surveys approach. Focusing on a limited number of instances solved the problem of the small number of public agencies providing online services. In addition, the flexibility of case studies strategy (Hakim, 1987) enriches the research by providing in-depth study through using multiple methods for collecting data; this solved the rest of the problems mentioned earlier associated with surveys.

To further ensure the appropriateness of adopting case studies strategy, a review was performed on all the characteristics of case studies as identified by Benbasat et al. (1987). Based on prior studies of Benbasat (1984), Bonoma (1983), Kaplan (1985), and Stone (1978), Benbasat et al. (1987) summarise case studies characteristics into eleven items. Comparing these characteristics with this research context provided additional confirmation in selecting this approach. Furthermore, Darke et al. (1998) affirm that case study research is "well suited to understanding the interactions between information technology-related innovations and organisational contexts"; this conforms completely to the nature of this study. Case studies strategy fitted also with the study objectives because it defines theoretical constructs, tests them empirically (Lee, 1989), and allows for replication to seek generalisation of findings (Yin, 2002).

Finally, comparing the study objectives with the research design of case studies as identified by Yin (2002) revealed that they matched to a great extent. For example, Yin (2002) highlights the importance of theory development by reviewing the relevant

40

literature to the research topic, which leads to the development of a proposed theory. This procedure was reflected in the objectives of the study that attempted to: (i) identify all factors affecting EGR through reviewing the relevant literature; and (ii) build accordingly an assessment framework that captures those factors and proposes relations between them. Yin (2002) also suggests that empirical testing allows for comparison with the proposed theory, and then leads to theory development. To reach an analytic generalisation, Yin (2002) recommends that findings obtained from multiple case studies should be compared. Generalisation could then be reached if such findings confirm the same theory. This process was followed to realise the objective concerned with empirically testing the proposed framework through collecting data from several case studies of Egyptian governmental agencies to generalise findings over the entire country.

3.4 Desk research method

A thorough research was undertaken on main assessment models of e-readiness, EGR, information systems, and e-commerce. Such research helped in identifying all critical success factors for EGR. Analysis of such factors revealed that they can be classified into two main categories: internal (specific to each organisation such as different aspects of its strategy, its technical situation, employees' skills, etc.) and external (related to the whole country such as, economical, political, regulatory, etc.).

Although external factors such as environment, IT infrastructure, regulations, etc. are proved to be important in assessing EGR, they were not investigated in this research. The emphasis of this research was on the internal factors that exist within a public organisation because: (i) previous studies in e-readiness and EGR had already addressed them from different perspectives (see chapter 2, sections 2.2 and 2.3 for a complete analysis of these studies); (ii) since external factors have the same effect on all public organisations in Egypt, the researcher decided to focus on studying internal factors to study their varying effect from an organisation to another. The aim was to understand how under the same circumstances (i.e. external factors), different internal factors - such as management styles, employees skills and cultures, business processes, etc. - are capable of changing the degree of EGR and of e-government success in different organisations; (iii) the researcher decided to undertake an in-depth analysis of all internal factors, which contains a rather large number of measures (measuring constructs of all internal factors are listed in chapter 4). Adding external factors would have presented a cumbersome and complicated framework for those interested in such assessment, shifting the attention from the internal factors that were the main concern of the study.

41

Based on the classification of Baum and Maio (2000), the researcher categorised internal factors affecting EGR into four dimensions: strategy, processes, technology, and people. The researcher believes that such dimensions are the four pillars of the success of any information system, and e-government is no exception. A number of measuring constructs under each dimension - derived from the literature - were also determined. A preliminary framework was then developed suggesting relationships between these different dimensions. Such framework would provide a systematic approach to assess EGR of public organisations because: (i) it measures the effect of each of the four dimensions on EGR according to a number of different constructs under each dimension; and (ii) it highlights the constructs that have the highest effect on each dimension. A questionnaire instrument was then developed reflecting each measuring construct in the framework (the questionnaire structure is explained in section 3.6.1). The aim of the questionnaire was to test the hypotheses in the proposed framework through distributing it to employees working in the public organisations selected as case studies. Chapter 4 presents a full explanation of the different parts of the framework, and denotes the link between each question in the questionnaire instrument and its correspondent construct in the suggested EGR framework.

3.5 Preparation for data collection

According to Yin (2002), it is recommended to undergo a stage of preparation prior to the data collection procedure. During this stage, the required skills of the investigator are identified and appropriate training is provided to him accordingly. Other activities take place also in this stage such as, developing a case study protocol, deciding on the cases to be investigated, and conducting a pilot case study.

The preparation stage was very important in this study because it facilitated the research logistics and contributed to a great extent in smoothing the data collection phase. The well-organised preparation phase - undertaken prior to collecting data from the organisations studied - ensured the appropriateness of data collection without the need to repeat this phase; it is very difficult to receive management approval in public organisations to repeat the data collection process.

In the beginning of this stage, the researcher undertook an in-depth review of literature concerning investigation skills and recommendation of ways for skills' improvements. Investigator skills include acquiring approaches for knowledge elicitation, inquiring about the culture of the cases to be selected, reading a number of case studies research similar to this study, attending training sessions, etc. Next, the researcher developed a case study protocol that represented a roadmap to ensure guidance throughout the whole data

collection process. In this protocol, a summary of the research was provided to inform any reader about its background and objectives. In addition, the protocol contained several data collection procedures such as, identification of means to get access to public organisations (which entities or individuals would be willing to allow for case investigation), determination of the required resources (questionnaire papers, personal computer, provision of incentives for the employees who respond to the questionnaire, etc.), provision of a schedule for data collection (how many visits are needed, and how long each visit takes), and consideration of alternative solution in case of a schedule deviation. The protocol included also the questions to be used, and the relevance of each question to the research objectives. In preparing the questions, a number of studies concerning EGR were investigated to look for the questions or other sources of evidence employed.

The research summary presented to management of each organisation facilitated and expedited top management approval because it provided them with a brief insight into the core of the research, and answered any inquiries they had. As for the organisations willing to be a part of this research, the researcher received an immediate approval of management in three of the four organisations studied; on the contrary, the management were interested in undertaking such assessment and to review the findings and analysis. As for the fourth organisation, Public Hospital (PH) - requested to be anonymous by the hospital's management – management were reluctant in approving such research and replied after 45 days. The schedule set for data collection was not always met due to uncontrolled circumstances related to work commitments from the part of management or employees especially at Tax Unit for Non-Commercial Professions (TUNC). (A detailed description of the data collection process in each organisation is provided in chapter 5 section 3).

3.5.1 Investigation of case studies

A research was performed on e-government initiatives in Egypt to identify the potential public organisations that could be considered as case studies. A multi-methodological approach was followed. First, the researcher reviewed all publications related to e-government in Egypt. Second, since the responsibility of e-government program was handed to the Ministry of State for Administrative Development (MSAD) since 2003, it was vital to conduct several meetings with key people at MSAD (Head of e-government program, Head of public organisations' automation, several MSAD coordinators with other ministries, e-payment responsible, etc) to get their feedback on the potential public agencies that could serve the research purpose and their availability. Furthermore, an indepth analysis of e-government portal (<u>http://www.egypt.gov.eg</u>) was conducted. Based

on this investigation, four organisations were selected as case studies: Montaza District (MD), Ministry of Investment (MOI), Tax Unit for Non-Commercial Professions (TUNC), and a public hospital (PH). A full description of each case is provided in chapter 5.

Rationale for the selection of the case studies

The choice of the organisations investigated was based on providing a variety of case studies that could present the whole country to a large extent, covering several types of public organisations in terms of: (i) different sectors; (ii) different e-government stages covering successful organisations and others in initial stages in terms of e-government; and (iii) new and well-established ones. For example, MD was chosen as a case representing a successful case of municipalities (MD website won the first prize in 2005 in the competition of best governmental website held by MSAD). It was therefore important to select another successful case but for a relatively newer organisation such as TUNC (established in 2004) compared to MD that was established in 1982. TUNC was chosen also due to the importance of tax units to both parties: citizens and government. Tax units could contribute to a great deal in facilitating the tax payment process for citizens. As for the government, tax payment constitutes one of its major sources of revenues. This made tax payment among the first services offered online through most of governmental websites worldwide.

It was also important to look for other sectors in the country such as investment and health. The investment sector was chosen since it is accessed by local as well as foreign parties. Furthermore, it is used as a promotion tool to attract Foreign Direct Investment (FDI), through facilitating the investment process by minimising bureaucracy and smoothing legal complexities. MOI was also selected because, although its website (http://www.investment.gov.eg) was launched in 2005, it was considered in a competitive analysis study conducted by Hill and Knowlton Incorporation in March 2005 among other five countries' investment portals, and was ranked fourth (the first three countries were respectively Singapore, South Africa, Poland, and the last two are Dubai and Turkey). MOI's website had since the beginning a great potential for improvement; this can be proved by the success the website realised being ranked first as the best web information page in 2006/2007 in the contest that evaluates all governmental websites in Egypt held by the Information and Decision Support Centre (IDSC) belonging to The Egyptian Cabinet. The last case study was a public hospital (PH) representing the health sector. This vital sector was chosen since it was among the main Millennium Development Goals set by the United Nations. The health sector was also identified as one of the six tracks in building the Egyptian Information Society Initiative (EISI, 2003); the five other tracks were:

Access, Government, Business, Learning, and Culture). PH is considered in its early stage of e-government (very poor website). The selection of these four cases would definitely provide more realistic assessment results since the cases present public organisations in Egypt in several e-government stages (starting from an emerging web presence throughout the whole spectrum until reaching the fifth stage, a networked fully integrated web presence stage (UNDESA, 2008) that changes completely the figure of the public sector), in different sectors (municipalities, tax payment, investment, and health) and with different characteristics (new and well-established ones) as well.

3.5.2 Pilot case study

The last step in the preparation stage involved performing a pilot case study to test the instrument developed for gathering quantitative data. Pilot testing of the measurement instrument was necessary to validate the items and the whole scale. This is because some of the measurement items were developed or modified for the purposes of this research and because the questions in the instrument were newly compiled to form a new questionnaire. This approach helped in identifying the parts of the questions that required modifications and in refining the data collection plan as a whole.

MD was selected as a pilot case due to two reasons: the relatively high number of computer users - who are the target subjects to respond to the questionnaire – compared to their numbers in the other case studies; this made it possible to still have a sufficient number of respondents during the actual data collection phase after excluding the small number of respondents who contributed in the pilot case. The second reason for choosing MD was based on the request of the district's Head; he encouraged conducting a pilot study to verify the viability of such research in the district and to ensure that the language and content of the questionnaire would be understood by the employees. The district's Head, deciding not to interfere directly throughout the entire data collection process to avoid any influence on the feedback of interviewees and questionnaire's respondents, was though monitoring the whole process remotely to provide support for the researcher in case she would face any obstacles during the whole process.

A preliminary questionnaire was first developed to validate the scale items to be used in the study. This questionnaire was translated to the Arabic language because the majority of the employees did not have high English language skills. The preliminary questionnaire was discussed with the top management of the district to obtain their comments. They suggested to include clarifications of additional terms to those explained earlier in the first page of the questionnaire. The questionnaire was then distributed to five employees of different age ranges, educations, and positions to gain their feedback regarding the content, layout, wording and ease of understanding the measurement items. They were also asked to offer suggestions for improving the proposed scale and for editing the items to enhance clarity, readability, and content adequacy. Based on their feedback some questions were rephrased and simpler terms were used for these questions to be more understandable.

The common concern of the employees was that the questionnaire was very long; this feedback was taken into account in revising the questionnaire. Each question was examined for its relevance to the purpose of the research, which resulted in omitting extra questions (one part of the questionnaire consisting of 6 parts before omission) that would not affect the constructs of each dimension of the research framework. The questionnaire was then reduced from 74 to 54 questions (appendix B contains the last version of the questionnaire).

The pilot case results revealed also the necessity to move the question concerning EGR level from the end of part D to a separate part (part E) to be noticed because it was overlooked by two of the five employees contributing in the pilot case. During the pilot case, three of the five employees (the ones without a graduate degree) expressed difficulty in understanding and answering several issues in the questionnaire. Consequently, the researcher decided to become available during answering the entire questionnaire to clarify whatever appears ambiguous. In particular, questions in part A (see appendix B), related to the strategy dimension, required some explanation but were finally comprehended.

3.6 Data collection methods

The main feature of case studies research strategy over other research strategies is its flexibility in allowing data collection through diverse methods or sources of evidence. Yin (2002) identifies six sources of evidence which are: interviews, documentation, archival records, direct observations, participant-observation, and physical artefacts.

This study relied on four methods adopted in each of the four selected case studies: documentation, archival records, interviews, and direct observations. The following sections explain each method in more detail.

3.6.1 Interviews

Yin (2002) classifies two main types of interviews: open-ended interviews prevailing respondents point of views while following the investigator's line of inquiry, and interviews producing quantitative data. The first interview type, also referred to as unstructured or

semi-structured (Denscombe, 2003), was an essential source of evidence because the researcher believed that it would provide an in-depth insight into several aspects related to each of the organisations studied. The plan was to start by conducting unstructured interviews with top management and IT professionals. This type of interviews did not include specific questions, but just broad areas for investigation aiming mainly to open ideas and thoughts with interviewees. Unstructured interviews encouraged respondents in selected organisations to express their thoughts liberally. This enabled collecting information regarding the main role of IT in the organisation, IT value and impact as viewed by the management, major challenges encountered, etc.

Subsequently, semi-structured interviews (see appendix C) - characterised by including a set of questions in a limited time but addressed in a flexible way - were also conducted with top management and IT professionals to allow them to elaborate on issues viewed as crucial from the researcher's perspective such as, main online and offline services provided by the organisation and the difference between them, level of employees' awareness of the e-government program in the organisation, communication approaches adopted within the organisation and with other public agencies. Semi-structured interviews served also in recognising the number (and availability) of potential respondents capable of answering structured interviews to be conducted later with the employees, and in fine-tuning the developed questionnaire instrument.

The second type of interviews, also referred to as structured interviews (Denscombe, 2003), produces quantitative data, following the sampling procedure and the approaches used in regular surveys. Such interviews were conducted with a sample representing the whole population of employees who use ICT as part of their work, and were willing to respond to a questionnaire.

Sometimes, circumstances permitting, it was possible to organise employees in groups to answer the questionnaire at the same time. The researcher in such cases was able to make the required clarifications to the whole group before and during their response to the questionnaire. In other circumstances and for not altering the work flow in the organisations, the researcher had to clarify some questions to each employee individually while responding to the questionnaire.

To comply with the ethics procedures to be followed in this kind of studies that involve working with people, the researcher presented a research consent form to top management in each organisation and requested their signatures after reviewing it. In addition, as a regular routine, the researcher clarified several issues to each

47

questionnaire's respondent before handing him/her the questionnaire. Each employee was informed about the purpose of the questionnaire and its anonymous nature. Respondents were also told that their participation in this study was voluntary, not required, and that their refusal to participate would not affect them in any way, and that they could withdraw from this study at any time.

Questionnaire Structure

The questionnaire used in this research was based on three previous studies: Koh and Prybutok (2003) and Liu (2001), developed to measure EGR in City of Denton, Texas, and UNDESA (2003a), addressed to public agencies in any country to assess EGR. Several questions were modified and others were added to reflect all the measuring constructs that exist in the suggested EGR framework.

The first page of the questionnaire contained an introduction that explains some terms included in the questionnaire. The questionnaire consisted of six parts (see appendix B). The first four parts measured employees' perceptions toward the four suggested dimensions of the model: (i) strategy, (ii) processes, (iii) technology, and (iv) people. In each part, each question reflected a measurement construct under the dimension correspondent to this part. The research variables were measured in a 7-point Likert's scale, with 1 as strongly disagree, and 7 as strongly agree. The fifth section contained only one question requesting employees to express their view regarding the extent to which their organisation was ready for e-government. Finally, the sixth section contained personal questions about each subject (e.g. age range, gender, experience with IT, etc.).

Results of this questionnaire constituted a main source of evidence in confirming the research hypotheses (explained in chapter 4, section 4.2), and in revealing the extent to which employees are aware of e-government program and their perception towards it.

The fact that the researcher was available during the whole questionnaire answering process allowed the researcher to conduct semi-structured interviews with some of the employees who responded to the questionnaire. A major purpose of such interviews was to corroborate certain facts acquired from previous data collection approaches, and also to obtain in-depth information that employees cannot reveal in a questionnaire characterised by its rigid nature. Answers from such interviews highlighted the degree of: employees' satisfaction with IT, their ability to adapt with new e-government initiatives, and their level of commitment and loyalty to the organisation.

48

3.6.2 Documentation

Besides conducting interviews, it was also important to collect data through reviewing available documents in each of the four organisations studied. In each public organisation, there are evidently a number of documents that could be of great help to the study. Some of these documents served in investigating different constructs in the strategy dimension of the framework such as: (i) policies and procedures, (ii) business and IT strategy, and (iii) organisational chart. Policies and procedures governing all activities in the organisation indicated the level of structure and flexibility in each organisation, which would eventually have an effect on the employees and management ability to adopt a new IT system effectively. Business strategy and IT strategy documents revealed the extent of strategic alignment in each organisation.

It was also vital to review the hierarchal structure to understand the different positions and the relations between them, and to investigate how this structure was affected as a result of implementing an e-government program. The organisation's structure was available at MD and TUNC, but the researcher could not access it from the other two organisations (MOI and PH). The hierarchical structure of MD and TUNC was affected as a result of egovernment implementation. For example, other departments related to technology maintenance and information systems were formed or sometimes expanded to fulfil egovernment needs. Also, at MD, IT management were reporting directly to the District's Head, which proves his involvement, support, and leadership attitude towards egovernment at the district. Other important documents such as those related to business processes in each department helped in examining the constructs related to the processes dimension such as well identification of business processes, their streamlining and integration within the organisation and with other public organisations as well. For example, at MD, TUNC, and MOI, business processes were clear and well documented which aided in speeding up the entire workflow.

3.6.3 Archival Records

Reviewing documents was accompanied by examining archival records existing in each of the four organisations under investigation. Archival records encompassed a whole range of files and records compiled by each organisation. These records served in checking some of the constructs of the processes dimension particularly the existence of a regular e-government assessment. One of the main assessments is related to the usage pattern of citizens visiting the organisation's website, and to the feedback of citizens such as the most useful services to them, their complaints, etc. For example, at MD, the researcher reviewed the detailed usage analysis reports that the district issues each month, and the analyses performed and actions undertaken based on the information they contain. This proved the management's interest in incorporating continuous improvements with regard to e-government implementation. Also, it was important to look over other evaluation techniques and results (when available) performed by each organisation. This denoted whether the organisation is interested in recognising the value of the services provided from both the citizens and the employees' perspectives. It showed also whether this activity was viewed as an ongoing process repeated at certain time intervals determined by the organisation's management.

Other archival records included the existence of previous studies relevant to this study to answer some inquiries raised in the research instead of obtaining the same information another time from employees or management. Previous studies helped also in understanding each organisation's culture, and in avoiding the pitfalls that took place in prior research. Only one study existed at MOI comparing the ministry's website with investment websites in five other countries (see section 3.5.1). This helped in comparing the assessment criteria with those included in the web quality construct under the technology dimension of the research framework proposed earlier.

3.6.4 Direct Observations

In addition to interviews, documents, and archival records, it was also important to collect data through observing the workplace at the four organisations researched. Visiting the case study offered the opportunity to observe relevant behaviours and environmental conditions, which added "new dimensions for understanding either the context or the phenomenon being studied" (Yin, 2002). Such observations constituted an important source of evidence since they shed the light on the employees' working environment, the organisation's workflow, the software applications used and their efficiency, the communication mechanisms followed between management and employees, and the communication skills of the employees who have a direct interaction with citizens. For example, observing the workplace at TUNC revealed the pressure and workload employees are exposed to at TUNC, and how ICT helped them in minimising their workload and in preventing them from committing unintended errors. The presence of the researcher at the workplace proved to be important also at PH; staying for several days at the hospital clarified the main reasons behind their lack in implementing e-government and ICT in general.

3.7 Data Analysis

Analysing data relied on a pattern matching technique, which is, according to Yin (2002) "compares an empirical based pattern with a predicted one". In case a match exists

between these two patterns, the research internal validity can be realised. Consequently, the study tended to check the conformance of the results obtained from the data collected with the hypotheses proposed earlier.

As discussed before, the study used a mixture of quantitative and qualitative data to triangulate them thus confirming findings through several sources of evidence. The following sections discuss the approaches carried out in analysing each type of data.

3.7.1 Analysis of quantitative data

Following the guidelines of Creswell (2002) in data analysis, quantitative data was analysed by first determining the number of valid and invalid responses, and then by developing a descriptive analysis of the data obtained revealing demographics of respondents, and other descriptive data about the research variables such as, means, standard deviations, etc. The researcher selected SPSS program for serving this purpose due to its powerful features in producing descriptive statistics such as variety of variable types, and easy process in coding variables.

The second stage of quantitative data analysis, as noted by Creswell (2002) involved testing the proposed framework through identifying the statistical procedures as well as the reliability and validity approaches, and the software programs to be employed in serving these purposes.

Testing the research model

Testing the research model in each case study was performed in accordance with the four following steps adopted from the study of Liu (2001): a) perform a factor analysis, b) test degree of multi-collinearity, c) check reliability and validity of the model, and d) test the partial models. The researcher followed the steps undertaken in the study of Liu (2001) because it is compatible with this study in: testing research hypotheses in a framework encompassing a number of dimensions, and determining the effect of each dimension using several measuring constructs.

a. Factor Analysis

Using SPSS version 13.0, a factor analysis was carried out to extract and group constructs in each of the four dimensions: strategy, processes, technology, and people; and resulted in an elimination of a number of constructs extracted under each dimension. The extraction method of Principal Axis Factoring was performed using the rotation method of Varimax with Kaiser Normalization. Such technique, presented by Kaiser (1958), is widely used (Everitt and Dunn, 2001) due to its ability in minimising the number of variables that have high loadings under each dimension for the purpose of simplification (Stevens, 2002). The loading rule was based on retaining constructs with a loading number greater than 0.5 on one factor, and less than 0.5 on all other factors (Hair et al., 1998). The 0.5 and 0.5 rule was used since it is less strict than the 0.5 and 0.3 rule, which prevents as much as possible the removal of many constructs under each dimension (Liu, 2001). It was important to retain as much constructs as possible since they would be significant in measuring each of the four dimensions affecting EGR in the suggested framework.

b. Degree of Multi-collinearity

SPSS version 13.0 was also used to test the degree of multi-collinearity among constructs in each of the four dimensions (strategy, processes, technology, and people) to determine the strength of the relationship between them. As stated by Dielman (1996), presence of a high degree of multi-collinearity among constructs in each dimension results in several problems such as: (i) high and disproportionate standards deviations of the regression coefficients leading to the acceptance of null hypotheses (since coefficients are zero) even though the associated variables have an effect on a dependent variable. As an example, this would result in the elimination of some important constructs in any of the four dimensions which in its turn would minimise the effect of such dimension on the dependent variable EGR; (ii) instability of the regression coefficient estimates (due to the high standard errors) to the extent of resulting sometimes in opposite signs of coefficients that would be against the logic of the research. Such unreliable estimates of the regression coefficients would also cause considerable variations in the coefficients of some variables once one variable was added or removed from the regression.

In addition, Dizney and Gromen (1967) report that the effect of an independent variable on a dependent one could be minimised as a result of high correlation between this independent variable and another independent one. Furthermore, Stevens (2002) highlights a negative consequence of multi-collinearity among independent variables (or predictors) lying in the difficulty in ensuring the influence of a given predictor on a dependent variable due to the confounding effects of the predictors.

Such evidence dictated the need to investigate the strength of relationships between constructs in each of the four dimensions (strategy, processes, technology, and people) of the research that have an effect on EGR. Previous researchers suggest that multi-collinearity exists if correlation between each determinant pair is greater than 0.75 (Dielman, 1996; Liu, 2001).

c. Reliability and Validity

Since the proposed framework was derived from the literature, and the aim of the empirical research was to test this framework, it was important to verify the reliability and validity of the measures used in the research (Cronbach, 1971; Nunnally, 1978) to draw valid inferences from the research leading to theory building. Reliability deals with how consistently similar measures produce similar results (Rosenthal and Rosnow, 1984), whereas validity of a measurement instrument refers to how well it captures what it is designed to measure (Rosenthal and Rosnow, 1984). SPSS version 13.0 was used to calculate both reliability and validity of the measurement instrument.

<u>Reliability</u>

Reliability has two dimensions referred to as repeatability and internal consistency (Zigmund, 1995). Internal consistency refers to the ability of a scale item to correlate with other items in the scale that are intended to measure the same construct. Items measuring the same construct are expected to be positively correlated with each other. A common measure of the internal consistency of a measurement instrument in social sciences research is Cronbach's alpha (Zmud and Boynton, 1991). Cronbach's alpha is widely used because it provides many advantages over other reliability measures. Besides its easy computation, it does not pose any restriction on the types of variables used, and it removes the memory effect possibility when measuring reliability (Bollen, 1989). If the reliability is not acceptably high, the scale can be revised by altering or deleting items that have scores lower than a pre-determined cut-off point. If a scale used to measure a construct has an alpha coefficient greater than 0.70, the scale is considered reliable in measuring the construct (Nunnally, 1978; Leedy, 1997). This indicates a high level of internal consistency or homogeneity among the constructs under each dimension (Straub, 1989). According to Schuessler (1971), a scale is considered to have good reliability if it has an alpha value greater than 0.60. Hair et al. (1998) suggest that reliability estimates between 0.6 and 0.7 represent the lower limit of acceptability for reliability estimates. In this research, the multi-item scales measuring all corresponding constructs under each of the four dimensions affecting EGR (which are: (i) strategy; (ii) processes; (iii) technology; and (iv) people) were checked for reliability by determining Cronbach's alpha, and an alpha value of 0.60 or greater was considered acceptable.

Construct validity

Construct validity is the ability of a measure to confirm a network of related hypotheses generated from a theory based on constructs. Internal construct validity was assessed using factor analysis. Because factor analysis provides evidence of the dimensionality of a measure, factor analysis with a Varimax rotation was used to determine the number of factors contained in each dimension. An eigenvalue greater than 1 is considered to indicate the presence of an interpretable factor (Kaiser, 1958); therefore factors with eigenvalues greater than 1 were taken into account for further analysis. Such rule is the default one used by SPSS unless another one is specified (Stevens, 2002).

Convergent validity

Construct validity was further evaluated through measuring convergent validity which refers to the extent to which: (i) different scales of constructs indicate the same dimension; and (ii) multiple measures of the same construct are matching (Kerlinger, 1986). Convergent validity was checked to ensure that each group of constructs indicates the same dimension, and to verify the degree of compatibility among multiple measures within the same construct (Kerlinger, 1986). Convergent validity exists "when measures of the same concept have similar patterns of correlations with other variables" (Weisberg et al., 1996). Construct validity was evaluated by following guidelines for measuring convergence proposed by Bagozzi (1981). Bagozzi (1981) states that correlations for items within a dimension should be high. Convergent validity was assessed by measuring the correlation among the corresponding constructs under each of the four dimensions: (i) strategy; (ii) processes; (iii) technology; and (iv) people. High correlations among constructs under each dimension are considered to indicate convergent validity. Existence of convergent validity is determined if all correlations between constructs are higher than 0.5 (Liu, 2001).

d. Partial Models

Testing the research model was achieved through adopting the Structural Equation Modeling (SEM) technique whose true power lies in assessing proposed measurement and structural relations within a model (Kelloway, 1998). Structural Equation Models are models of relationships among constructs that comprise and extend regression and factor analysis procedures (Hayduk, 1987; Bollen, 1989). Mertler and Vannatta (2001) define SEM as a sophisticated version of path analysis incorporating unobservable, unmeasurable (latent) constructs into the path model.

SEM was used for three main reasons based on Kelloway's (1998) suggestions. First, since this study used measures to represent constructs, SEM performs explicit tests of both of the overall quality of the model as well as on specific parameters (e.g., factor loadings) composing the model. SEM checks the extent to which the measures reflect the intended constructs. Second, since this study was principally concerned with the

relationships among the measures, SEM techniques allow for the specification and testing of complex path models reflecting causal processes. Third, SEM provides a unique analysis that considers questions of both measurement and prediction. Typically referred to as latent construct models, this form of SEM provides a flexible and powerful means of simultaneously assessing the quality of measurement and examining predictive relationships among constructs. Thus, Cliff (1983) referred to the advent of SEM techniques as a statistical revolution.

LISREL (LInear Structural RELations) version 8.72 was the tool used to test the research hypotheses due to its powerful ability in identifying relations among dimensions (or latent variables), each encompassing several measurable constructs (or observed variables). LISREL is a computer program that analyses covariance structures and that is suitable for the analysis of causal hypotheses or covariance structure models on the basis of non-experimental data. There are two basic types of variables in LISREL: latent variables and observable variables: (i) latent variables that are formulated in terms of theoretical or hypothetical concepts that are not directly measurable or observable; and (ii) observable variables that are directly measurable or observable and can be used as indicators of latent variables. For example, the strategy dimension is considered a latent variable that can be measured by several observables factors such as goals, motives, identification of challenges, etc.).

After inputting data of all the observable variables, LISREL estimates the path coefficients that indicate the effect of each independent latent variable on the dependent latent variable. Mueller (1996) indicates that path coefficients (or regression coefficients) prove two types of relationships: (i) the effect of independent variables on other independent variables; and (ii) the effect of independent variables on dependent variables. That is, path coefficients were used to assess the impact of the strategy dimension (independent variable) on the three other dimensions (independent variables): processes, technology, and people. Path coefficients were also used to check the effect of the four dimensions strategy, processes, technology and people (independent variables) on EGR (dependent variable). LISREL reports also the significance of the path coefficients. The general principle is that if the theory is correct: (i) direct and proximal relationships should be stronger than more distal relationships; and (ii) the model should have strong correlations between the proposed latent variables in the model (strategy, processes, technology, people, and EGR). If correlations among constructs and dimensions exist as well as causal relations between them, a theory can be defined (Kelloway, 1998). A complete description of the proposed model derived from the literature is provided in chapter 4.

55

3.7.2 Analysis of qualitative data

The analysis of qualitative data took place through several steps; first, data obtained from transcribed interviews, documents, archival records, and observation notes was examined, and several attempts took place to extract the information relevant to the study. This information was supported by quotations from interviews, or specific evidence (Creswell, 2002). External factors affecting EGR (such as, economical, legislative, political, etc.) were excluded during data analysis to focus only on the internal factors under the suggested categories. The next step involved attempts to find connections between these different categories. Qualitative data analysis relied mainly on a "*content analysis*" which is characterised by its theory driven approach through setting a number of rules to be followed during data analysis (Ratcliff, 1996). As an example, the analysis of qualitative data gathered from different sources led to confirming or denying the effect of any of the four dimensions of the proposed framework (strategy, processes, technology, and people) on EGR.

3.8 Data Validation

The data analysis stage was followed by an important phase related with the validation of such data. Based on Creswell (2002) suggestions for data validation, the following techniques are adopted in order to validate the data obtained. First, a triangulation between quantitative and qualitative data was performed to investigate the extent to which they provided the same facts. Second, results obtained from these studies were compared with the primary framework derived from the literature leading to the development of a generic framework for assessing EGR of Egyptian public organisations (comparison of findings with the proposed EGR framework is provided in chapter 7).

3.9 Summary

This chapter explained the methodology followed in this thesis. In the beginning, it presented both the epistemology and the research strategy that match the research design. Next, the chapter described the desk research stage followed by the preparation for data collection stage that included the pilot case study. Data collection methods were then identified leading to a description of the techniques embraced for data analysis and validation. The next chapter will provide a full explanation of a preliminary framework that was developed based on the literature of relevant fields. The chapter will then highlight the link between the measuring constructs of the framework and the questions contained in the questionnaire instrument distributed to the employees in the four selected case studies.

4. EGR Framework

Objectives of chapter 4

- Explain the different parts of the preliminary research framework.
- Delineate the link between the measuring constructs of the dimensions of the framework and the questionnaire instrument.



question. It showed the steps undertaken towards selecting case study as a research strategy. The chapter identified also the different methods used in collecting quantitative and qualitative data. Quantitative data was obtained through distributing a questionnaire instrument to the employees working in the four public organisations selected as case studies. Qualitative data was gathered from interviews conducted with top management, documents, archival records, and observation of the workplace in these organisations. This chapter provides a description of the suggested framework that was derived from the literature on e-readiness, EGR, IS and e-commerce assessments. Finally the chapter illustrates how each part of the instrument developed for collecting quantitative data reflects its correspondent measurement construct under each dimension of the framework.

4.1 Suggested framework for assessing EGR

In all e-readiness and EGR assessment models presented in chapter 2, the use of different sets of indicators and different weights assigned to them lead to varying conclusions on the performance of the countries evaluated. Limiting surveying and ranking different nations according to their scores on selected indicators removes the attention from more fundamental issues related to transforming the government by use of ICT. The research gap lies in the absence of a framework that assesses EGR on a micro level, i.e. within a public organisation, addressing the e-administration dimension of e-government that is usually ignored by researchers.

In an attempt to overcome the several shortcomings that exist in previous EGR assessment models, a framework encompassing all internal factors affecting EGR was developed consisting of the following four dimensions: (i) strategy, (ii) processes, (iii) technology, and (iv) people. These dimensions are highlighted in Gartner's four phases of e-government model developed by Baum and Maio (2000), but are restricted to government websites only. Baum and Maio (2000) consider strategy, people, process and technology as requirements to be associated with each of the four website phases: presence, interaction, transaction, and transformation (see table 4.1).

	Presence	Interaction	Transaction	Transformation
Strategy	Approval level Public domain	Fee for information Public response	Competition Confidentiality/privacy Fee for transaction E-authentication	Funding stream allocations Agency identity Big browser
People	Existing staff	Content management Increased support staff Governance	Self services Skills set changes Portfolio management Sourcing Increased business staff	Job structures Relocation/telecommuting Organisation Performance Accountability Multiple-programs skills Privacy reduces
Process	Streamline processes	KM E-mail BP Content management Metadata Data synchronization	BPR Relationship management Online interfaces Channel management	Integrated services Change value chain New processes/services Change relationships (G2G, G2C, G2B, B2E)
Technology	Website online content	Search E-mail	Legacy system links Security Information access 24/7 infrastructure Sourcing	New applications New data structures New standards

Table 4.1 – Gartner's Four Phases of E-Government (Baum and Maio, 2000)

Although website existence is an integral part of e-government, e-government encompasses other means to provide services to citizens. Moreover, referring to the definition of e-government discussed in chapter 2 (section 2.1), e-administration should not be completely related to web presence; a public organisation can start its IT strategy focusing on e-administration first, and then establish a web presence. As a result, the above four dimensions can be applied on e-administration as well, which is the main topic of this study. An EGR assessment framework was developed based on the four dimensions that have an effect on EGR, which are: (i) strategy, (ii) processes, (iii) technology, and (iv) people. A number of constructs (derived from information systems success, e-commerce success, e-readiness, and EGR literature) were covered under each dimension (see figure 4.1). Such a framework would act as a checklist for public organisation management to verify the presence or absence of each element under each dimension of the framework. In addition, applying this framework for assessing EGR would show the effect of each of these four dimensions on EGR, and the weight of each construct under each dimension. The four phases of e-government websites presented in table 4.1 (presence, interaction, transaction, transformation) were included as part of evaluating website quality under the technology dimension. It was vital to consider them due to their importance in determining the maturity of websites in public organisations.

As stated above, the proposed framework addressed only internal factors affecting EGR. The reason behind excluding external factors (as explained in chapter 3, section 3.4) was because the research aim was to investigate how under the same external factors that are applicable to all organisations in a country, variations of the strength of internal factors could change the degree of EGR among these organisations. Also, due to the large number of these internal factors, the researcher decided to study them thoroughly especially that the external factors were already addressed in the majority of e-readiness and EGR assessments.

Figure 4.1 – Proposed E-Government Readiness (EGR) Framework

4.2 Description of the suggested EGR framework

Each dimension in the framework contains a number of measuring constructs derived from the literature. A questionnaire instrument was developed to be employed as a source of evidence (besides other qualitative data collection methods) for testing the suggested framework. It was distributed to employees working in four public organisations in Egypt to get their feedback regarding the strategy, processes, technology, people, and EGR situation in their organisations. The questionnaire consisted of six parts (see appendix B): the first four parts (parts A, B, C, D) measured employees' perceptions toward the four suggested dimensions of the framework: strategy, processes, technology, and people. In each part, each question reflected a measurement construct under the dimension corresponding to this part. Research variables were measured in a 7-point Likert's scale.
The fifth part (part E) contained only one question requesting employees to express their view regarding the extent to which their organisation was ready for e-government on a scale ranging from 1 (extremely unready) to 7 (extremely ready). Finally, the sixth part (part F) contained personal questions about each subject (e.g. age range, gender, experience with IT, etc.).

The following sections explain the theoretical background from which all constructs under each dimension are derived. A table is provided for each dimension that shows its related measuring constructs along with their corresponding question(s) in the questionnaire instrument listed in appendix B.

4.2.1 Strategy

The need to set out a robust strategy for e-government is a major factor in reaching a successful e-government adoption (Reffat, 2003; Fletcher, 1999). An efficient strategy should identify first the main drivers for implementing e-government (Working Group on E-Government in the Developing World, 2002). Recognising these drivers highlights their importance, and helps in setting an appropriate action plan. E-government strategy should also set a number of goals (Forman, 2002) - to justify its cost and to check the extent to which these goals were achieved - and should identify potential challenges (Margetts and Dunleavy, 2002): technological, administrative, legislative, economic, and political (Pilipovic et al., 2002). Highlighting challenges at an early stage helps in setting appropriate solutions (Weerakody et al., 2005) with the right priorities (Chen and Knepper, 2005). An e-government strategy should also be aligned with the organisation's business strategy, referred as strategic alignment, (Beaumaster, 2002; Baets, 1992; Bowman et al., 1983; Das et al., 1991; Henderson and Venkatraman, 1993). Strategic alignment impacts overall organisation and business performance (Xia and King, 2002; Croteau et al., 2001), and helps in perceiving higher payoffs from IT (Tallon et al., 2000).

In addition, an e-government strategy should set an action plan (UNDESA, 2003a; WASEDA University, 2006) including accountability (Navarra and Cornford, 2003; Heeks, 2001), organisation's structure (Snellen, 2000; Baum and Maio, 2000), resource allocation (Fletcher, 2003), IT policies and procedures (Powell and Dent-Micallef, 1999; Zahra and Covin, 1993), and leadership (WASEDA University, 2006; NSW, 2001). Action plan should also investigate funding sources (WASEDA University, 2006; NSW, 2001), and identify e-government different stakeholders (Mitchell et al., 1997; Tennert and Schroeder, 1999) in order to determine their roles (Frooman, 1999; Bryson and Alston, 1996) as well as the value to be reflected on each of them (Aldrich et al., 2002; Traunmüller and Wimmer, 2003; Sprecher, 2000; West, 2000). Finally, an action plan should develop the means to

promote e-government to build awareness among all stakeholders (Hu et al., 2005; WASEDA University, 2006).

Table 4.2 presents the various suggested constructs of the e-government strategy dimension along with their corresponding question(s) placed in part A (comprising 8 questions) of the questionnaire instrument. Research variables of the strategy dimension are measured in a 7-point Likert's scale, with 1 as strongly disagree, and 7 as strongly agree.

Construct	Question No.
Strategy	Question 1
Goals	Questions 2,3
Motives or Drivers	Question 4-a
Identification of Challenges	Question 4-b
Strategic Alignment	Questions 4-c, d,
	е
Action Plan	Question 5
Organisation: Resource allocation	Question 6-a
Organisation: Accountability	Question 6-b
Organisation: Structure	Question 6-c
Organisation: IT Policies and	Question 6-d
Procedures	
Organisation: Leadership	Question 6-e
	Questions 7-a, b,
	С
	Question 8
Funding Resources	Questions 6-f, g
Stakeholders: Identification	Question 6-h
Stakeholders: Role	Question 6-i
Stakeholders: Value	Question 6-j
Promotion	Question 6-k

Table 4.2 - Main Constructs of "Strategy" and Corresponding Questions (Part A of the
Questionnaire in Appendix B)

Showing the value of e-government strategy along with its different underlying items led to the following hypothesis:

Hypothesis 1 (H1): E-government strategy should be considered in an EGR assessment of an organisation.

4.2.2 Processes

Processes to be undertaken by an e-government initiative are classified into two main categories: Business Process Change (BPC) and e-government evaluation (see table 4.3). Several studies highlight the value of BPC in e-government success (Scholl, 2003; Kettinger et al., 1997; Pardo and Scholl, 2002; Heeks, 2001; Seybold, 1998). First, the motives for change should be determined (Scholl, 2005), and the focal areas where these change should take place (Harkness et al., 1996; Kettinger and Grover, 1995; Balutis, 2001). Business processes should also be defined, documented and streamlined

(Rimmer, 2002; Guo and Lu, 2005; Baum and Maio, 2000) to improve information flow within the organisation.

Business processes should also be integrated internally, and with other public agencies as well (Accenture, 2005; Ho, 2002; Moon, 2002; Tapscott, 1995; Chen and Knepper, 2005; Rimmer, 2002; Layne and Lee, 2001).

Furthermore, the framework considers evaluation of e-government performance as a systematic approach to be performed periodically. Evaluation should always compare plans with real situations (Heeks, 2003); this aids in rectifying deviations from the plans at an early stage. Evaluation should also take into account the use of e-government services by citizens (Gefen et al., 2002) and ICT usage by the employees in the organisation (CSPP, 2000; Liu, 2001; DeLone and McLean, 1992; Marchionini et al., 2003; Schedler and Scharf, 2001). It is also essential to conduct periodic evaluations to understand how citizens perceive e-government from different perspectives such as usefulness and ease of use (Davis, 1985, 1989), satisfaction (DeLone and McLean, 1992; Livari and Ervasi, 1994; Cyert and March, 1963; Downing, 1999; Bailey and Pearson, 1983; Igbaria and Nachman, 1990), and trust (Adams, 1999; Edmiston, 2003; Chen and Knepper, 2005; Gefen et al., 2002; Tassabehji, 2005). Periodic evaluations should also be extended to investigate employees' perceived usefulness and ease of use (Davis, 1985, 1989), and satisfaction (DeLone and McLean, 1992; Bailey and Pearson, 1983; Davis, 1985, 1989; Igbaria and Nachman, 1990; Rai et al., 2002; Seddon, 1997; Seddon and Kiew, 1996; Seddon et al., 1999; Wilkin and Castleman, 2003). Finally, evaluations should be performed to assess the development of the impact of e-government on all stakeholders (DeLone and McLean, 1992; Seddon, 1997).

Table 4.3 presents the various suggested constructs of the processes dimension along with their corresponding question(s) placed in part B (comprising 15 questions) of the questionnaire instrument. Research variables of the processes dimension were measured in a 7-point Likert's scale, with 1 as strongly disagree, and 7 as strongly agree.

Construct	Question No.
Business Process Change (BPC)	Question 1
Motives of BPC	Question 2
Focal Areas of Business Process Change	Question 3
(BPC)	
Definition of Business Processes	Question 4
Documentation of Business Processes	Questions 5
Streamlining of Business Processes	Question 6
Vertical Integration	Question 7
Horizontal Integration	Question 8
Evaluation	Question 9
Design/Reality Gap	Question 10

Usage by Citizens	Question 11
Usage by Employees	Question 12
Citizens' Feedback: Perceived Usefulness	Questions 13-a
Citizens' Feedback: Perceived Ease of Use	Question 13-b
Citizens' Feedback: Satisfaction	Question 13-c
Citizens' Feedback: Trust	Question 13-d
Employees' Feedback: Perceived	Question 14-a
Usefulness	
Employees' Feedback: Perceived Ease of	Question 14-b
Use	
Evaluation: Employees' Feedback:	Question 14-c
Satisfaction	
Evaluation: Impact on Stakeholders	Question 15

 Table 4.3 - Main Constructs of "Processes" and Corresponding Questions (Part B of the Questionnaire in Appendix B)

Highlighting the importance of processes as an integral factor in affecting e-government directed the researcher to set the second hypothesis:

Hypothesis 2 (H2): Organisational processes should be included in an EGR assessment of an organisation.

4.2.3 Technology

Evidently, technology constitutes an important factor influencing e-government success (NSW, 2001). Technology comprises IS structure, hardware, and service quality (see table 4.4). Information systems structure covers information quality (DeLone and McLean, 1992; Bailey and Pearson, 1983; Ahituv, 1980), system quality (DeLone and McLean, 1992; Bailey and Pearson, 1983; Bhimani, 1996), web presence quality (UNDESA, 2005; West, 2000, 2006; WASEDA University, 2006; Accenture, 2002, 2005; Turban et al., 2002; Liu and Arnett, 2000; DeConti, 1998; Eschenfelder et al., 1997; Burgess and Cooper, 1999; Smith, 2001; Boon et al., 2000; Farquhar et al., 1998; Fogg, 2002; Fogg, et al., 2002; Hamilton and Chervany, 1981; Ho and Wu, 1999; Kossak et al., 2001; Swanson, 1986; Wan, 2000), and security measures (NSW, 2001; Ben Abd Allah et al., 2002; Conklin and White, 2006; Boudriga, 2002). Technological dimension should also consider the quality of the hardware (Victoria, 2002), and the technical support and development provided by the IT department to the entire organisation referred as service quality (CSPP, 2000; Woodroof and Burg, 2003; Pitt et al., 1995; Li, 1997; Wilkin and Hewett, 1999; Wilkin and Castleman, 2003).

Table 4.4 presents the various suggested constructs of the technology dimension along with their corresponding question(s) placed in part C (comprising 20 questions) of the questionnaire instrument. Part C was divided into two main sections: the first investigated different factors related to IS structure such as the quality of: data and information, software, website, security (questions 1 to 4), and the quality of hardware (question 5).

The second section was related to the technical support provided to the employees through the Technical Services Department (TSD) in their organisation (questions 6 to 20). Research variables of the technology dimension were measured in a 7-point Likert's scale, with 1 as far short of expectations to 7 as greatly exceeds expectations.

Construct	Question No.
IS Structure	
Information Quality: Content	Question 1-a
Information Quality: Availability	Question 1-b
Information Quality: Accuracy	Question 1-c
Information Quality: Timeliness	Question 1-d
Information Quality: Convenience	Question 1-e
Information Quality: Vertical Integration	Question 1-f
Information Quality: Horizontal Integration	Question 1-g
Information Quality: Internet Integration	Question 1-h
Information Quality: Overall	Question 1-i
System Quality: Reliability	Question 2-a
System Quality: Ease of Use	Question 2-b
System Quality: Accessibility	Question 2-c
System Quality: Usefulness	Question 2-d
System Quality: Flexibility	Question 2-e
System Quality: Vertical Integration	Question 2-f
System Quality: Horizontal Integration	Question 2-g
System Quality: Internet Integration	Question 2-h
System Quality: Overall	Question 2-i
Web Presence Quality: Usability	Question 3-a
Web Presence Quality: Layout	Question 3-b
Web Presence Quality: Navigation	Question 3-c
Web Presence Quality: Consistency	Question 3-d
Web Presence Quality: Content	Question 3-e
Web Presence Quality: Number of Services	Question 3-f
Web Presence Quality: Presence Stage	Question 3-g
Web Presence Quality: Interaction Stage	Question 3-h
Web Presence Quality: Transaction Stage	Question 3-i
Web Presence Quality: Transformation Stage	Question 3-j
Web Presence Quality: Overall	Question 3-k
Security Measures: Data Protection	Question 4-a
Security Measures: Software Protection	Question 4-b
Security Measures: Data Transfer over Networks	Question 4-c
Security Measures: Access Privileges	Question 4-d
Security Measures: Safety of Electronic	Question 4-e
Payment	
Security Measures: Overall	Question 4-f
Hardware	
Efficiency	Question 5-a
Vertical Integration	Question 5-b
Horizontal Integration	Question 5-c
Overall	Question 5-d
Technical Support and Development	
Reliability	Questions 6, 7, 8
Competence	Questions 9, 10
Responsiveness	Question 11
Timeliness	Questions 12, 13
Communications	Questions 14, 15,
	16, 17, 18
Commitment	Question 19
Access	Question 20

 Table 4.4 - Main Constructs of "Technology" and Corresponding Questions (Part C of the Questionnaire in Appendix B)

The effect of technology on EGR presented in the literature led to the third hypothesis:

Hypothesis 3 (H3): Assessing technology effect on EGR in an organisation should comprise several factors such as the quality of: information, applications, organisation's website, security measures, hardware, and technical service provided by the IT department in the organisation.

4.2.4 People

People are one of the main factors in the success of e-government (NSW, 2001). Several constructs exist in this dimension such as, user satisfaction (DeLone and McLean, 1992; Bailey and Pearson, 1983; Davis, 1985, 1989; Igbaria and Nachman, 1990; Rai et al., 2002; Seddon, 1997; Seddon and Kiew, 1996; Seddon et al., 1999; Wilkin and Castleman, 2003), assessing satisfaction of e-government from the part of employees using IT. Also, it is vital to detect the impact of e-government on them (DeLone and McLean, 1992; Seddon, 1997). Furthermore, employees' skills should be taken into account such as, adaptation to change (Bertelsmann Foundation, 2002), proficiency in using IT (ICMA, 2002), ability to communicate with other employees within and outside the organisation (Powell and Dent-Micallef, 1999), and providing an adequate service to citizens (Accenture, 2002, 2005). Finally, there should be a special focus on the training to be provided to the employees in order to develop their various skills (Baum and Maio, 2000).

Table 4.5 presents the various suggested constructs of the e-government people dimension along with their corresponding question(s) placed in part D (comprising 13 questions) of the questionnaire instrument. Part D was divided into two main sections: the first on a scale from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree) included employees' satisfaction, impact on them, their skills, and their perceptions towards IT (questions 1 to 6). The second section was about the quality of IT training provided to the employees (questions 7 to 13) on a scale from 1 (far short of expectations) to 7 (greatly exceeds expectations).

Construct	Question No.
User Satisfaction	Question 1
Impact on Employees	Question 2
Skills: Adaptation to Change	Question 3
Skills: Integration	Question 4
Skills: Customer Service	Question 5
Like Computers	Question 6
HR Training and Development	Questions 7,
	8, 9, 10, 11,
	12, 13

Table 4.5 - Main Constructs of "People" and Corresponding Questions (Part D of the
Questionnaire in Appendix B)

Recognising the value of people in EGR guided the researcher to the fourth hypothesis:

Hypothesis 4 (H4): An organisation's EGR assessment should take into account different aspects related to the employees such as soft and technical skills, their perceptions towards ICT in their daily work, and the training courses provided to them.

4.2.5 Inter-relations between the four dimensions

The study argued that all three dimensions: processes, technology, and people, are affected by e-government strategy since this strategy comprises a number of aspects that cause major changes in them. E-government strategy is usually absent, or at least not particularly considered in most developing countries. Absence of strategy in e-government projects is due mainly to the lack of a common vision that guides each project in government environment characterised by continuous political, economical, and governance inconsistencies. An efficient e-government strategy, if followed, should have a direct impact on processes, technology, and people. Consequently, this study suggests that the strategy dimension acts as a meta-dimension (i.e. a dimension of dimensions): first in directly affecting EGR, and second in indirectly affecting EGR through the other three dimensions: processes, technology, and people. This led to the following three hypotheses:

Hypothesis 5a (H5a): E-government strategy in an organisation should be reflected on the processes followed.

Hypothesis 5b (H5b): The technology in an organisation should be planned on a strategic level.

Hypothesis 5c (H5c): Top management should emphasize on the development on employees' skills and satisfaction when formulating an e-government strategy.

Figure 4.2 shows the revised version of the suggested EGR framework containing the first four hypotheses (presented earlier in the framework in figure 4.1), in addition to the last three hypotheses (H5a, H5b, H5c) explained above.



Figure 4.2 – Proposed E-Government Readiness (EGR) Framework (Revised Version)

4.3 Summary

This chapter presented an explanation of the suggested framework that assesses E-Government Readiness (EGR) of a public organisation. The framework constructs were derived from the literature on e-readiness, EGR, IS, and e-commerce assessments. The chapter highlighted the link between the different parts of the questionnaire instrument and the corresponding constructs of each of the four dimensions of the framework: strategy, processes, technology, and people. The questionnaire instrument was used for the empirical research that was undertaken to test the suggested EGR framework in the four selected case studies that represent public organisations in Egypt. The next chapter will provide a detailed explanation of the context of these four organisations. The chapter will also describe the overall data collection process undertaken in each organisation followed by a critical analysis of the entire process.

5. Case Studies

Objectives of chapter 5

- Provide an overview of the e-government initiative of Egypt.
- Describe the context of each of the four case studies selected for the empirical research.
- Explain and analyse the overall data collection process.



dimensions of the framework: (i) strategy, (ii) processes, (iii) technology, (iv) people, and the measuring constructs under each dimension. Each measuring construct is derived from the literature on e-readiness, EGR, IS and e-commerce success models. The chapter provided also the link between each measuring construct and its correspondent question(s) in the developed measurement instrument that was distributed to the employees working in the four public organisations selected as case studies. This chapter describes the context of the study by first providing an overview of Egypt's national e-government strategy which helps in highlighting the link between the national strategy and this research, and then by explaining the context of the four organisations selected as case studies. The choice of these organisations was based on the importance of the sector they are related to, and to their e-government maturity level. It was also taken into account to select well established organisations that are considerably old in addition to new founded ones. The objective was to seek as much as possible to choose case studies that could best represent public organisations in Egypt. Finally, the chapter explains the data collection process in the four organisations and summarises the researcher view about the entire process.

5.1 Country profile

Egypt has taken an e-government initiative since the introduction of the Ministry of Communication and Information Technology (MCIT) in 1999, as part of its plan to turn Egypt into an information-based society. The vision of e-government initiative in Egypt is "delivering high quality government services to the public in the format that suits them" (EISI Government Team, 2003). Such vision relies mainly on three principles that include: 1) citizen centric service delivery, 2) community participation, and 3) efficient allocation of government resources (EISI Government Team, 2003). E-government vision – once articulated - led to formulate Egypt's e-government strategy, directed mainly towards utilising ICT to enhance government readiness; thus to realise a strong local program and to smoothly integrate in the global community (Darwish, 2007). The main projects guided by this strategy - related to the third principle of the national vision (efficient allocation of government Team, 2003). This proves the focus on automating back office over both central and local governmental agencies since the beginning of the Egyptian e-government program.

The official inauguration of the Egyptian e-government portal (<u>http://www.egypt.gov.eg</u>) took place in 25 January 2004 and was attended by Bill Gates during his first visit to Egypt, as Microsoft was chosen to be in charge of the project's implementation. Some services were placed in the portal to pilot test the project such as telephone e-billing, birth certificate issuing, car license renewal, etc. With the new cabinet announced in Egypt in July 2004, the e-government program became the responsibility of the Ministry of States

for Administrative Development (MSAD) instead of MCIT. This decision indicates the clear vision of e-government program perceived as a transformative project affecting all government organisations rather than a technological one.

Egypt's e-government program has identified a number of objectives to realise a successful implementation of e-government and that includes (but not limited to): 1) tailoring government services to meet citizens expectations, 2) creating a conducive environment to investors (local and international), 3) availing accurate and updated government information, 4) increasing government efficiency through modern management techniques and new working models, 5) reducing government expenditure and 6) fostering local competitiveness and increasing globalisation readiness (EISI Government Team, 2003).

The above objectives cannot be realised without considering E-Government Readiness (EGR) on a macro level (i.e., of the overall country) as well as on a micro level (over public organisations). Assessing EGR of public organisations helps in understanding the internal factors related to each organisation that affect EGR, and that would contribute on the success of e-government in a public organisation. The importance of internal factors is apparent when examining the different levels of progress of e-government in public organisations in the same country; even though these organisations are exposed and affected by the same external factors related to the entire country. E-government policy makers in Egypt were interested in assessing the country's overall EGR since 2003 through undertaking a qualitative comparison of UN EGR criteria with ICT readiness of Egypt (EISI-Government Team, 2003). Assessing EGR of public organisations is largely considered also; this can be deduced from the interest of e-government key responsible administrators in this research (Dr. Hatem elKady, E-Government Program Manager, expressed his interest in getting the research findings). In addition, MSAD performs a yearly survey to assess EGR of public organisations (see the fifth issue of this survey on (http://www.msad.gov.eg). The survey provides an insight about the skills of the employees and the technology components within each organisation. MSAD responsible executives send periodically only one questionnaire form to each organisation's manager asking him to reply and resend it to MSAD. Such information is aggregated and serves as a documentary source to determine the skills of employees and the technology standards in Egyptian public organisations.

The development/implementation of Egypt's e-government programme is in continuous progress. The fact that the country's ranking has been improved in two separate studies – conducted regularly to evaluate EGR over the past few years - advocates the evolvement of

Egypt's e-government provision and initiatives. The first is the global E-Government Readiness by Darrell West, Brown University - evaluating 198 countries around the world based on their national websites – where Egypt ranks 73rd in 2008 compared to 81st in 2007. The other assessment is the EGR reports conducted by the UN, where Egypt ranks 79th over 193 countries in 2008 compared to 99th in 2005 (no UN ranking reports were issued in 2006 and 2007).

It is expected that there will be much higher demand on online services due to the growing number of: Internet users (increased from 300,000 in October 1999 to 13.7 million in July 2009), fixed telephone lines (increased from 4.9 million in October 1999 to 11.8 million in March 2009), and mobile users (increased from 654 thousands in October 1999 to 50 million in July 2009 (MCIT, 2009).

5.2 Description of the research case studies

This section provides further support on how the research investigated Egypt's egovernment environment. This was done through a number of case studies aiming to represent Egypt for assessing EGR. Four public organisations were chosen: Montaza District (MD), Tax Unit for Non-Commercial Professions (TUNC), Ministry of Investment (MOI), and a Public Hospital (PH), requested by its top management to be anonymous.

MD was selected because it represents a successful example of municipalities that was founded long time ago (since 1982), which triggered the desire to investigate TUNC as an example of a successful organisation that is relatively new (since 2004), and because presenting citizens' income statement is among the first services provided usually through governmental websites worldwide due to its importance to both citizens and governments. It was also pivotal to conduct studies on MOI, since investment constitutes a promising sector in Egypt. This can be deduced from the foundation of a ministry dedicated for this purpose, where e-government represents a corner stone in its structure through the launching of a portal that aims to attract foreign direct investment.

The last case study, a public hospital (PH), represents the health sector - although an essential sector - is one of the sectors that is still suffering from several problems. The health sector, being in an early stage in terms of e-government and in information technology as a whole, was another driver in examining a case in this sector. This would help in investigating how e-government implementation could contribute in enhancing

administrative efficiency and quality of services in this sector. The next sections provide a description of each of the four case studies researched.

5.2.1 Case study 1 - Montaza District (MD)

Montaza District (MD) is located in Alexandria (one of Egypt's 29 governorates located in North Egypt on the Mediterranean, and the second largest city in Egypt after Cairo). In general, metropolitan governorates, such as Alexandria are divided into districts. Decision making in each district, concerning financial and administrative affairs, is performed across various levels reflecting different levels of responsibilities. For example, detailed responsibilities such as executing the governorate strategy, dealing with the district's citizens, and allocating limited resources to investment are managed by the District Executive Committee headed by the District Head. Higher level decisions are considered and taken in the monthly Governorate Executive Committee meeting headed by the Governor. Districts Heads are key members of this committee along with representatives from 14 different service sectors such as health, education, etc. and other entities representing other authorities in the governorate. Governors submit periodical reports to the Minister of Local Development who heads the quarterly Governors' Committee comprising also the Governors of the 29 Governorates. It is important to note that the Minister reports directly to the Prime Minister (MOLD, 2008; Ahmed and Hassan, 2007; interviews with consultant of the Minister of Local Development and with MD Head).

MD's area is 92 square kilometres; it has a population of 1.023 million, deeming it the highest population among the other five districts of Alexandria with around 25% of its total population (4.110 million). MD offers a total of 69 services to citizens such as, issuance and renovation of permits (stores, buildings, digging), issuance and re-issuance of certificates, etc.

The district started its e-government program since 2003 focusing on using ICT to reach two main objectives: simplify and speed-up the procedure in providing services to the citizens in case of physical interaction, and enable citizens to get the services remotely. The first objective was realised to a great extent by placing public kiosks in several convenient locations, handling any service with MD on behalf of the citizen; and by availing instantly 38 services (around 55% of total services offered), i.e. to be completed in only 30 minutes or less. More services are to be transferred to instant ones. The MD second objective was attained bv launching а web site for (http://www.montazaonline.com).

Online services constitute 20% of all services offered by MD. Since electronic payment is not yet implemented, services requiring fees cannot be completed online. Payment can be upon delivery, or at the district's premises. Citizens cannot submit documents electronically but they can review what documents are required for each service in order to have them ready ahead of visiting the district. The absence of electronic payment, and the inability of citizens to send documents online restricted the number of online services that could be completed entirely through the website; this makes completed online services constitute 40% of all online services (as revealed by the IT Manager of MD). Other important services are provided through the website such as, checking the status of a property, tracking the status of the services sought, and applying for and following-up on services requested from other public entities. This latter function automatically meant an intermediary role for MD with other governmental entities. The website gives also its visitors insight on most issues related to the district such as events and attraction places.

5.2.2 Case study 2 - Tax Unit for Non-Commercial Professions (TUNC)

Tax Unit for Non-Commercial Professions (TUNC) is one of the five tax units in Cairo's 8th area. In fact, Egyptian Tax Authority (ETA) – a division of the Ministry of Finance (MOF) - has divided each governorate geographically into several areas. For example, Cairo, the capital and highest-populated governorate is divided into eight main areas, and each area comprises several tax units. Each unit assumes responsibility over a group of financiers (i.e. tax payers) where each has to present his income statement into the unit he's enlisted in. Tax payment and reviewing income statements take place afterwards through communication between financiers and their corresponding units' tax representatives.

TUNC was founded in November 2004 in an attempt to separate the tax collection of noncommercial professions from tax collection of other sectors. Non-commercial professions comprise citizens working as physicians, lawyers, accountants, engineers, etc., who run their private business or practice. TUNC serves now 58000 financiers whose businesses are in its geographic domain. Each of the 70 employees (i.e. the tax representatives) serving financiers has a computer connected to the wide area network that connects TUNC to the central administration of ETA. The tax representative can access any information about the group of financiers under his responsibility such as their status and transactions with the tax unit. He can also inquire about them in other governmental entities such as customs and charges in courts.

TUNC was among the first tax units to adopt the e-government program set by ETA. ETA started this program in 2006 on a small number of tax units and plans to implement it over all tax units in Egypt in the future. The main objective of implementing e-government is to

enhance the services provided to citizens, hence being in accordance with the national egovernment program. The first implementation stage was through improving eadministration in several tax units by: (i) providing a computer to each employee, especially those who have a direct contact with citizens; (ii) automating the workflow; and (iii) integrating some business processes internally and with other organisations. The second stage was performed by enabling financiers to communicate with ETA through the Internet.

ETA added different services through the Egyptian e-government portal such as, registering a new activity, notifying ETA of a temporary or permanent halt, applying for a tax ID, or presenting income statements. Citizens can even send a bank check to affect payment without having to physically go to their correspondent tax units for payment. A call center was established in 2007 to answer financiers' inquiries about e-services provided by ETA. All financiers' communications with ETA through the Internet are first submitted to the central administration, and then sent to the correspondent tax unit. Information about all financiers is stored once at the database servers located at the central administration. Since all tax units are connected to central administration through a wide area network, employees in tax units can access financiers' information from the database at the central administration. The fact that such information is stored in only one place prevents data errors that could result from duplication of data.

The main challenge that faces ETA in terms of IT is the ability to keep up with the turbulent environment of frequent change in regulations in national tax law. ETA is working on several e-government projects simultaneously. Among the most important ones is the automation of the entire workflow within each tax unit, and externally between the central administration and all tax units through the wide area network that connects them. In addition, a full e-payment solution is to be implemented through providing digital signature for each financier. Another project is concerned with the implementation of a smart card reader technology, where each financier's profile is to be stored in a smart card (up to 64 Kilobytes capacity, holding 5 years transactions). Such project started in 2007 and expected to be completed in 2010.

5.2.3 Case study 3 – Ministry of Investment (MOI)

The Egyptian Ministry of Investment (MOI) was established in July 2004 to support the government's mandate to implement reform programmes. The main aim of MOI is to improve investments in different sectors adopting the role of coordinator of institutions and ministries, and implementing the asset management programme. Being the main responsible of investment initiatives in Egypt, MOI supervises nine affiliated entities concerned with all activities

related to the investment in Egypt such as free zones, capital market, exchange, insurance, mortgage finance, etc.

MOI's website (http://investment.gov.eg) is one of the major tools that help the Ministry in attaining its aim (the Minister's IT Consultant of MOI revealed that the Minister believes that 40% of the success of the investment sector in Egypt is attributed to the existence and implementation of information technology in the Ministry). The website helps to promote and encourage investments in Egypt since it provides information required by investors. The website presents also opportunities for investment in different sectors in Egypt, in addition to an overview of the economy and the laws that govern investment in the country. The website provides also investment guidelines through assisting investors throughout their business stages from planning to implementation and future growth. The content of the website is offered in four languages: Arabic, English, French, and Chinese. The main services accessed on the website are searching in the companies' database, reports on business sectors, investment opportunities, and ministerial committees to solve conflicts (interview with the Minister's IT Consultant of MOI).

There are 200 employees in the Ministry distributed in a different way than any other organisation; seniors constitute the majority of staff (=140), and the rest of the employees (60) work in administrative positions. Several business processes were reengineered to facilitate investment processes to be taken by businesses. IT helped in this issue through implementing a workflow system to streamline processes over all departments. Each employee has access to a computer connected to the Internet and to the Ministry's Intranet. The Intranet fostered internal communication between the employees since it is fully used in many activities.

MOI undertakes a regular evaluation of the website; a detailed usage analysis is conducted monthly that summarises website access on all four languages such as, accessed sectors, accessed times, interested countries, times and durations of visits, etc. There is a continuous development of the website based on feedback received from users, and from the website's usage analysis. Future applications include sending newsletters, organising mail campaigns, enabling customisation of the website according to each user request, adding business matchmaking feature, publishing success stories, and offering recommendations for best location for new investments.

5.2.4 Case study 4 – A Public Hospital (PH)

The Public Hospital (PH) -founded in 1936- is among the hospitals that are part of the General Organisation for Teaching Hospitals and Institutes (GOTHI), which is one of the

seven entities that belong to the Egyptian Ministry of Health and Population (MOHP)². GOTHI comprises 9 hospitals and 9 institutes. The main objectives of GOTHI are: (i) provide medical care to citizens according to the national health plan; (ii) educate and train new generations of physicians and students to fulfil citizens' needs in various specialisations; (iii) ensure the provision of the necessary funds for medical research to participate actively in solving medical problems; (iv) coordinate with other entities of MOHP, medical schools, and other research centres; and (v) apply the best and latest systems of proactive medicine, counter pollution, and preservation of environment.

PH is one of the largest public hospitals in Egypt. It serves a relatively large number of citizens, in part because it provides a large number of specialisations (24 units). Medical care is provided not only to patients who live in PH's geographic area, but extends beyond that as well.

Limited information about PH is provided at MOHP's website (<u>http://www.mohp.gov.eg</u>) under the section on GOTHI: the address of the hospital in addition to some pictures showing the different units of the hospital. Interaction with PH over the Internet is only through a general email of the Ministry. The number of computer users at PH is 36, mainly engaged in clerical work. The role of IT in the hospital is basically automating processes in some departments such as, accounting, inventory, purchasing, human resources, pharmacy etc. Computer users in each unit enter information about each patient but the main patients' data that physicians rely on are still in manual files. Monthly statistics are produced that summarise the total number of beds, number of patients in each unit, etc. Physicians rarely use computers because of several reasons explained in chapter 6 that provides analysis of the study findings. Internet connection is provided in only two places at the hospital: at the library and at the office of the Hospital Manager. PH departments are connected together via a local area network.

The information centre at the General Organisation for Teaching Hospitals and Institutes (GOTHI) provides technical maintenance to PH upon request. GOTHI tried several initiatives to connect the hospitals and institutes under its authority. For example, An

² In March 2009 a new ministry has been introduced to the governmental administration in Egypt: the Ministry of Population. Accordingly, the Ministry of Health (MOH) (previously the Ministry of Health and Population, MOHP) now concentrates on health issues only. However, MOHP will be used throughout the thesis for three reasons: first because the research was carried out in 2008, i.e., before this change occurred; second, all entities referred to or researched are still administratively part of the MOH; and third, the MOH's website name is still http://www.mohp.gov.eg

Intranet was established between all 18 hospitals and institutes, and physicians were offered the opportunity to have an email account. Unfortunately, both Intranet and emails are almost not used. GOTHI planned also to document all information relevant to each hospital and institute through distributing a questionnaire to each one, in an attempt to publish it at the organisation's website (<u>http://gothi.gov.eg</u>). Complete information about this issue is not available to date (searching information concerning PH in this website returns an "under construction" page). GOTHI intended also to implement a management hospital system instead of the one already installed, but was not successful due to its incompatibility with the nature of work at these hospitals and institutes.

Finally, it was essential to investigate the upper layer responsible of IT which dictated carrying out further research into the entity in charge on the level of Ministry of Health and Population (MOHP): The National Information Centre for Health and Population (NICHP). NICHP is considered the main source of medical information over all entities belonging to the Ministry. NICHP role is to coordinate between all information systems of the Ministry and its different authorities, and to allow access to medical information to all workers in the medical sector to improve work efficiency and to help in decision making. NICHP should perform a continuous review of IS progress worldwide, and apply suitable solutions that could best realise development in the Ministry and its belonging authorities.

Major changes took place since the inauguration of the new Minister of Health and Population in 2006 because of his perception about the importance of ICT in improving the health sector. Such interest in ICT was reflected in several initiatives and plans to incorporate ICT implementation in different areas: the Ministry's headquarter, different hospitals, and in medical units. This encouraged the Minister's IT Advisor to meet the researcher and to provide rich information about emerging achievements and future plans. For example, there is a plan to implement a medical care similar to the one in the UK, which provides primary medical care through medical units that exist in each district. 200 medical units out of 4000 have been computerised and connected to NICHP. Also, there is a plan to foster e-administration in the hospitals. Pilot projects in this plan started in 7 hospitals in order to be generalised in the future. Another plan is to undertake an overall survey of all hospitals and medical entities. A large phase of this plan was already concluded through compiling all hospitals data in 18 out of the 29 governorates of Egypt. The future plans comprise determining a national IT strategy in conjunction with international consultancy and IT companies. In addition, extensive study will be carried out to improve the website of the Ministry to include medical information and services of interest to citizens. Such plans required hiring new IT qualified experts (29 leaders and 5

assistants) offered high salaries provided from international grants. Unfortunately, hospitals and institutes belonging to GOTHI are not among the first priorities for the time being. Main reasons that hinder IT implementation from advancing in this sector in general and in PH in particular are presented in the next chapter that documents the research findings.

5.3 Data collection process

After deciding on the case studies to be investigated, the first stage of data collection was to meet top management in each organisation. Usually each meeting started by explaining the purpose of the research and the way it will be carried out, leading to obtaining their preliminary approval. It was then important to be acquainted with some basic information about the organisation such as an overview of the services offered to citizens, the role of IT, and the extent to which e-government program is implemented. Then a copy of the questionnaire was handed to be reviewed before management's final approval on distributing it. Further information was obtained through semi-structured interviews sometimes within the same meeting, or at separate occasions with other top management who can best provide the required information. The questions of these interviews are listed in appendix C.

Once the questionnaire was approved, the next step was to plan the distribution process with top management. Keeping the workflow uninterrupted in each organisation was among the top priorities of the researcher. It was preferred to assist employees while responding to the questionnaire for many reasons: (i) to explain the purpose of the research and the organisation of the questionnaire parts; (ii) to stress on the anonymous nature of the responses; (iii) to ensure that they understand each question clearly; (iv) to conduct interviews with some of the employees to understand more the working environment; (v) to ensure that the opinion of the employees does not contradict their answers to the questionnaire; and (vi) to understand the main problems that employees face in implementing IT. In some organisations, top management preferred that the researcher meets with the employees in groups in a conference room; in other cases, it was recommended to assist each employee in his office when it was difficult to interrupt his work.

Follow-up interviews were then conducted with top management to seek additional information to shed some light on any remaining unclear issues and to establish fulfilling answers to important points that arose during the previous data collection stage. These interviews were also an opportunity to the researcher to receive top management's

feedback on some of the questions that were posed to employees to compare notes, hence arriving at a full perspective.

Throughout the different phases of the data collection process the researcher had the opportunity to observe the work environment and the culture in each organisation. A detailed explanation of data collection process in each case is provided in the next sub sections.

5.3.1 Montaza District (MD)

Data collection at MD, Alexandria, started by contacting the district's Head by phone to present briefly the topic of the thesis and to set a meeting at his convenience. The first visit started by a meeting with MD's Head, followed by a tour to all departments to be acquainted by all information systems used and to understand the flow of information within the whole district. In each department, employees working on the systems demonstrated what they are doing and what were their future plans in improving IT in their departments. The researcher conducted also an interview with MD's Webmaster to investigate several issues related to the MD's website such as useful contents, most online services accesses, usage analysis reports, future plans, etc (questions about the website are included in appendix C). MD's Head expressed interest in doing an EGR assessment at the district because he needed to check the level of awareness of employees within the district. He asked for a copy of the questionnaire to review it first, and then to discuss the best way to start questionnaire distribution. After the Head went over the questionnaire, and exchanging views about it, he agreed to the researcher's suggestion to start with a pilot test to examine the relevance and comprehension of the different parts of the questionnaire to employees. The pilot test results led to some modifications in the structure and content of the questionnaire. Based on the pilot test, MD's Head and the researcher concluded that the best way to gather data would be to assist the employees while responding to the questionnaire to clarify any ambiguities (a full description of the pilot test was presented in chapter 3, section 3.5.2).

The actual data collection phase of the questionnaire was conducted through reading each question to a group of 10 to 15 employees, and asking them to mark on the answer that fitted best from their point of view. The IT Manager and Webmaster – who went over the questionnaire earlier – organised the whole procedure to make it as smooth and efficient as possible. After terminating the questionnaire distribution phase, two follow-up interviews were conducted, one with the MD's Head, and the other with the IT Manager.

5.3.2 Tax Unit for Non-Commercial Professions (TUNC)

At the outset, an interview was conducted with the Webmaster at the central administration of the Egyptian Tax Authority (ETA). The Webmaster handles all communications with citizens accessing ETA's online services. The main purpose of the interview was to understand the general process and the electronic communication between the central administration and all tax units. A next meeting was carried out with TUNC's Head to introduce the research topic and to discuss how the e-government program was planned for and implemented at the unit. The meeting revealed that decisions related to IT are not the responsibility of the Head; the information centre at the central administration sets the strategy and means to implement it at all units. The researcher therefore decided to investigate the overall e-government strategy with the IT Manager at the central administration, and to consider TUNC's Head among the questionnaire's responders.

The Head reviewed the questionnaire first, and was willing to cooperate and support. He suggested that the best way to undertake the survey would be through arranging the whole process with the IT Manager of the unit. It was then an opportunity to interview the TUNC's IT Manager to understand how IT is used at TUNC, the challenges they face, and the information flow within the unit. Information from the interview ascertained the fact that the unit was executing a plan set by the central administration, and that IT responsibles at TUNC were not acquainted with many details related to the entire e-government program. Most questionnaire responses were gathered through meeting employees in groups of around 10 each. Sometimes it was crucial to meet senior management at their offices due to their limited free time. While responding to the questionnaire, many employees, surprisingly, revealed that they were totally unaware that ETA provides online services for citizens allowing financiers to present their income statements over the Internet. The data collection phase of the questionnaire was interrupted several times because the work environment was very unstable, and management were faced continuously with new rules and decisions. They requested to halt the questionnaire distribution process several times having to meet challenging deadlines set by central administration.

After completing this phase, a very challenging task was to meet the IT Manager of ETA. His tight schedule proved to be a hurdle; however, a meeting was possible after several attempts. The interview lasted three hours and was very useful since it highlighted many points related to e-government strategy at the authority as a whole, achievements, challenges, and future plans. A later meeting was undertaken with both the Webmaster and the General Manager of Systems and Software to obtain further information about

provided online services, and the new systems designed to be aligned with the continuous changes in the tax laws. After the questionnaire analysis was completed, two follow-up meetings took place with TUNC's Head and IT Manager to clarify any missing points or inquiries.

5.3.3 Ministry of Investment (MOI)

Data collection started by requesting a meeting with the IT Consultant of the Minister. The interview was mainly about discussing the importance of IT usage at MOI, and how egovernment program is an integral part of the business objectives of the Ministry. A large part of the interview time was spent in analysing the official website of the Ministry highlighting its main advantages and weak points, and the features and services to be provided in the near future. Upon explaining the need to distribute a questionnaire to the employees, the IT Consultant expressed doubts about the possibility to carry out such process because the majority of employees hold senior positions (140 out of 200 of the total number of employees at the Ministry), and their schedule is very busy. It was then decided to spend no more than 30 minutes at each employee's office without interrupting their regular routine. The fact that the majority of the respondents hold senior management positions facilitated responding to the questionnaire because they did not need any explanation or clarification. After analysing the data collected from the questionnaire, it was important to conduct two follow-up interviews with the IT Consultant and his assistant to compare their views with those of the respondents, and to request further clarifications in some issues raised by the respondents.

5.3.4 Public Hospital (PH)

Before starting data collection, it was important to call the Head of the information centre of PH to enquire about the IT status at the hospital to ensure the existence and usage of computers and software systems. After demonstrating the study to be performed to the information centre Head, he requested a copy of the questionnaire to be presented to PH Manager for approval. Collecting data was postponed for several weeks because the management was always under lots of pressure having had to be involved in sorting out problems the hospital faced during this period. During that time, the researcher pursued a parallel approach by investigating the probability of conducting the study at other hospitals in case PH would not be available. Finally, PH Manager agreed on the questionnaire content and approved to carry out the research on a condition to keep the name of the hospital anonymous.

The first phase in collecting data started by visiting PH's information centre to conduct an interview with the centre's Head. What was surprising that it is almost the default that a

physician is the Head of the information centre at any public hospital. The Head revealed that he has started this position since two weeks only and that he neither had enough details about the existence of an e-government program, nor an exact idea about the software applications at PH and their efficiency levels. The researcher tried then to interview two employees who have been working for several years at the centre, but their knowledge was limited to the execution of the software applications that were installed earlier. Since several issues were still unclear about IT strategy and future plans, there was a need to request an interview with the former Head of the information centre. After ensuring that there was no clear vision about e-government or IT in general at the hospital, it was concluded that further research should be undertaken with responsibles of the information centre at the General Organisation for Teaching Hospitals and Institutes (GOTHI) - to which PH belongs - to find answers to several questions listed at the content of the interview in appendix C.

Information gathered from the interviews with information centre responsibles at PH showed that the role of IT at PH is limited to the automation of some of the procedures at various departments of the hospital. Furthermore, it showed that not only physicians do not use computers, but also do not rely seriously on information accessed from computers' databases. Administrative staffs are the only computer users among employees, and their work is simply entering basic information about patients in each department, or data related to accounting, payroll, inventory, or medicines in PH's pharmacy. The agreement was then to start distributing the questionnaire on the employees any day but from 10 a.m. to 2 p.m. only. During the next three visits, employees responded to the questionnaire in groups of four or five, but the rest of the employees who could not leave their workplaces, replied to the questionnaire at their offices with the assistance of the researcher. Some of the employees felt very uncomfortable in filling the questionnaire especially that their direct management tried to prevent them from replying. Further assurance (from the part of the researcher and the information centre's Head) was given to them and to their management that PH Manager approved the whole process. To encourage them to express freely their point of view, the researcher stressed on the anonymous nature of the questionnaire. Since some computer users are the sole users of computers in their departments, some of them preferred to keep the name of their department out.

The main observation derived during the questionnaire distribution phase was that most employees are not aware of several issues such as, the importance of IT, the meaning of e-government and strategy, the existence of any website that provides any information about PH or the Ministry in general, etc. This was due to their limited education level and skills because they did not attend organised training sessions.

At the same time, a meeting took place at the information centre at GOTHI to meet the Head and her assistant. They both ascertained that they don't have any idea about IT strategy in the health sector because they are not involved in any plans set by the Ministry of Health and Population (MOHP). Despite this fact, they are still making several attempts and suggesting some initiatives, but unfortunately without realising true success. This could be attributed to many reasons: the absence of a clear strategy due to their limited management skills, difficulty to allocate budget for them, and absence of power that allow them to enforce IT policies and procedures in all hospitals and institutes under the control of GOTHI. It was obvious that GOTHI provides basic technical maintenance to these hospitals and institutes. The last stage in data collection was to meet the IT Advisor of the Minister because he is the main player in shaping IT strategy at MOHP. During the two meetings held with the IT Advisor, answers to all inquiries were provided, and he expressed interest in conducting the same research in other hospitals in which implementation of e-government programs has just started (possible subject for further research or paper).

5.4 Comparison of data collection in the four case studies

After collecting data from the four case studies, it was essential to evaluate the entire data collection process and compare it among the four organisations. Table 5.1 classifies each case study into the following: contacts, size of sample, usefulness of the collected data, and its relevance to the hypotheses and to the overall thesis. As shown in table 5.1, the highest numbers of visits and contacts were at TUNC and PH because at both case studies there was a need to go to higher authorities outside the organisations responsible for decision making of e-government and IT. These organisations were among other organisations implementing a wide strategy set by the Egyptian Authority Administration (ETA) in case of TUNC, and by the Ministry of Health and Population (MOHP) in case of PH. In terms of usefulness of each case study to the thesis, the table shows that data collections at MD and TUNC were the most useful ones because the sample size is higher than in MOI and PH. Small sample size could have affected the relations between the different dimensions of the framework. In case of PH, data gathered was not very useful because many employees found it very difficult to understand several parts of the questionnaire, and because they were reluctant to note any negative perceptions.

Concerning the relevance of the data to the hypotheses set before the empirical study, data obtained from the first three cases was relevant, in contrast with data collected from

the fourth case, PH. Such irrelevancy was a result of the responses obtained under the technology dimension (Part C of the questionnaire listed at appendix B) concerning employees' feedback about the quality of the organisation's website. This made the case not quite aligned with this part due to the fact that most respondents at PH did not know that there is an existence of the hospital over the Internet, which made them unable to evaluate the website. Another reason of this deficiency was because online information about PH is trivial and exists as part of the website of MOHP and not in a separate website representing the hospital. As a consequence the importance of website's quality on affecting the technology dimension could have been under-estimated.

	Time	Contacts	Size of sample	Usefulness	Relevance to thesis/hypotheses	
Montaza District	2006	Head	81	Extremely	Extremely	
(MD)	6 visits	Webmaster	useful		relevant	
Tax Unit for Non-	2007	ETA Webmaster	55	Extremely	Extremely	
Commercial	10 visits	TUNC Head		useful	relevant	
Professions		TUNC IT Manager				
(TUNC)		ETA IT Advisor				
Ministry of	2006	Minister's IT Consultant	48	Useful	Extremely	
Investment (MOI)	7 visits	Executive IT Manager			relevant	
Public Hospital	2008	PH Info. Centre Head	36	Quite	Quite relevant	
(PH)	11 visits	PH Info. Centre Ex. Head		useful		
		2 Seniors at PH Info. Centre				
		GOTHI Info. Centre Head				
		GOTHI Vice Info. Centre Head				
		MOHP IT Advisor				

Table 5.1 – Comparison of Data	Collection at the Four	Case Studies of Public	Organisations
--------------------------------	------------------------	------------------------	---------------

5.5 Main remarks on data collection

Conducting research in the four case studies provided a vast and rich experience in terms of data collection and of issues related to EGR. The most important issue that had a positive effect on collecting data from the questionnaire instrument was assisting respondents as much as possible while answering it. Such approach helped in ensuring that employees understood well every part of the questionnaire. It created also opportunities to listen to employees and to encourage them to express their views regarding some of the same matters raised in the questionnaire. Usually employees are reluctant to express negative views in formal surveys.

Although it was difficult to find employees willing to respond to a long questionnaire, which moreover included parts that required sometimes further explanations; having obtained the approval of top management in the public sector facilitated this task due to the bureaucracy nature of the public sector. Employees follow the instructions once set by top management.

Making a tour over all departments in each organisation allowed the researcher to observe the working environment. This helped in being acquainted with the nature of work and processes in each department, and in understanding the flow of information and how ICT was used within the organisation and between the organisation and other public entities.

The most challenging task was to request interviews with top management in each organisation. Due to their tight schedule, it was very hard to allocate time for researchers especially that some of them did not perceive the value of research in improving their work.

Interviewing employees and observing the workplace revealed that most employees were not motivated and were usually unaware of any plans related to ICT development within their organisations. Such behaviour evidently affected their willingness to use ICT efficiently, and to cope with any changes in their work resulting from e-government implementation. Few people (and sometimes only one person) were aware of the whole picture. The researcher noticed also the wide difference in the level of knowledge between public organisation, and even within the same organisation. Furthermore, the attitude of employees was not the same within the same organisations and under the same circumstances; some employees were willing to learn and to work hard, others acted in a totally opposite behaviour.

Upon completing the data collection phase, the researcher was able to recognise the main problems that exist in the public sector in Egypt (that affect consequently e-government implementation). Such problems could be summarised into the following:

- Corruption: making some employees unwilling to use ICT in each organisation because this would impose more control on their work.
- Lack of integration: because the culture in the public sector does not encourage collaboration between employees, it is quite a challenge to implement IS systems that help integration of information between departments, and streamlining of processes among departments.
- Bureaucracy: due to the rigid nature of the public sector, sometimes deciding ICT implementation is hindered by inefficient or inadequate rules. Also, this inflexibility demotivates qualified people from getting the rewards they deserve for their skills and hard work, and which would pose a risk on their continuing enthusiasm about learning new systems.

- Shortage of Funds: limited budget in the public sector results in allocating low salaries causing competent personnel to resign and work in more rewarding places
- Absence of sustainability: usually IS projects start with great high hopes and interest from the part of top management, but once the first implementation stages are concluded, projects do not get the same attention and support later (Hosni, 2002). This leads to a partial or sometimes a total failure of many projects.
- Unilateral decision making: usually top management decide the systems to be implemented without referring to employees working in their organisations. Since employees are the parties with the highest awareness of the business processes, sometimes the systems developed are not fully compatible with the workflow in the organisation. Moreover, since employees were not involved in the decision process, they feel isolated and do not consider themselves as part of the project.

5.6 Summary

This chapter highlighted the national e-government project of Egypt. It described also the context of each of the four public organisations selected as case studies for assessing EGR of public organisations in Egypt. Next, the chapter explained how data was collected from each case study, and set a comparison between data gathering process in each one reflecting the view of the researcher, and the experience obtained from such process. The next chapter will show a complete analysis of the different types of data obtained from these four organisations.

6. Data Analysis

Objectives of chapter 6

- Summarise the overall process of data analysis.
- Present the findings of the quantitative data.
- Demonstrate the results of the qualitative data gathered from different sources of



The previous chapter described the context of the study by first presenting an overview of the e-government program in Egypt and the relationship between the national egovernment strategy and the research topic. Second, the chapter provided a detailed description of each of the four case studies selected for representing public organisations in Egypt, followed by a demonstration of the data collection process undertaken in each organisation. Finally, the chapter presented a comparison of the data collection process between the four organisations, ending by a summary reflecting the researcher view with regard to the entire process. This chapter starts by reporting the findings of the four case studies to verify to which extent they abide to the framework suggested in the beginning. The results of the quantitative data (gathered from distributing a questionnaire to the employees in each organisation) of each of the four case studies are presented and compared, in addition to the aggregated quantitative data of these cases, to provide a analysis of the qualitative data obtained from a number of sources: interviews, documentation, archival records, and observations. The objectives were to: (i) compare both kinds of data for the purpose of triangulation to verify the extent to which the empirical research reflects the proposed framework that was derived from the literature; and (ii) present a framework to assess EGR of public organisations in Egypt.

6.1 Findings of quantitative data

Quantitative results are listed under two sections: demographics and testing research model. Demographics comprise a table describing samples in the four cases (table 6.1), and another table comparing software usage and training (table 6.2). Testing the research model was performed first on each of the four case studies that are compared together, then on combined data from these cases. Comparing research model in each of the four case studies starts by presenting a table containing means of the 5 dimensions of the framework: strategy, processes, technology, people, EGR (table 6.3), followed by a table illustrating the partial model results that show the relationships between these dimensions (table 6.4). Finally, testing the research model of the four cases combined (i.e., over the entire country) presents the means of the framework's components (table 6.5), and the relationships between the same dimensions (table 6.6).

6.1.1 Demographics

Table 6.1 shows that the response rates in all cases are high (above 87%). Invalid responses were discarded because they were incomplete due to three reasons: (i) the first section concerning the strategy dimension was difficult for the employees to reply to, because most of them did not have a complete idea about all the issues stated under it. Some of them left this section because they could not perceive its relevance to them; (ii) the length of the questionnaire (consisting of 11 pages) discouraged some employees from completing it, they just filled the first few pages then lost enthusiasm; and (iii) the fear to express negative perception towards some issues raised in the questionnaire.

Comparing the samples in the four cases revealed that the percentage of females is high at MD (84.5%) and PH (88.2%) in contrast with TUNC and MOI where both genders are almost equally distributed. As for the education level, the highest percentage of postgraduate employees is at MOI because a large number of employees at MOI are in senior positions (140 out of 200 employees). Employees at MOI and TUNC are highly educated compared to employees at MD and PH because all at MOI and the majority at TUNC (94%) have completed a four-year college education. Such fact would definitely have an effect on the people dimension of the research framework, especially on the different skills of employees and on their willingness and ability to use computers.

IT Experience is almost the same at MD and TUNC (6 and 5 years respectively), but is higher at MOI and PH (10 and 8.7 years respectively). Working hours per week are more at TUNC and MOI (45 and 50 hours respectively) compared to MD and PH (35.6 and 36.9 hours respectively) because old public organisations abide more to the government common working hours which are 6 hours per day.

Highest time in using IT is at MD and PH (80% in both) because employees at these organisations use computers mainly in data operations. IT use time at MOI is also high (78%) because: (i) all employees have access to Internet and email; (ii) being highly educated and the majority in senior positions, employees rely on computers for analysis of strategic data; and (iii) some of the respondents were from the IT department spending all their working times on computers in software development, networking and security, software and hardware maintenance, website management, or publications and editorials. TUNC's employees use computers only 53% of their working time; they are more occupied in operations and in interaction with financiers, and not only in data entry as MD and PH. Since employees at TUNC spend considerable time in supporting customers, the effect of the customer service skill under the people dimension of the research framework would be obvious.

Concerning IT skills, respondents at MOI expressed their high abilities in using computers, Internet, and email; while respondents at MD, TUNC, and PH rated their personal computers skills above average in contrast with their low average skills in using both Internet and email. As for access to technology, all employees at MOI have access to computers, Internet, and emails; while around 80% of respondents at MD and TUNC have access to computers as opposed to a relatively low percentage having access to the Internet (around 20%) or email (around 10%). PH employees, although all of them have access to computers, only a small percentage has access to Internet or email (8.8% and 5.8% respectively).

When investigating usage and training, results showed that the highest usage of all software applications is at MOI, and that software training and usage in the four case studies is mainly on Microsoft Word followed by Microsoft Excel. Findings show clearly the high percentage of employees who use and took training on Microsoft PowerPoint at MOI compared to the other three other organisations. As for the required training, the primary choice of the respondents at MD is Microsoft PowerPoint (94.4%), Microsoft Excel at TUNC (42.9%), Geographic Information System (GIS) at MOI (33.3%), and Project Management at PH (44.1%). Table 6.2 shows the software mostly used, the most training courses provided as well as the most training courses requested by employees in each case.

	Montaza District (MD)	Tax Unit for Non- Commercial Professions	Ministry of Investment (MOI)	Public Hospital (PH)	
	()	(TUNC)	((***)	
Sample	No. of prospect respondents:	No. of prospect respondents:	No. of prospect respondents:	No. of prospect respondents: 36	
	140	70	200	No. of respondents: 36	
	No. of respondents: 81	No. of respondents: 55	No. of respondents: 48	Invalid responses: 2	
	Invalid responses: 10	Invalid responses: 6	Invalid responses: 3	Response rate: 94.4%	
	Response rate: 87.6%	Response rate: 89%	Response rate: 93.8%		
Gender	Female: 84.5%	Female: 51%	Female: 47%	Female: 88.2%	
Highest Age Range	From 20-30: 45%	From 31-40: 38%	From 31-40: 61%	From 20-30: 58.8%	
Education	Post graduates: 4.2%	Post graduates: 2%	Post graduates: 15.6%	Post graduates: 2.9%	
	Four-year college degree:	Four-year college degree:	Four-year college degree:	Four-year college degree: 52.9%	
	45.1%	93.9%	84.4%	High Technical Institute: 44.1%	
	High Technical Institute: 47.9%	High Technical Institute: 2%			
Average IT Experience	6 years	5 years	10 years	8.7 years	
Managerial Positions	18%	33%	49%	14.7%	
Working Hours/week	35.6 (5.9 hrs/day – 6 days/wk)	45 (9 hrs/day – 5 days/wk)	50 (8.3 hrs/day – 6 days/wk)	36.9 (6.2 hrs/day – 6 days/wk)	Table
Use of IT/Working	80%	53%	78%	80%	6.1:
Time					Descrip

tion of the Sample Used at MD, TUNC, MOI, and PH

	Montaza District	Tax Unit for Non-Commercial Professions (TUNC)	Ministry of Investment	Public Hospital
llso of	Word: 88 7%	Word: 63.3%	Word: 100%	Word: 100%
Word/Excel	Excel: 52 1%	Excel: 55 1%	Excel: 100%	Excel: 90%
WORD/Excer	DoworDoint: 15 5	DowerDoint: 16 29/	DowerDoint: 02 29/	Excel. 90 %
	PowerPoint. 15.5	ProverPoint. 10.3%	PowerPoint. 93.3%	PowerPoint. 4%
	Project Management:	Project Management: 2%	Project Management: 11.1%	Project Management: 0%
	4.2%	GIS: 4.1%	GIS: 8.9%	GIS: 0%
	GIS: 4.2%	Access: 10.2%	Access: 55.6%	Access: 20.6%
	Access: 19.7%			
Training	Word:70.4%	Word: 69.4%	Word:71.1%	Word: 85.3%
Attended	Excel: 43.7%	Excel: 51%	Excel: 77.8%	Excel: 73.5%
	PowerPoint: 19.7%	PowerPoint: 14.3%	PowerPoint: 51.1%	PowerPoint: 29.4%
	Project Management:	Project Management: 6.1%	Project Management: 0%	Project Management: 0%
	2.8%	GIS: 6.1%	GIS: 0%	GIS: 0%
	GIS: 2.8%	Access: 10.2%	Access: 40%	Access: 35.3%
	Access: 16.9%			
Training Needed	Word:70.4%	Word: 26.5%	Word: 0%	Word:23.5%
	Excel: 83.1%	Excel: 42.9%	Excel: 0%	Excel: 29.4%

F	Power Point: 94.4% Project Management: 46.5%	Power Point: 38.8% Project Management: 30.6%	Power Point: 13.3% Project Management: 17.8%	Power Point: 35.3% Project Management: 44.1%
	GIS: 43.7% Access: 54.9%	Access:40.8%	Access: 20%	Access: 41.2%

Table 6.2: Software Usage and Training at MD, TUNC, MOI, and PH

6.1.2 Testing research model

Comparison between case studies

Investigating employees' knowledge regarding the four dimensions of the proposed research model: strategy, processes, technology, and people, and their perception towards E-Government Readiness (EGR) in each case revealed that many employees are unaware of many issues related to IT strategy at MD, TUNC, and PH. Table 6.3 presents the four dimensions and the level of EGR, their corresponding: scales, average scores, Standard Deviation (SD) values, and results of ANOVA t-test for the comparison between the means of these variables in all four organisations. The results obtained prove that there is no statistically significant difference between the four case studies.

Group	Scale 1 to 7	M (n =	MD (n = 71)		MD TUN((n = 71) (n = 4		NC 49)	M (n=	OI 45)	PH (n=34)		<i>P</i> -value
Construct		Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	- / -value		
Strategy	Strongly disagree to	5.9	0.6	5.3	1.4	5.5	1.1	5.1	0.8	0.487		
Process	Strongly agree	5.3	1.1	4.8	1.5	5.1	0.9	5	1.2	0.538		
Technology	Far short of expectations to Greatly exceeds expectations	5	1.2	4.8	1.4	5.2	1.4	5.4	1.3	0.389		
People	1 st Section: Strongly disagree to Strongly agree 2 nd Section: Far short of expectations to Greatly exceeds expectations	5.2	1.1	5.3	1.3	5.3	1.7	5	1.2	0.631		
EGR	Extremely unready to Extremely ready	5.95	2.1	5	1.5	4.9	1.2	4.5	1.1	0.063		

Table 6.3:

Comparison of the Average of the Four Dimensions between MD, TUNC, MOI, and PH

Testing the research model in each case study was performed following the four following steps: a) carry out a factor analysis to extract and group dimensions in each construct, b) test multi-collinearity among constructs in each dimension, 3) check reliability and validity of the model, and 4) test the partial models. Detailed explanation of these four steps is provided in chapter 3, section 3.7.1.

a. Factor Analysis

Appendix D shows the final factor analysis of each dimension in each case study. The selection criteria of the factors used are based on retaining the factors that adhere to the rule: a loading number greater than 0.5 on one column, and less than 0.5 on all other columns (Hair et al., 1998). Examining the final factor analysis in each of the four dimensions in each case study revealed that the affecting factors (or constructs) and their categorisation within the same dimension differ from a case to another. Such results show that the strength and classification of each group of constructs depend on the context of each organisation, and on the perception of employees towards the constructs under each dimension. As an example, considering the strategy dimension in each case study, the most affecting factor is: (i) promoting e-government at MD; (ii) role and value on each stakeholder at TUNC; (iii) existence of policies and procedures at MOI; and (iv) leadership at PH.

b. Degree of Multi-collinearity

Correlation tests show that all construct pairs are not highly correlated (see appendix E). All pair correlation values are less than 0.75, proving the absence of multi-collinearity, which is not recommended (explained in chapter 3, section 3.7.1).

c. Reliability and Validity

Assessment of the reliability of the model showed that all alpha coefficients exceed 0.80, indicating a high level of internal consistency or homogeneity among the constructs under each dimension (see appendix F).

Convergent validity was also checked to ensure the extent to which each group of constructs indicates the same item as well as the degree of compatibility of multiple measures within the same dimension. Appendix G shows that all correlations between constructs in each dimension are higher than 0.568, ranging from 0,568 to 0.996 proving the existence of convergent validity.

d. Partial Models
Relations between the different dimensions of the model are presented in table 6.4. Also, graphical illustration of these models is showed in appendix H.

Findings showed that the research hypotheses were confirmed in all four cases. Relations concerning the people dimension cause high effects whether people is a dependent variable affected by strategy (H5c), or an independent variable affecting EGR (H4). Also, the impact of processes on EGR (H2) is high in all cases.

The differences between cases lie in hypotheses H1, H3, H5a, and H5b (highlighted rows in table 6.4). PH has always weaker relationship than the other three cases. Findings revealed also that the weakest relationship in all cases is in the effect of strategy on processes (H5a); it has a modest impact at TUNC and MOI, and weak impact at MD and PH.

	Montaza District (MD)		Tax Unit for Non-Commercial Professions (TUNC)		Ministry of Investment (MOI)		Public Hospital (PH)					
Hypothesis	P-Value	Significan	Result	P-Value	Significan	Result	P-Value	Significan	Result	P-Value	Significan	Result
		се			се			се			се	
H1	0.44116	Modest	Accepted	0.84327	High	Accepted	0.90053	High	Accepte	0.28628	Weak	Accepted
Strategy→EGR		impact			impact			impact	d		impact	
H2	0.87330	High	Accepted	0.91212	High	Accepted	0.91147	High	Accepte	0.90320	High	Accepted
Processes→EGR		impact			impact			impact	d		impact	
H3	0.65767	High	Accepted	0.88856	High	Accepted	0.92069	High	Accepte	0.40072	Modest	Accepted
Technology→EGR		impact			impact			impact	d		impact	
H4	1.00000	High	Accepted	0.90125	High	Accepted	0.90006	High	Accepte	0.88978	High	Accepted
People→EGR		impact	-		impact	-		impact	d		impact	-
H5a	0.16749	Weak	Accepted	0.41201	Modest	Accepted	0.50834	Modest	Accepte	0.32774	Weak	Accepted
Strategy→Processe		impact			impact			impact	d		impact	
S												
H5b	0.54218	Modest	Accepted	0.41274	Modest	Accepted	0.54732	Modest	Accepte	0.33819	Weak	Accepted
Strategy→Technolo		impact			impact			impact	d		impact	
gу												
H5c	0.82310	High	Accepted	0.85100	High	Accepted	0.88645	High	Accepte	0.84369	High	Accepted
Strategy→People		impact			impact			impact	d		impact	

Table 6.4 – Partial Research Model Results (Rows showing different results in both cases are highlighted)

Aggregation of the four case studies - Egypt

The last step in the quantitative analysis was to test the research model on the overall country. The same analysis was undertaken on the entire data of the four cases. The objective was to provide an assessment of EGR of public organisations in Egypt verifying the effect of the four dimensions: strategy, processes, technology, and people on EGR. Checking the means of each of the four dimensions in addition to EGR showed that all means range from 5 to 5.1 (see table 6.5).

	Scale 1 to 7	All Ca (n = 1	ases 199)
		Mean	SD
Strategy	Strongly disagree to	5.44	1.2
Processes	Strongly agree	5	1
Technology	Far short of expectations to Greatly exceeds expectations	5.1	1.1
People	1 st Section: Strongly disagree to Strongly agree 2 nd Section: Far short of expectations to Greatly exceeds expectations	5.2	1
EGR	Extremely unready to Extremely ready	5.1	1.3

Table 6.5: Average of the Four Dimensions for all Cases Combined

The same steps followed in testing each case study were performed on the combined data: 1) carry out a factor analysis to extract and group dimensions in each construct, 2) test multi-collinearity among these dimensions to determine the strength of the relationship between them, 3) check reliability and validity of the model, and 4) test the partial models.

Appendix I includes the findings about Egypt. It contains the initial factor analysis leading to the final factor analysis (after suppressing some factors and conducting the factor analysis another time to see the final effect of each factor after data reduction). The factors extracted and stated in the final factor analysis were those that adhere to the rule that retains only the factors having a loading number greater than 0.5 on one column, and

less than 0.5 on all other columns. For example, in the strategy dimension, the factors: "Strategic Alignment 2", "Internal Funding", and "Identification of Stakeholders" were suppressed after conducting the initial factor analysis. Appendix I contains also the correlations between the extracted groups of constructs, reliability and convergent validity test results, and the partial models that show the relationships between the dimensions of the model.

The correlations between each group of constructs are all less than 0.6, which proves that they are not highly correlated, avoiding the problems of the existence of a high degree of multi-collinearity. Also, reliability of the instrument is high since all alpha coefficients exceed 0.9. Convergent validity was also realised because all correlations between constructs in each dimension are higher than 0.6, ranging from 0.637 to 0.986.

		Egypt	
Hypothesis	P-Value	Significance	Result
H1	0.39749	Modest	Accepte
Strategy→EGR		impact	d
H2	0.91003	High impact	Accepte
Processes→EGR			d
H3	0.96958	High impact	Accepte
Technology→EGR			d
H4	0.92781	High impact	Accepte
People→EGR			d
H5a	0.45294	Modest	Accepte
Strategy→Processe		impact	d
S			
H5b	0.51472	Modest	Accepte
Strategy→Technolo		impact	d
ду			
H5c	0.90532	High impact	Accepte
Strategy→People			d

Table 6.6 Model

As for the

Partial Research
 Results for Egypt

partial relationships

between the different dimensions of the framework, findings confirmed all seven hypotheses set in the research framework (see table 6.6). The three dimensions: processes, technology, and people have a high impact on EGR; whereas strategy has a modest impact on EGR. Regarding the effect of strategy on the three dimensions: processes, technology, and people; findings revealed that strategy has a modest impact on processes and technology, and a high impact on people.

6.2 Findings of qualitative data

In each case study, findings of interviews with top management are demonstrated first, followed by the findings obtained from other sources: documents, archival records, and observation of the workplace.

The steps undertaken in analysing quantitative data (as shown in chapter 3: Methodology, section 3.7.2) started by documenting the data obtained from interviews with top management, documentation, archival records, and observations of the workplace. The researcher focused then on the information applicable to the study. Finally, each piece of information was examined to compare its relevance with the seven research hypotheses extracted from the literature. To clarify the later step, examining the first sentence in the interviews conducted with top management at MD "The main motives that led to the implementation of e-government at the district were to fight corruption and bureaucracy" was translated to the first hypothesis (H1) investigating the effect of strategy on EGR through looking at the "motives" component in the strategy dimension. All subsequent information of qualitative data in each of the four organisations researched was analysed following the same approach.

6.2.1 Montaza District (MD)

a. Interview with Head, IT Manager, and Webmaster of MD

The main motives that led to the implementation of e-government at the district were to fight corruption and bureaucracy through providing a separation between citizens requesting services from the district and employees delivering them. Furthermore, management aimed to facilitate service delivery for citizens by saving them time, money, and effort. The strategy and action plan of the e-government program of the district was part of the national e-government strategy and action plan concerned with modernising the public sector through the use of ICT. In addition, applying ICT was expected to play an important role in imposing more control and accountability on employees.

The first step in implementing e-government at MD was to review and adjust (or even reengineer) business processes in each department to avoid any redundancy or duplication of work, hence streamlining them over all departments. The next step was to set the required policies to ensure the implementation of the re-adjusted business processes throughout the whole district. The system goes then through a continuous evaluation to spot deficiencies and room for improvements, and to perform further alterations accordingly. As a consequence, waiting periods for the delivery of some services was eliminated and such services were offered on instant basis, i.e. requiring less than 30 minutes to be accomplished.

One of the main factors that helped in the success of e-government at MD was in carrying out an employee skill evaluation leading to a reallocation based on putting each employee at the position that best fits his qualifications. The most notable change was in placing senior employees, specifically those who were characterised by their rigid culture and difficulty to adapt to change, at the back office, and in bringing instead junior employees at the front office after acquiring the appropriate training. This realised an improvement in the services provided to citizens through presenting a more suited interface for the public. Yet, compared to the high awareness of policy makers regarding the value e-government can realise, employees at senior, middle management, and non-management positions definitely need more insight about such value.

There is a continuous monitoring and evaluation in several areas: (i) revising services to simplify the procedures; (ii) monitoring the entire workflow through producing an aggregated weekly report to be presented to the MD Head. The report contains all services requested by citizens and their present status. The Head can check the completed services and investigate the reasons behind pending ones; and (iii) reviewing and updating the district's website daily and discussing ways to improve it. The monthly usage analysis report - that monitors all website activities – serves towards the website's improvement as well. The website gives the opportunity for citizens to present their feedback about offline and online services. MD head is always interested in getting the opinion of citizens regarding the usefulness and usability of the website, and their suggestions for improvements. There is also a mailbox at the district's entrance for physical complaints and suggestions.

The main challenges facing e-government implementation are the culture and skills of employees. The skills of employees are limited because some of them do not hold a university degree, and at high school or technical college level (2 years after high school) the acquired skills are in general handicapped compared to the labour market requirements. Also, as a national employment policy, some employees could be hired without matching their educational background and other credentials with the district's needs. The culture of the employees impedes the incorporation of changes because some do not possess the flexibility to change their approach to work, and are not willing or capable of improving their skills. Another obstacle to e-government progress is the difficulty in communicating with other governmental agencies and the lack of integration of

ICT systems between MD and such agencies. This prevents providing online services covering multiple agencies.

The software applications developed are not completely congruent with the business processes at the district. This is attributed to the fact that these systems were approved by the responsibles of the "modernising the public sector of the national e-government program". Municipalities were certainly involved at the beginning to explain their needs, but they did not participate in the decision making process. As a result, sometimes the software applications do not provide the employees with their requirements limiting the efficiency of producing, digitising, and distributing information at MD. To overcome this deficiency, management tried to develop in-house software systems to complement the existing ones.

MD has undertaken several advancements in e-government but is still not completely ready. The success of e-government project depends mainly on the participations of both citizens and employees. Also, it is very important to motivate employees through granting them incentives based on their achievements. This can be monitored electronically by designing software systems dedicated specially for this purpose. As for the priority of the four dimensions affecting EGR at MD, the most important factor is people, followed by strategy, processes, and finally technology.

b. Other sources of evidence

Looking at the district's structure showed that some positions changed due to egovernment implementation. Senior employees who were dealing with citizens were moved to the back office and replaced by junior ones. Employees responsible for ICT are now reporting directly to MD Head. In addition, several business processes have changed, especially those related to simplifying the service procedure. Business processes are clearly defined and streamlined in order to transform many services into instant ones (taking less than 30 minutes), and to accelerate the lifecycle time of other services. The time that each service takes was also defined. In addition, IT policies and procedures were determined to impose control and accountability.

The archival records included the monthly usage analysis report that detects all activities performed through the website. The report includes important statistics such as, requested services and the entities responsible for that service at MD and the procedures taken to respond to it, page views, complains. The report contains also a detailed analysis of the users accessing the website such as first or return visitors, demographics, time spent by each visitor, etc. There was also an opportunity to look at the training courses

that employees attended. These courses cover all their needs and include Microsoft Office programs, hardware maintenance, software development, and networking. Other archival records included citizens' comments and suggestions for improving the website of the district.

Spending several days at MD allowed the researcher to note several issues; employees at the front desk are well trained on dealing with citizens and treating them as customers. Despite the rigid nature of the public sector that restricts rewarding qualified employees, management was able to motivate them through other ways such as, involving them in decision making, giving them positive feedback on their work, promoting MD egovernment initiative through other public entities, and applying for national competitions. Young employees were encouraged to develop new ideas that could solve problems or realise improvement. It was also very easy for these employees to communicate with the Head whenever they have suggestions or inquiries. Software systems developed in-house were examined to see their efficiency in complementing and integrating with the software applications installed earlier. The incomplete automation of the internal workflow and the lack of integration of ICT with other agencies forces employees working on computers to enter data twice: manually and on the computers, which constitutes an extra workload for them. Unfortunately, qualified employees constitute a small percentage at MD; most employees are not competent enough and cannot easily change their working style. In addition, while assisting employees in responding to the questionnaire, a large number of them revealed that they are not acquainted with several issues related to the IT strategy. Some of them were even unaware of its existence.

6.2.2 Tax Unit for Non-Commercial Professions (TUNC)

a. Interview with IT Manager and Webmaster of Egyptian Tax Authority (ETA)

E-government project at TUNC started as part of implementing e-government at the Egyptian Tax Authority (ETA). E-government at ETA was a vital requirement from the Ministry of State for Administrative Developments (MSAD), responsible for implementing the national e-government program. Enabling citizens to present and pay their income statement over the Internet was possible through including such service at the national e-government portal (<u>http://egypt.gov.eg</u>). Additional services related to the interaction of citizens with ETA are included as well.

ETA has set a clear strategy and action plan aligned with those of the national e-government program. E-government program at ETA started in 2007 and the plan is to complete the required objectives by 2010. In order to reach such objectives, it was important to determine

the resources required for the project. A continuous plan of replacement provides a summary of software and hardware requirements, which can be delivered by carrying out three or four tenders each year. Concerning the required human resources, ETA started hiring new graduates since 2005, as part of a protocol with the Ministry of Communication and Information Technology (MCIT), which provides these graduates with the required training in several IT areas such as, site preparation, cabling, networking, software development, etc.

Several business processes were changed but employees were willing to adhere to the new processes because they perceived the value of ICT in saving them time and effort. For example, the system eliminated redundancy and inaccuracy of the data about financiers by entering each financier's record once, and storing all this data at the server of the central administration of ETA, which is accessible by all units. Despite this positive attitude from the part of the employees towards the e-government program, there is still a need for awareness initiatives to be undertaken to further promote the value of e-government among civil servants and middle managers.

Monitoring and evaluation of e-government at ETA takes place over several levels: a committee constituted from members of different ministries involved in the e-government program meeting every two months, a monthly board of directors, and implementation boards in several areas such as e-payment, digital signature, smart card solution, core system, support system, HR, financial, stock control, etc.

There is a special focus on ensuring strong communication channels with the citizens. Starting 2007, responding to customer inquiries and complaints over the phone was outsourced to a call centre. ETA can also communicate with the public through the national egovernment portal and through sending mobile text messages to remind them to present their tax income statement. ETA plans to implement a Customer Relationship Management (CRM) system in the near future but is still having difficulties in ensuring the required budget for it.

Present and future challenges that ETA faces in addition to the shortage of funds are to keep up with the frequent change of tax regulations or procedures. In addition, sometimes there are problems with the outsourcing company that provides technical support and staff training, primarily delaying service provision, or offering insufficient training. Other obstacles lie in maintaining qualified technical IT staff due to the high demand of their expertise in the job market at private companies that provide better rewarding packages than those offered by the public sector.

Although ETA produces high quality information, there is still a need to exert further effort to digitise it. Also, the hardware that exists at ETA's belonging units needs improvements compared to the quality of the software applications used.

The status of EGR at TUNC and ETA in general is considered in a satisfactory position, and will improve gradually with time. As for the importance of the four dimensions in affecting EGR, strategy ranks first as a corner stone in the success of any project. Next, people involved in the project are the second factor, followed by the right processes, and finally the technology which is only considered a tool that aids in realising e-government objectives.

b. Other sources of evidence

Business processes are well defined and documented for all departments; this streamlined each employee's approach to the work process. Employees are also adhering to IT rules that were set during the initial stages of e-government implementation.

Looking at the monthly usage analysis of citizens requesting service from ETA through the national e-government portal showed that the number of users is still very limited. This can be attributed (as revealed by ETA IT Manager) to lack of awareness; but ETA is not planning to promote this service until providing a complete solution by incorporating digital signature technology. The researcher had also access to a list containing all reports and services available online. Forms provided online are intended to have the same design as the traditional ones to encourage citizens to use it.

Observing the workplace allowed the researcher to perceive the positive attitude of the majority of employees, since they were precisely selected for this relatively new unit. TUNC's Head has high leadership skills that enabled continuous communication with the employees. The main problems that the researcher noticed lied in the strong existence of bureaucracy that sometimes hinders the workflow. In addition, sometimes there is a shortage in resources or delay in IT maintenance. Furthermore, management had to postpone carrying out the research several times because they were faced with immediate tasks from ETA or the Ministry of Finance (MOF) with tight deadlines. It was also obvious that ETA was no longer totally dedicated to the e-government project at TUNC as it was in the beginning because ETA, once ensuring that the project was partially stable, started targeting other projects. Employees were always expressing negative comments on two main issues: they are not involved enough during the development stages of new ICT systems; and they are not fully rewarded especially that incentives are hardly depending on work efficiency or qualification.

6.2.3 Ministry of Investment (MOI)

a. Interview with Minister's IT Consultant at the Ministry of Investment (MOI)

Since the establishment of MOI in 2004, the Minister believes that IT impact contributes to more than 40% of the success of the investment sector in Egypt. The e-government strategy and action plan of MOI are based mainly on providing an additional and easy channel of communication for investors to promote investments in Egypt. Although this strategy is aligned to a large extent with the business strategy of the Ministry (around 60%), there is still room for improvement so that e-government would be fully supporting, and affecting at the same time, the strategy and objectives of MOI.

Concerning the resources needed for e-government implementation, funds do not constitute a problem since it is provided from international entities aiming to promote investments in a developing country like Egypt. Evaluation of the required supporting funds always take place based on preset priorities. As for the human resources, e-government tasks are divided into units, and every unit is fully accountable for its responsibility to impose monitoring and control on performance. The IT department at MOI adopts a dynamic policy regarding its human resources with an objective to choose the right people to implement the IT strategy, and to improve the quality of work.

Besides allocating the required resources, e-government implementation also required a change, and sometimes a total re-engineering, of some business processes that can help in facilitating investment procedures for investors. For example, a large part of the information available at the Ministry was digitised and stored electronically; important information to investors is published and always updated on MOI's website; and most of the internal communication between employees now takes place over the Ministry's Intranet. All administrative employees are used to communicate over the Intranet and to access the website to get the information they require, but there is still to increase e-government awareness among ordinary employees (not holding management positions) as compared to policy makers and managers.

Assessing e-government progress is carried out on monthly basis over all IT related areas such as, quality of the website and ways to improve it and to add more online services, foster Intranet applications, increase automation of internal processes and digitisation of different types of information, increase awareness of employees about e-government value and encourage them to rely more on ICT in their work. There is always a continuous monitoring of the usage of the website in all the languages provided: Arabic, English,

108

French, and Chinese. The website helps in the evaluation of e-government through getting the feedback of investors on the efficiency of the website.

The main challenge to the development of e-government is the lack of ICT and processes integration with the affiliated entities that are under the supervision of the Ministry (such as free zones, capital market, exchange, insurance, mortgage finance, etc.). MOI's aim is to provide a single point for the investor to deal with regardless of the multiplicity of government entities related to the service required by the investor. To achieve this goal, efforts of relevant entities should be coordinated and necessary material and human resources should be made available. There is also a considerable difference between EGR at the Ministry and these different entities. MOI is relatively in a more advanced situation in terms of quality, digitisation, and distribution of information, and in hardware, IT security, and website maturity.

Strategy is considered the most important dimension EGR success, followed by the people dimension. Technology then ranks third before the processes dimension that comes as the fourth factor.

b. Other sources of evidence

Since all employees work on computers and are connected to the Internet, it was important to set clear definition of IT policies. Extensive awareness was provided to the employees about these policies, which enabled them to follow them smoothly.

Analysis of MOI's portal usage (issued monthly) includes detailed information about users accessing the website in the four languages offered such as, demographics about visitors, pages most viewed, time spent at the website and at each page, times of visits, most and least visited sectors, URL of the referral websites, etc. The researcher looked also at a previous study carried out by a consultancy firm in March 2005. This study evaluated an older version of MOI's portal and compared it with investment portals in five other countries: Turkey, Poland, South Africa, Singapore, and Dubai. Comparing the recommendations of the study with the current version of the portal showed that serious steps were undertaken to improve the portal based on the feedback provided by these recommendations.

Interest in improving the website was further substantiated during the visits of the Ministry. The IT Consultant of the Minister was willing to listen to the researcher comments on the portal. He was also encouraging the employees to participate in such matter by submitting their comments and suggestions for improvement. Given that a large number of employees

109

are in senior positions having busy schedules due to their many responsibilities, IT responsibles tried to develop easy to use IS systems that could save them time and provide them with the information required for decision making. Technology is easily available for all employees and the hardware and IS systems are reliable, well maintained, and updated. All information technology services and developments are performed in-house due to the large number (18 employees) and competence of IT staff. The IT department is divided mainly into the following sub units: software development, networking and security, software and hardware maintenance), website management, and publications and editorials.

6.2.4 Public Hospital (PH)

a. Interview with IT Advisor of the Ministry of Health and Population (MOHP), Former IT Manager of PH

The main reason for thinking about implementing e-government at MOHP (including all hospitals and institutes belonging to it) was the availability of a huge data that needs to be digitised to facilitate the retrieval of the required information. The strategy for this e-government program is in its early stage for the time being. Starting 2009, a joint effort of MOHP with international consultancy and IT companies is targeted towards setting this strategy within few months. For the time being, there is no clear and common strategy shared by public hospitals and institutes. Moreover, applying ICT at PH does not relate to the core business of the hospital. Nowadays, PH does not have the required funds for e-government implementation, but in the future, ICT funds will not constitute a problem for MOHP, and this should be reflected consequently on ICT implementation at PH. Another obstacle for e-government implementation is the absence of well-defined policies for patients check-in and discharge, which prevents keeping a detailed database of all patients visiting the hospital.

MOHP is undertaking significant efforts gathering accurate data about public hospitals encompassing the entire country. This is achieved through acquiring this data from different sources to ensure its correctness. MOHP believes that the main factor in realising success in e-government lies in the availability of qualified people that could achieve remarkable progress in several areas related to the entire project. Furthermore, extensive awareness should be provided to employees, especially to physicians who are always reluctant in applying ICT in their professional work.

There will be serious initiatives to improve the Ministry's website to include services relevant to citizens. Concerning PH, it will be of great benefit to the citizens to access the names of physicians in the hospital and their availability, in addition to information related to the different units at PH.

The main obstacles that hinder e-government development and implementation are centred on people. It is very difficult to change the culture of employees such that they can adapt with new working techniques. Moreover, finding qualified people to be involved in the project constitutes another challenge.

Regarding the four dimensions affecting EGR, strategy ranks first, followed by people, processes, and finally technology. Setting a strong and possible strategy, and selecting the right people lead to the realisation of the other 2 dimensions.

b. Other sources of evidence

The documentation reviewed were the organisation structure of the hospital including the different units and departments of the hospital. It showed that computer usage is limited to data entry (e.g., basic patients' information in each unit, payroll and accounting records, and pharmacy inventory) from the part of one or two clerks in each department.

Several archival records were examined: (i) monthly reports produced from the IT department of PH containing aggregated data about all the activities of PH such as, number of patients and beds, activity of each department, equipment and medication consumed, etc; (ii) archival records available at the General Organisation for Teaching Hospitals and Institutes (GOTHI) including their efforts to automate hospitals and institutes in their domain, and a study to implement a hospital management system to integrate information from all these hospitals and institutes; and (iii) Detailed reports available at the Egyptian Ministry of Health and Population (MOHP) including statistics about all health entities in Egypt. The first impression about these reports was that information was presented in a sophisticated and confusing manner. This view was further strengthened by the IT Advisor of the Minister who revealed the same opinion and expressed also his doubts about the correctness of information provided. This led him to collect the same data through researchers associated with the Ministry and archive them more suitably.

The main observations noticed while gathering data at PH was the reluctance of the employees in responding to the questionnaire. In addition, the majority of computer users have limited education level and IT skills that almost confines them to data entry only without trying to incorporate any progress or development on ICT status at the hospital. The researcher had also the opportunity to interview a number of the physicians and observe them while performing the administrative elements of their work to understand the obstacles that prevent them from using computers. They think that their tight schedules prevent them from allocating time to learn computers and Internet applications; however, more importantly they do not trust that IS applications would be reliable and could replace

paper records. They fear that if they subscribe to an IT project and rely on digital information, it may end up with weak support and maintenance leading to a loss in time and effort. It was also obvious that there is an absence of a vision about e-government implementation at PH. IT is used mainly in organising information and in automating some basic processes.

Evidently, findings of both quantitative and qualitative data provided rich insight into determining the effect of the four dimensions (strategy, processes, technology, and people) on EGR in each of the four case studies under investigation. Comparing both types of data would then serve in confirming such effect and in developing a final version of a framework that assesses EGR of Egyptian public organisations.

6.3 Summary

This chapter presented the findings of the empirical research undertaken in each of the four Egyptians public organisations selected as case studies to assess E-Government Readiness (EGR) of public organisations in Egypt. First, it reported the quantitative results of each of the fours case studies and set a comparison between them, followed by the combined quantitative results of the four cases to represent the entire country. Next, the chapter presented the findings of the qualitative data gathered from several sources: interviews, documentations, archival records, and observations. In the next chapter, both types of data will be compared for triangulation. Such findings will be examined with regard to the framework proposed in the beginning. This discussion will ultimately lead to the development of a final version of an EGR framework.

7. Discussion

Objectives of chapter 7

- Discuss the findings obtained from the empirical research in each case study.
- Present a final version of a framework assessing EGR of public organisations in Egypt.



qualitative analysis of each of the four case studies were demonstrated. It was also important to combine quantitative data of the four case studies and analyse them in order to represent EGR status of Egypt. This chapter provides a discussion of each case study findings through triangulating qualitative with quantitative results. The objective was to compare both kinds of data to verify the extent to which the empirical research reflected the proposed framework that was derived from the literature. Next, the chapter presents a critical analysis of the results obtained from adding the quantitative data of the four case studies, and compares them with the framework proposed earlier. Such analysis led to the development of a final version of a framework that assesses EGR of public organisations in Egypt.

7.1 Comparing quantitative and qualitative data

In each case, comparing the quantitative results obtained with the research hypotheses showed that findings confirmed all research hypotheses albeit with varying strength. To further confirm the research hypotheses in each case, qualitative data obtained from different sources was triangulated with quantitative data for two reasons: (i) clarify the rationale behind the perception of the employees who responded to the questionnaire; and (ii) present the real situation of EGR to investigate the difference between perceptions and facts (Osman, 2009). In the discussion of each case study, a table is presented to compare quantitative data retrieved from the questionnaire with qualitative data obtained from interviews, documents, archival records, and observation. In each table, the first column contains the hypothesis under investigation, followed by the result obtained from the quantitative analysis (second column). The other columns present the findings gathered from: interviews, documents, archival records, and observations respectively. The sign " $\sqrt{}$ " inserted in each cell means that qualitative results in this cell confirm its corresponding research hypothesis, proving the existence of a relationship between the two dimensions in each hypothesis.

7.1.1 Montaza District (MD)

Looking at the weights of the factors affecting EGR, the study findings revealed that IT strategy does not have a strong impact on EGR (H1). This could be due to the unperceived value of IT strategy and to the lack of vision and long term planning especially in the public sector due to political, economic, and social inconsistencies. In addition, employees do not perceive the vital effect of IT strategy on EGR because the majority are not only uninvolved in IT strategy formulation, but are not even aware of its existence (as revealed by the interviews conducted with them while responding to the questionnaire). This ascertains the direction of the research in choosing the employees as the sample to reply to the questionnaire because their feedback and participation are not always investigated.

The strong effect of processes on EGR (H2) is easily perceived, since improvements in services and in government internal relationships could not be realised without an attempt to examine and simplify all business processes, and to monitor continuously IT progress

and impact. Also, the impact of technology on EGR (H3) proved to be high because the technology value is easily apparent to the employees; evidently e-government could never exist without applying ICT. Finally, the effect of people on EGR (H4) had the highest weight (P-value = 1.00), ensuring that people are always the major factor in the success of any information system.

With regard to the impact of IT strategy on processes (H5a), on technology (H5b), and on people (H5c); results showed that the impact on processes were the least affected. This confirms the results obtained from the interviews conducted with MD employees; they revealed that IT strategy does not attach particular importance on changing business processes (e.g., software that does not match completely business processes at MD, double workload due to entering data manually and on computers) or on conducting regular evaluation of IT performance. In addition, observing the workplace revealed that online services are not integrated with the organisation's business processes. Top management admitted that ICT strategy did not encompass the integration of business processes with other public organisations interacting with MD.

IT strategy has a modest effect on technology because on one hand, there is always a common belief that IT strategy is not a business issue, and that it is concerned only with technology. On the other hand, since employees were not involved during development phases, they cannot grasp a high impact of strategy on ICT. The high impact of the strategy dimension on people (H5c) means that IT strategy considers people to be a major component, thus focusing on improving their skills and re-allocating them to suitable places (observations and archival records confirmed that ICT training courses in particular are easily provided; also many employees state that they were repositioned as a result of e-government program). In addition, IT strategy has a strong impact on employees' behaviour due to the hierarchical structure of the public sector which drives people to respond positively to changes approved by top management.

Table 7.1 summarises both quantitative and qualitative results obtained from Montaza District (MD).

Hypothesis	Questionnai	Interviews	Documents	Arch. Records	Observation
	re				
H1	Accepted	√	√		1
Strategy→EGR	Weak impact	- A large number of employees were	- IT policies and		- During responding to the
		not aware of the existence of an IT	procedures.		questionnaire, many employees did
		strategy; others did not know its			not know several issues related to
		content.			the IT strategy.
		- Top management confirmed the			
		existence of an efficient IT strategy			
		(clear drivers, IT policies, objectives;			
		identification of challenges, etc.).			
H2	Accepted	√	√	\checkmark	٧
Processes→EGR	High impact	- Continuous review and improvement	- Review of business	- Regular evaluation	- Delivery of instant services.
		of the website	processes that were	of website usage.	
		- Evaluations of e-government usage,	changed (or re-	- provision of a	
		satisfaction, and impact.	engineered).	channel to receive	
		- Interest in getting citizens' feedback	- List of the 55	citizens' feedback,	
		and acting upon it, but not considered	services now	but not considered as	
		as a regular process.	provided instantly (in	a regular process.	
		- Changes in business processes led	less than 30		
		to an improvement in service delivery.	minutes)		
H3	Accepted	√		√	1
Technology→EGR	High impact	- Tailor-made software applications		- Aggregated	- New software applications

		are in continuous development to		electronic weekly	developed in-house.
		provide a better service.		report demonstrating	- New applications are used.
		- Use new applications (e.g., GIS,		all requested	
		Project Management).		services and their	
				status.	
H4	Accepted	1		\checkmark	1
People→EGR	High impact	- Computer users work very hard		- Quick and efficient	- Employees have the required
		(work is duplicated: manually and on		response to citizens'	computer skills
		computers).		online requests.	- Employees have high
					communications skills with citizens.
H5a	Accepted	٨	1		1
Strategy→Processes	Weak impact	- Change (or re-engineer) some	- Review of business		- No sustainability. Not enough
		business processes to reach the	processes that were		monitoring of e-government
		objectives set in the IT strategy.	changed (or re-		performance.
		- Lack of integration of business	engineered).		- Online services are not integrated
		processes with other agencies.			with organisation's business
		- Difficulty in changing further			processes.
		business processes.			- Many employees cannot be easily
					adaptable to change.
					- Several initiatives to attempt to
					simplify business processes.
H5b	Accepted	٨			1
Strategy→Technolog	Modest	- Employees were not involved during			- Drawbacks in software
У	impact	software development.			applications developed in the
		- Lack of integration of ICT with other			beginning.

		agencies.		
		- Provision of the required hardware		
		and networking systems to MD.		
H5c	Accepted	√	\checkmark	\checkmark
Strategy→People	High impact	- Continuous training is provided to	- Training courses	- There are always arrangements
		employees	provided to	for training courses.
		- Restructuring to put the right	employees.	- Qualified employees are highly
		employees at the right places.		motivated and full delegation is
		- Ability to motivate employees.		provided to them.
		- Determination of accountability.		- Clear responsibilities to assume
				accountability

 Table 7.1 – Comparison between Quantitative and Qualitative Results (MD)

7.1.2 Tax Unit for Non-Commercial Professions (TUNC)

The high impact of strategy on EGR (H1) is because employees can appreciate the value of strategy, and can understand its different components (as noticed during assisting employees while responding to the questionnaire). This could be attributed to the high education of employees since the majority hold a four-year college degree (86%). In addition, the percentage of employees in management positions – who are usually involved in strategic planning - is relatively high (33%). In fact, employees in non-managerial positions (subordinates) are not fully aware of many issues related to strategy and of e-government in general (as revealed by the interviews conducted with them and with top management).

Looking at the effect of processes on EGR (H2) shows its high impact since several business processes were changed to avoid errors and redundancy of data. Data about each financier is now entered only once by the responsible employee, and is stored at the central database at ETA, and other entities possess a read-only access. Management is also paying a great attention to website usage analysis and in receiving and analysing the feedback of citizens.

As for the high impact of technology on EGR (H3), this can be perceived because ETA uses technology in enhancing services such as, sending mobile text messages to citizens reminding them to file their tax report, incorporating different services on the website, providing a better service to financiers since it is easy to retrieve all their data and scan their documents (noticed while observing the workplace), and controlling data entry. In addition, technology value is apparent in allowing integration of information about financiers among different agencies (as revealed by interviews with top management, and through examining software applications at TUNC).

Investigating the high influence of the people dimension on EGR (H4) showed that computer users become easily dependent on computers as an integral part of their job (as remarked by the researcher while staying for several days at TUNC. This was also compatible with the opinion of top management who expressed their satisfaction about the skills of computer users). The researcher noticed also that employees dealing with financiers have high communication skills, and are well trained in providing a good service. The effect of people on EGR is also strengthened due to the high qualifications and abilities of the IT staff in different areas related to ICT such as networking, software and hardware maintenance, and software development (as stated by top management).

Regarding the high effect of strategy on processes (H5a), top management ascertains that several business processes were reengineered to be able to realise the objectives set in the IT strategy. Top management stated also that e-government evaluation is undertaken regularly within ETA and with other related ministries. Furthermore, they expressed their interest in sustaining a strong communication with citizens to obtain their feedback on e-government performance in writing, through the website, or via the call centre established especially for this purpose. Observing the work place showed also the power of strategy in defining and streamlining business processes to avoid duplication of work, hence speeding up the entire workflow.

The modest impact of strategy on technology (H5b) is chiefly a result of employees observing both strong and weak points of the effect of strategy on technology. For example, most of the required hardware and networking systems were delivered, but still there is a need to renew some computers and printers (noticed by the researcher, and known also from interviewing employees and top management). Certainly, a large amount of information was digitised but the entire workflow was not yet automated, and TUNC still relies on paper work in several business processes (as revealed by top management and observed as well). The effect of strategy on technology is also perceived easily since it was decided since the very beginning to develop all software applications in-house, yet several employees said that the efficiency of software applications could have been higher if they were more involved during software development. While TUNC provided a computer for every employee dealing with financiers (known through observations and interviews with top management), software and hardware maintenance are not always available immediately due to bureaucratic complications. Employees also feel that ETA plans are always directed towards using new technologies (such as digital signature, smart card readers, new channels to communicate with the citizens) but sometimes they are not fully aware of such new plans

Finally, the high effect of strategy on people (H5c) is attributed to the emphasis of strategy on having highly qualified human resources either by hiring new competent employees, or by providing training courses to existing ones (as expressed by top management). This fact was further confirmed when observing the high skills of computer users at TUNC, and the ability of IT staff to perform the required software, networking, and hardware tasks. Observations showed also that there are continuous arrangements for training courses to improve employees' computer skills. Leadership, an important component in the strategy dimension, can be clearly seen in the ability of TUNC's Head to motivate employees and to encourage them to communicate with the TUNC's Head. Finally, any change in IT plans is directly reflected on employees as they have to follow updated instructions to produce any additional required information, and adhere to any deadline set by top management (noted through the researcher visits to TUNC).

Table 7.2 presents the findings obtained from both quantitative and qualitative data at Tax Unit for Non-Commercial Professions (TUNC).

Hypothesis	Questionnai	Interviews	Documents	Arch. Records	Observation
	re				
H1	Accepted	√			√
Strategy→EGR	High impact	- Some employees said			- Most employees did not find a
		they are not acquainted			difficulty in responding to the
		with some IT strategy			strategy part in the
		elements.			questionnaire.
		- Top management			- High leadership skills of top
		confirmed the existence of			management due to their ability
		an efficient IT strategy			to change major issues related
		(clear drivers, objectives,			to ICT applications due to
		action plan; identification of			changes in legislations.
		challenges).			
		- Changes in strategy due			
		to changes in legislations.			
H2	Accepted	√	√	√	1
Processes→EGR	High impact	- Changes in business	- Review of business	- Regular evaluation of	- Employees perceived the value
		processes eliminated data	processes that were	website usage.	produced by the change in some
		redundancy and	changed (or re-	- provision of a channel to	business processes.
		inaccuracy.	engineered).	get citizens' feedback	
				through the national e-	
				government portal, but	
				not considered as a	

				regular process.	
H3	Accepted	1		√	√
Technology→EGR	High impact	- Software applications		- Aggregated electronic	- Efficient software applications.
		controlled data entry which		weekly report	- Information is shared internally,
		eliminated data		demonstrating the status	with ETA, and with other public
		redundancy and		of all financiers.	agencies.
		inaccuracy.			
		- Software applications			
		allowed the integration			
		with the data in other			
		agencies to inquire about			
		the status of each			
		financier.			
H4	Accepted	1		√	1
People→EGR	High impact	- High skills of computer		- Quick and efficient	- Employees have the required
		users.		response to citizens'	computer skills
		- Qualified IT staff which		online requests.	- Employees have high
		allowed all applications to			communications skills with
		be developed in-house.			financiers.
H5a	Accepted	1	1		1
Strategy→Processes	Modest	- Change (or re-	- Review of business		- No duplication of work due to
	impact	engineering) of some	processes that were		well defined and streamlined
		business processes to	changed (or re-		business processes.
		reach the objectives set in	engineered).		- Little emphasis on getting

		the IT strategy		employees' feedback: moreover
		- Regular evaluation of e-		it is not evaluated regularly.
		government initiatives		
		inside ETA and with other		
		ministries.		
		- Strong communication		
		channel with citizens to get		
		their feedback (through the		
		website and a call centre),		
		but not a regular process.		
H5b	Accepted	√		1
Strategy→Technolog	Modest	- Employees were not		- Providing a computer to each
У	impact	sufficiently involved during		employee responsible for
		software development.		financiers.
		- Providing the required		- Employees are not aware of all
		hardware and networking		software applications developed.
		systems and evaluating		- Sometimes the required
		them regularly over all ETA,		software and hardware
		but the hardware still needs		maintenance is not provided, or
		improvement.		sometimes delayed due to
		- Further information should		bureaucracy.
		be digitised.		- Development of further
		- All software applications		software applications would help
		are developed in-house.		in automating the whole work
		- Continuous interest in		cycle.
		enhancing services through		- Development and maintenance

		implementing new		of software applications by IT
		applications (digital		employees at ITA.
		signature, smart card		
		readers, automating the		
		entire workflow).		
H5c	Accepted	√	√	√
Strategy→People	High impact	- Provide training to newly	- Training courses	- There are always
		graduates in several ICT	provided to employees.	arrangements for training
		domains as a protocol with		courses.
		the Ministry of		- IT staff is highly qualified and
		Communication and		able to develop all software
		Information Technology		applications.
		- Provide IT training to		- Employees enjoy a direct
		existing employees through		access with the TUNC's Head.
		the outsourcing company.		- Employees are continuously
		- Ability to motivate		faced with emergent situations
		employees.		that they have to act upon
		- Immediate instructions		directly.
		that interrupt employees		
		work.		

 Table 7.2 – Comparison between Quantitative and Qualitative Results (TUNC)

7.1.3 Ministry of Investment (MOI)

Results obtained showed the high impact of the four dimensions strategy, processes, technology, and people on EGR (hypotheses H1, H2, H3, and H4). First, the strategy dimension is clearly apparent in affecting EGR (H1) because e-government is one of the main objectives in the business strategy of the Ministry. The Minister's special interest in the e-government program was reflected on the entire staff driving IT responsibles to set a clear e-government strategy taking into considerations all strategy components. Employees understood the value of strategy on e-government because they were involved in its formulation. Furthermore, the decision to produce the website content in different languages had a great impact on reaching a wider audience worldwide. Since top management's plan was to develop all ICT applications in-house, changes and improvements take place without delays, and MOI's website content is considered among the most updated governmental websites.

Regarding the high effect on processes on EGR (H2), interviews with top management and employees confirmed that several business processes were changed or reengineered to simplify processes undertaken by investors. There is also a continuous review of MOI's website's performance based on the feedback of employees, experts, and investors (noted from interviews with top management and employees, and also from observations and reviewing the usage analysis reports produced, and of the previous studies undertaken to evaluate the website).

Technology influence on EGR (H3) is reflected in the development of tailor made software applications that help senior employees (constituting 70% of the total number of employees) in decision making, and in producing daily reports about all MOI's activities (known through interviews with top management and observations). In addition, the presence of such an efficient website has certainly a strong effect on e-government performance. The researcher also noticed the great effect of technology manifested in the use of MOI's Intranet as the employees' main communication tool.

The high impact of people on EGR (H4) is due to the relatively high level of education (all of them have a four-college degree, and around 16% hold a master degree) and high computer skills of employees compared to the level of education and computer skills of employees in the three other organisations studied (MD, TUNC, and PH). The people effect is also witnessed in the ability of management to employ qualified IT staff capable of fulfilling development and maintenance requirements (as revealed by top management and observed by the researcher during visits of the Ministry).

As for the modest effect of strategy on processes (H5a), interviews with top management (as well as observations) showed that one of the main tasks in the strategy's action plan was to review and simplify business processes. While this business process change led to efficient outcomes, there are still difficulties in integrating them with the other nine entities affiliated to the Ministry. One of the main directions of IT management (as observed by the researcher) is to maintain e-government sustainability by considering e-government evaluation as an ongoing process. Also, the IT Consultant of the Minister expressed a special interest in obtaining the feedback of the researcher regarding the content and design of MOI's website during the interview.

Strategy has also a modest impact on technology (H5b) because on one hand technology requirements are fulfilled with continuous initiatives to adopt the latest technologies (as stated in interviews with top management and employees, and noted during observation), in addition to the emphasis on the strategic role of the website; but on the other hand there is a need for a strategic decision to allow the integration of ICT with other entities belonging to MOI.

As opposed to its modest effect on processes and technology, strategy has a high impact on people (H5c). Top management, supported by observations, confirmed the continuous interest in providing training courses to employees whenever required. Top management and employees stated that management promotes e-government through organising seminars to the employees to keep them updated of the continuous progress of egovernment, and to listen to their suggestions. Top management affirmed also that egovernment strategy caused restructuring to improve allocation of human resources and to exhibit more control and accountability (also noticed by the researcher). Moreover, top management declared that there are continuous efforts to foster internal communications through the Ministry's Intranet. This fact was confirmed through perceiving the employees reliance on the Ministry's Intranet in most of their internal communications.

Hypothesis	Questionnai	Interviews	Documents	Arch. Records	Observation
	re				
H1	Accepted	٨	1		1
Strategy→EGR	High impact	- Employees were aware of the	- IT policies and		- During responding to the
		existence of an IT strategy because	procedures.		questionnaire, employees did not
		they perceive its impact. They were			find any difficulties in responding to
		sure that e-government program is			several issues related to the IT
		progressing through a methodological			strategy, but some of them revealed
		approach.			that some parts were not relevant to
		- Top management confirmed the			them.
		existence of an efficient IT strategy			- There was a strategic decision to
		(clear drivers, IT policies, objectives;			provide the content of the website
		identification of challenges,			in several languages (Arabic,
		determination of funding sources,			English, French, and Chinese) to
		accountability, extensive awareness			attract a wider range of investors
		provided to employees, etc.).			worldwide.
		- The Minister believes that 40% of			
		the success of the investment sector			
		is attributed to e-government.			
		- The decision to launch a website			
		was to provide a single point that			
		deals with investors instead of			
		struggling in communicating with			
		different entities.			

		- Perform all ICT services and			
		applications in-house.			
H2	Accepted	٨	√	1	1
Processes→EGR	High impact	- Continuous review and improvement	- Review of business	- Detailed regular	- Employees were satisfied about
		of the website	processes that were	evaluation of website	the changes incorporated in some
		- Monthly evaluation of all areas	changed (or re-	usage.	processes because they led to an
		related to e-government usage:	engineered).	- Interest in studies	improvement in the whole workflow.
		website, Intranet, increase		carried out to	
		processes' automation, and digitise		evaluate the website	
		different types of information.		and acting upon the	
		- Interest in getting employees' and		recommendations	
		citizens' feedback about websites'		provided.	
		improvement.			
		- Changes in business processes led			
		to an improvement in service delivery.			
H3	Accepted	√		\checkmark	٨
Technology→EGR	High impact	- Tailor-made easy to use software		- Daily detailed	- New software applications
		applications to help in decision		reports about MOI's	developed in-house.
		making.		activities.	- Efficient design and content of the
		- Continuous improvements on the			website.
		website.			- Most internal communications are
					channelled through MOI's Intranet.
					- Continuous update of the
					website's content in all languages
					provided.

H4	Accepted	√		1
People→EGR	High impact	- Employees working in IT are highly		- Employees have the required
		competitive.		computer skills
		- High education of all employees		- IT services are scheduled in
		(16% holding master degrees).		advance.
				- Efficient communication between
				employees and Technical Services
				Department.
				- The Technical Services
				department includes all required
				departments and resources.
H5a	Accepted	1	1	1
Strategy→Processes	Modest	- Change (or re-engineering) of	- Review of business	- Several initiatives to attempt to
	impact	several business processes to reach	processes that were	simplify business processes.
		the objectives set in the IT strategy.	changed (or re-	- Special focus on considering e-
		- Lack of integration of business	engineered).	government evaluation as a regular
		processes with other agencies.		process.
H5b	Accepted	٨		1
Strategy→Technolog	Modest	- Providing the required technology to		- High Quality and reliability of ICT.
У	impact	all employees.		- Strategic interest in providing the
		- Lack of integration of ICT with other		latest technologies.
		agencies.		- Strong and efficient website
		- One of the main objectives of the IT		
		strategy is to digitise a large amount		

		of the information available at MOI.		
H5c	Accepted	√		\checkmark
Strategy→People	High impact	- Continuous training is provided to		- There are always arrangements
		employees.		for training courses.
		- Restructuring to place employees at		- Clear responsibilities to assume
		the most suitable places.		accountability.
		- Ability to motivate employees.		- Provide all ICT services to
		- Determination of accountability.		employees whenever needed.
		- Promote e-government concept and		
		initiatives internally through organising		
		seminars that present e-government		
		achievements at MOI.		
		- Encourage employees to rely on ICT		
		on their daily work.		

 Table 7.3 – Comparison between Quantitative and Qualitative Results (MOI)

7.1.4 Public Hospital (PH)

Referring to the reason behind selecting PH as a case study, the choice was based on the assumption that the importance of some factors is more ascertained by the consequences of their absence rather than the effect of their existence. Since PH is at an early stage in terms of e-government, it was essential to investigate the most important factors affecting EGR and understand the environment in which the health sector operates.

Results obtained from the quantitative data proved a weak impact of the strategy dimension on EGR. This was confirmed during assisting employees while replying to the questionnaire; they expressed difficulty in understanding the questions in the first part related to the strategy dimension. This could be partly due to the fact that a large percentage of employees are not highly educated (44% do not hold a four-year college degree). After explaining each item in this part, they still could not see the full value of strategy on EGR because of: (i) their limited knowledge; and (ii) their inability to perceive any effect of a good strategy on e-government at PH. They were only certain that if there was an ICT plan, this would have simplified their work and would have allowed them to provide a better service to patients. Although this fundamental belief could be the launching base for future ICT plans in PH, at present this in itself is not sufficient. In addition, while spending several days at the hospital, the absence of any IT plan became evident to the researcher. Furthermore, top management at PH stipulated that there is no e-government strategy currently active to the best of their knowledge. The former PH IT Manager blamed the absence of strategy on the lack of funds which prevents any ideas for e-government development. He stated that it is also difficult to plan to automate patients' records of PH because there are no clear policies and procedures governing patients check-in and discharge. Many patients do not originally belong to the hospital, but are transferred from other geographic locations where their records are first created but not necessarily transferred to PH.

The high impact of processes on EGR (H2) is because both employees and top management feel the negative consequences resulting from following old and inefficient business processes. The researcher noticed that employees felt incapable of helping patients (For example, when they request appointments with physicians or try to make reservations for radiology or lab diagnosis) because of the inefficient and slow processes they should adhere to.

As for the modest effect of technology on EGR (H3), it is attributed to the fact that employees saw the importance of the software applications at PH in automating the workflow, and in providing aggregated monthly reports showing different activities of the hospital (reviewed by the researcher). In addition, employees expressed their need for more software applications and better hardware systems. Top management revealed that technology helped in providing the statistics they required which will lead to an improvement in services provided to citizens. For example, storing patients' records that include information about their visits to PH and their health conditions, and providing them to physicians facilitates and speeds up the physical examination process. It was also obvious for management and employees that the existence of a website - from which essential information (e.g., the names of physicians and schedules of clinics) could be accessed - will be a significant step towards applying e-government.

People are the most influential dimension affecting EGR (H4) in the opinion of both employees and top management. Instability of management positions and lack of coordination between management at different levels led to this thinking (all over PH, GOTHI, and MOHP). In addition, interviews with both employees and top management (in addition to observation at the workplace) attested to the poor IT qualifications of employees. The importance of people is also obvious due to the fact that physicians do not rely on computers in their work and do not have the intention to change their standpoint towards adopting technology. Moreover, the trend in PH as well as most MOHP entities is to choose physicians, who do not necessarily possess sufficient IT knowledge, to fill IT management positions. This always proves to be inadequate. The drawbacks stated above -easily apparent - send employees a strong message that alleviating such drawbacks will be the main pillar towards improving EGR.

Findings showed also that strategy has a weak impact on processes (H5a), and on technology (H5b). Top management admitted that there are still no regular processes undertaken to evaluate ICT performance, and that due to the absence of a common strategy between the different responsible entities, any attempts to integrate business processes internally or between PH and other related authorities cannot be implemented. PH and GOTHI IT management are not only uninvolved with MOHP in formulating e-government strategy, but are also unaware of any details about it. Consequently, top management were unable to value the effect of strategy on processes and technology. Strategy effect on technology cannot also be perceived due to the poor status of ICT systems. Even for existing technologies (Internet and Intranet connections), only a small number of employees have access to them. For those using them, they do not fully benefit of their availability; they just use them for limited tasks such as video conferencing on the Intranet, and surfing for research papers on the Internet.
Finally, the high effect of strategy on people (H5c) is because top management are planning to hire qualified staff because they understand clearly the value of human resources in the success of e-government. Also, one of the main e-government plans (as revealed by top management) is to first target public hospitals and institutions where employees and management have the flexibility to change their work style. One of the main components of e-government strategy will be to promote e-government among employees and management in the health sector. Spending several days at the hospital allowed the researcher to notice that employees lack awareness about the benefits of e-government, and that there are no plans for providing additional training to them. However, it was obvious that employees fully abide with instructions set by top management. This proves that if a strong action plan stemming from any e-government strategy is decided and applied by top management, employees will definitely follow it.

Hypothesis	Questionn	Interviews	Document	Arch.	Observation
	aire		S	Records	
H1	Accepted	√			√
Strategy→EGR	Weak	- Employees were not sure of the			- No plans for IT use and development.
	impact	existence of an IT strategy.			
		- Top management confirmed the			
		absence of an IT strategy, and the			
		need for an efficient one.			
		- Lack of funds to improve ICT at PH.			
H2	Accepted	√			1
Processes→EGR	High impact	- One of the main obstacles in			- Bureaucracy prevents the change of static
		implementing e-government is that			processes.
		processes are old and inadequate,			- No evaluation of e-government limited initiatives.
		and need to be changed (i.e., it is an			
		important dimension in affecting			
		EGR).			
H3	Accepted	√		√	√
Technology→EGR	Modest	- Technology helped in providing		- Monthly	- Software applications affect workflow automation
	impact	statistics about activities at PH, and		reports	which enhances services provided to patients.
		about national health information.		combining	- There is a need for additional software applications
		- Improving the website content will		PH's	to replace paper work, and to provide a patients'
		provide the information required by		statistics.	database.

		patients.		- ICT shortage prevents employees from providing a
				better service for patients.
H4	Accepted	٨		1
People→EGR	High impact	- It is not easy to find qualified people		- Employees need more technical training.
		in various tasks related to e-		- Responsible of e-government projects should be
		government.		physicians.
		- Changing the culture of physicians		- Employees have high communications skills with
		towards using ICT in their work		patients.
		constitutes a big challenge.		
		- Several initiatives are undertaken		
		from different entities but lack of		
		coordination between them impact e-		
		government development negatively.		
H5a	Accepted	1		\checkmark
Strategy→Processes	Weak	- No monitoring of e-government		- Any ICT strategy cannot cause a major change in
	impact	initiatives.		business processes. It just acts as a complementary
		- No common strategy between		process without being integrated with other business
		different responsible entities due to		processes at PH.
		lack of coordination. This has a		
		negative effect on streamlining and		
		integrating business processes.		
		- The Ministry of Health and		
		Population (MOHP) is performing		
		regular scanning of all public		
		hospitals and medical entities to		

		obtain accurate information required		
		for building a national database		
		about health sector.		
H5b	Accepted	√		1
Strategy→Technolog	Weak	- Poor assessment of hardware		- Computers need to be renewed.
У	impact	equipment and software applications.		- The majority of the employees do not have an Internet
		- Build a database of all public		access.
		hospitals and medical entities.		- The Intranet connecting the hospitals belonging to the
				General Organisation for Teaching Hospitals and
				Institutes (GOTHI) is not fully used. It is only used in
				video conferences in few occasions.
H5c	Accepted	1		٨
Strategy→People	High impact	- There is a plan to hire qualified		- No obvious steps performed to provide awareness
		employees.		or more training to employees.
		- Strategy is planned to be		- Top management at PH has a strong influence on
		implemented on people that have the		employees.
		tendency to change.		
		- Top management realises the		
		importance of people in e-		
		government progress and the need		
		to provide awareness to the		
		omployeee		

 Table 7.4 – Comparison between Quantitative and Qualitative Results (PH)

7.2 EGR framework of Egypt

Combining the data obtained from the samples of the four case studies showed that the average score of each of the four research dimensions is relatively high, ranging from 5.00 to 5.44; which means that employees' feedback towards the research dimensions was highly positive (since the ranking is on a measurement scale from 1 to 7). The same positive perception towards the framework's dimensions was not expressed by the employees while conducting informal discussions with them. Although the majority of employees were satisfied to a certain extent with most of the constructs under each dimensions, sometimes, they revealed negative impressions towards ICT status, egovernment strategy, and lack in the integration of processes. For example, concerning hardware and software maintenance provided at TUNC, although the means of the constructs of service quality were high (under the technology dimension), many employees were complaining about delays in replying to their needs in case of hardware or software problems. The high average score in the quantitative data could be attributed to a cultural aspect that characterises Egyptians when responding to surveys; feeling uncomfortable in expressing negative impressions towards a person or even a concept (Manawy, 2006) especially in case of surveys related to their work environment.



Findings about the relationships between the different dimensions of the framework confirm all the hypotheses of the framework. The three dimensions: processes,

technology, and people have a high impact on EGR; whereas strategy has a modest impact. Regarding the effect of strategy on the three dimensions: processes, technology, and people; findings revealed that strategy has a modest impact on processes and technology, and a high impact on people. The final version of the EGR framework including the strength of the relationships between its different dimensions is presented in figure 7.1

The modest effect of strategy on EGR (H1) is attributed to three reasons: (i) it is difficult to appreciate the effect of strategy because due to the limited education level of some employees at certain organisations, employees could not realise the exact meaning of strategy and its value; (ii) the low level of awareness of a large number of employees about the e-government strategy at their organisations prevents them from perceiving its effect; and (iii) strategy components are not always entirely considered from the part of top management responsible of setting e-government strategy.

Findings highlighted also the importance of processes on EGR (H2). This ensures the transformative nature of e-government; it is not simply about using ICT, but it is rather about changing the way governmental organisations work. Therefore, it is important to review processes and to have a clear vision about means to streamline and integrate them internally and with other organisations as well. In addition, evaluations of e-government projects should be conducted regularly to assess citizens and employees' satisfaction, and to monitor any gap between the design and implementation phases.

Further, results revealed that despite the high impact of technology on EGR (H3), egovernment strategy in all cases did not put enough emphasis on technology (H5b) since it has a modest effect on technology. This could be due to the limited budgets in funding e-government projects that reduces the ability to put long term plans on investments on technology.

Finally, relations concerning the people dimension cause high effects whether people is a dependent variable affected by strategy (H5c), or an independent variable affecting EGR (H4). This means that people are the major factor in the introduction and success of e-government projects.

Results showed also that impact of strategy on processes (H5a) is weak in old organisations (MD was established in 1982, and PH in 1923) in contrast with its high impact on new ones (TUNC and MOI were established in 2004). In their early stages, usually organisations take the best practices and have clear strategies which they tend to

adhere to. Furthermore, processes in new organisations can be formulated and adjusted easier than in old organisations where processes are somewhat more rigid.

It was also important to determine the constructs that have the highest effect in each of the four dimensions through considering the factor analysis of the combined data of the four case studies (see appendix I).

The most affecting constructs in the strategy dimension are: (i) specification of the motives or compelling reason, and the challenges for the development and implementation of e-government; (ii) considering Internet activities as one of the major goals; (iii) leadership; (iv) determination of accountability; (v) consideration of the value on each stakeholder; and (vi) building awareness of e-government among employees in each organisation.

In the case of processes, the most influencing factors were: (i) definition and streamlining of business processes and motives of changing them; (ii) evaluation of citizens' perspectives towards e-government including usefulness, usability, satisfaction, and trust; and (iii) regularly obtaining employees' feedback concerning their satisfaction about ICT systems in terms of usefulness and ease of use.

With respect to the technology dimension, the issues of most concern are: (i) timeliness and accuracy of information; (ii) quality of software systems including reliability, usability, accessibility, flexibility, internal integration; (iii) security of data; (iv) horizontal integration of hardware systems (i.e., between organisations); and (v) quality of technical support and development services focusing on reliability and commitment.

Finally the factors affecting the people dimension the most are: (i) employees' skills such as: ease of communication with citizens and other departments, and adaptation to change; and (ii) human resources training and development including availability, quality, relevancy of the both technical and non-technical training provided, and the degree to which employees are involved in determining the training they need, and in evaluating the training courses they attended.

7.3 Summary

This chapter discussed the findings obtained in each of the four case studies through comparing those gathered from the questionnaire with the qualitative data collected from interviews, documents, archival records, and observations. The chapter reviewed also the combined quantitative data of the four case studies to represent Egypt. Comparing the overall model of Egypt derived from the results with the one drawn from the literature proved that all research hypotheses were confirmed; thus guiding to the development of a

final framework for assessing EGR of public organisations in Egypt. The next and last chapter will summarise the entire research, and will state its main limitations. It will also conclude upon the work undertaken and will provide recommendations for the organisations studied, policy makers, and further venues of research.

8. Conclusion

Objectives of chapter 8

- Provide a summary of the entire thesis.
- Indicate the limitations of the research.
- Discuss recommendations and future research.



of the four case studies. It then presented the results of the data combined from these cases to represent public organisations in Egypt. The chapter concluded that findings

confirmed the research hypotheses, proving the viability of the framework derived from the literature. This chapter reflects upon the entire thesis starting by summarising it, highlighting the research gap, and explaining the contribution of the thesis in filling the research gap and in answering the research question raised in the beginning. The chapter offers then recommendations for the organisations studied and for policy makers, discusses the research limitations, and finally suggests avenues for future research.

8.1 Summary of the thesis

E-government has become the key term used to suggest a solution for public sector problems either internally or in its interaction with citizens. This drove governments worldwide to attach particular importance to e-government, and to allocate significant resources for its development and implementation. Eventually, such a project cannot be implemented in isolation without having a thorough understanding of the context in which e-government operates. Therefore, it is important to conduct research to assess the readiness of public organisations for e-government.

The literature reviewed in this study indicated that there appears to be little examination of the electronic administration of e-government (e-administration). The reason behind ignoring e-administration and focusing instead on governmental websites in assessing E-Government Readiness (EGR) is mainly due to the convenience and simplicity in evaluating the latter. For the majority of stakeholders, adding more services to the website means more progress and success of e-government project. As for researchers and survey institutes, they mainly consider basic website measurements among their criteria. Consequently, policy makers are tempted to give front office (i.e., website) special emphasis and direct most resources towards such issue since it satisfies e-government stakeholders, researchers, and survey institutes. Such approach will not lead to a sustainable progress of e-government; without having an efficient back office governments will never be able to serve citizens either from online or offline channels. Further, the literature focuses on assessing EGR over entire countries resulting in a clear gap in investigating EGR over a public organisation scale.

This thesis was aimed at filling this gap. The intention however was not to start research in isolation, but to draw on previous literature and to ground the research into the context of knowledge already attained. In this way, the study has used the positivistic approach to ensure objectivity through deriving the research hypotheses from related literature in e-readiness, EGR, IS and e-commerce success models. A suggested framework was developed encompassing the effect of four main dimensions - (i) strategy, (ii) processes, (iii) technology, and (iv) people - on EGR, as well as the relations between them. The

proposed framework was tested using an empirical research on four public organisations representing different sectors in Egypt. The research used case study as a research strategy to serve this purpose because it allows in-depth investigation through different data collection methods: (i) obtaining employees' feedback through a questionnaire; (ii) conducting interviews with top management; (iii) carrying out interviews with employees; (iv) reviewing documentations; (v) examining archival records; and (vi) observing the work environment. This enhanced the research objectivity and helped in attaining a representative conclusion as much as possible through triangulating the data collected from different sources of evidence. Findings confirmed all research hypotheses leading to presenting a final framework that assesses EGR of public organisations in Egypt.

The thesis though provides an insight into the e-administration dimension, especially on a micro - rather than a macro - level (i.e., over a public organisation); such perspectives of e-government had been largely overlooked in the past. In addition, the research did not rely only on literature or secondary data in developing the EGR framework, but used also an empirical research to enable the researcher to better understand the context of the research. The use of in-depth investigation of public organisations in a developing country like Egypt is also a significant contribution, since the few studies approaching e-administration (discussed in chapter 2, section 2.3) focus on developed countries. The approach and findings of this research have therefore increased the body of knowledge in the field of information systems and e-commerce in general, and in e-readiness and e-government readiness in particular.

The next section revises the research question and proves that the thesis provides an answer for it.

8.2 Answering the research question

The research question posed in the beginning of the thesis was the following:

What is the framework that could best assess E-Government Readiness (EGR) encompassing all internal factors affecting e-government within a public organisation?

The framework shown in figure 8.1 provides the answer to this question.



Figure 8.1 – E-Government Readiness (EGR) Framework

The developed framework contains the internal factors affecting EGR which are categorised into four main dimensions: (i) strategy, (ii) processes, (iii) technology, and (iv) people. As demonstrated in the figure, there are a number of measuring constructs in each of these four dimensions to measure their effect on EGR. The framework highlights also the effect of the strategy dimension on the three other dimensions.

The research proved the high effect of processes, technology, and people on EGR as compared to the modest impact of strategy on EGR. The thesis highlighted also the modest impact of strategy on processes and technology, and its high impact on people.

Quantitative analysis of the data obtained also provided important information about the constructs that had the highest weights in each dimension (identification of these constructs are stated in chapter 7, section 7.5).

8.3 Considerations for the organisations studied

The research findings (presented in chapter 6, and discussed in chapter 7) revealed that there are several areas where changes could be usefully made.

There is a need for the Montaza District to consider education and competence level as a main requirement while hiring new employees. Also, choosing the correct software applications will stop the development of further scattered applications in-house (which attempted to cover the drawbacks of existing ones). Quantitative analysis revealed that promoting e-government throughout the district is one of the main factors affecting EGR. In addition, conducting regular evaluation of citizens' feedback, and definition and streamlining of business processes proved to have high influence. Concerning

technology, the quality of the website and the data security have the highest weight; whereas training provided to employees is the most important construct related to people. While employees expressed the adequacy of the training courses they attended to their needs, the researcher noticed that some specialised courses in software and web development were sometimes provided to employees without investigating their usefulness for future applications. This dictates reviewing the relevancy of the training courses to the needs and tasks of employees.

As of the Tax Unit for Non-Commercial Professions (TUNC), initiatives should be taken to improve the hardware and ICT maintenance. The most important factors in affecting EGR (having the highest weights) – obtained from the quantitative analysis – are the existence of an action plan in the e-government strategy, and the determination of e-government challenges and accountability. Other constructs which proved to have high weights are the alignment of IT investment with the strategy and plans of TUNC, the determination of the role of each stakeholder, and the value of e-government on each. Further, conducting regular evaluation of citizens' and employees' feedback is the main factor in the processes dimension. Within the technology dimension, the hardware and the responsiveness and timeliness of technical support are the most affecting factors. Finally, ICT impact on the performance and flexibility of employees are also key factors in the people dimension.

The third case study, the Ministry of Investment (MOI), one of the most successful cases in terms of e-government application in Egypt, should consider also the integration with entities under its supervision, and should also ensure the continuous support of the Minister for the e-government project because it is the key factor in its success. Quantitative analysis showed that the most affecting component in the strategy is considering all Internet activities as one of the major e-government goals. Further critical factors are: leadership, resource allocation, identification of challenges, establishment and implementation of IT policies and procedures, alignment of IT investment with MOI's strategy and plans. Obtaining regular feedback of citizens and employees is the most influencing factors in the processes dimension. As for the technology, the principal factors are the usability and flexibility of software systems, the security of data, and the competence of technical support staff. Finally, the pivotal factors in the people dimension are: (i) provide proper training to the employees; (ii) involve them in deciding the training courses; and (iii) get their feedback in the training courses they attended.

The last case study of the Public Hospital (PH) is a clear example demonstrating the lack of e-government strategy and the weak coordination between IT management at different

levels of responsibility. Special focus should be provided to correct both issues, and to investigate means to change inefficient business processes through addressing the cultural and bureaucratic challenges that hinder this change. PH's e-government strategy should also consider improvements of the website by adding useful content and providing basic online services as a start. Enhancement in ICT quality in general should also be considered as well as determining ways to encourage employees to use ICT through providing them with additional training and support. Furthermore, the restrictive approaches to the use of the technologies - Internet, Intranet and email - should be revised because it results in diminishing opportunities for progress. The fact that PH's top management instructions are strictly followed in the entire hospital would definitely help in this regard in case policies and procedures would be particularly set for such purpose.

Quantitative findings considered the existence of an action plan, fostering ICT use, and top management support as the main affecting factors in the strategy dimension. Concerning the processes dimension, Business Process Change (BPC) is the most important factor comprising determining motives behind BPC, and streamlining and internal integration of business processes. There are other several key factors in the technology dimension: information accuracy and timeliness, integration of data between internet and other applications, accessibility and flexibility of software applications, and security of data. Additionally, more efforts should be directed towards strengthening the communication between the technical support staff and the employees to inform employees in advance of scheduled system downtime, and of the status of ongoing projects. Finally, providing proper training to the employees is the most influencing factor in the people dimension.

8.4 Considerations for policy makers

The lessons learned from this research have brought into focus some of the needs of public organisations with regard to e-government. Therefore, this work provides significant insight for decision-makers in this arena. By considering perceptions of employees towards e-government projects at their organisations, this work provides a starting point for policy makers who need to assess EGR, a principal approach to advance e-government program in such organisations.

Ultimately, based mainly on observations and interviews in addition to the quantitative findings in each organisation, this research has revealed the necessity for a detailed e-government strategy encompassing several components (highlighted in the developed research framework). Building awareness of such strategy in each organisation proved to be important. Further, involving employees throughout the different stages of software

systems development should not be overlooked for two reasons: their input would contribute a great deal in producing efficient systems due to their experience, and, having a role in participating and deciding new systems would motivate them to feel part of the project; thus reducing their resistance to change.

Moreover, further initiatives should be undertaken to digitise information in order to minimise the workload since a large part of the work is still performed manually. Besides, integrating website activities with the internal processes should be among the top priorities in any e-government strategy.

Finally, there should be different channels to assess citizens' and employees' perceptions towards e-government in each organisation to create rooms for improvement, and to foster communication between policy makers and these two major sectors of stakeholders.

8.5 Limitations of the thesis

The study investigated four case studies of public organisations in different sectors. One of the main sources of data was through distributing a questionnaire to the employees using ICT systems within these organisations. The main limitation lies in the small sample size in each case study. Unfortunately, this was out of the researcher's control because the number of employees working on computers is relatively small in Egyptian public organisations. Even so, the sample used in the questionnaire reflected to a large extent employees in each organisation because it covered a wide demographic spectrum. In addition, the sample in each organisation represented a relatively high percentage of the population (81 of 130 at MD, 55 of 70 at TUNC, 48 of 200 at MOI, and 36 of 36 at PH). For further validity, the researcher triangulated questionnaire results with the qualitative data gathered from different data collection methods.

Furthermore, the data collection method that produced the strength and effect of relationship among the dimensions of the framework depended on the opinions of the employees, without considering other stakeholders, such as citizens and business partners. However, since the thesis main theme is directed towards assessing the back office of public organisations, employees and top management are the stakeholders best acquainted with such issues.

Another limitation of the research is the possibility that employees feedback could be subject to criticism due to several reasons: (i) culture: Egyptians are always reluctant to reveal any negative attitude when responding to surveys, and especially towards issues related to their work environment despite assuring them of the anonymous nature of the questionnaire; (ii) skills and awareness: participants have different levels of expertise and familiarity with the research topic; and (iii) questionnaire's length: which could lead to less valid answers due to fatigue or unwillingness of participants to seriously answer a large number of questions.

Finally, while the researcher tried to get as much data as possible from each case study, sometimes some of the required information could not be accessible due to confidentiality and/or bureaucratic reason.

8.6 Recommendations for future research

This research serves as a starting point for greater research into assessment of E-Government Readiness (EGR) of public organisations. Several areas of interest were revealed during the research that would benefit further studies. One venue would be to conduct a longitudinal assessment study on the same organisations. This could involve a five or ten year analysis to spot changes in perceptions of both employees and top management towards e-government. The ability to conduct periodical assessment would provide valuable insight into the development of e-government, and would enable spotting both positive and negative changes over time. In this way, it would be easier to rectify e-government path in each of the four organisations.

Another valuable area of future research would be to include more case studies to cover other pivotal sectors in Egypt such as education, transportation, civil status (provides issuing ID and birth certificates), vehicles licenses services, law, culture, etc. Such research would reflect further EGR status of Egypt since it would encompass other important sectors in the country.

As shown throughout the thesis, four cases were investigated. Apart from the Ministry of Investment, the three other cases were samples of a number of organisations in their corresponding sectors. Of these three cases, two were considered successful: one representing municipalities (Montaza District), and another representing tax units (Tax Unit for Non-Commercial Professions). The third one, which was not as successful, was a public hospital in an early stage in terms of e-government representing public hospitals. Future research would include cases at different stages of e-government application in each of the above three sectors. This would lead to more objectivity in the findings because it will not be limited to a particular e-government stage in each sector. Furthermore, comparing cases at different e-government stages in the same sector would emphasise and confirm the areas affecting the success of e-government. To a great extent such approach would avoid doubts concerning dissimilar challenges, objectives, and other issues stemming from differences between sectors.

It would be also beneficial to generalise the research findings to produce a generic EGR assessment framework that could be applied in any context. This could be reached through conducting the same study in other developed and developing countries to test the developed framework. Further work to be published will be focusing on undertaking similar studies in the United Kingdom, Greece, Dubai, and Algeria.

For researchers requesting to undertake the same study in different countries, it is recommended that they follow the same steps followed in the empirical research of this study. They should select first the public organisations that could best represent a country, then collect data through the same data collection methods: interviews, questionnaire distributed to employees, documents, archival records, and observation of the workplace. Changes could arise in the constructs under the four main dimensions of the EGR framework: strategy, processes, technology, and people; but results could not lead to additional internal factors affecting EGR since the research framework encompassed all dimensions related to an information system development and implementation in general and to e-government in particular.

Finally, it is recommended that more research is conducted in the e-administration dimension of e-government which is usually overlooked, especially in developing countries. Moreover, it is important to take into account the view of the employees working in the organisations under investigation. It is clear from the review of the literature that such view is rarely considered.

8.7 Epilogue

The findings of this thesis offer not only a valuable and practical resource for those researchers wishing to further enquire into e-government readiness, but also provide invaluable insight into the working environment of Egyptian public organisations highlighting the experience of the researcher during conducting the study, and a critique of the overall research process. By utilising the findings of this study, decision-makers would be better positioned to understand the impact of their policies on the perceptions of employees, and on the overall e-government implementation in each organisation. The conclusions drawn from this study could be used as a tool to enable a greater degree of awareness of previously unconsidered issues while formulating new e-government projects. This may ultimately influence the degree of effectiveness of and acceptance by

150

those affected by those decisions, and may serve in understanding the main factors, which will eventually help in realising progress and success of these projects.

As has been concluded by this research, E-Government Readiness (EGR) of Egyptian public organisations was assessed using a framework that comprised the main dimensions affecting EGR, which are: (i) strategy, (ii) processes, (iii) technology, and (iv) people. There were a number of factors or measuring constructs under each dimension. The framework developed showed the weight of each dimension in affecting EGR, in addition to the relationship between the above four dimensions.

Findings revealed that processes, technology, and people had a high impact on EGR as compared to the modest effect of strategy. This highlights the need to investigate means to promote e-government within each public organisation (through training, involvement, compatibility between different top management levels), and to set a complete e-government strategy encompassing all the components highlighted in the framework.

Furthermore, by highlighting the key factors in each dimension, policy makers would be able to recognise the importance of those factors in order to put them among the first priorities. Concerning the effect of strategy on the three other dimensions, results showed that strategy had a modest impact on technology and processes, and a high impact on people.

Based on the findings, the most important facts that the researcher concluded were that funding sources were not proved to be among the key factors in the strategy dimension. This was not expected in the case of a developing country where it is always assumed that funds are the main reason that hinders e-government development. Having a clear view of the drivers, challenges of e-government development were of great value. Moreover, results shed the light on the importance of leadership in an e-government strategy to ensure top management support and to foster e-government use in different areas in the organisations. Findings showed also that one of the main factors that hinder the development of e-government in Egypt is the lack of integration of ICT and business processes between public organisations. According to (Ghuitas, 2009), the challenge to such integration is not funds or technical procedures, but is mainly related to the mentality of responsibles unable to understand and cope with that change due to: (i) lack of interest; (ii) conflict of interest; (iii) loss of power; or (iv) scary feeling of the fact of easiness and freedom of exchanging data. More emphasis should be also directed towards conducting regular evaluation of e-government, particularly focusing on the feedback of citizens and employees.

Findings demonstrated also that in old organisation, it is difficult for any e-government strategy to have a strong effect on changing business processes due to the rigid nature of old organisations which constitutes a great challenge to incorporate change.

It is recommended to conduct further research in the same case studies and in more Egyptian organisations as well, and to consider such research an on-going process to be undertaken regularly.

References

Accenture (2002). "eGovernment Leadership: Realizing the Vision". Accenture, Toronto, Online 23/7/2003 at http://www.gol-ged.gc.calpub/pub_e.asp

Accenture (2005). "Leadership in Customer Service: New Expectations, New Experiences". Accenture, Toronto, Online 15/6/2006 at http://www.accenture.com

Accenture (2006). "Leadership in Customer Service: Building the Trust". Accenture, Toronto, Online 15/9/2008 at <u>http://www.accenture.com</u>

Accenture (2007). "Leadership in Customer Service: Delivering on the Promise". Accenture, Toronto, Online 15/9/2008 at from http://www.accenture.com

Adams, A. (1999). "The Implications of Users' Privacy Perception on Communication and Information Privacy Policies". Proceedings of the Telecommunications Policy Research Conference (25 - 27 September 1999), Washington DC, USA.

Ahituv, N. (1980). "A Systematic Approach toward Assessing the Value of an Information System". MIS Quarterly, 4(4): 61-75.

Ahmed, F. A., and Hassan, H. A. (2007). "Local Administration Regulatory Law", Number 43 of Year 1979. Amiriya Publications, Cairo, Egypt.

Aldrich, D., Bertot, J. C., and McClure, C. R. (2002). "E-Government: Initiatives, Developments, and Issues". Government Information Quarterly, 19(4): 349-355.

Alican, F. (2007). "Experts without Expertise: E-Society Projects in Developing Countries: The Case of Turkey". Information Polity, 12(4): 255–263.

Altman, D. (2002). "Prospects for eGovernment in Latin America: Satisfaction with Democracy, Social Accountability, and Direct Democracy". International Review of Public Administration, 7(2): 201-219.

Amoroso, D. L., Thompson, R. L., and Cheney, P. H. (1989). "Examining the Duality of IS Executives: A Study of IS Issues". Information and Management, 17(1): 1-12.

Applegate, L. M., Holsapple, C. W., Kalakota, R., Radermacher, F. J., and Whinston, A. B. (1996). "Electronic Commerce: Building Blocks of New Business Opportunity". Journal of Organizational Computing and Electronic Commerce, 6(1): 1-10.

Baets, W. (1992). "Aligning Information Systems with Business Strategy". Journal of Strategic Information Systems, 1(4): 205-213.

Bagozzi, R. P. (1981). "Attitude, Intentions, and Behavior: A Test for some Key Hypotheses". Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 41(October): 607-627.

Bailey, J. E. and Pearson, S. W. (1983). "Development of a Tool for Measuring and Analyzing Computer User Satisfaction". Management Science, 29(5): 530-545.

Balutis, A. P. (2001). "E-Government 2001 – Part 1: Understanding the Challenge and Evolving Strategies". The Public Manager, 30(1): 33-37.

Bannister, F. (2004). "Deep E-Government". Proceedings of EGPA 2004 Annual Conference (1-4 September 2004), Ljubljana, Slovenia.

Bannister, F. (2007). "The Curse of the Benchmark: An Assessment of the Validity and Value of E-Government Comparisons". International Review of Administrative Sciences, 73(2): 171-188.

Barnes, S. J. and Vidgen, R. T. (2002). "An Integrative Approach to the Assessment of E-Commerce Quality". Journal of Electronic Commerce Research, 3(3): 114-127.

Barnes, S. J. and Vidgen, R. (2003). "Measuring Web Site Quality Improvements: A Case study of the Forum on Strategic Management Knowledge Exchange". Industrial Management and Data Systems, 103(5): 297-309.

Baum, C., and Maio, A. D. (2000). "Gartner's Four Phases of eGovernment Model". Gartner Research. Online 4/5/2006 at <u>http://gartner3.gartnerweb.com/public/static/hotc/00094235.html</u>

Beaumaster, S. (2002). "Local Government IT Implementation Issues: A Challenge for Public Administration". Proceedings of the 35th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (7-10 January 2002), Hawaii, USA.

Belanger, F. and Carter, L. (2008). "Trust and Risk in E-Government Adoption". Journal of Strategic Information Systems, 17(2): 165–176.

Ben Abd Allah, S., Gueniara El Fatmi, S., and Oudriga, N. B. (2002). "Security Issues in E-Government Models: What Governments Should Do". Proceedings of IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics (6-9 October 2002), Hammamet, Tunisia, pp.: 392-397.

Benbasat, I. (1984). "An Analysis of Research Methodologies". The Information Systems Research Challenge. Harvard Business School Press, Boston, Massachusetts, pp.: 47-85.

Benbasat, I., Goldstein, D. K., and Mead, M. (1987). "The Case Research Strategy in Studies of Information Systems". MIS Quarterly, 11(3): 369-386.

Bertelsmann Foundation (2002). "Balanced eGovernment: eGovernment – Connecting Efficient Administration and Responsive Democracy". Online 5/9/2005 at <u>http://www.begix.de/en/studie/studie.pdf</u>

Bhatnagar, S. (2000). "Social Implications of Information and Communication Technology in Developing Countries: Lessons from Asian Success Stories". Electronic Journal on Information Systems in Developing Countries, 1(4): 1–9.

Bhimani, A. (1996). "Securing the Commercial Internet". Communications of the Association for Computing Machinery (ACM), 39(6): 29-35.

Blonk, H. V. D. (2003). "Writing Case Studies in Information Systems Research". Journal of Information Technology, 18(1): 54-52.

Bollen, K. A. (1989). "Structural Equations with Latent Variables". John Wiley & Sons, NY, USA.

Boon, O., Hewett, W. G., and Parker, C. M. (2000). "Evaluating the adoption of the Internet: A Study of an Australian Experience in Local Government". Proceedings of the 13th International Bled Electronic Commerce Conference (19-21 June 2000), Bled, Slovenia.

Bonoma, T. V. (1983). "A Case Study in Case Research: Marketing Implementation". Working paper 9-585-142. Harvard University Graduate School of Business Administration, Boston, Massachusetts, USA.

Boudriga, N. (2002). "Technical Issues in Securing E-Government". Proceedings of IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics (6-9 October 2002), Hammamet, Tunisia.

Bowman, B. J., Davis, G. B., and Wetherbe, J. C. (1983). "Three Stage Model of MIS Planning". Information and Management, 6(1): 11-25.

Bridges.org (2001). "Comparison of E-Readiness Assessment Models". Online 14/6/2005 at <u>http://www.internetpolicy.net/readiness/ereadinesscomparison.pdf</u>

Bridges.org (2005). "E-Readiness assessment: Who is Doing What and Where?". Online 20/5/2005 at http://www.bridges.org/ereadiness/ereadiness_whowhatwhere_bridges_10Mar05.pdf

Brynjolfsson, E. (1996). "The Contribution of Information Technology to Consumer Welfare," Information Systems Research, 7(3): 281-300.

Bryson, J. M. and Alston, F. K. (1996). "Creating and Implementing your Strategic Plan: A Workbook for Public and Non-Profit Organisations". Jossey-Bass Publishers, San Francisco, CA, USA.

Budhiraja, R., and Sachdeva, S. (2002). "E-Readiness Assessment". Proceedings of The International Conference on Building Effective E-Governance (21- 22 November 2002), Chandigarh, India.

Burgess, L. and Cooper, J. (1999). "A Model for Classification of Business Adoption of Internet Commerce Solutions". Proceedings of the 12th International Bled Electronic Commerce Conference (7-9 June 1999), Bled, Slovenia.

Cao, M., Zhang, Q., and Seydel, J. (2005). "B2C E-Commerce Website Quality: An Empirical Examination". Industrial Management and Data Systems, 105(5): 645-661.

Cap Gemini Ernst and Young (2003). "Online Availability of Public Services: How is Europe Progressing?". Online 7/9/2008 at http://ec.europa.eu/information_society/eeurope/2005/doc/highlights/whats_new/capgemini4.pdf

Cap Gemini Ernst and Young (2004). "Online Availability of Public Services: How is Europe Progressing?". Online 7/9/2008 at http://ec.europa.eu/information_society/eeurope/i2010/docs/online_pub_serv_5th_meas_fv4.pdf

Cap Gemini Ernst and Young (2006). "Online Availability of Public Services: How is Europe Progressing?". Online 7/9/2008 at http://ec.europa.eu/information society/eeurope/i2010/docs/benchmarking/online availability 2006.pdf

Centre for Technology in Government (2001). "2001 Annual Report". University at Albany, SUNY. Online 7/4/2005 at http://www.ctg.albany.edu/publications/annualreports/ar2001/ar2001.pdf

Chadwick, A. and May, C. (2003). "Interactions between States and Citizens in the Age of the Internet: eGovernment in the United States, Britain, and the European Union". Governance: An International Journal of Policy, Administration, and Institutions, 16(2): 271-300.

Chan, C. and Pan, S. (2008). "User Engagement in E-Government Systems Implementation: A Comparative Case Study of Two Singaporean E-Government Initiatives". Journal of Strategic Information Systems, 17(2):124–139.

Chen, W. and Hirschheim, R. (2004). "A Paradigmatic and Methodological Examination of Information Systems Research from 1991 to 2001". Information Systems Journal, 14(3): 197-235.

Chen, Y. C. and Knepper, R. (2005). "Digital Government Development Strategies: Lessons for Policy Makers from a Comparative Perspective". In Electronic Government Strategies and Implementation, Huang, W., Siau, K., Wei, K., and Siau, K. (Ed.), Idea Group Publishing, Hershey, PA, USA, chapter 17, pp.: 394-420.

Clark, E. (2003). "Managing the Transformation to E-Government: An Australian Perspective'. Thunderbird International Business Review, 45(4): 377-397.

Clarke, R. (1992). "Fundamentals of 'Information Systems' ". Online 5/2/2007 at <u>http://www.anu.edu.au/people/Roger.Clarke/SOS/ISFundas.html</u>

Clarke, R. (2000). "Appropriate Research Methods for Electronic Commerce". Online 5/2/2007 at <u>http://www.anu.edu.au/people/Roger.Clarke/EC/ResMeth.html</u>

Cliff, N. (1983). "Some Cautions Concerning the Application of Causal Modeling Methods". Multivariate Behavioral Research, 18(1): 115-126.

Cocchiglia, M. and Vernaschi, S. (2006). "E-Government for Development: Rhetoric and Reality". Journal of E-Government, 2(2): 3-18.

Commonwealth Centre for Electronic Governance (2002). "E-Government 2002: A Comparative Analysis of Progress in Five Countries". International Tracking Survey Report no. 2. Online 7/9/2008 at http://www.electronicgov.net/pubs/research_papers/tracking5/IntlTracking%20SurveyFeb02.doc

Conklin, A. and White, G. B. (2006). "E-Government and Cyber Security: The Role of Cyber Security Exercises". Proceedings of the 39th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (4-7 January 2006), Hawaii, USA.

Corea, S. (2007). "Promoting Development through Information Technology Innovation: The IT Artifact, Artfulness, and Articulation". Information Technology for Development, 13(1): 49-69.

Creswell, J. W. (2002). "Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches". Sage Publications, London, UK.

Cronbach, L. J. (1971). "Test Validation". In Educational Measurement" (2nd edition.), Thorndike, R. L. (Ed.), American Council on Education, Washington DC, pp.: 443-507.

Croteau, A., Solomon, S., Raymond, L., and Bergeron, F. (2001). "Organisational and Technological Infrastructures Alignment". Proceedings of the 34th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (3-6 January 2001), Hawaii, USA.

Crotty, M. (1998). "The Foundations of Social Research: Meaning and Perspective in the Research Process". Sage Publications, London, UK.

Cyert, R. and March, J. (1963). "A Behavioral Theory of the Firm". Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, USA.

Dada, D. (2006). "E-Readiness for Developing Countries: Moving the Focus from the Environment to the Users". The Electronic Journal on Information Systems in Developing Countries (EJISDC), 27(6): 1-14.

Darke, P., Shanks, G., and Broadbent, M. (1998). "Successfully Completing Case Study Research: Combining Rigour, Relevance, and Pragmatism". Information Systems Journal, 8(4): 273-289.

Darwish, A. (2007). "Electronic Government – Egypt". Paper presented. Online 3/2/2008 at <u>http://www.egypt.gov.eg/english/documents/</u>

Das, S. R., Zahra, S. A., and Warkentin, M. E. (1991). "Integrating the Content and Process of Strategic MIS Planning With Competitive Strategy". Decision Sciences, 22(1): 953-984.

Davis, F. D. (1985). "A Technology Acceptance Model for Empirically Testing New End-User Information Systems: Theory and Results". Doctoral Dissertation, MIT Sloan School of Management, Cambridge, MA, USA.

Davis, F. D. (1989). "Perceived Usefulness, Perceived Ease of Use and User Acceptance of Information Technology". MIS Quarterly, 13(3): 319-339.

Davison, R., Martinsons, M., and Kock, N. (2004). "Principles of Canonical Action Research". Information Systems Journal, 14(1): 65-86.

Dawes, S. (2002). "The Future of eGovernment". Center for Technology in Government. Online 10/3/2007 at http://www.ctg.albany.edu/publications/reports/future_of_egov/future_of_egov.pdf

Dawes, S., Gregg,V., and Agouris, P. (2004). "Digital Government Research: Investigations at the Crossroads of Social and Information Science". Social Science Computer Review, 22(1): 5-10.

DeConti, L. (1998). "Planning and Creating a Government Website: Learning for the Experience of US States". Online 14/6/2002 at <u>http://www.amn.ac.uk/idpm</u>

DeLone, W. H. and McLean, E. R. (1992). "Information Systems Success: The Quest for the Dependent Variable". Information Systems Research, 3(1): 60-95.

DeLone, W. H. and McLean, E. R. (2002). "Information Systems Success Revisited". Proceedings of the 35th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (7-10 January 2002), Hawaii, USA.

Denscombe, M. (2003). "The Good Research Guide for Small Scale Social Research Projects" (2nd edition). Open University Press.

Dielman, T. E. (1996). "Applied Regression Analysis for Business and Economics" (2nd Edition), Wadsworth Publishing Company, Belmont, CA, USA.

Dizney, H. and Gromen, L. (1967). "Predictive Validity and Differential Achievement on Three MLA Comparative Foreign Language Tests". Educational and Psychological Measurement, 27: 1127-1130.

Downing, C. E. (1999). "System Usage Behavior as a Proxy for User Satisfaction: An Empirical Investigation". Information and Management, 35(4): 203-216.

Dube, L. and Pare, G. (2003). "Rigor in Information Systems Positivist Case Research: Current Practices, Trends, and Recommendations". MIS Quarterly, 27(4): 597-635.

E-Europe (2005). "E-Government in the EU Member States". Online 7/2/2007 at http://ec.europa.eu/information_society/eeurope/2005/all_about/egovernment/index_en.htm

Edmiston, K. (2003). "State and Local eGovernment: Prospects and Challenges". American Review of Public Administration, 33(1): 20-45.

Egyptian Information Society Initiative (EISI) Government Team (2003). "EISI-Government: Action Plan and Roadmap". Ministry of Communications and Information Technology. Online 12/5/2005 at http://www.egypt.gov.eg/english/documents/

Eisenhardt, K. M. (1989). "Building Theories from Case Study Research". Academy of Management Review, 14(4): 532-550.

Elliot, S. R., Morup-Petersen, A. S., and Bjorn-Andersen, N. (2000). "Towards a Framework for Evaluation of Commercial Websites". Proceedings of the 13th International Bled Electronic Commerce Conference (19-21 June 2000), Bled, Slovenia.

Eschenfelder, K. R., Beachboard, J. C., McClure, C. R., and Wyman, S. K. (1997). "Assessing US Federal Government Websites". Government Information Quarterly, 14(2): 173-189.

Esteves, J. and Joseph, R. (2008). "A Comprehensive Framework for the Assessment of eGovernment Projects". Government Information Quarterly, 25(1): 118-132.

Europa (2001). "E-Government: Electronic Access to Public Services". Online 5/5/2005 http://europa.eu.int/information_society/eeurope/action_plan/egov/text_en.htm

Everitt, B. and Dunn, G. (2001). "Applied Multivariate Data Analysis", (2nd ed.). Oxford University Press Inc., Madison Avenue, NY, USA.

Fang, Z. (2002). "eGovernment in Digital Era: Concept, Practice and Development". International Journal of the Computer, 10(2): 1-22.

Farquhar, B., Langmann, G., and Balfour, A. (1998). "Consumer Needs in Global Electronic Commerce". Electronic Markets, 8(2): 9-12.

Fassnacht, M. and Koese, I. (2006). "Quality of Electronic Services". Journal of Service Research, 9(1): 19-37.

Flak, L.S. and Rose, J. (2005). "Stakeholder Governance: Adapting Stakeholder Theory to E-Government". Communications of the Association for Information Systems, 16(31):642–664.

Fletcher, P.D. (1999). "Strategic Planning for Information Technology Management in State Government". In Information Technology and Computer Applications in Public Administration: Issues and Trends, Garson, D. (Ed.), Idea Group Publishing, Hershey, PA, USA, pp.: 81-89.

Fletcher, P.D. (2003). "The Realities of the Paper Work Reduction Act of 1995: A Government-Wide Strategy for Information Resources Management". In Public Information Technology: Policy and Management Issues, Garson, D. (Ed.), Idea Group Publishing, Hershey, PA, USA, pp.: 74-93

Fogg, B. J. (2002). "Stanford Guidelines for Web Credibility". A Research Summary from the Stanford Persuasive Technology Lab, Stanford University. Online 29/8/2003 at <u>www.webcredibility.org/guidelines</u>

Fogg, B. J., Marable, L., Stanford, J., and Tauber, E. R. (2002). "How do People Evaluate a Website's Credibility? Results from a Large Study". Consumer Webwatch News. Online 21/10/2006 at http://www.consumerwebwatch.org/news/report3 credibilityresearch/stanfordPTL TOC.htm

Forman, F. (2002). "E-Government Strategy". Executive Office of the President Office of Management and Budget, Washington , D.C. Online 7/4/ 2006 at http://www.usa.gov/Topics/Includes/Reference/egov_strategy.pdf

Fountain, J. E. (2005). "Prospects for the Virtual State". Center of Excellence Program on Invention of Policy Systems in Advanced Countries, Graduate School of Law and Politics, University of Tokyo, working paper, Sept 2005.

Fraser, S. and Salter, G. (1995). "A Motivational View of Information Systems Success: A Reinterpretation of Delone and McLean's Model". Proceedings of the 6th Australasian Conference on Information Systems (27-30 September 1995), Curtin University, Western Australia, 1: 119-140.

Frooman, J. (1999). "Stakeholder Influence Strategies". Academy of Management Review, 24(2): 115-191.

Gefen, D., Pavlou, P. A., Warkentin, M., and Rose, G. M. (2002). "eGovernment Adoption". Proceedings of the 8th Americas Conference on Information Systems (9-11 August 2002), Dallas, TX, USA, Association for Information Systems, pp.: 569-576.

GeoSINC International (2002). "E-Readiness Guide: How to Develop and Implement a National E-Readiness Action Plan in Developing Countries". Online 5/9/2008 at http://www.apdip.net/documents/evaluation/ereadiness/geosinc01042002.pdf

Ghuitas, G. (2009). "Searching for a Common Factor among National Databases". Al Ahram Newspaper, March 10, 2009.

Gilbert, D., Balestrini, P., and Littleboy, D. (2004). "Barriers and Benefits in the Adoption of E-Government". The International Journal of Public Sector Management, 17(4): 286–301.

Glazer, R. (1993). "Measuring the Value of Information: The Information-Intensive Organisation". IBM Systems Journal, 32(1): 99-110.

Gordon, T. F. (2002). "eGovernment – Introduction". European Research Consortium for Information and Mathematics 48. Online 5/2/2007 at http://www.ercim.org/publication/Ercim_News/enw48/intro.html

Grant, G. and Chau, D. (2005). "Developing a Generic Framework for E-Government". Journal of Global Information Management, 13(1): 1-30.

Grönlund, Å. (2000). "Managing Electronic Services - A Public Sector Perspective". Springer London, Practitioners Series.

Grönlund, Å. (2002). "Electronic Government: Design, Applications and Management". Idea Group Publishing, Hershey, PA, USA.

Grönlund, Å. and Horan, T.A. (2004). "Introducing E-Government: History, Definitions, and Issues". Communications of the Association for Information Systems, 15(39): 713–729.

Guerrini, A. W. (2008). "E-Government and Online Government-Citizen Interaction: A Prospective Theoretical and Analytical Framework for Investigating their Effects on the Organisation of Public Administrations and Service Delivery". Working Paper Series WP08-003, Internet Interdisciplinary Institute (IN3). Online 8/1/2009 at http://www.uoc.edu/in3/dt/eng/waksberg.pdf

Guo, X. and Lu, J. (2005). "Effectiveness of eGovernment Online Services in Australia". In "Electronic Government Strategies and Implementation", Huang, W., Siau, K., Wei, K., and Siau, K. (Ed.), Idea Group Publishing, Hershey, PA, USA, chapter 9, pp.: 214-241

Gupta, B., Dasgupta, S., and Gupta, A. (2008). "Adoption of ICT in a Government Organization in a Developing Country: An Empirical Study". Journal of Strategic Information Systems, 17(2): 140–154.

Hair, J. F., Jr., Anderson, R. E., Tatham, R. L., and Black, W. C. (1998). "Multivariate Data Analysis", (5th ed.). Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ, USA.

Hakim, C. (1987). "Research Design: Strategies and Choices in the Design of Social Research". Unwin Hyman Ltd., London.

Hamilton, S. and Chervany, N. L. (1981). "Evaluating Information System Effectiveness: Comparing Evaluation Approaches". MIS Quarterly, 5(3): 55-69.

Han, K. S. and Noh, M. H. (2000). "Critical Failure Factors that Discourage the Growth of Electronic Commerce". International Journal of Electronic Commerce, 4(2): 25-43.

Harkness, W. L., Kettinger, W. J., and Segars, A. H. (1996). "Sustaining Process Improvement and Innovation in the Information Service Function: Lessons Learned from Bose Corporation". MIS Quarterly, 20(3): 349-367.

Hayduk, L. A. (1987). "Structural Equation Modeling with LISREL: Essentials and Advances". Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore, MD, USA.

Heeks, R. (2001). "Building eGovernance for Development: A Framework for National Donor Action". eGovernment Working Paper, No 12. IDPM, University of Manchester, UK.

Heeks, R. (2003). "Most E-Government-for-Development Projects Fail: How Can Risks be Reduced?". iGovernment Working Paper Series, Paper no. 14. Online 4/5/2006 at http://unpan1.un.org/intradoc/groups/public/documents/CAFRAD/UNPAN011226.pdf

Heeks, R. (2006a). "Understanding and Measuring eGovernment: International Benchmarking Studies". Paper prepared for UNDESA workshop eParticipation and eGovernment: Understanding the Present and Creating the Future, Budapest, Hungary, 27-28 July 2006

Heeks, R. (2006b). "Implementing and Managing e-Government: An International Text". Sage Publication, London, UK.

Heeks, R. and Bailur, S. (2007). "Analyzing e-government research: Perspectives, Philosophies, Theories, Methods, and Practice". Government Information Quarterly, 24(2): 243-265.

Henderson, J. C., Rockart, J. F., and Sifonis, J. G. (1987). "Integrating Management Support Systems into Strategic Information Systems Planning". Journal of Management Information Systems, 4(1): 5-24.

Henderson, J. C. and Venkatraman, N. (1993. "Strategic Alignment: Leveraging Information Technology for Transforming Organisations". IBM Systems Journal, 32(1): 4-16.

Henneman, R. L. (1999). "Design for Usability: Process, Skills, and Tools". Information, Knowledge, Systems Management, 1(2): 133-144.

Heo, J., and Han, I. (2003). "Performance Measure of Information Systems (IS) in Evolving Computer Environments: An Empirical Investigation". Information and Management, 40(4): 243-256.

Hiller, J. and Belanger, F. (2001). "Privacy Strategy for Electronic Government". The PricewaterhouseCoopers Endowment for the Business of Government.

Hitt, L. and Brynjolfsson, E. (1994). "The Three Faces of IT Value: Theory and Evidence". Proceedings of the 15th International Conference on Information Systems (ICIS 94) (14-17 December 1994), Vancouver, Canada, pp.: 263-278.

Ho, A. T. K. (2002). "Reinventing Local Governments and the E-Government Initiative". Public Administration Review, 62(4): 434-444.

Ho, C. F. and Wu, W. H. (1999). "Antecedents of Customer Satisfaction on the Internet: An Empirical Study of On-Line Shopping". Proceedings of the 32nd Hawaii International Conference on System Science (5-8 January 1999), Hawaii, USA.

Homburg, V. and Bekkers, V. (2002). "The Back-Office of eGovernment (Managing Information Domains as Political Economies)". Proceedings of the 35th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (7-10 January 2002), Hawaii, USA.

Hosni, A. Hazem (2002). "E-Government and The Egyptian National Project for The Nation's Renovation". Proceedings of the Role of the State in a Changing World Conference (21-22 October 2002), Cairo, Egypt.

Hu, Y., Xiao, J., Pang, J., and Xie, K. (2005). "A Research on the Appraisal Framework of E-Government Project Success". Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Electronic Commerce (ICEC'05) (15-17 August 2005), Xi'an, China, ACM International Conference Proceeding Series, Vol. 113: 532-538.

Hufnagel, E. M. (1987). "Information Systems Planning: Lessons from Strategic Planning". Information and Management, 12(3): 263-270.

Huizingh, E. (2000). "The Antecedents of Web Site Performance". European Journal of Marketing, 36(11/12): 1225-1247.

Igbaria, M. and Nachman, S. A. (1990). "Correlates of User Satisfaction with End User Computing". Information and Management, 19(2): 73-82.

International City/County Management Association (ICMA) (2002). "Electronic Government 2002". Washington D.C., USA. Online 13/5/2006 at http://bookstore.icma.org/freedocs/e_government_2002.pdf

Irani, Z., Love, P. E. D., Elliman, T., Jones, S., and Themistocleous, M. (2005). "Evaluating E-Government: Learning from the Experiences of two UK Local Authorities". Information Systems Journal, 15(1): 61-72.

Irani, Z., Love, P. E.D., and Jones, S. (2008). "Learning Lessons from Evaluating eGovernment: Reflective Case Experiences that Support Transformational Government". Journal of Strategic Information Systems, 17(2): 155–164.

Jaeger, P. T. (2003). "The Endless Wire: eGovernment as Global Phenomenon". Government Information Quarterly, 20(4): 323-331.

Janakova, H. (2004). "E-Government Evaluation Methods in the View of European Union". Proceedings of The European finance - Teória, Policy and Practice, Bratislava, pp: 1-10.

Jansen, A. (2005). "Assessing E-Government Progress – Why and What". Department of E-Government Studies, University of Oslo. Paper presented at NOKOBIT 2005, Bergen, 21-23 November 2005. Online 11/3/2007 at http://www.afin.uio.no/forskning/notater/7_05.pdf

Johnson, R. B. and Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2004). "Mixed Methods Research: A Research Paradigm whose Time has Come". Educational Researcher, 33(7): 14-26.

Kaiser, H. (1958). "The Varimax Criterion for Analytical Rotation in Factor Analysis". Psychometrika, 23(3): 187-200.

Kalakota, R. and Whinston, A. B. (1997). "Electronic Commerce: A Manager's Guide". Addison-Wesley, Pearson Education, USA.

Kaplan, R. S. (1985). "The Role of Empirical Research in Management Accounting". Working paper 9-785-001. Division of Research, Harvard Business School, Boston, Massachusetts, USA.

Ke, W. and Wei, K.K. (2004). "Successful E-Government in Singapore". Communications of the Association for Computing Machinery (ACM), 47(6): 95-99.

Kearns, I. and Taylor, M. (2003). "Public Value and Electronic Service Delivery". London Connects, Institute for Public Policy Research, London, UK. Online 14/5/2006 at http://www.ippr.org/articles/index.asp?id=349

Kelloway, E. K. (1998). "Using LISREL for Structure Equation Modeling: A Researcher's Guide". Sage Publications, London, UK.

Khazanchi, D. and Munkvold, B. E. (2003). "On the Rhetoric and Relevance of IS Research Paradigms: A Conceptual Framework and some Propositions". Proceedings of the 36th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (6-9 January 2003), Hawaii, USA.

Kerlinger, F. N. (1986). "Foundations of Behavioral Research", (3rd ed.). Harcourt Brace Jovanovich College Publishers, NY, USA.

Kettinger, W. J. and Grover, V. (1995). "Toward a Theory of Business Process Change Management". Journal of Management Information Systems, 12(1): 9-30.

Kettinger, W. J., Teng, J. T. C., and Guha, S. (1997). "Business Process Change: A study of Methodologies, Techniques, and Tools". MIS Quarterly, 21(1): 55-80.

Kim, E. (1999). "A Model of an Effective Web". Proceedings of the 5th Americas Conference on Information Systems (13-15 August 1999), Association for Information Systems, Milwaukee, WI, USA, pp.: 523-525.

King, W. R. and Rodriguez, J. I. (1978). "Evaluating Management Information Systems". MIS Quarterly, 2(3): 43-51.

King, J. L. and Kraemer, K. L. (1986). "The Dynamics of Change in Computing Use: A Theoretical Framework". Computers, Environment and Urban Systems, 11(1): 5–25.

Klein, H. and R. Hirschheim, (1987). "Social Change and the Future of Information Systems Development". In Critical Issues in Information Systems Research, R. Boland and R. Hirschheim, (eds.), J. Wiley and Sons Inc., Chichester, UK, pp.275-305.

Koh, C. E. and Prybutok, V. R. (2002). "eGovernment Readiness: A Research Framework and an Action Research Case of a Municipal Government". Decision Sciences Institute. Annual Meeting Proceedings.

Koh, C. E. and Prybutok, V. R. (2003). "The Three Ring Model and Development of an Instrument for Measuring Dimensions of eGovernment Functions". Journal of Computer Information Systems, 33(3): 34-39.

Koh, C. E., Prybutok, V. R., Ryan S., and Ibragimova, B. (2006). "The Importance of Strategic Readiness in an Emerging eGovernment Environment". Business Process Management Journal, 12(1): 22-33.

Kossak, F., Essmayr, W., and Winiwarter, W. (2001). "Applicability of HCI Research to eGovernment Applications". Proceedings of the 9th European Conference on Information Systems (27-29 June 2001), Bled, Slovenia.

Kovacic, Z. J. (2005). "The Impact of National Culture on Worldwide eGovernment Readiness". Informing Science Journal, 8: 143-158.

Krishnaswamy, G. (2005). "E-Services in Government: Why We Need Strategies for Capacity Building and Capacity Utilisation?". Proceedings of the 5th International Business Information Management Association Conference on Internet and Information Technology in Modern Organizations (IBIMA 2005) (13-15 December 2005), Cairo, Egypt,.

Krogh, G., Spaeth, S., and Lakhani, K. (2003). "Community, Joining, and Specialization in Open Source Software Innovation: A Case Study". Research Policy, 32(7): 1217–1241.

Lam, W. (2005). "Barriers to E-Government Integration". Journal of Enterprise Information Management, 18(5): 511-530.

Layne, K. And Lee, J. (2001). "Developing Fully Functional E-Government: A Four-Stage Model". Government Information Quarterly, 18(2): 122-136.

Lee, A. S. (1989). "A Scientific Methodology for MIS Case Studies". MIS Quarterly, 13(1): 33-50.

Lee, S.M., Tan, X. and Timi, S. (2005). "Current Practices of Leading E-Government Countries". Communications of the Association for Computing Machinery (ACM), 48(10): 99-104.

Leedy, P. D. (1997). "Practical research: Planning and design", (6th ed.). Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ, USA.

Leith, P. and Morrison, J. (2004). "Communication and Dialogue: What Government Websites Might Tell us about Citizenship and Governance". International Review of Law Computers, 18(1): 25-35.

Li, E. Y. (1997). "Perceived Importance of Information System Success Factors: A Meta Analysis of Group Differences". Information and Management, 32(1): 15-28.

Liu, S. (2001). "An eGovernment Readiness Model". Dissertation Prepared for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy, University of North Texas, TX, USA.

Liu, C. and Arnett, K. P. (2000). "Exploring the Factors Associated with Website Success in the Context of Electronic Commerce". Information and Management, 38(1): 23-33.

Livari, J. and Ervasi, I. (1994). "User Information Satisfaction: IS Implementability and Effectiveness". Information and Management, 27(4): 205-220.

Loiacono, E. T. and Taylor N. J. (1999). "Factors Affecting Perceptions of Website Quality". Proceedings of the 5th Americas Conference on Information Systems (13-15 August 1999), Association for Information Systems, Milwaukee, WI, USA, pp.: 529-532.

Loiacono, E. T., Watson, R. T., and Goodhue, D. L. (2000). "WebQual: A Web Site Quality Instrument". WorkingPaper2000-126-0, Graduate Faculty, University of Georgia, Athens, GA, USA.

Loiacono, E.T., Watson, R.T., and Goodhue, D.L. (2002). "WebQual: A Measure of Web Site Quality". Proceedings of the AMA Winter Educators' Conference (February 2002), American Marketing Association, Chicago, IL, pp.: 432-438.

Maio, A. D., Baum, C., Keller, B., Kreizman, G., Pretali, M., and Seabrook, D. (2002). "Framework for eGovernment Strategy Assessment". Gartner, Stamford, Connecticut, USA.

Majchrzak, A., Ba, S., Rice, R., Malhotra, A., and King, N. (2000). "Technology Adaptation: The Case of a Computer-Supported Inter-Organizational Virtual Team". MIS Quarterly, 24(4): 569-600.

Malterud, K. (2001). "Qualitative Research: Standards, Challenges, and Guidelines". The Lancet, 358(9280): 483-488.

Manawy A. (2006). "For Everything not to be Fine". Al Ahram Newspaper, October 14, 2006.

Marchionini, G., Samet, H., and Brandt, L. (2003). "Digital Government". Communications of the Association for Computing Machinery (ACM), 46(1): 25-27.

Margetts, H. and Dunleavy, P. (2002). "Cultural Barriers to E-Government". Academic article for the report: Better Public Services through E-Government, University College London and London School of Economics for National Audit Office. Online 10/3/2006 at <u>http://www.governmentontheweb.org</u>

Matlin, G. (1979). "What Is the Value of Investment in Information Systems?". MIS Quarterly, 3(3): 5-34.

Mayer-Schönberger, V. and Lazer, D. (2007). "Governance and Information Technology: From Electronic Government to Information Government". MIT Press, Cambridge, London.

Mertler, C. A. and Vannatta, R. A. (2001). "Advanced and Multivariate Statistics: Practical Application and Interpretation". Pyrczak Publishing, Los Anglos, CA, USA.

Ministry of Communication and Information Technology (MCIT) (2008). Online 22/12/2008 at www.mcit.gov.eg

Ministry of Local Development (MOLD) (2008). Online 5/18/2008 at www.mold.gov.eg

Mitchell, R. K., Agle, B. R., and Wood, D. J. (1997). "Toward a Theory of Stakeholder Identification and Salience: Defining the Principle of Who and What Really Counts". Academy of Management Review, 22(4): 853:866.

Molla, A. and Licker, P. S. (2001). "E-Commerce Systems Success: An Attempt to Extend and Respecify the Delone and McLean Model of IS Success". Journal of Electronic Commerce Research, 2(4): 131-141.

Moon, J. M. (2002). "The Evolution of E-Government among Municipalities: Rhetoric or Reality?". Public Administration Review, 62(4): 424-433.

Morton, M. S. S. and Rockart, J. F. (1984). "Implications of Changes in Information Technology for Corporate Strategy". Interfaces, 14(1): 84–95.

Mueller, R. (1996). "Basic Principles of Structural Equation Modeling: An Introduction to LISREL and EQS". Springer, NY, USA.

Myers, M. and Avison, D. (2002). "Qualitative Research in Information Systems: A Reader". Sage Publications, London, UK.

Myers, B. L., Kappelman, L. A., and Prybutok, V. R. (1998). "A Comprehensive Model for Assessing the Quality and Productivity of the Information Systems Functions: Toward a Theory for Information Systems Assessment". Information System Success Measurement, Garrity, E. (Ed.) and Sanders, G. (Ed.), Chapter 6, pp.: 94-121, Idea Group Publishing, Hershey, PA, USA.

National Audit Office (NAO) (2002). "Better Public Services through E-Government: Academic Article in Support of Better Public Services through E-Government". Report by the Comptroller and Auditor General HC 704-III, Session 2001-2002, 4 April 2002. Online 20/9/2005 at http://www.governmentontheweb.org/downloads/papers/Cultural_Barriers.pdf

Navarra, D. D. and Cornford, T. (2003). "A Policy Making View of E-Government Innovations in Public Governance". Proceedings of the 9th Americas Conference on Information Systems (4-6 August 2003), Association for Information Systems, Tampa, Florida, USA.

Ndou, V. (2004). "E-Government for Developing Countries: Opportunities and Challenges". The Electronic Journal on Information Systems in Developing Countries (EJISDC), 18(1): 1-24.

Newell, A., Perlis, A. J., and Simon, H. A. (1967). "What is Computer Science?". Science, 157(3795): 1373-1374.

Newsted, P. R., Huff, S. L., and Munro, M. C. (1998). "Survey Instruments in Information Systems". MIS Quarterly, 22(4): 553-554.

Nielsen, J. (1999). "Designing Web Usability: The Practice of Simplicity". New Riders Publishing, Thousand Oaks, CA, USA.

Netcaucus (2001). "Introduction – The Purpose of Transforming Government – E-Government as a Catalyst in the Information Age". Online 20/9/2005 at http://www.netcaucus.org/books/egov2001/pdf/EGovIntr.pdf

Northrup, T. A. and Thorson, S. J. (2003). "The Web of Governance and Democratic Accountability". Proceedings of the 36th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (6-9 January 2003), Hawaii, USA.

Nour, M. A., AbdelRahman A. A., and Fadlalla, A. (2008). "A Context-Based Integrative Framework for E-Government Initiatives". Government Information Quarterly, 25(3): 448–461.

NSW (New South Wales) Audit Office (2001). "eReady, eSteady, eGovernment", State Library of New South Wales Cataloguing-in Publication Data. Online 11/5/2006 at http://www.audit.nsw.gov.au/publications/better practice/2001/e_gov_bpg_sept_01.pdf

Nunnally, J. (1978). Psychometric Theory, (2nd ed.). McGraw Hill, NY, USA.

Ojo, A., Janowski, T., and Estevez, E. (2007). "Determining Progress Towards E-Government – What are the Core Indicators". United Nations University. International Institute for Software Technology (UNU-IIST), Report no. 360.

Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development - OECD (2003a). "The eGovernment Imperative: Main Findings". Online 17/9/2005 at <u>http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/60/60/2502539.pdf</u>

Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development - OECD (2003b). "Engaging Citizens Retrieved for Better Policy-Making". OECD Policy Brief. Online 17/9/2005 at http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/62/23/2501856.pdf

Orlikowski, W. (1992). "The Duality of Technology: Rethinking the Concept of Technology in Organizations". Organization Science, 3(3): 398-427.

Osman, M. (2009). "". El Masry ElYoum Newspaper, April 4, 2009.

Palmer, J. W. (2002). "Web Site Usability, Design, and Performance Metrics". Information Systems Research, 13(2): 151-167.

Pardo, T. A. and Scholl, H. J. J. (2002). "Walking Atop the Cliffs: Avoiding Failure and Reducing Risks in Large-Scale E-Government Projects". Proceedings of the 35th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (7-10 January 2002), Hawaii, USA.

Pappa, D. D. and Stergioulas, L. K. (2005). "Joined-Up Government: Current Trends and Applications in E-Government and E-Health". Proceedings of the 5th International Business Information Management Association Conference on Internet and Information Technology in Modern Organizations (IBIMA 2005) (13-15 December 2005), Cairo, Egypt.

Parasuraman, A., Zeithaml, V. A., and Malhotra, A. (2005). "E-S-QUAL: A Multiple-Item Scale for Assessing Electronic Service Quality". Journal of Service Research, 7(3): 213-233.

Peters, R. M., Janssen, M., and Engers, T. M. V. (2004). "Measuring eGovernment Impact". Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Electronic Commerce (ICEC'2004) (25-27 October 2004), Delft, The Netherlands, ACM International Conference Proceeding Series, Vol. 60: 480-489.

Pettigrew, A. M. (1990). "Longitudinal Field Research on Change: Theory and Practice". Organisation Science, 1(3): 267-92.

Phang, C. W., Kankanhalli, A., and Ang, C. (2008). "Investigating Organizational Learning in E-Government Projects: A Multi-Theoretic Approach". Journal of Strategic Information Systems, 17(2): 99– 123.

Pilipovic, J., Ivkovic, M., Domazet, D., and Milutinovic, V. (2002). "E-Government". In E-Business and E-Challenges, Milutinovic, V. and Patricelli, F. (ed.), IOS Press, Amsterdam, pp.: 169-196.

Pinsonneault, A. and Kraemer, K. (1993). "Survey Research Methodology in Management Information Systems: An Assessment". Journal of Management Information Systems, 10(2): 75-105.

Pitt, L. F., Watson, R. T., and Kavan, C. B. (1995). "Service Quality: A Measure of Information Systems Effectiveness". MIS Quarterly, 19(2): 173-187.

Platt, J. (1992). "Cases of Cases . . . of Cases". In "What is a Case?: Exploring the Foundations of Social Inquiry". Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, pp.: 21–52.

Powell, T. C. and Dent-Micallef, A. (1999). "Information Technology as Competitive Advantage: The Role of Human, Business, and Technology Resources". Strategic Management Journals, 18(5): 375-405.

Prins, J. E. (2006). "Designing E-Government", (2nd ed.). Kluwer Law International, USA.

Ragin, C. C. (1987). "The Comparative Method: Moving Beyond Qualitative and Quantitative Strategies". University of California Press, Berkeley, Los Angeles and London.

Rai, A., Lang, S. S., and Welker, R. B. (2002). "Assessing the Validity of IS Success Models: An Empirical Test and Theoretical Analysis". Information Systems Research, 13(1): 50-69.

Ratcliff, D. (1996). "Video and Audio Media in Qualitative Research". Online 10/3/2007 at <u>http://don.ratcliffs.net/qual/</u>

Reffat, R. (2003). "Developing a Successful E-Government". Working Paper, School of Architecture, Design Science and Planning, University of Sydney, Australia.

Reinermann, H. (2001). "Electronic Governance and Electronic Government: Do Politicians and the Internet Need Each Other?". Uporabna informatika, 9(1): 5-11.

Riggins, F. J. and Rhee, H. S. (1998). "Toward a Unified View of Electronic Commerce". Communications of the Association for Computing Machinery (ACM), 41(10): 88-95.

Rimmer, J. (2002). "eGovernment – Better Government". Online 5/5/2003 at http://www.noie.gov.au/publications/speeches/Rimmer/Breakfast/egov_sep18.htm

Rolefson, J. F. (1978). "The DP Check-Up". Journal of System Management, 29(11): 38-48.

Rosenthal, R. and Rosnow, R. L. (1984). "Essential of Behavioral Research: Methods and Data Analysis". McGraw Hill, NY, USA.

Roy, J. (2003). "Special Issue on eGovernment". Social Science Computer Review, 21(1): 3-5.

Sagheb-Tehrani, M. (2007). "Some Steps towards Implementing E-Government". SIGCAS Computers and Society, 37(1): 22-29.

Salem, F. (2007). "Benchmarking the eGovernment Bulldozer: Beyond Measuring the Tread Marks". Measuring Business Excellence, 11(4): 9-22.

Sarker, S. and Lee, A. (2003). "Using a Case Study to Test the Role of Three Key Social Enablers in ERP Implementation". Information and Management, 40(8): 813–829.

Saunders, M., Lewis, P., and Thornhill, A. (2000). "Research Methods for Business Students" (2nd ed.). Prentice-Hall, London, UK.

Schedler, K. and Scharf, M.C. (2001). "Exploring the Interrelations between Electronic Government and the New Public Management". In Towards the E-Society. E-Commerce, E-Business, and E-Government, Schmid, B., Stanoevska-Slabea, K., Tschammer, V. (eds.), Kluwer, Boston, MA, USA.

Scholl, H. J. J. (2003). "E-Government: A Special Case of ICT-Enabled Business Process Change". Proceedings of the 36th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (6-9 January 2003), Hawaii, USA.

Scholl, H. J. J. (2005). "The Dimensions of Business Process Change in Electronic Government". In Electronic Government Strategies and Implementation, Huang, W., Siau, K., Wei, K., and Siau, K. (ed.), Idea Group Publishing, Hershey, PA, USA, chapter 3, pp.: 44-67.

Schubert, P. and Dettling, W. (2002). "Extended Web Assessment Method (EWAM) - Evaluation of E-Commerce Applications from The Customer's Viewpoint". Proceedings of the 35th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (7-10 January 2002), Hawaii, USA.

Schubert, P. and Hausler, U. (2001). "eGovernment meets eBusiness: A Portal Site for Startup Companies in Switzerland". Proceedings of the 34th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (3-6 January 2001), Hawaii, USA.

Schuessler, K. (1971). "Analyzing Social Data". Houghton Mifflin, Boston, MA, USA.

Schuppan, T. (2009). "E-Government in Developing Countries: Experiences from Sub-Saharan Africa". Government Information Quarterly, 26(1): 118–127.

Seddon, P. (1997). "A Respecification and Extension of the DeLone and McLean Model of IS Success". Information Systems Research, 8(3): 240-253.

Seddon, P. B. and Kiew, M. Y. (1996). "A Partial Test and Development of the DeLone and McLean Model of IS Success". Australian Journal of Information Systems, 4(1): 90-109.

Seddon, P. B., Staples, S., Patnayakuni, R., and Bowtell, M. (1999). "Dimensions of Information Systems Success". Communications of the AIS, 1(20): 1-39.

Segars, A. H. and Grover, V. (1998). "Strategic Information Systems Planning Success: An Investigation of the Construct and its Measurement". MIS Quarterly, 22(2): 139-163.

Seifert, J. W. and Relyea, H. C. (2004). "Considering eGovernment from the U.S. Federal Perspective: An Evolving Concept, A Developing Practice". Journal of eGovernment, 1(1): 7-15. Online 14/9/2005 at http://www.haworthpress.com/store/SampleText/J399.pdf

Serafeimidis, V. and Smithson, S. (2000). "Information Systems Evaluation in Practice: A Case Study of Organizational Change". Journal of Information Technology, 15(2): 93-105.

Seybold (1998). "Customer.com". Random House, New York, USA.

Shane, S. (2000). "Prior Knowledge and the Discovery of Entrepreneurial Opportunities". Organization Science archive, 11(4): 448-469.

Sharma, S.K. (2004). "Assessing eGovernment implementation". Electronic Government, 1(2): 198-212.

Silverman, D. (1997). "Qualitative Research: Theory, Method and Practice". Sage Publications, London, UK.

Smith, A. G. (2001). "Applying Evaluation Criteria to New Zealand Government Website". International Journal of Information Management, 21(2): 137-149.

Snellen, I. (2000). "Public Service in an Information Society". Governance in the 21st Century: Revitalizing the Public Service, Canadian Centre for Management Development, Canada.

Sprecher, M. (2000). "Racing to E-Government: Using the Internet for Citizen Service Delivery". Government Finance Review, 16(5): 21-22.

Stake, R. E. (1995). "The Art of Case Study Research". Sage Publications, London, UK.

Stamoulis, D., Gouscos, D., Georgiadis, P., and Martakos, D. (2001). "Revisiting Public Information Management for Effective E-Government Services'. Information Management and Computer Security, 9(4): 146-153.

Stevens, J. (2002). "Applied Multivariate Statistics for the Social Sciences", (4th ed.). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Inc., Industrial Avenue, Mahwah, NJ, USA.

Stone, E. (1978). "Research Methods in Organizational Behaviour". Scott, Foresman, and Company, Glenview, IL, USA.

Stowers, G. N. L. (2004). "Measuring the Performance of E-Government". IBM Centre for the Business of E-Government. Online 10/3/2007 at http://www.businessofgovernment.org/pdfs/8493_Stowers_Report.pdf

Straub, D.W. (1989) "Validating Instruments in MIS Research". MIS Quarterly, 13(2): 147-69.

Swanson, E. B. (1986). "A Note of Informatics". Journal of Management Information Systems, 2(3): 86-91.

Symons, V. J. (1990). "Evaluation of Information Systems: Multiple Perspectives". Unpublished PhD thesis, University of Cambridge, Cambridge.

Tallon, P. P., Kraemer, K. L., and Gurbaxani, V. (2000). "Executives' Perceptions of the Business Value of Information Technology: A Process-Oriented Approach". Journal of Management Information Systems, 16(4): 145-173.

Tapscott, D. (1995). "Digital Economy: Promise and Peril in the Age of Networked Intelligence". McGraw-Hill, NY, USA.

Tassabehji, R. (2005). "Inclusion in E-Government: A Security Perspective". E-Government Workshop '05 (eGOV05), Brunel University, UK.

Tennert, J. R. and Schroeder, A. D. (1999). "Stakeholder Analysis". Proceedings of the 60th Annual Meeting of the American Society for Public Administration, Orlando, FI, USA.

The Computer System Policy Project (CSPP) (2000). "Living in the Networked World Readiness Guide". Online March 2006 at http://www.cspp.org/documents/NW Readiness Guide.pdf

The World Bank (2003). "Definition of eGovernment". Online 12/9/2008 at http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/EXTERNAL/TOPICS/EXTINFORMATIONANDCOMMUNICATIONAND http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/EXTERNAL/TOPICS/EXTINFORMATIONANDCOMMUNICATIONAND http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/EXTERNAL/TOPICS/EXTINFORMATIONANDCOMMUNICATIONAND http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/EXTERNAL/TOPICS/EXTINFORMATIONANDCOMMUNICATIONAND http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/EXTERNAL/TOPICS/EXTINFORMATIONANDCOMMUNICATIONAND http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/EXTERNAL/TOPICS/EXTINFORMATIONANDCOMMUNICATIONAND http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/EXTERNAL/TOPICS/EXTINFORMATIONANDCOMMUNICATIONAND http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/Extended-addressingle http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/Extended-addressingle http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/Extended-addressingle http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/Extended-addressingle http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/Extended-addressingle http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/Extended-addressingle <a href="http://web.worldbank.org/W

Tolbert, C. J. and Mossberger,K. (2006). "The Effects of E-Government on Trust and Confidence in Government". Public Administration Review, 66(3): 354-369.

Torres, L., Pina, V., and Acerete, B. (2005). "E-Government Developments on Delivering Public Services among EU Cities". Government Information Quarterly, 22(2): 217-238.

Traunmüller, R. and Wimmer, M. (2003). "E-Government at a Decisive Moment: Sketching a Roadmap to Excellence". Proceedings of the 2nd International Conference (EGOV 2003) (September 2003), pp.: 1-14.

Tung, L.L. and Rieck, O. (2005). "Adoption of Electronic Government Services among Business Organizations in Singapore". Journal of Strategic Information Systems, 14(4): 417-440.

Turban, E. and Gehrke, D. (2000). "Determinants of E-Commerce Website". Human Systems Management, 19(2): 111-120.

Turban, E., King, D., Lee, J., Warkentin, M., and Chung, H. M. (2002). "Electronic Commerce 2002: A Managerial Perspective". Prentice-Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ, USA.

United Nations Department for Economic and Social Affairs (UNDESA) (2003a). "E-Government Readiness Assessment Survey". Division for Public Administration and Development Management (DPADM).

United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (UNDESA) (2003b). "World Public Sector Report 2003: eGovernment at the Crossroads". Online 5/9/2008 at http://unpan1.un.org/intradoc/groups/public/documents/un/unpan012733.pd

United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (UNDESA) (2004). "Global eGovernment Readiness Report 2004: Towards Access for Opportunity". Online 5/9/2008 at http://unpan1.un.org/intradoc/groups/public/documents/un/unpan019207.pdf

United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (UNDESA) (2005). "Global eGovernment Readiness Report 2005: From eGovernment to eInclusion". Online 5/9/2008 at http://unpan1.un.org/intradoc/groups/public/documents/un/unpan021888.pdf

United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (UNDESA) (2008). "UN eGovernment Survey 2008: From eGovernment to Connected Governance". Online 5/9/2008 at http://unpan1.un.org/intradoc/groups/public/documents/UN/UNPAN028607.pdf

Victoria, M. (2002). "Putting People at the Centre: Government Innovation Working for Victorians". eGovernment Resource Centre. Online 12/3/2003 at <u>http://www.mmv.vic.gov.au/egov</u>

Von Dran, G. M., Zhang, P., and Small, R. (1999). "Quality Websites: An application of the Kano model of Website Design". Proceedings of the 5th Americas Conference on Information Systems (13-15 August 1999), Association for Information Systems, Milwaukee, WI, USA.

Walsham, G. (1993). "Interpreting Information Systems in Organizations". J. Wiley and Sons Inc., Chichester, UK.

Wan, H. A. (2000). "Opportunities to Enhance a Commercial Website". Information and Management, 38(1): 15-21.

WASEDA (2006). "The 2006 WASEDA University eGovernment Ranking". Tokyo. Retrieved September 2008 from <u>http://egov.sonasi.com/repository/the-2006-waseda-university-e-government-ranking/download</u>

Weerakody, V., Sarikas, O. D., and Patel, R. (2005) "Exploring the Process and Information Systems Integration Aspects of eGovernment". eGovernment Workshop '05 (eGOV05), Brunel University, UK.

Weisberg, H., Krosnik, J., and Bowen, B. (1996). "An Introduction to survey Research, Polling, and Data Analysis". Sage Publications, London, UK.

West, D. (2000) "Assessing eGovernment: The Internet, Democracy, and Service Delivery by State and Federal Government". Center for Public Policy, Brown University, RI, USA. Online 12/6/2006 at http://www.insidepolitics.org/egovtreport00.html

West, D. (2006). "Global E-Government, 2006". Center for Public Policy, Brown University, RI, USA. Online 24/7/2006 at <u>http://www.insidepolitics.org/egovt06int.pdf</u>

West, D. (2007). "Global E-Government, 2007". Center for Public Policy, Brown University, RI, USA. Online 13/11/2008 at <u>http://www.insidepolitics.org/egovt07int.pdf</u>

West, D. (2008). "Improving Technology Utilization in Electronic Government around the World". Center for Public Policy, Brown University, RI, USA. Online 13/11/2008 at http://www.brookings.edu/~/media/Files/rc/reports/2008/0817 egovernment west/0817 egovernment we http://www.brookings.edu/~/media/Files/rc/reports/2008/0817 egovernment west/0817 egovernment west/0817

Wilford, S. H. (2004). "Information and Communication Technologies, Privacy and Policies: An Analysis from the Perspective of the Individual". Thesis submitted for the Doctor of Philosophy, De Montfort University, Leicester, UK.

Wilkin, C. and Hewett, B. (1999). "Quality in a Respecification of DeLone and McLean's IS Success Model". Proceedings of 1999 IRMA International Conference (16-19 May 1999), Hershey, PA, USA, pp.: 663-672.

Wilkin, C., and Castleman, T. (2003). "Development of an Instrument to Evaluate the Quality of Delivered Information Systems". Proceedings of the 36th Hawaii International Conference on System Science (6-9 January 2003), Hawaii, USA.

Wimmer, M. A. (2002). "A European perspective towards Online One-Stop Government: the eGOV Project". Electronic Commerce Research and Applications, 1(1): 92-103.

Wolfinbarger, M. and Gilly, M. C. (2003). "E-TailQ: Dimensionalising, Measuring and Predicting E-Tail Quality". Journal of Retailing, 79(3): 183-198.

Woodroof, J. and Burg, W. (2003). "Satisfaction/Dissatisfaction: Are Users Predisposed?". Information and Management, 40(4): 317:324.

Working Group on E-Government in the Developing World (2002). "Roadmap for E-government in the Developing World: 10 Questions E-Government Leaders should Ask Themselves". Pacific Council on International Policy, LA, CA, USA. Online 10/5/2006 at <u>http://www.pacificcouncil.org/pdfs/e-gov.paper.f.pdf</u>

Wyld, D. (2004). "The 3 Ps: The Essential Elements of a Definition of eGovernment". Journal of eGovernment 1(1): 17-22. Online September 2005 at http://www.haworthpress.com/store/SampleText/J399.pdf

Xia, W. and King, W. R. (2002). "Determinants of Organisational IT Infrastructure Capabilities". MIS Research Center Working Papers, University of Minnesota, USA.

Yin, R. K. (1993). "Applications of Case Study Research". Sage Publications, London, UK.

Yin, R. K. (2002). "Case Study Research: Design and Methods", (3rd ed.). Sage Publications, London, UK.

Yin, R. K. (2003). "Case Study Research: Design and Methods". Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, CA, USA.

Yoo, B. and Donthu, N. (2001). "Developing a Scale to Measure the Perceived Quality of an Internet Shopping Site (Sitequal)". Quarterly Journal of Electronic Commerce, 2(1): 31-47.

Zahra, S. A. and Covin, J. G. (1993). "Business Strategy, Technology Policy and Firm Performance". Strategic Management Journal, 14(6): 451-478.

Zhang, J., Dawes, S.S., and Sarkis, J. (2005). "Exploring Stakeholders' Expectations of the Benefits and Barriers of E-Government Knowledge Sharing". Journal of Enterprise Information Management, 18(5): 548–567.

Zigmund, W. G. (1995). "Business Research Methods", (5th ed.). The Dryden Press, Fort Worth, TX, USA.

Zmud, R. W. and Boynton, A. C. (1991). "Survey Measures and Instruments in MIS: Inventory and Appraisal". In The Information Systems Research Challenge: Survey Research Methods, Kraemer, K.L. (Ed.), Vol. 3, Harvard Business School, Boston, pp.: 149–180.

Zwass, V. (1996). "Electronic Commerce: Structures and Issues". International Journal of Electronic Commerce, 1(1): 3-23.
Infrastructure and Regulations ment Transformation Computer McConnell International (MI) (Luyt, 2006; Bui et al., 2003) √ √ √ A	Model	IT	HR	Policies	Environ	E-government
Computer McConnell International (MI) (Luyt, 2006; Bui et al., 2003) V V V O Availability of online government services 2003) Country Development Gateway (CDG) (Bridges.org, 2005) V V V V Crenshaw and Robinson (C&R) (Bridges.org, 2005) V V V V V Economist Intelligence Unit (EIU) (Bridges.org, 2005) V V V V V Information Society Index (IDC) (Bridges.org, 2005) V V V V V V Metric-Net-E-Economy Index (M-N) (Bridges.org, 2005) V V V V O Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Mosaic (MQ) (Bridges.org, 2005) V V V V O Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC) (Luyt, 2006; Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) V V V V O Availability of online government services o Government use of ICT for its own services & processes O Availability of online government services O Availability of online government services O Availability of online government services Policy Project (CSPP) (Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et a		Infrastructure		and Regulations	ment	Transformation
International (MI) government services (Luyt, 2006; Bui et al., 2003) government services Country Development √ Gateway (CDG) √ (Bridges.org, 2005) √ Crenshaw and Robinson (C&R) √ (Bridges.org, 2005) √ Economist Intelligence √ Unit (EUU) √ (Bridges.org, 2005) √ Information Society Index √ (Bridges.org, 2005) √ Information Society Index √ (Bridges.org, 2005) √ Information Society Index √ (Bridges.org, 2005) √ Metric-Net-E-Economy √ Index (M-N) √ (Bridges.org, 2005) √ Mosaic (MQ) √ Mosaic (MQ) √ Pacific Economic √ Cooperation (APEC) √ (Luyt, 2006; Buidiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) √ The Computer System √ Policy Project (CSPP) √ (Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) √	Computer McConnell	\checkmark	\checkmark			 Availability of online
(Luyt, 2006; Bui et al., Image: Country Development Image: Country Development Image: Country Development Gateway (CDG) Image: Country Development Image: Country Development Image: Country Development Gateway (CDG) Image: Country Development Image: Country Development Image: Country Development (Bridges.org, 2005) Image: Country Development Image: Country Development Image: Country Development (Bridges.org, 2005) Image: Country Development Image: Country Development Image: Country Development (IbC) Image: Country Development Image: Country Development Image: Country Development (IbC) Image: Country Development Image: Country Development Image: Country Development (IbC) Image: Country Development Image: Country Development Image: Country Development (IbC) Image: Country Development Image: Country Development Image: Country Development (IbC) Image: Country Development Image: Country Development Image: Country Development (IbC) Image: Country Development Image: Country Development Image: Country Development (IbC) Image: Country Development Image: Country Development Image: Country Develo	International (MI)					government services
2003) V V V Country Development Gateway (CDG) (Bridges.org, 2005) V V V Crenshaw and Robinson (C&R) (Bridges.org, 2005) V V V (Bridges.org, 2005) V V V Information Society Index (IDC) (Bridges.org, 2005). V V V Metric-Net-E-Economy Index (M-N) (Bridges.org, 2005). V V V O Metric-Net-E-Economy Index (MQ) V V V O Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Mosaic (MQ) V V V V O Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Pacific Economic (Luyt, 2006; Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) V V V O The Computer System Policy Project (CSPP) V V V O Availability of online government services (Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) V V V V Processes	(Luyt, 2006; Bui et al.,					
Country Development Gateway (CDG) (Bridges.org, 2005) v v v Crenshaw and Robinson (C&R) (Bridges.org, 2005) v v v Economist Intelligence Unit (EIU) (Bridges.org, 2005) v v v v Information Society Index (IDC) (Bridges.org, 2005) v v v v Information Society Index (IDC) (Bridges.org, 2005) v v v v Metric-Net-E-Economy (Bridges.org, 2005). v v v v v Metric-Net-E-Economy (Bridges.org, 2005). v v v v o Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Mosaic (MQ) (Bridges.org, 2005). v v v v o o Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Pacific Economic (Bridges.org, 2005) v v v v o o Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Pacific Economic (Luyt, 2006; Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) v v v v o Availability of online government services o Government use of ICT for its own services & processes o Government use of ICT for its own services & processes	2003)				,	
Gateway (CDG) (Bridges.org, 2005) <t< th=""><th>Country Development</th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th></t<>	Country Development					
(Bridges.org, 2005) √ √ Crenshaw and Robinson (C&R) (Bridges.org, 2005) √ √ (Bridges.org, 2005) √ √ Unit (EU) (Bridges.org, 2005) √ √ Information Society Index (IDC) √ √ (Bridges.org, 2005). √ √ Metric-Net-E-Economy Index (M-N) (Bridges.org, 2005). √ √ (Bridges.org, 2005). √ √ Metric-Net-E-Economy Index (M-N) (Bridges.org, 2005). √ √ (Bridges.org, 2005). √ √ Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC) (Luyt, 2006; Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) √ √ √ The Computer System Policy Project (CSPP) (Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) √ √ √ World Economic Forum √ √ √ Availability of online government use of ICT for its own services & processes	Gateway (CDG)					
Crenshaw and Robinson (C&R) (Bridges.org, 2005) √ √ √ Economist Intelligence Unit (EIU) (Bridges.org, 2005) √ √ √ √ Information Society Index (IDC) (Bridges.org, 2005). √ √ √ √ (Bridges.org, 2005). √ √ √ √ Metric-Net-E-Economy (Bridges.org, 2005). √ √ √ √ Mosaic (MQ) √ √ √ ○ Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC) (Luyt, 2006; Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) √ √ √ √ ○ Availability of online government services ○ Government use of ICT for its own services & processes ○ Government use of ICT for its own services & processes ○ Government use of ICT for its own services & processes ○ Multiple and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) √ √ √ √ ○ Availability of online government use of ICT for its own services	(Bridges.org, 2005)	1	1		,	
(Cark) (Bridges.org, 2005) V V V Economist Intelligence Unit (EIU) (Bridges.org, 2005) V V V Information Society Index (IDC) (Bridges.org, 2005). V V V Metric-Net-E-Economy Index (M-N) (Bridges.org, 2005). V V V O Metric-Net-E-Economy Index (M-N) (Bridges.org, 2005). V V V O Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Mosaic (MQ) (Bridges.org, 2005) V V V V O Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Mosaic (MQ) (Luyt, 2006; Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) V V V V O The Computer System Policy Project (CSPP) (Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) V V V O Availability of online government use of ICT for its own services & processes World Economic Forum V V V V Processes	Crenshaw and Robinson	N	N		N	
Indges.org, 2003) V V V Economist Intelligence V V V Unit (EIU) (Bridges.org, 2005) V V Information Society Index (IDC) V V V (Bridges.org, 2005). V V V Metric-Net-E-Economy V V V O Index (M-N) V V V O Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Mosaic (MQ) V V V V O Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Pacific Economic V V V V O Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Pacific Economic V V V V O Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Pacific Economic V V V V O Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Pacific Economic V V V V O Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Policy Project (CSPP) V V V O O (Fovernment use of ICT for	(C&R) (Bridgeo org. 2005)					
Leonomist menigence √ √ √ √ Unit (ElU) (Bridges.org, 2005) ✓ √ √ √ Information Society Index (IDC) √ √ √ √ (Bridges.org, 2005). ✓ √ √ √ √ Metric-Net-E-Economy (Bridges.org, 2005). √ √ √ √ ○ Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Mosaic (MQ) (Bridges.org, 2005) √ √ √ √ ○ Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC) (Luyt, 2006; Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) √ √ √ √ √ The Computer System Policy Project (CSPP) (Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) √ √ √ √ ○ Availability of online government use of ICT for its own services & processes World Economic Forum √ √ √ √	(Bridges.org, 2005)	.1	.1		.1	
Oniversity (Eld) (Bridges.org, 2005) Information Society Index Image: Society Index <td< th=""><th>Economist intelligence</th><th>N</th><th>N</th><th>N</th><th>N</th><th></th></td<>	Economist intelligence	N	N	N	N	
Information Society Index (IDC) √ √ √ (Bridges.org, 2005). √ √ √ Metric-Net-E-Economy √ √ √ ∘ Index (M-N) √ √ √ ∘ Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Mosaic (MQ) √ √ √ √ ∘ Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Pacific Economic √ √ √ √ ∘ Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Pacific Economic √ √ √ √ ∘ Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Pacific Economic √ √ √ √ ∘ Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Pacific Economic √ √ √ √ √ (Luyt, 2006; Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) √ √ The Computer System √ √ √ √ Government use of ICT for its own services & Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Government use of ICT for its own services & processes	(Bridges org. 2005)					
IDC) V V V (IDC) (Bridges.org, 2005). V V V Sovernment use of ICT for its own services & processes Metric-Net-E-Economy V V V V Sovernment use of ICT for its own services & processes Index (M-N) V V V V Sovernment use of ICT for its own services & processes Mosaic (MQ) V V V V Sovernment use of ICT for its own services & processes Pacific Economic V V V V Sovernment use of ICT for its own services & processes Pacific Economic V V V V Sovernment use of ICT for its own services & processes Cooperation (APEC) V V V V Sovernment use of ICT for its own services & processes (Luyt, 2006; Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) V V V O Availability of online government services Government use of ICT for its own services & processes O Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Sovernment use of ICT for its own services & processes World Economic Forum V V V V V Soverenment use of ICT for i	Information Society Index		al		al	
(Bridges.org, 2005). √ √ √ ○ Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Metric-Net-E-Economy √ √ √ ○ Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Mosaic (MQ) √ √ √ √ ○ Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Mosaic (MQ) √ √ √ √ ○ Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Pacific Economic √ √ √ √ √ √ Pacific Economic (Luyt, 2006; Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) √ √ √ √ The Computer System Policy Project (CSPP) √ √ √ √ ○ Availability of online government services ○ Government use of ICT for its own services & processes (Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2003) √ √ √ √ ○ Availability of online government services ○ Government use of ICT for its own services & processes (Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2003) √ √ √ √ ○ Availability of online government services & processes		v	N		v	
Metric-Net-E-Economy Index (M-N) (Bridges.org, 2005). √ √ ○ Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Mosaic (MQ) (Bridges.org, 2005) √ √ √ ○ Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC) (Luyt, 2006; Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) √ √ √ √ The Computer System Policy Project (CSPP) (Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) √ √ √ ○ Availability of online government use of ICT for its own services & processes World Economic Forum √ √ √ √	(Bridges org. 2005)					
Index (M-N) (Bridges.org, 2005). √ √ √ for its own services & processes Mosaic (MQ) (Bridges.org, 2005) √ √ √ √ Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC) (Luyt, 2006; Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) √ √ √ The Computer System Policy Project (CSPP) (Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) √ √ √ World Economic Forum √ √ √	Metric-Net-E-Economy	2	N		2	 Government use of ICT
Intervention (in formed at processes) Image: Second at the second at	Index (M-N)	v	v		v	for its own services &
Mosaic (MQ) (Bridges.org, 2005) V V V O Government use of ICT for its own services & processes Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC) (Luyt, 2006; Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) V V V V The Computer System Policy Project (CSPP) (Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) V V V V O World Economic Forum V V V V Image: Computer System government use of ICT for its own services & processes	(Bridges.org. 2005).					processes
(Bridges.org, 2005) for its own services & processes Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC) √	Mosaic (MQ)	V				 Government use of ICT
Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC) (Luyt, 2006; Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) √ √ √ The Computer System Policy Project (CSPP) (Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) √ √ √ √ ∧ World Economic Forum √ √ √ √ √	(Bridges.org, 2005)					for its own services &
Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC) (Luyt, 2006; Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) √ <t< th=""><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>processes</th></t<>						processes
Cooperation (APEC) (Luyt, 2006; Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) √ √ √ √ ∧ Availability of online government services The Computer System Policy Project (CSPP) (Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) √ √ √ ∘ Availability of online government services ∘ Government use of ICT for its own services & processes World Economic Forum √ √ √ √ √	Pacific Economic	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	
(Luýt, 2006; Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) √ √ √ ∧	Cooperation (APEC)					
Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., N <td< th=""><th>(Luyt, 2006; Budhiraja and</th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th></td<>	(Luyt, 2006; Budhiraja and					
2003) Image: Computer System Policy Project (CSPP) (Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) Image: Computer System Policy Project (CSPP) World Economic Forum Image: Computer System Policy Project (CSPP) Image: Computer System Policy Project (CSPP) Image: Computer System Policy Project (CSPP) Image: Computer System Policy Project (CSPP) Image: Computer System Policy Project (CSPP) Image: Computer System Policy Project (CSPP) Image: Computer System Policy Project (CSPP) (Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2003) Image: Computer System Policy Project (CSPP) Image: Computer System Policy Project (CSPP) Image: Computer System Policy Project (CSPP) Image: Computer System Policy Project (CSPP) Image: Computer System Policy Pol	Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al.,					
The Computer System √ √ √ ○ Availability of online government services Policy Project (CSPP) (Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) √ √ ○ Availability of online government services World Economic Forum √ √ √ √ √	2003)					
Policy Project (CSPP) government services (Budhiraja and Sachdeva, o 2002; Bui et al., 2003) o World Economic Forum √	The Computer System	\checkmark				 Availability of online
(Budhiraja and Sachdeva, 2002; Bui et al., 2003) ○ Government use of ICT for its own services & processes World Economic Forum √ √ ○ Government use of ICT for its own services & processes 	Policy Project (CSPP)					government services
2002; Bui et al., 2003) for its own services & processes World Economic Forum √	(Budhiraja and Sachdeva,					 Government use of ICT
World Economic Forum V V	2002; Bui et al., 2003)					for its own services &
	World Foonserie Forest	1		1		processes
	(WEE)	N		N		
(WEF)	(WEF) (Rudhirois and Sachdave					
	2002)					

Appendix A: E-Readiness Models

Appendix B: E-Government Readiness (EGR) Questionnaire

Thank you for taking the time to answer this questionnaire. This questionnaire is intended to measure the Organisation's readiness for implementing electronic government. The data collected by this questionnaire is exclusively for research purposes only, and will not be used or distributed elsewhere.

The questionnaire is comprised of six parts. They should be answered in order.

Please take a moment to familiarize yourself with the following terms and definitions used in the questionnaire.

Terms and Definitions

Information Technology (IT):

Computers, software, and the networks that connect them, but not the phone or fax systems.

Electronic government (EG):

Applying Information and Communication Technology (ICT) to transform a government internal and external relationships.

Electronic government readiness (EGR):

Ability of a government to adopt e-government

Goals and objectives:

The intended results or outcomes to be achieved. Goals and objectives answer the question, "Where do we want to go?" Goals and objectives are set for short-, mid-, and long-term time horizons.

Strategy:

A roadmap set for an organisation that marks the main directions for integrating its major goals, policies, and action sequences.

Action plan:

Detailed execution steps to be taken in order to reach goals and objectives. Action plan answers the question, "How are we going to achieve our goals and objectives?"

Technology Services Department (TSD):

The functional unit of the Organisation that provides products and services to the Organisation.

Part A

Please read each question carefully and check the response that best expresses your view. If you do not know the answer you should check N/A.

1 = Strongly Disagree	2 = Disagree	3 = Weakly Disagree
4 = Neutral (N)	5 = Weakly Agree	6 = Agree
7 = Strongly Agree	NA = Not Applicable of	or Don't Know

	Stro	ngly				Strongly	
	disa	gree		(N)		agree	NA
1. The Organisation has a well defined strategy for IT	01	02	03	04	05	O6	0
	07						
2. The Organisation placed a set of goals in its IT	01	02	03	04	05	06	0
strategy	07						
3. The Organisation's IT strategy encompasses all	01	02	03	04	05	O6	0
Internet activities as one of its major goals	07						
4. The Organisation's IT strategy was developed takin	g the	follo	wing	g into o	consi	deration:	
a. Determination of real drivers or compelling	01	02	03	04	05	06	0
reasons to develop and implement e-	07						
government							
 Identification of existing and future 	01	02	03	04	05	O6	0
challenges to development and	07						
implementation of e-government							
c. IT support for the Organisation goals and	01	02	03	04	05	O 6	0
objectives	07						
d. Organisation's strategies and action	01	02	03	04	05	06	0
plans	07						
 IT investments and operating budgets 	01	02	03	04	05	06	0
should be established and approved with	07						
consideration of alignment with the							
Organisation's strategies and plans							
5. The Organisation's IT strategy includes an action	01	02	03	04	05	06	0

plan	07
6. The Organisation's IT action plan was	eloped taking the following into considerations
a. Assessment of the current Org systems in terms of IT resourc applications, technology, facilit data)	ation 01 02 03 04 05 06 0 people, 07 and
 Responsibility of all department employees involved 	nd 01 02 03 04 05 06 0 07
c. Associated changes in the Org structure	ation's 01 02 03 04 05 06 0 07 07
d. Establishment and communica policies and procedures to all e	of IT 01 02 03 04 05 06 0 oyees 07
 e. Ways of dealing with continuou bureaucratic, and technical char risks 	Olitical, 01 02 03 04 05 06 0 es and 07 07 0
 f. Identification of possible intern for e-government project 	nding 01 02 03 04 05 06 0 07
 g. Identification of possible extern for e-government project 	unding 01 02 03 04 05 06 0 07
h. Identification of stakeholders in	red 01 02 03 04 05 06 0 07
i. Role of each stakeholder	01 02 03 04 05 06 0 07
 j. Value to be realized on each s as a result of implementing e-g 	holder 01 02 03 04 05 06 0 rnment 07
 Ways of promoting and buildin of e-government throughout th Organisation 	vareness 01 02 03 04 05 06 0 07
7. The Organisation uses IT	
a. To reinforce an environment for empowerment and innovation	01 02 03 04 05 06 0 07
b. To support organisational and	loyee 01 02 03 04 05 06 0 07

learning							
c. In all activities and functions of the	01	02	O 3	04	05	06	0
Organisation	07						
8. The people responsible for e-government	01	02	O 3	04	05	06	0
development in your Organisation do have support	07						
and access to the key government officials at the							
highest levels of the Administration							

Part B

	Strongly				Strongly			
	disa	gree		(N)			agree	NA
1. During the last several years, there have been	01	02	03	O4	05	06	07	0
experiences of changing business processes in the								
Organisation as a result of using IT								
2. There are motives or pressure points behind changing	01	02	03	O4	05	06	07	0
business processes								
3. In case there was a business process change, the focal	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
areas of process change were determined								
4. Business processes are defined in the Organisation, or	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
at least in your department								
5. Business processes are documented in the Organisation,	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
or at least in your department								
6. There is a direction to streamline business processes in	01	02	O3	04	05	06	07	0
the Organisation, or at least in your department								
7. There exist a strong integration of business	01	02	O3	04	05	06	07	0
processes between the different Organisation's								
departments								
8. The Organisation is highly collaborative with other	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
public agencies in the solution of problems,								
service delivery, or better work flow								

	Stro	ngly				Sti	rongly	
	disa	gree		(N)			agree	NA
9. There is provision for Monitoring and Evaluation of e- government initiatives	01	02	03	O4	05	06	07	0
10. There exist regular processes that compare the Organisation's e-government strategy with regard to the actual implementation situation	01	O2	03	O4	05	O6	07	0
11. The Organisation has metrics about usage of IT by employees?	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
12. The Organisation has metrics about usage of e- government services by citizens?	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
13. There is a dialogue with citizens using the Organisation	's ele	ctron	ic se	rvices	s con	cernii	ng the	following:
a. Perceived usefulness	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
b. Perceived ease of use	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
c. Satisfaction	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	Ο
d. Trust	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	Ο
14. There is a dialogue with employees using the Organisati	on's	IT re	sour	ces co	ncer	ning t	the foll	owing:
a. Perceived usefulness	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
b. Perceived ease of use	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	Ο
c. Satisfaction	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
15. There exists a regular assessment of the impact of e- government initiatives on all stakeholders	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0

Part C

Part C-1

Please rate the extent to which the **performance of IT** in your ORGANISATION meets your expectations in each of the following areas. Please read each question carefully and click on the appropriate response.

1 = far short of expectations 2 = short of expectations

175

3 = slightly short of expectations5 = slightly exceeds expectations.7 = greatly exceeds expectations

4 = meets expectations6 = exceeds expectations.NA = Not Applicable or Don't Know

		Far short ofGreatly exceeds							
		expe	ectatio	ons		e	xpect	ations	NA
1. Regarding following:	g the data and information provided by th	ne Or	gani	satio	n's l	T, p	lease	e rate	the
a.	Content	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
b.	Availability	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
C.	Accuracy	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
d.	Timeliness	01	02	03	O4	05	06	O7	0
e.	Convenience	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
f.	All Organisation's software applications can share data throughout the Organisation	01	O2	O3	O4	05	O6	07	0
g.	All Organisation's software applications can share data with other public agencies	01	O2	O3	O4	05	O6	07	0
h.	All Organisation's Internet applications can share data with the Organisation non-Internet applications	01	O2	O3	O4	05	O6	07	0
i.	Please rate the overall quality of data and information provided by the Organisation's IT	01	O2	O3	O4	05	O6	07	0
2. Regarding following:	g software applications you use as the C	rgan	isatio	on er	nplo	yee,	plea	se rate	e the
a.	Reliability	01	02	03	04	05	06	O7	0
b.	Ease of use	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
с.	Accessibility	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
d.	Usefulness	01	02	03	O4	05	06	O7	0
e.	Flexibility	01	02	03	O4	05	06	07	0

f.	Integration of applications over the Organisation	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
g.	Integration of applications between the Organisation and other public agencies	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
h.	The Organisation's Internet	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
	applications are designed and								
	developed to work with legacy systems								
i.	Please rate the overall quality of	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
	software applications in the								
	Organisation								
3. Regarding	g the Organisation Website , please rate th	e fol	lowir	ng:					
a.	Usability	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	О
b.	Layout	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	Ο
с.	Navigation	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	О
d.	Consistency	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	Ο
e.	Content	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	О
f.	Number of services provided	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	Ο
g.	All information is available on the Website	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
h.	Two-way interaction	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
i.	Complete transaction within single Organisation	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
j.	Complete transaction across multiple agencies	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
k.	Please rate the OVERALL quality of the Organisation Website	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
4. Regarding following:	the security measures provided for IT ir	n the	Orga	anisa	ation,	plea	ase ra	ate the	e
a.	Protection of data	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
b.	Protection of software applications	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
с.	Safety of data transfer over the	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
	Organisation's network								

d.	Access privileges	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
e.	Safety of transactions performed	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
	through the Organisation Website								
f.	Please rate the OVERALL security	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	О
	measures provided for IT in the								
	Organisation								
5. Regarding	g the hardware in the Organisation, please	e rate	e the	follo	wing	:			
a.	Efficiency	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
b.	Compatibility with other departments in	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	О
	the Organisation								
с.	Compatibility with other public agencies	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
d.	Please rate the OVERALL quality of								
	the hardware in the Organisation								

Part C-2

Please rate the extent to which the performance of the **Technology Service Department's (TSD's)** staff meets your expectations in each of the following areas.

	Far short of				Grea	tly ex		
	expe	ectatio	ns		e	xpect	NA	
6. TSD staff does what it promises to do	01	02	O3	04	05	06	07	0
7. TSD staff performs services right the first time	01	02	O3	04	05	06	07	0
8. TSD staff performs promised service	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	Ο
Independently								
 The members of the TSD staff are appropriately qualified (technical skills and expertise) for their jobs 	01	02	03	O4	05	O6	07	Ο
10. TSD staff has the expertise required to create or evaluate for purchase the information technologies needed by the Organisation	01	02	03	O4	05	O6	07	0
11. When I have a problem, the TSD staff does its	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0

best to respond as soon as possible and are always willing to help								
12. When problems occur, the TSD staff solves them in a timely manner	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
13. TSD staff finishes projects on time	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
14. The members of the TSD staff are able to explain new systems/software in a manner that I can understand	01	O2	03	O4	05	O6	07	Ο
15. The TSD staff keeps me informed in advance of scheduled system downtime	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
16. The TSD staff keeps me informed of the status of ongoing projects that will affect my job	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
17.It is easy for me to communicate with the TSD department	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
18. The TSD staff demonstrates good interpersonal communication skills in their interactions with other people	01	02	03	04	05	O6	07	Ο
19. I am involved in the design, development, & changes of IT systems	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
20. The appropriate hardware, software, and people required to support the performance of my work are always available	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0

Part D

Part D-1

Please read each question carefully and check the response that best expresses your view. If you do not know the answer you should check N/A.

1 = Strongly Disagree2 = Disagree3 = Weakly Disagree4 = Neutral5 = Weakly Agree6 = Agree

7 = Strongly Agree

NA = Not Applicable or Don't Know

	Stro	ngly				Sti	rongly	
	disa	gree		Neutr	al		agree	NA
1. Overall, I am satisfied with the Organisation's IT	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
2. Overall , there has been a positive impact as to	01	02	O3	04	05	06	07	О
how much my performance was improved by the								
aid of the Organisation's IT								
3. I can cope easily with changes in my work	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
processes due to adopting IT in my work								
4. It is very easy for me to communicate with other	01	02	O3	O4	05	06	07	0
departments in (or outside) the Organisation								
5. It is very easy for me to provide an adequate	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
service to citizens seeking services from the								
Organisation								
6. I like using computers and IT	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0

Part D-2

Please rate the extent to which the **IT training** provided to you in the Organisation meets your expectations. Please read each question carefully and click on the appropriate response.

- 1 = far short of expectations
- 2 = short of expectations 4 = meets expectations
- 3 = slightly short of expectations 5 = slightly exceeds expectations.
- 6 = exceeds expectations.
- 7 = greatly exceeds expectations
- NA = Not Applicable or Don't Know

	Far short of	Greatly exceeds	
	expectations	expectations	NA
7. I was properly trained on new systems	01 02 03 04	O5 O6 O7	0
8. The training I was provided was adequate to my	01 02 03 04	O5 O6 O7	О
needs			
9. The training I was provided had a positive impact	01 02 03 04	05 06 07	0

on the performance of my work								
10. I was trained on how to deal with changes in	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
processes due to adopting IT in my work								
11. I was trained on how to deal with citizens seeking	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
services from the Organisation								
12. I was involved in the decisions of the training	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
courses that I will have								
13. I was involved in the evaluation of the training	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	0
courses that I had								

Part E

How do you evaluate the e-government readiness state in the Organisation?								
0)1	O2	O3	O4	O5	06	07	
Extremely unready							Extremely ready	

Part F

- 1. What is your gender? Female O Male O
- 2. In which category does your age fall? 20-30 O 31-40 O 41-50 O More than 50 O
- 3. What's your current position? Official in charge O Team leader O Head of department O General manager O Others O ------
- 4. What is the highest formal education you have completed? University Graduate O High/Technical Institute O School Graduate O Others O ------

5. Please check the department in which you work:

a.	Customer Service	0
b.	Accounting	О
c.	Electricity	О
d.	Clerical	О
e.	Archiving	О
f.	Human Resources	0
g.	Legal	О
h.	Technology Services	О
i.	Utilities Administration	О
j.	Others:	0

6. How many hours per week do you work for the Organisation? ______hours

- 7. How many hours per week do you use IT to perform your Organisation work? ____hours
- 8. How long have you worked for the Organisation? _____years _____ months
- 9. How long have you been in your current job? _________ months
- 10. How many years of experience do you have using IT? _____years _____ months
- 11. For each of the following software applications:Please check column: A if you use the software at work.B if you would like to have more training for the software.

		А	В
	Software applications	Software used	More training
a.	Word	0	0
b.	Excel	0	0
с.	PowerPoint	0	0
d.	Project Management	0	0
e.	Geographic Information System (GIS)	0	0
f.	Access	0	0
g.	Others:	0	0

12. Please check all the training that you have completed.

a.	Windows	0
b.	Word	0
c.	Excel	0
d.	PowerPoint	0
e.	Project Management	0
f.	Geographic Information System (GIS)	0
g.	Access	0
h.	Others:	0

- 13. Do you have access to the following technologies? Personal Computer O Internet O email O
- 14. How do you rate your skills in using the following technologies?

	Nee imp	d subs roverr	Excellent				
Personal Computer	01	02	03	04	05	06	07
Internet	01	02	03	04	05	06	07
email	01	02	03	04	05	06	07
Others:							
	01	O2	O3	O4	05	06	O7

Appendix C: Interviews' Questions

1.	Organisation									
2. S1 S2 S3	Please list the three (3) services of higher demand from the public, indicating if typical customer associated with each is a citizen (G2C) or a business (G2B), or a governmental agency (G2G): Service Typical Customer									
3.	3. What is the number of departments and the	eir nam	es?							
4.	What is the number of employees? What technicians & helping services)?	is the nu	mber of prospe	ect resp	ondents	s (witho	ut			
5.	. Is there a technology services department? How many employees in it? What are their main tasks?									
6.	5. What are the names of the software appli	cations ir	n the Agency?							
7.	. Is there a government wide Intranet? If yes, do	bes the Ag	gency use it? In v	which ta	sks?					
8.	B. Does the Agency participate in the national e-	Does the Agency participate in the national e-government wide portal?								
9.	9. Is there intranet connectivity and digital intera	ction bet	ween the central	and loca	ıl govern	nments?				
10.	0. What is the percentage of secondary governme access to the Internet?	ent units ((departments, div	visions,	branches	s) with				
11.	1. What are the compelling reasons for the	Agency t	o develop and	implem	ent e-g	overnm	ent?			
12.	2. What are the primary e-government application if any, their types - G2G, G2C or G2B - , and	ns to be c when the	leveloped by the y will be availab	Agency le?	? (name	and UR	ĽL,			
13.	3. Do an e-government strategy and an action pla national e-government strategy and action pla	an exist fo a? How?	or the Agency? If (relevant docume	f yes, do entation	es it rela or URL	ate to the).	3			
14.	4. Is the e-government strategy aligned with the	Agency's	business strateg	y?						
15.	5. What is the Agency's budget, if any, for e-gov	rernment	applications?							
16.	6. Is there any area of the Agency's e-government	nt program	n being outsourc	ed?						
17.	7. How are resources allocated to, or within, the	Agency f	or the developm	ent of e-	governn	nent?				
18.	8. Please rate the Agency's average internal capa management activities:	icity to pi	arsue the followi	ng infor	mation					
	Information Activity N substa	leed intial	Need improvement	Good	Very Good	Excel lent				

	improvement				
a. Produce information	O 1	O 2	O 3	O 4	O 5
b. Gather information	01	O 2	03	O 4	O 5
c. Digitize Information	O 1	O 2	O 3	O 4	O 5
d. Process information	01	O 2	03	O 4	O 5
e. Analyze information	01	O 2	03	O 4	O 5
f. Distribute information	01	O 2	03	O 4	O 5
g. Give public access to information	O 1	O 2	O 3	O 4	O 5
h. Archive information	0 1	O 2	O 3	O 4	O 5

19. During the last three years, have there been experiences of reengineering business process in your agency in order to make it more "citizen-centered"? If yes, state examples including any multi-agency processes, their success with metrics (e.g. reduction in time, steps or cost required to complete desired transaction or red tape procedure).

20. What is the level of awareness of the benefits of e-government in the Agency amongst:

	Need	Need	Medium	High	Very high
	substantial	awareness		_	
	awareness				
a. Policy makers	O 1	O 2	03	O 4	O 5
b. Senior managers	O 1	O 2	03	O 4	O 5
c. Middle managers	O 1	O 2	03	O 4	O 5
d. Other civil servants	01	02	03	O 4	0 5

21. In general, describe what best characterizes the provision of the Agency's government services on line

a. No services online	0
b. Only information available on line	0
c. One way interaction possible	0
d. Two-way interaction possible	0
e. Complete transaction possible within single agency	0
f. Complete transaction across multiple agencies	0

- 22. If there is provision for monitoring and evaluation of e-government initiatives, how often does it take place? And in which areas?
- 23. Does your agency have metrics about usage of e-government services? If yes, what is the usage of online government for the three services identified earlier (S1, S2, and S3), and is there any data over time?
- 24. In terms of the Agency communications with the public, is there an active communication strategy for e-government?
- 25. Is there a mechanism by which the public can provide feedback on online services and influence the continued development of the Agency's e-government offering?
- 26. Are citizens able to access online documents related to issues currently being decided? If yes, provide examples with URL.
- 27. Are citizens able to communicate electronically with the Agency's documents' cycle and officials? If yes, provide examples with URL.

28. What are the main existing and future challenges to the development and implementation of **e-government** (*Applying Information and Communication Technology 'ICT' to transform a government internal and external relationships*)?

Information Activity	Need substantial improvement	Need improvement	Good	Very Good	Excel lent
i. Quality of software applications	0 1	O 2	03	O 4	05
j. Quality of the Agency's website	0 1	O 2	03	O 4	05
k. Quality of IT security	01	O 2	03	O 4	O 5
1. Quality of hardware	0 1	O 2	03	O 4	O 5

29. Please rate the Agency's average internal capacity to pursue the following:

- 30. How do you evaluate e-government **readiness** (*ability to adopt e-government*) in the Ministry?
- 31. Please rank the following factors in terms of their importance on e-government readiness in the Ministry:

Strategy
People
Technology
Processes (change in business processes & conduct periodic evaluation on e-government initiatives)

Appendix D: Final Factor Analysis

I. Montaza District (MD)

	Factor						
	Leadership – Stakeholders - Promotion	Funding - Stakeholders' Identification	Objectives - Accountability	Strategic Alignment	IT Strategy		
IT Strategy	005	033	006	063	.908		
Strategy:Goals 2	.088	.407	.317	080	.268		
Strategy: Motives	165	.259	.510	.460	.069		
Strategy: Challenges	.206	.147	.022	.409	090		
Strategy: Strtgic Align 1	.047	.252	.776	.092	.027		
Strategy: Strtgic Align 2	.377	.077	.242	.634	.019		
Strategy: Strtgic Align 3	033	.497	.005	.361	056		
Strategy: Action Plan - Org Accountability	.123	.115	.676	.469	.087		
Strategy: Action Plan - Org Leadership	.672	.199	.068	.094	.001		
Strategy: Action Plan - Funding Internal	092	.753	.106	062	083		
Strategy: Action Plan – Funding External	.193	.736	007	.337	032		
Strategy: Action Plan – Identif. of stkeholdrs	.038	.735	.230	.161	.049		
Strategy: Action Plan – Role of each stkeholdr	.722	118	.083	.178	.382		

1. <u>Strategy</u>

Strategy: Action Plan - Value on each stkeholdr	.617	.043	012	.241	087
Strategy: Action Plan - Promotion	.919	123	.218	037	059
Strategy: Action Plan – Org Leadership 2	.220	030	.733	037	076

Extraction Method: Principal Axis Factoring. Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization. Rotation converged in 7 iterations. Loading rule: Choose loading number greater than 0.5 on one factor, and less than 0.5 on all others. Eigenvalues: 4.375, 2.678, 1.756, 1.365, and 1.132

		Factor	
	Evaluation of Citizens Feedback	Evaluation of Employees Feedback	Business Process Change (BPC)
Processes: BPC - Define BPs	096	033	.876
Processes: BPC – Document BPs	.106	.160	.584
Processes: BPC – Streamline BPs	.112	.097	.813
Processes: Evaluation - Citizens feedback - PU	.774	.337	.070
Processes: Evaluation – Citizens feedback – PEOU	.851	.361	.017
Processes: Evaluation – Citizens feedback Stsfction	.926	.320	.043
Processes: Evaluation - Citizens feedback Trust	.548	.435	.125
Processes: Evaluation – Employees feedback – PU	.283	.693	.089

2. Processes

Processes: Evaluation - Employees feedback - PEOU	.280	.718	.067
Processes: Evaluation – Employees feedback Stsfction	.290	.778	.122
Processes: Evaluation – Impact on stkhlders	.285	.640	.067

Extraction Method: Principal Axis Factoring. Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization. Rotation converged in 5 iterations. Loading rule: Choose loading number greater than 0.5 on one factor, and less than 0.5 on all others. Eigenvalues: 5.075, 2.053, and 1.045

3. <u>Technology</u>

		Factor					
	Web Quality	Info Quality - Sys. (Integration)	Tech. Support	Sys. Quality	Security		
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Info quality Content	.330	.681	.206	.158	.213		
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Info quality Availability	.210	.818	.142	.116	010		
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Info quality Accuracy	.281	.782	.229	.145	.136		
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Info quality Timeliness	.184	.773	.100	.187	.169		
Tchnlgy: IS Structre Info quality Convenience	.288	.670	.248	.155	008		
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Info quality – Vert. integ.	.083	.676	046	.091	.089		
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Info quality – Horiz. Integ.	.433	.629	022	.013	.078		

Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Info quality	.156	.768	.174	.144	.194
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality Reliability	.203	.324	.199	.589	.370
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality Ease of use	.179	.270	.113	.735	.263
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality Accessibility	.384	.273	.229	.546	.323
Sys. quality Usefulness	.388	.234	.064	.623	.026
Sys. quality flexibility	.320	.422	.143	.596	.087
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Sys. quality – Horiz. integ.	.279	.658	.028	.183	.264
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Sys. quality – Intrnt integ.	.296	.702	.165	.093	.161
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality	.076	.566	.071	.283	032
Tchnlgy: IS Structure - Web quality Usability	.761	.227	.132	.387	.205
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality Layout	.831	.119	.269	.283	.033
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality Navigation	.816	.191	.158	.300	.064
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality Consistency	.791	.294	.119	.382	.090
Tchnlgy: IS Structure - Web quality Content	.869	.170	.133	.143	.190

Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality – No. of services	.843	.230	.065	.090	.139	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality Stge1	.817	.255	.069	.008	.182	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality Stge2	.670	.288	.165	050	.133	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure - Web quality Stge3	.718	.300	.086	.009	.327	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure - Web quality Stge4	.673	.309	.199	005	.242	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Web quality	.729	.292	.081	.147	.222	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Security Data protection	.347	.050	.324	.207	.815	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Security S/W protection	.306	.186	.271	.331	.743	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Security Access prvlgs	.317	.358	.252	.012	.674	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Security	.348	.330	.298	.284	.536	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure - H/W Quality	.345	.233	.180	.367	.013	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – H/W – Vert. integ.	.250	.308	.221	.124	.114	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure - H/W - Horiz. integ.	.385	.368	.036	061	055	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure - H/W	.154	.307	.145	.326	.297	
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Reliability1	.181	.122	.809	.026	.184	

Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Reliability2	.021	.183	.836	.100	.090
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Reliability3	.052	.221	.796	044	.142
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Competence1	.141	.045	.652	.288	.288
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Responsiveness	.085	.047	.653	.186	.041
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Timeliness1	017	.063	.679	.061	067
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Timeliness2	.276	.238	.587	060	051
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Comm.1	.209	.130	.466	.101	.217
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Comm.3	.269	.389	.312	.032	.340
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Comm.4	.112	004	.613	.192	.191
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Comm.5	.149	.020	.786	003	.127
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Commitment	.375	.203	.124	.181	.167
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Access	.116	.257	.296	.274	035

Extraction Method: Principal Axis Factoring. Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization. Rotation converged in 7 iterations. Loading rule: Choose loading number greater than 0.5 on one factor, and less than 0.5 on all others. Eigenvalues: 22.012, 4.657, 3.379, 2.322, 2.079, 1.613, 1.438 and 1.222

4. <u>People</u>

	Factor				
	HR Training & Development	Impact - Customer Service Skills	Skills		
People: Impact on employees	.206	.753	.006		
People: Skills - Adapt. to change	030	.417	.713		
People: Skills - Cust. Serv.	.145	.702	.208		
Like Computers	.083	016	.757		
People: HR Train. & Dev.1	.826	.012	.012		
People: HR Train. & Dev.2	.925	.153	.089		
People: HR Train. & Dev.3	.910	.159	.144		
People: HR Train. & Dev.4	.849	.184	.137		
People: HR Train. & Dev.5	.782	.199	081		
People: HR Train. & Dev.6	.852	.153	.039		
People: HR Train. & Dev.7	.854	.115	045		

Extraction Method: Principal Axis Factoring.

Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization. Rotation converged in 5 iterations. Loading rule: Choose loading number greater than 0.5 on one factor, and less than 0.5 on all others. Eigenvalues: 5.790, 1.871, and 1.146

II. Tax Unit for Non-Commercial Professions (TUNC)

1. <u>Strategy</u>

		Factor					
	Action Plan – Goals - Challenges - Stakeholders	Resource Alloc. – Accountability – Structure - Policies & Procedures	Motives - IT Budget Alignment	Stakeholders' Identification	Strategy & Action Plan Alignment - Leadership		
Strategy: Action Plan	.903	.238	164	.150	034		
Strategy:Goals 2	.661	.304	.034	.475	428		
Strategy: Motives	.333	.211	.720	.404	.116		
Strategy: Challenges	.855	.149	.381	.095	.143		
Strategy: Strtgic Align 2	.322	.384	.363	.267	.657		
Strategy: Strtgic Align 3	.028	.192	.874	.129	.374		
Strategy: Action Plan – Org Rsrce alloc	110	.834	.036	.405	.274		
Strategy: Action Plan – Org Accountability	.257	.884	.118	041	.183		
Strategy: Action Plan – Org Structure	.173	.800	.482	.162	128		
Strategy: Action Plan – Org. – Est. & imp of policies & procedures	.445	.736	.130	.179	.365		
Strategy: Action Plan – Org. – Leadership	.075	.383	.422	.197	.732		
Strategy: Action Plan – Identif. of stkeholdrs	.268	.034	.273	.848	.099		
Strategy: Action Plan – Role of each stkeholdr	.922	.013	.283	.156	.084		
Strategy: Action Plan – Value on each stkeholdr	.907	.126	.063	.211	.217		

Strategy: Action Plan – Promotion	.273	.410	.149	.772	.249

Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization. Rotation converged in 10 iterations.

Loading rule: Choose loading number greater than 0.5 on one factor, and less than 0.5 on all others.

Eigenvalues: 7.927, 2.592, 1.452 and 1.088

2. <u>Processes</u>

		Factor						
	Evaluation of Feedback & Impact of Stakeholders	Business Process Change (Definition & Integration)	Evaluation of E-Government & Use of Employees					
Processes: BPC	.092	093	.427					
Processes: BPC – Motives of BPC	655	.310	201					
Processes: BPC – Focal areas of BPC	791	.320	.096					
Processes: BPC – Define BPs	.314	.892	103					
Processes: BPC – Document BPs	834	.230	.125					
Processes: BPC – Vertical integration	409	.808	.105					
Processes: BPC – Horizontal integration	168	.505	812					
Processes: Evaluation	267	.491	.596					
Processes: Evaluation – Design/reality gap	.166	.447	.864					
Processes: Evaluation – Use of employees	513	.274	.782					
Processes: Evaluation – Citizens feedback – PU	.918	182	.022					

Processes: Evaluation – Citizens feedback – PEOU	.924	072	.077
Processes: Evaluation – Citizens feedback Stsfction	.924	072	.077
Processes: Evaluation – Citizens feedback Trust	.947	.226	.025
Processes: Evaluation – Employees feedback – PU	.881	.180	064
Processes: Evaluation – Employees feedback – PEOU	.973	072	.044
Processes: Evaluation – Employees feedback Stsfction	.881	149	014
Processes: Evaluation – Impact on stkhlders	.947	.226	.025

Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization. Rotation converged in 6 iterations. Loading rule: Choose loading number greater than 0.5 on one factor, and less than 0.5 on all others.

Eigenvalues: 9.401, 3.103, 2.209, 1.956 and 1.099

3.	Technology

	Factor							
	Inf. & Sys. Quality	Website (Content) – Security - H/W	Tech. Support	Website (Usability)	Website Quality - S/W Security	Website (Interactivity) – Tech. Support (Reliability)	Tech. Support (Competence)	Tech. Support (Comm.)
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Info quality Accuracy	.860	.154	.373	080	169	.163	166	.097
Tchnlgy: IS Structre Info quality Convenience	.648	.160	.289	280	457	.258	336	061
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Info quality – Vert. integ.	.741	141	.240	.132	420	091	.221	.350
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Info quality – Intrnt integ.	.584	280	.413	.356	.314	.137	032	.406
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Info quality	.919	.153	.065	.036	016	051	.347	.055
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality Reliability	.952	072	215	.061	108	002	.107	.122
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality Ease of use	.904	188	.056	.198	067	199	248	.018
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality Accessibility	.845	085	.084	090	205	309	274	223
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality Usefulness	.938	.036	.117	134	.004	.209	.030	207
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality flexibility	.902	156	.236	.185	.214	003	158	021
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Sys. quality – Vert. integ.	.973	149	100	.111	.021	029	082	018
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Sys. quality – Horiz. integ.	.770	.184	.150	231	078	.509	.102	150
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Sys. quality – Intrnt integ.	.759	037	.479	.290	049	.243	210	053

Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality Usability	.222	.109	.322	.780	.460	.024	.123	003	I
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality Layout	190	.664	.443	.395	.272	.139	232	153	I
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality Navigation	.004	.382	.113	.872	225	174	-6.14E-005	.009	I
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality Consistency	.015	.316	.210	.775	.368	049	313	.140	1
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality Content	005	.709	.265	.358	.221	073	493	048	I
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality – No. of services	.149	105	.420	.341	.291	.757	124	.021	1
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality Stge1	.313	.708	.027	.046	.006	.301	.263	.280	I
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality Stge2	021	.078	.319	080	.090	.933	.068	.035	I
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality Stge3	199	098	120	055	.853	.452	042	002	I
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Web quality	.074	.419	.059	.178	.863	.047	.181	.058	I
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Security Data protection	164	.810	.099	.067	.316	006	.277	354	I
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Security S/W protection	446	.172	396	.044	.741	.066	.245	.011	I
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Security Data transfer	.111	.818	.250	.293	.158	045	.240	293	I
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Security Access prvlgs	124	.609	021	.430	.464	417	193	037	I
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Security	.092	.824	.144	.398	.032	097	.218	.276	I

Tchnlgy: IS Structure – H/W Quality	478	.822	.001	.163	019	107	236	.040
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – H/W – Vert. integ.	.017	.914	.085	.083	204	.225	127	.206
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – H/W – Horiz. integ.	079	.930	.268	097	148	.074	.141	.033
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – H/W	084	.943	.127	001	.220	.063	175	.069
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Reliability1	179	.217	.392	224	.178	.613	.316	.209
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Reliability2	.149	.202	.553	210	.141	.440	.292	.277
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Reliability3	.157	.249	.846	039	.082	.417	.126	.031
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Competence2	294	036	.222	189	.206	.137	.874	.043
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Responsiveness	.175	.121	.912	.222	.048	.203	.102	138
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Timeliness1	.012	.061	.949	.128	216	.090	.019	153
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Timeliness2	.161	.169	.662	.200	468	.091	.436	.222
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Comm.1	377	.235	.134	.416	.083	.192	.191	.729
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Comm.2	.197	.326	.854	.206	.090	.160	.125	.184
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Comm.3	.254	.289	.812	.200	178	074	166	.297
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Comm.4	.207	.149	.363	.738	152	.184	306	.328
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Comm.5	079	.477	.597	.371	239	.179	346	.253

Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization. Rotation converged in 15 iterations. Loading rule: Choose loading number greater than 0.5 on one factor, and less than 0.5 on all others. Eigenvalues: 14.038, 11.184, 5.428, 4.169, 3.964, 2.425 and 1.911

	Fa	actor	
	HR Training & Development	Skills	Satisfaction - Impact
People: US	.413	.184	.598
People: Impact on employees	.125	.177	.957
People: Skills – Adapt. to change	.121	.531	.449
People: Skills – Integration	.160	.725	.165
People: Skills – Cust. Serv.	103	.831	046
People: HR Train. & Dev.1	.866	.241	.271
People: HR Train. & Dev.2	.837	.191	.225
People: HR Train. & Dev.3	.753	.206	.376
People: HR Train. & Dev.4	.891	.179	.215
People: HR Train. & Dev.5	.773	.160	.010
People: HR Train. & Dev.6	.732	140	.098
People: HR Train. & Dev.7	.771	084	.043

4. <u>People</u>

Extraction Method: Principal Axis Factoring. Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization.

III. Ministry of Investment (MOI)

	Component					
	Strategic Alignment - Stakeholders' Identification – Promotion - Leadership	Challenges - IT Budget Alignment - Leadership (Dealing with Risks) - Internal Funding	Resource Alloc External Funding - Stakeholders' Value	Accountability - Policies & Procedures	Action Plan - Goals	
Strategy: Action Plan	.452	046	443	.266	.737	
Strategy:Goals 2	.111	.100	.110	.117	.944	
Strategy: Challenges	171	.933	.159	.038	013	
Strategy: Strtgic Align 1	.713	.377	.420	.371	176	
Strategy: Strtgic Align 2	.711	.116	.146	.303	295	
Strategy: Strtgic Align 3	.232	.883	.291	.133	024	
Strategy: Action Plan – Org Rsrce alloc	.048	083	.904	.178	141	
Strategy: Action Plan – Org Accountability	.495	.082	.076	.820	.160	
Strategy: Action Plan – Org. – Est. & imp of policies & procedures	.064	.157	.036	.966	048	
Strategy: Action Plan – Org. – Leadership	052	.584	036	.263	729	
Strategy: Action Plan – Funding Internal	.376	.548	.419	.425	.317	
Strategy: Action Plan – Funding External	.254	.499	.776	.244	.095	
Strategy: Action Plan – Identif. of stkeholdrs	.570	.303	.337	.023	.480	
Strategy: Action Plan – Value on each stkeholdr	.292	.126	.785	.296	109	

1. <u>Strategy</u>

Strategy: Action Plan – Promotion	.895	077	.350	.071	.246
Strategy: Action Plan – Org Leadership 1	.949	004	.017	.166	.209
Strategy: Action Plan – Org Leadership 2	.908	074	.054	.106	.139
Strategy: Action Plan – Org Leadership 3	.934	.060	.164	.209	113
Strategy: Action Plan – Org Leadership 4	.766	.317	163	037	.225

Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization. Rotation converged in 6 iterations.

Loading rule: Choose loading number greater than 0.5 on one factor, and less than 0.5 on all others. Eigenvalues: 8.947, 3.505, 2.374, 1.547 and 1.393

2. Processes

		Component		
	Evaluation of Citizens' Usage, Employees & Citizens' Feedback	Business Process Change (BPC) - Evaluation of E-Government	Business Process Change (Motives & Areas)	Business Processes (Documentation)
Processes: BPC	.163	400	.556	.004
Processes: BPC – Motives of BPC	024	.165	.844	099
Processes: BPC – Focal areas of BPC	235	.346	.856	.156
Processes: BPC – Define BPs	.079	.526	.070	.820
Processes: BPC – Document BPs	322	.334	218	.719
Processes: BPC – Streamline BPs	175	.832	.012	.351
Processes: BPC – Vertical integration	.029	.917	018	008

Processes: BPC – Horizontal integration	.004	.673	.153	.048
Processes: Evaluation	.227	.858	.137	.245
Processes: Evaluation – Design/reality gap	.225	.807	.357	.024
Processes: Evaluation – Use of citizens	.531	.428	344	604
Processes: Evaluation – Citizens feedback – PU	.825	.088	232	302
Processes: Evaluation – Citizens feedback – PEOU	.791	.202	237	178
Processes: Evaluation – Citizens feedback Stsfction	.908	004	364	.139
Processes: Evaluation – Citizens feedback Trust	.854	.042	498	.070
Processes: Evaluation – Employees feedback – PU	.900	.074	.206	126
Processes: Evaluation – Employees feedback – PEOU	.925	.075	.161	074
Processes: Evaluation – Employees feedback Stsfction	.900	.074	.206	126

Extraction Method: Principal Axis Factoring. Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization. Rotation converged in 6 iterations.

Loading rule: Choose loading number greater than 0.5 on one factor, and less than 0.5 on all others. Eigenvalues: 7.062, 4.668, 2.509 and 1.332

3. <u>Technology</u>

	Component				
	Info (Integration) - Website Quality – Tech. Support	Website (No. of Services) – Security - H/W – Tech. Support (Reliability)	Info & Sys. Quality	Sys. (Integration) - Website (Transaction) - S/W Security	Website (Consistency)
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Info quality – Vert. integ.	.663	101	.326	.034	.230
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Info quality – Horiz. Integ.	.832	.012	.021	011	.104
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Info quality	.479	.212	.521	.116	011
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality Ease of use	.213	163	.923	.028	005
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality flexibility	077	.055	.963	188	073
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Sys. quality – Vert. integ.	289	.359	.508	645	219
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Sys. quality – Horiz. integ.	317	415	.019	.758	.147
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Sys. quality – Intrnt integ.	.284	007	.817	.020	.435
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality Consistency	.122	.468	.064	.254	.771
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality Content	.748	.218	.270	.096	.481
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality – No. of services	.305	.607	.293	011	.589
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality Stge1	.474	.591	.072	.214	.523
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality Stge2	.657	.172	124	.397	.517
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality Stge4	.048	160	599	.741	108
---	------	------	------	------	------
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Web quality	.554	.372	.123	120	.627
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Security Data protection	030	.906	261	.220	.056
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Security S/W protection	.407	.174	246	.566	.115
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Security Data transfer	.016	.620	053	.421	.147
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Security Access prvlgs	.023	.941	041	043	.142
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Security	.023	.902	.048	.215	.200
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – H/W Quality	.340	.687	.296	490	.098
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – H/W – Vert. integ.	.835	.309	.166	.007	.105
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – H/W	.169	.702	.064	.042	.180
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Reliability1	.065	.813	020	.031	031
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Reliability2	.489	.833	.104	.104	024
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Reliability3	.182	.761	.087	.035	.084
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Competence2	.905	.296	.110	.090	.102
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Responsiveness	.756	.013	007	.338	.086
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Timeliness1	.831	.411	.002	.323	003

Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Comm.1	.727	.584	.072	.016	.129
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Comm.2	.630	077	.431	.165	.160

Extraction Method: Principal Axis Factoring.

Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization. Rotation converged in 9 iterations.

Loading rule: Choose loading number greater than 0.5 on one factor, and less than 0.5 on all others.

Eigenvalues: 16.418, 4.589, 3.388, 2.010 and 1.183

4. <u>People</u>

	Component				
	HR Training & Development 1	Satisfaction – Impact - Skills	HR Training & Development 2		
People: US	.473	.810	165		
People: Impact on employees	.135	.810	.393		
People: Skills – Adapt. to change	135	.739	.493		
People: Skills – Integration	184	.698	079		
Like Computers	118	.706	.304		
People: HR Train. & Dev.1	.934	.013	.273		
People: HR Train. & Dev.2	.359	.211	.825		
People: HR Train. & Dev.3	.284	.193	.897		
People: HR Train. & Dev.5	.509	.072	.788		
People: HR Train. & Dev.6	.944	067	.284		
People: HR Train. & Dev.7	.942	089	.281		

Extraction Method: Principal Axis Factoring.

Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization. Rotation converged in 5 iterations.

Loading rule: Choose loading number greater than 0.5 on one factor, and less than 0.5 on all others. Eigenvalues: 5.149, 2.895 and 1.194

IV. Public Hospital (PH)

		Component						
	Motives - Strategic Alignment – Structure – Funding - Leadership	Challenges – Value on Stakeholders	IT strategy - Goals	Role of Stakeholders	Stakeholders' Identification			
IT Strategy	.048	443	.776	.142	336			
Strategy:Goals 2	.052	.454	.786	.210	069			
Strategy: Motives	.638	.425	292	.113	001			
Strategy: Challenges	.439	.710	.273	102	186			
Strategy: Strtgic Align 2	.711	046	317	505	020			
Strategy: Strtgic Align 3	.746	.099	515	.164	244			
Strategy: Action Plan – Org Structure	.581	139	.172	.357	620			
Strategy: Action Plan – Org. – Leadership	.659	126	601	249	080			
Strategy: Action Plan – Funding Internal	.673	028	368	.467	.119			
Strategy: Action Plan – Identif. of stkeholdrs	.455	.118	.038	.496	.664			
Strategy: Action Plan – Role of each stkeholdr	.475	.323	.317	.501	.106			
Strategy: Action Plan – Value on each stkeholdr	.351	.676	.451	306	.195			
Strategy: Action Plan – Org Leadership 1	.514	673	.358	.084	.369			
Strategy: Action Plan – Org Leadership 2	.535	672	.419	058	.214			

1. <u>Strategy</u>

Strategy: Action Plan – Org Leadership 3	.808	248	.202	462	.088
Strategy: Action Plan – Org Leadership 4	.789	349	.275	.015	185

Extraction Method: Principal Axis Factoring.

Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization. Rotation converged in 9 iterations.

Loading rule: Choose loading number greater than 0.5 on one factor, and less than 0.5 on all others.

Eigenvalues: 5.371, 3.321, 2.996, 1.649 and 1.331

2. <u>Processes</u>

		Component				
	Business Process Change (BPC)	Evaluation of Employees' Use & Impact on Stakeholders	Evaluation of E- Government			
Processes: BPC	.690	.222	452			
Processes: BPC – Motives of BPC	.813	.039	120			
Processes: BPC – Focal areas of BPC	.668	.356	083			
Processes: BPC – Define BPs	.775	061	.435			
Processes: BPC – Streamline BPs	.825	059	.415			
Processes: BPC – Vertical integration	.794	.033	.067			
Processes: Evaluation	.072	.556	.466			
Processes: Evaluation – Design/reality gap	.041	.052	.862			
Processes: Evaluation – Use of employees	073	.904	.095			
Processes: Evaluation – Impact on stkhlders	.156	.628	035			

Extraction Method: Principal Axis Factoring. Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization. Rotation converged in 6 iterations.

Loading rule: Choose loading number greater than 0.5 on one factor, and less than 0.5 on all others. Eigenvalues: 3.698, 1.764 and 1.446

	Component					
	Security - H/W – Tech. Support	Info (Convenience) - Sys. Quality – Tech. Support (Comm.)	Info (Timeliness & Internet Integration) - Sys. (Reliability)	Sys. (Usability, Accessibility, Flexibility)	Info (Availability, Accuracy, Vert. Integration)	Info (Horiz. Integration)
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Info quality Availability	.160	.264	.271	.429	.781	136
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Info quality Accuracy	.064	.110	011	.270	.924	.034
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Info quality Timeliness	.081	.002	.891	.052	.198	273
Tchnlgy: IS Structre Info quality Convenience	.363	.501	.320	.489	063	039
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Info quality – Vert. integ.	.097	.055	.400	.330	.618	.454
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Info quality – Horiz. Integ.	058	.391	.065	.334	.250	.707
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Info quality – Intrnt integ.	.031	.229	.931	.234	054	.106
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality Reliability	182	147	.673	.041	.127	125
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality Ease of use	305	077	.499	.736	.193	.067
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality Accessibility	015	187	.034	.931	.273	028
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality Usefulness	011	784	.016	.169	.050	.051
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality flexibility	151	.163	.136	.893	.187	060

3. <u>Technology</u>

Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Sys. quality – Horiz. integ.	.553	652	.473	.055	.041	171
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Sys. quality – Intrnt integ.	090	082	.103	.145	.213	144
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality	.171	.593	.315	.190	.454	024
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Security Data protection	.929	.072	343	.068	.084	.019
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Security S/W protection	.872	197	.005	186	180	.212
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Security Data transfer	.834	.077	267	.168	035	.363
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Security	008	.414	.187	573	291	333
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – H/W Quality	.800	292	.250	222	032	.291
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – H/W – Vert. integ.	.873	.143	.426	065	.095	080
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – H/W – Horiz. integ.	.833	.305	.043	087	.055	365
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – H/W	.750	.411	.013	096	.392	260
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Competence1	.767	.125	.361	075	012	.264
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Competence2	.765	.310	021	043	.260	037
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Comm.1	.332	.744	.087	240	.208	.195
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Comm.2	.261	.896	.075	.001	.140	109
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Comm.3	.148	.160	121	.078	.082	.929

Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Comm.4	.203	.720	.465	.404	.133	.072
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Comm.5	.605	.383	.191	.384	040	.183
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Commitment	231	.026	.119	.086	.223	056

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis. Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization. Rotation converged in 9 iterations. Loading rule: Choose loading number greater than 0.5 on one factor, and less than 0.5 on all others. Eigenvalues: 8.951, 6.724, 4.414, 2.913, 2.417, 1.972, 1.676 and 1.252

4. <u>People</u>

	Component				
	HR Training & Development 1	Impact – CS Skills – Satisfaction - HR Training & Development 2	Adapt. to Change Skills		
People: Impact on employees	.349	.742	455		
People: Skills – Adapt. to change	.048	.332	.573		
People: Skills – Cust. Serv.	.353	.658	.413		
Like Computers	.038	.822	.400		
People: HR Train. & Dev.1	.917	.284	004		
People: HR Train. & Dev.2	.910	.252	012		
People: HR Train. & Dev.3	.369	.658	015		
People: HR Train. & Dev.4	.878	.103	.119		

Extraction Method: Principal Axis Factoring. Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization. Rotation converged in 3 iterations. Loading rule: Choose loading number greater than 0.5 on one factor, and less than 0.5 on all others. Eigenvalues: 5.165 and 1.731

Appendix E: Correlations

I. Montaza District (MD)

1. <u>Strategy</u>

		Leadership - Stakeholders - Promotion	Funding - Stakeholders' Identification	Objectives - Accountability	Strategic Alignment	IT Strategy
Leadership – Stakeholders - Promotion	Pearson Correlation	1	.234	001	060	.090
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.106	.996	.658	.518
	N	60	49	58	56	54
Funding - Stakeholders' Identification	Pearson Correlation	.234	1	179	.2 10	001
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.106		.205	.131	.996
	N	49	58	52	53	51
Objectives - Accountability	Pearson Correlation	001	179	1	.219	.416(**)
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.996	.205		.095	.001
	N	58	52	63	59	56
Strategic Alignment	Pearson Correlation	060	.210	.219	1	.234
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.658	.131	.095		.085
	N	56	53	59	63	55
IT Strategy	Pearson Correlation	.090	001	.416(**)	.2 34	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.518	.996	.001	.085	
	N	54	51	56	55	62

** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

2. <u>Processes</u>

		Evaluation of Citizens feedback	Evaluation of employees feedback	Business Process Change (BPC)
Evaluation of Citizens feedback	Pearson Correlation	1	.265	025
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.099	.863
	N	53	40	49
Evaluation of employees feedback	Pearson Correlation	.265	1	.377(*)
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.099		.013
	N	40	49	43
Business Process Change (BPC)	Pearson Correlation	025	.377(*)	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.863	.013	
	N	49	43	62

* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

		Web Quality	Info Quality - Sys. Integration	Tech Support	Sys. Quality	Security
Web Quality	Pearson Correlation	1	.230	.077	.342(*)	354(*)
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.159	.619	.029	.018
	N	55	39	44	41	44
Info Quality - Sys. Integration	Pearson Correlation	.230	1	.256	.207	.149
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.159		.116	.195	.372
	N	39	52	39	41	38
Tech Support	Pearson Correlation	.077	.256	1	.143	393(*)
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.619	.116		.366	.012
	N	44	39	53	42	40
Sys. Quality	Pearson Correlation	.342(*)	.207	.143	1	.000
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.029	.195	.366		.998
	Ν	41	41	42	54	40
Security	Pearson Correlation	354(*)	.149	393(*)	.000	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.018	.372	.012	.998	
	N	44	38	40	40	51

3. Technology

* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

4. <u>People</u>

		HR Training & Development	Impact - Customer Service Skills	Skills
HR Training & Development	Pearson Correlation	1	.393(*)	133
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.012	.440
	N	44	40	36
Impact - Customer Service Skills	Pearson Correlation	.393(*)	1	.433(**)
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.012		.001
	N	40	60	52
Skills	Pearson Correlation	133	.433(**)	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.440	.001	
	Ν	36	52	60

* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).
** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

II. Tax Unit for Non-Commercial professions (TUNC)

1. <u>Strategy</u>

		Action Plan – Goals - Challenges - Stakeholders	Rsrce Alloc. – Accountability – Structure - Policies & Procedures	Motives - IT Budget Alignment	Stakeholders' Identification	Strategy & Action Plan Alignment - Leadership
Action Plan – Goals - Challenges - Stakeholders	Pearson Correlation	1	.005	.012	.500(**)	.277
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.995	.978	.002	.383
	N	12	12	12	12	12
Rsrce Alloc. – Accountability – Structure - Policies & Procedures	Pearson Correlation	.005	1	.034	.023	.042
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.995		0.970	.944	.896
	N	12	12	12	12	12
Motives - IT Budget Alignment	Pearson Correlation	.012	.034	1	.279	.241
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.978	0.970		.379	.450
	N	12	12	12	12	12
Stakeholders' Identification	Pearson Correlation	.500(**)	.023	.279	1	.000
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.002	.944	.379		1.000
	N	12	12	12	13	13
Strategy & Action Plan Alignment - Leadership	Pearson Correlation	.277	.042	.241	.000	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.383	.896	.450	1.000	
	Ν	12	12	12	13	13

** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

2. <u>Processes</u>

		Evaluation of Feedback & Impact of Stakeholders	Business Process Change (BPC) Definition & Integration	Evaluation of E- Government & Use of Employees
Evaluation of Feedback & Impact of Stakeholders	Pearson Correlation	1	.528(*)	.027
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.021	.954
	N	7	7	7
Business Process Change (BPC) Definition & Integration	Pearson Correlation	.528(*)	1	.426
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.021		.225
	N	7	7	7
Evaluation of E- Government & Use of Employees	Pearson Correlation	.027	.426	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.954	.225	
	N	7	7	7

* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

3. Technology

		Inf. & Sys. Quality	Website Content – Security - H/W	Tech. Support	Website Usability	Website Quality - S/W Security	Website Interactivity – Tech. Support Reliability
Inf. & Sys. Quality	Pearson Correlation	1	.182	.102	.012	.078	.181
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.289	.555	.946	.651	.291
	Ν	26	26	26	26	26	26
Website Content – Security - H/W	Pearson Correlation	.182	1	.031	.537(**)	.569(**)	.445
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.289		.857	.000	.000	.053
	Ν	26	26	26	26	26	26
Tech. Support	Pearson Correlation	.102	.031	1	.153	.164	.031
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.555	.857		.373	.338	.858
	N	26	26	26	26	26	26
Website Usability	Pearson Correlation	.012	.537(**)	.153	1	.063	.537(**)
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.946	.000	.373		.717	.000
	N	26	26	26	26	26	26
Website Quality - S/W Security	Pearson Correlation	.078	.569(**)	.164	.063	1	.471
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.651	.000	.338	.717		.051
	Ν	26	26	26	26	26	26
Website Interactivity – Tech. Support Reliability	Pearson Correlation	.181	.445	.031	.537(**)	.471	1
Ĩ	Sig. (2-tailed)	.291	.053	.858	.000	.051	
	Ν	26	26	26	26	26	26

** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

4. <u>People</u>

		HR Training & Development	Skills	Satisfaction - Impact
HR Training & Development	Pearson Correlation	1	.457	.118
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.060	.494
	Ν	18	18	18
Skills	Pearson Correlation	.457	1	.038
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.060		.827
	N	18	18	18
- Satisfaction Impact	Pearson Correlation	.118	.038	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.494	.827	
	N	18	18	18

III. Ministry of Investment (MOI)

		Strategic Alignment - Stakeholders' Identification – Promotion - Leadership	Challenges - IT Budget Alignment - Leadership (dealing with risks) - Internal Funding	Rsrce Alloc External Funding - Stakeholders' Value	Accountability - Policies & Procedures	Action Plan - Goals
Strategic Alignment - Stakeholders' Identification – Promotion - Leadership	Pearson Correlation	1	.629	.504	.208	.148
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.095	.054	.712	.779
	N	8	8	6	6	6
Challenges - IT Budget Alignment - Leadership (dealing with risks) - Internal Funding	Pearson Correlation	.629	1	.451	.277	.368
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.095		.085	.595	.473
	Ν	8	8	6	6	6
Rsrce Alloc External Funding - Stakeholders' Value	Pearson Correlation	.504	.451	1	.397	.024
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.054	.085		.090	.951
	N	6	6	9	9	9
Accountability - Policies & Procedures	Pearson Correlation	.208	.277	.397	1	.012
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.712	.595	.090		.976
	N	6	6	9	9	9
Action Plan - Goals	Pearson Correlation	.148	.368	.024	.012	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.779	.473	.951	.976	
	N	6	6	9	9	10

1. <u>Strategy</u>

2. Processes

		Evaluation of Citizens' Usage, Employees & Citizens' Feedback	Business Process Change (BPC) - Evaluation of E- Government	Business Process Change (BPC) Motives & Areas	Business Processes' Documentation
Evaluation of Citizens'	Pearson				
Usage, Employees & Citizens' Feedback	Correlation	1	.080	.088	.452
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.805	.786	.557
	Ν	12	12	12	12
Business Process Change (BPC) - Evaluation of E- Government	Pearson Correlation	.080	1	.109	.080
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.805		.736	.805
	Ν	12	12	12	12
Business Process Change (BPC) Motives & Areas	Pearson Correlation	.088	.109	1	.088
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.786	.736		.786
	N	12	12	12	12
Business Processes' Documentation	Pearson Correlation	.452	.080	.088	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.557	.805	.786	
	N	12	12	12	12

3. <u>Technology</u>

		Info integration - Website Quality – Tech. Support	Website Services – Security - H/W – Tech. Support Reliability	Info & Sys. Quality	Sys. Integration - Website Transaction - S/W Security	Website Consistency
Info integration - Website Quality – Tech. Support	Pearson Correlation	1	.316	.023	.357(**)	.151
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.446	.957	.007	.849
	Ν	8	8	8	8	4
Website Services – Security - H/W – Tech. Support Reliability	Pearson Correlation	.316	1	.267	.151	.601
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.446		.522	.721	.399
	Ν	8	8	8	8	4
Info & Sys. Quality	Pearson Correlation	.023	.267	1	.156	.042
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.957	.522		.711	.958
	Ν	8	8	8	8	4
Sys. Integration - Website Transaction - S/W Security	Pearson Correlation	.357(**)	.151	.156	1	.478
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.007	.721	.711		.522
	Ν	8	8	8	8	4
Website Consistency	Pearson Correlation	.151	.601	.042	.478	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.849	.399	.958	.522	
	Ν	4	4	4	4	8

** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

4. <u>People</u>

		HR Training & Development 1	Satisfaction – Impact - Skills	HR Training & Development 2
HR Training & Development 1	Pearson Correlation	1	.113	.009
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.655	.973
	Ν	18	18	18
Satisfaction – Impact - Skills	Pearson Correlation	.113	1	.141
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.655		.576
	Ν	18	18	18
HR Training & Development 2	Pearson Correlation	.009	.141	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.973	.576	
	Ν	18	18	18

IV. Public Hospital (PH)

		Motives - Strategic Alignment – Structure – Funding - Leadership	Challenges – Value on Stakeholders	IT strategy - Goals	Role of Stakeholders	Stakeholders' Identification
Motives - Strategic	Pearson					
Alignment – Structure –	Correlation	1	.235	.051	.141	.014
Funding - Leadership						
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.462	.874	.661	.965
	N	12	19	12	17	12
Challenges – Value on Stakeholders	Pearson Correlation	.235	1	.000	.000	.000
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.462		1.000	1.000	1.000
	N	19	12	17	12	13
IT strategy - Goals	Pearson Correlation	.050(*)	.000	1	.000	.000
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.874	1.000		1.000	1.000
	N	12	17	12	13	15
Role of Stakeholders	Pearson Correlation	.141	.000	.000	1	.000
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.661	1.000	1.000		1.000
	N	17	12	13	15	17
Stakeholders' Identification	Pearson Correlation	.014	.000	.000	.000	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.965	1.000	1.000	1.000	
	N	12	13	15	17	13

1. <u>Strategy</u>

* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

2. Processes

		Business Process Change (BPC)	Evaluation of employees' Use & Impact on Stakeholders	Evaluation of E- Government
Business Process Change (BPC)	Pearson Correlation	1	.224	.068
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.720	.879
	N	41	35	35
Evaluation of employees' Use & Impact on Stakeholders	Pearson Correlation	.224	1	.000
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.720		1.000
	N	35	35	5
Evaluation of E-Government	Pearson Correlation	.068	.000	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.879	1.000	
	N	35	35	35

3. Technology

		Security - H/W – Tech. Support	Info Convenience - Sys. Quality – Tech. Support Communication	Info Timeliness & Internet Integration - Sys. Reliability	Sys. Usability, Accessibility, & Flexibility	Info Availability, Accuracy, & Vert. Integration	Info Horiz. Integration
Security - H/W – Tech. Support	Pearson Correlation	1	.128	.197	.055	.121	.034
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.763	.640	.898	.775	.936
	N	8	8	8	8	8	8
Info Convenience - Sys. Quality – Tech. Support Communication	Pearson Correlation	.128	1	.475	.131	.292	.082
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.763		.235	.756	.483	.847
	Ν	8	8	8	8	8	8
Info Timeliness & Internet Integration - Sys. Reliability	Pearson Correlation	.197	.475	1	.203	.450	.127
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.640	.235		.630	.263	.765
	Ν	8	8	8	8	8	8
Sys. Usability, Accessibility, & Flexibility	Pearson Correlation	.055	.131	.203	1	.125	.035
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.898	.756	.630		.768	.934
	Ν	8	8	8	8	8	8
Info Availability, Accuracy, & Vert. Integration	Pearson Correlation	.121	.292	.450	.125	1	.078
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.775	.483	.263	.768		.855
	N	8	8	8	8	8	8
Info Horiz. Integration	Pearson Correlation	.034	.082	.127	.035	.078	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.936	.847	.765	.934	.855	
	Ν	8	8	8	8	8	8

4. <u>People</u>

		HR Training & Development 1	Impact – CS Skills – Satisfaction - HR Training & Development 2	Change Skills
HR Training & Development 1	Pearson Correlation	1	.375	.115
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.628	.868
	N	17	17	17
Impact – CS Skills – Satisfaction - HR Training & Development 2	Pearson Correlation	.375	1	.497(*)
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.628		.045
	N	17	17	17
Change Skills	Pearson Correlation	.115	.497(*)	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.868	.045	
	Ν	17	17	17

* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

Appendix F: Reliability

I. Montaza District (MD)

Dimensions	Cronbach's	Constructs	Cronbach'
	Alpha		s Alpha
Strategy	0.9658	Leadership -Stakeholders - Promotion	0.9733
		Funding - Stakeholders' Identification	0.9899
		Objectives - Accountability	0.9112
		Strategic Alignment	0.9777
		IT Strategy	0.9556
Processes	0.9649	Evaluation of Citizens feedback	0.9334
		Evaluation of employees feedback	0.9800
		Business Process Change (BPC)	0.9865
Technology	0.9887	Web Quality	0.9986
		Info Quality - Sys. Integration	0.9856
		Tech Support	0.9905
		Sys. Quality	0.9136
		Security	0.8993
People	0.8976	HR Training & Development	0.9378
		Impact - Customer Service Skills	0.9865
		Skills	0.9342
EGR	0.9785	EGR	0.9785

Dimensions	Cronbach's	Constructs	Cronbach'
	Alpha		s Alpha
Strategy	0.8996	Action Plan – Goals - Challenges - Stakeholders	0.8994
		Rsrce Alloc. – Accountability – Structure - Policies & Procedures	0.8923
		Motives - IT Budget Alignment	0.9112
		Stakeholders' Identification	0.9003
		Strategy & Action Plan Alignment - Leadership	0.8896
Processes	0.9023	Evaluation of Feedback & Impact of Stakeholders	0.9225
		Business Process Change (BPC) Definition & Integration	0.9100
		Evaluation of E-Government & Use of Employees	0.8867
Technology	0.8867	Inf. & Sys. Quality	0.8990
		Website Content – Security - H/W	0.8996
		Tech. Support	0.8990
		Website Usability	0.9023
		Website Quality - S/W Security	0.9134
		Website Interactivity – Tech. Support Reliability	0.9008
People	0.8962	HR Training & Development	0.9111
		Skills	0.8475
		Satisfaction - Impact	0.8663
EGR	0.9001	EGR	0.9128

II. Tax Unit for Non-Commercial professions (TUNC)

III.	Ministry of Inve	estment (MOI)
------	------------------	---------------

Dimensions	Cronbach'	Constructs	Cronbach'
	s Alpha		s Alpha
Strategy	0.9275	Strategic Alignment - Stakeholders' Identification – Promotion - Leadership	0.9668
		Challenges - IT Budget Alignment - Leadership (dealing with risks) - Internal Funding	0.9121
		Rsrce Alloc External Funding - Stakeholders' Value	0.9047
		Accountability - Policies & Procedures	0.9256
		Action Plan - Goals	0.9111
Processes	0.9359	Evaluation of Citizens' Usage, Employees & Citizens' Feedback	0.9008
		Business Process Change (BPC) - Evaluation of E-Government	0.9076
		Business Process Change (BPC) Motives & Areas	0.9336
		Business Processes' Documentation	0.9591
Technology	0.9447	Info integration - Website Quality – Tech. Support	0.9867
		Website Services – Security - H/W – Tech. Support Reliability	0.9774
		Info & Sys. Quality	0.9539
		Sys. Integration - Website Transaction - S/W Security	0.9300
		Website Consistency	0.9323
People	0.9789	HR Training & Development 1	0.9582
		Satisfaction – Impact - Skills	0.9833
		HR Training & Development 2	0.9890
EGR	0.9773	EGR	0.9842

IV. Public Hospital (PH)

Dimensions	Cronbach'	Constructs	Cronbach's
	s Alpha		Alpha
Strategy	0.9032	Motives - Strategic Alignment – Structure – Funding - Leadership	0.9173
		Challenges – Value on Stakeholders	0.8983
		IT strategy - Goals	0.9193
		Role of Stakeholders	0.9643
		Stakeholders' Identification	0.9789
Processes	0.9269	Business Process Change (BPC)	0.9045
		Evaluation of employees' Use & Impact on Stakeholders	0.9532
		Evaluation of E-Government	0.9226
Technology	0.8132	Security - H/W – Tech. Support	0.8563
		Info Convenience - Sys. Quality – Tech. Support Communication	0.8220
		Info Timeliness & Internet Integration - Sys. Reliability	0.9136
		Sys. Usability, Accessibility, & Flexibility	0.8987
		Info Availability, Accuracy, & Vert. Integration	0.8118
		Info Horiz. Integration	0.8358
People	0.9141	HR Training & Development 1	0.9087
		Impact – CS Skills – Satisfaction - HR Training & Development 2	0.9073
		Change Skills	0.8997
EGR	0.9512	EGR	0.9437

Appendix G: Validity

I. Montaza District (MD)

Construct	Dimension	Correlations	Significant
		range	level
Strategy	Leadership -Stakeholders - Promotion	(0.578, 0.886)	0.01 (2-tailed)
	Funding - Stakeholders' Identification	(0.656, 0.906)	0.01 (2-tailed)
	Objectives - Accountability	(0.745, 0.996)	0.01 (2-tailed)
	Strategic Alignment	(0.568, 0.784)	0.01 (2-tailed)
	IT Strategy	(0.731, 0.915)	0.05 (2-tailed)
Processes	Evaluation of Citizens feedback	(0.664, 0.894)	0.01 (2-tailed)
	Evaluation of employees feedback	(0.568, 0.919)	0.01 (2-tailed)
	Business Process Change (BPC)	(0.710, 0.899)	0.01 (2-tailed)
Technology	Web Quality	(0.711, 0.857)	0.01 (2-tailed)
	Info Quality - Sys. Integration	(0.597, 0.923)	0.01 (2-tailed)
	Tech Support	(0.665, 0.978)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Sys. Quality	(0.776, 0.853)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Security	(0.634, 0.952)	0.01 (2-tailed)
People	HR Training & Development	(0.701, 0.875)	0.01 (2-tailed)
	Impact - Customer Service Skills	(0.832, 0.975)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Skills	(0.774, 0.933)	0.01 (2-tailed)

Construct	Dimension	Correlations	Significant
		range	level
Strategy	Evaluation of Citizens feedback	(0.742, 0.965)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Evaluation of employees feedback	(0.674, 0.885)	0.01 (2-tailed)
	Business Process Change (BPC)	(0.602, 0.953)	0.01 (2-tailed)
	Web Quality	(0.721, 0.934)	0.01 (2-tailed)
	Info Quality - Sys. Integration	(0.711, 0.967)	0.01 (2-tailed)
Processes	Tech Support	(0.711, 0.937)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Sys. Quality	(0.673, 0.958)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Security	(0.690, 0.922)	0.05 (2-tailed)
Technology	HR Training & Development	(0.611, 0.867)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Impact - Customer Service Skills	(0.599, 0.927)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Skills	(0.714, 0.974)	0.01 (2-tailed)
	Evaluation of Citizens feedback	(0.700, 0.909)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Evaluation of employees feedback	(0.657, 0.910)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Business Process Change (BPC)	(0.599, 0.874)	0.05 (2-tailed)
People	Web Quality	(0.691, 0.922)	0.01 (2-tailed)
	Info Quality - Sys. Integration	(0.710, 0.994)	0.01 (2-tailed)
	Tech Support	(0.774, 0.981)	0.05 (2-tailed)

II. Tax Unit for Non-Commercial Professions (TUNC)

Construct	Dimension	Correlations	Significant
		range	level
Strategy	Strategic Alignment - Stakeholders' Identification – Promotion -	(0.654, 0.901)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Leadership		
	Challenges - IT Budget Alignment - Leadership (dealing with risks) -	(0.788, 0.987)	0.01 (2-tailed)
	Internal Funding		
	Rsrce Alloc External Funding - Stakeholders' Value	(0.729, 0.970)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Accountability - Policies & Procedures	(0.721, 0.988)	0.01 (2-tailed)
	Action Plan - Goals	(0.722, 0.946)	0.01 (2-tailed)
Processes	Evaluation of Citizens' Usage, Employees & Citizens' Feedback	(0.621, 0.886)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Business Process Change (BPC) - Evaluation of E-Government	(0.702, 0.956)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Business Process Change (BPC) Motives & Areas	(0.775, 0.943)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Business Processes' Documentation	(0.722, 0.923)	0.05 (2-tailed)
Technology	Info integration - Website Quality – Tech. Support	(0.745, 0965)	0.01 (2-tailed)
	Website Services – Security - H/W – Tech. Support Reliability	(0.698, 0.900)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Info & Sys. Quality	(0.746, 0.939)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Sys. Integration - Website Transaction - S/W Security	(0.722, 0.924)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Website Consistency	(0.708, 0.914)	0.05 (2-tailed)
People	HR Training & Development 1	(0.712, 0.995)	0.01 (2-tailed)
	Satisfaction – Impact - Skills	(0.742, 0.978)	0.01 (2-tailed)

III. Ministry of Investment (MOI)

HR Training & Development 2	(0.713, 0.950)	0.05 (2-tailed)
-----------------------------	----------------	-----------------

IV. Public Hospital (PH)

Construct	Dimension	Correlations range	Significant
			level
Strategy	Motives - Strategic Alignment – Structure – Funding - Leadership	(0.592, 0.883)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Challenges – Value on Stakeholders	(0.551, 0.795)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	IT strategy - Goals	(0.610, 0.921)	0.01 (2-tailed)
	Role of Stakeholders	(0.683, 0.904)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Stakeholders' Identification	(0.712, 0.954)	0.01 (2-tailed)
Processes	Business Process Change (BPC)	(0.627, 0.889)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Evaluation of employees' Use & Impact on Stakeholders	(0.545, 0.899)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Evaluation of E-Government	(0.637, 0.916)	0.05 (2-tailed)
Technology	Security - H/W – Tech. Support	(0.644, 0.890)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Info Convenience - Sys. Quality – Tech. Support Communication	(0.525, 0.800)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Info Timeliness & Internet Integration - Sys. Reliability	(0.531, 0.822)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Sys. Usability, Accessibility, & Flexibility	(0.616, 0.899)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Info Availability, Accuracy, & Vert. Integration	(0.543, 0.875)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Info Horiz. Integration	(0.655, 0.870)	0.05 (2-tailed)
People	HR Training & Development 1	(0.745, 0.987)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Impact – CS Skills – Satisfaction - HR Training & Development 2	(0.701, 0.979)	0.01 (2-tailed)
	Change Skills	(0.726, 0.978)	0.05 (2-tailed)

Appendix H: Partial Models (LISREL Version 8.72)

I. Montaza District (MD)

Hypothesis 1 (H1): E-government strategy impacts EGR of the organisation

Using EGR as the dependent construct and Strategy as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a modest fit to data (x^2 = 18.53, df = 14, *P*-value = 0.17969) as shown in the figure. Therefore, Strategy has an impact on EGR in the partial model.



Chi-Sguara=18.60, df=14, P-wains=0.17069, 1603EA=0.069

Hypothesis 2 (H2): Organisation's processes impacts its EGR

Using EGR as the dependent construct and Process as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a high fit to data ($x^2 = 5.26$, df = 10, *P*-value = 0.87330) as shown in the figure. Therefore, Processes have an impact on EGR in the partial model.



Chi-Square-3.t6, df=10, P-value=0.07030, RESEN=0.000

Hypothesis 3 (H3): Technology in the organisation impacts its EGR

Using EGR as the dependent construct and Technology as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a high fit to data (x^2 = 11.36, df = 14, *P*-value = 0.65767) as shown in the figure. Therefore, Technology has an impact on EGR in the partial model.



ELI-Square=11.96, 42=14, P-weine=0.65767, BESLA=0.000
Hypothesis 4 (H4): People in the organisation impacts its EGR

Using EGR as the dependent construct and People as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a perfect fit to data (x^2 0.00, df = 0, *P*-value = 1.00000) as shown in the figure. Therefore, people have high impact on EGR in the partial model.



Dut-Square=0.00, 41=0, 0-value=1.0000, 20521=0.000

Hypothesis 5a (H5a): E-government strategy impacts processes in the organisation

Using Process as the dependent construct and Strategy as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a weak fit to data (x^2 = 25.67, df = 19, *P*-value = 0.13960) as shown in the figure. Therefore, Strategy has weak impact on Processes in the partial model.



Chi-Squara=25.67, 42=19, P-webus=0.19960, DH654=0.011

Hypothesis 5b (H5b): E-government strategy impacts technology in the organisation

Using Technology as the dependent construct and Strategy as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a modest fit to data ($x^2 = 33.43$, df = 43, *P*-value = 0.49542) as shown in the figure. Therefore, Strategy has modest impact on Technology in the partial model.



Ebi-Square=19.43, df=94, F-webue=0.49842, BMSEA=0.000

Hypothesis 5c (H5c): E-government strategy impacts people in the organisation

Using People as the dependent construct and Strategy as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a high fit to data ($x^2 = 13.8$, df = 19, *P*-value = 0.79496) as shown in the figure. Therefore, Strategy has high impact on People in the partial model.



Chi-Squara=10.00, 42=19, F-value=0.19496, BHSLA=0.000

II. Tax Unit for Non-Commercial Professions (TUNC)

Hypothesis 1 (H1): E-government strategy impacts EGR in the organisation

Using EGR as the dependent construct and Strategy as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a high fit to data ($x^2 = 19.74$, df = 10, *P*-value = 0.84327) as shown in the figure.



Chi=3quare=19.74 , df=10. P-value=0.84327 , RNSDA=0.000

Hypothesis 2 (H2): Organisation's processes impacts its EGR

Using EGR as the dependent construct and Process as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a high fit to data ($x^2 = 11.12$, df = 8, *P*-value = 0.91212) as shown in the figure.



Chi=3quare=11.12, df=8 , P=value=0.91212, RMSEA=0.000

Hypothesis 3 (H3): Technology in the organisation impacts its EGR

Using EGR as the dependent construct and Technology as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a high fit to data (x^2 = 9.75, df = 18, *P*-value = 0.88656) as shown in the figure.



Chi=3guare=9.75 . df=18 . P=value=0.88656 / RM3E&=0.000

Hypothesis 4 (H4): People in the organisation impacts its EGR

Using EGR as the dependent construct and People as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a high fit to data (x^2 6.75, df = 10, *P*-value = 0.90125) as shown in the figure.



Chi-Square=6.75 , df=10. P-value=0.90125 RESE&=0.000

Hypothesis 5a (H5a): E-government strategy impacts processes in the organisation

Using Process as the dependent construct and Strategy as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a modest fit to data $(x^2 = 34.18, df = 20, P$ -value = 0.41201) as shown in the figure.



Hypothesis 5b (H5b): E-government strategy impacts technology in the organisation

Using Technology as the dependent construct and Strategy as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a modest fit to data ($x^2 = 36.18$, df = 32, *P*-value = 0.41274) as shown in the figure.



Hypothesis 5c (H5c): E-government strategy impacts people in the organisation

Using People as the dependent construct and Strategy as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a high fit to data ($x^2 = 14.16$, df = 20, *P*-value = 0.85100) as shown in the figure.



Chi=Square=14.16 / df=20. P-value=0.85100 / RMSE&=0.000

III. Ministry of Investment (MOI)

Hypothesis 1 (H1): E-government strategy impacts EGR in the organisation

Using EGR as the dependent construct and Strategy as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a high fit to data ($x^2 = 7.38$, df = 11, *P*-value = 0.90053).



Chi=3quare=7.38 , df=11, P=value=0.90053 , RNSEA=0.000

Hypothesis 2 (H2): Organisation's processes impacts its EGR

Using EGR as the dependent construct and Process as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a high fit to data ($x^2 = 6.74$, df = 9, *P*-value = 0.91147)



Chi-Square= 6.74, df=9, P-value=0.91147, RMSEA=0.000

Hypothesis 3 (H3): Technology in the organisation impacts its EGR

Using EGR as the dependent construct and Technology as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a high fit to data (x^2 = 6.43, df = 10, *P*-value = 0.92069).



Chi-Square=6.43 . df=10. P-value=0.92069 / RM3E&=0.000

Hypothesis 4 (H4): People in the organisation impacts its EGR

Using EGR as the dependent construct and People as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a high fit to data ($x^2 = 7.48$, df = 11, *P*-value = 0.90006).



Hypothesis 5a (H5a): E-government strategy impacts processes in the organisation

Using Process as the dependent construct and Strategy as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a good fit to data (x^2 = 12.37, df = 10, *P*-value = 0.50834).



Hypothesis 5b (H5b): E-government strategy impacts technology in the organisation

Using Technology as the dependent construct and Strategy as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a good fit to data ($x^2 = 28.74$, df = 27, *P*-value = 0.54732).



Chi=Square=28.74 , df=27, P-value=0.54732 , RMSEA=0.000

Hypothesis 5c (H5c): E-government strategy impacts people in the organisation

Using People as the dependent construct and Strategy as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a high fit to data ($x^2 = 8.80$, df = 14, *P*-value = 0.88645).



Chi=3guare=8.80 , df=14, P-value=0.88645 , PM3E&=0.000

IV. Public Hospital (PH)

Hypothesis 1 (H1): E-government strategy impacts EGR in the organisation

Using EGR as the dependent construct and Strategy as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a weak fit to data ($x^2 = 57.44$, df = 21, *P*-value = 0.28628).



 ${\rm Ch\,i^{-3}\,quar\,e^{-}57.44}$, df=21 , P=value=0.28628 , RNSEA=0.199

Hypothesis 2 (H2): Organisation's processes impacts its EGR

Using EGR as the dependent construct and Process as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a high fit to data ($x^2 = 3.28$, df = 11, *P*-value = 0.90320)



Chi=Square=3.28 , df=11 , P=value=0.90320 , RMSEA=0.000

Hypothesis 3 (H3): Technology in the organisation impacts its EGR

Using EGR as the dependent construct and Technology as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a modest fit to data ($x^2 = 26.67$, df = 14, *P*-value = 0.40072).



Chi-3guare=26.67 , df=14 , P-value=0.40072 , PM3E&=0.078

Hypothesis 4 (H4): People in the organisation impacts its EGR

Using EGR as the dependent construct and People as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a high fit to data ($x^2 = 5.15$, df = 10, *P*-value = 0.88978).



Chi-Square=5-15 , df=10.P-value=0.8897& RESE&=0.000

Hypothesis 5a (H5a): E-government strategy impacts processes in the organisation

Using Process as the dependent construct and Strategy as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a modest fit to data $(x^2 = 40.31, df = 21, P-value = 0.32774)$.



Chi-Square=40.31 , df=21 , P-value=0.32774 , DHBEA=0.103

Hypothesis 5b (H5b): E-government strategy impacts technology in the organisation

Using Technology as the dependent construct and Strategy as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a weak fit to data ($x^2 = 54.89$, df = 14, *P*-value = 0.33819).



Hypothesis 5c (H5c): E-government strategy impacts people in the organisation

Using People as the dependent construct and Strategy as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a high fit to data ($x^2 = 15.31$, df = 12, *P*-value = 0.84369).



Chi-Square=15.31 , df=12, P-value=0.84369 , RMSEA=0.000

Appendix I: Combined Data of Egypt

I. Factor Analysis

1. Strategy

Initial factor analysis

		Component					
	Strategic Alignment 1 – Promotion - Leadership	Action Plan - Goals 2 - Challenges - Stakeholders	Goals 1 – Motives - External Funding	Strategic Alignment 3 – Leadership	Accountability – Structure - Policies & Procedures	IT Strategy – Resource Allocation	
IT Strategy	.471	.333	.160	124	.081	.704	
Strategy:Goals 1	.374	.332	.560	.019	.218	.249	
Strategy: Action Plan	.107	.915	006	174	.107	.254	
Strategy:Goals 2	.338	.570	.127	578	.148	.205	
Strategy: Motives	.015	.287	.810	.326	.004	.126	
Strategy: Challenges	.068	.859	.222	.406	.043	.149	
Strategy: Strtgic Align 1	.514	.401	.312	.472	.367	221	
Strategy: Strtgic Align 2	.526	.262	.241	.657	.337	.063	
Strategy: Strtgic Align 3	.392	.027	.298	.811	.193	023	
Strategy: Action Plan – Org Rsrce alloc	.225	084	.094	.172	.285	.868	
Strategy: Action Plan – Org Accountability	.349	.103	.077	.120	.917	.029	
Strategy: Action Plan – Org Structure	.415	.124	.017	.113	.735	.452	
Strategy: Action Plan – Org. – Est. & imp of policies & procedures	.051	.347	.406	.206	.752	.303	
Strategy: Action Plan – Org. – Leadership	.038	.103	.422	.768	.142	.389	

Strategy: Action Plan – Funding Internal	.525	.127	.695	.246	.318	.212
Strategy: Action Plan – Funding External	.421	.150	.820	.288	.155	050
Strategy: Action Plan – Identif. of stkeholdrs	.691	.214	.537	072	021	086
Strategy: Action Plan – Role of each stkeholdr	.335	.755	.295	.174	.223	357
Strategy: Action Plan – Value on each stkeholdr	.179	.825	.417	.103	.147	116
Strategy: Action Plan – Promotion	.887	.169	.339	008	.171	.071
Strategy: Action Plan – Org Leadership 1	.894	.076	.162	.109	.245	.254
Strategy: Action Plan – Org Leadership 2	.921	.062	.073	.122	.245	.184
Strategy: Action Plan – Org Leadership 3	.734	.293	.170	.385	.260	.174
Strategy: Action Plan – Org Leadership 4	.748	.209	.054	.349	.126	.421

Extraction Method: Principal Axis Factoring.

Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization. Rotation converged in 9 iterations. Loading rule: Choose loading number greater than 0.5 on one factor, and less than 0.5 on all others. Eigenvalues: 12.607, 2.823, 2.566, 1.857, 1.343 and 1.049

Final factor analysis

		Component					
	Motives – Challenges -		Accountability –				
	Strategic Alignment –	Promotion -	Structure - Policies &	IT Strategy	Action Plan -		
IT Strotomy	Leadership – Stakeholders	Leadership	Procedures	- Goals 1	Goals 2		
	003	.361	.039	.709	.331		
Strategy:Goals 1	.286	.283	.145	.787	.021		
Strategy: Action Plan	.405	.004	.199	.497	.667		
Strategy:Goals 2	.225	.287	.126	.145	.818		
Strategy: Motives	.853	.159	.001	.019	095		
Strategy: Challenges	.828	.055	.192	.295	.208		
Strategy: Strtgic Align 1	.517	.485	.436	.320	208		
Strategy: Strtgic Align 3	.343	.334	.577	.298	666		
Strategy: Action Plan – Org Rsrce alloc	.101	.316	.221	.131	.055		
Strategy: Action Plan – Org Accountability	.164	.430	.835	.059	.029		
Strategy: Action Plan – Org Structure	.119	.417	.643	.042	.159		
Strategy: Action Plan – Org. – Est. & imp of policies & procedures	.369	.033	.758	.356	.024		
Strategy: Action Plan – Org. – Leadership	.627	.143	.194	.146	395		
Strategy: Action Plan – Funding External	.713	.471	.123	.147	182		
Strategy: Action Plan – Role of each stkeholdr	.790	.357	.295	.097	.233		
Strategy: Action Plan – Value on each stkeholdr	.853	.216	.190	.144	.331		
Strategy: Action Plan – Promotion	.356	.879	.115	.153	.138		

Strategy: Action Plan – Org Leadership 1	.163	.879	.218	.209	.058
Strategy: Action Plan – Org Leadership 2	.092	.918	.214	.259	.021
Strategy: Action Plan – Org Leadership 3	.221	.646	.301	.200	156
Strategy: Action Plan – Org Leadership 4	.376	.722	.157	.067	.069

Extraction Method: Principal Axis Factoring. Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization. Rotation converged in 14 iterations. Loading rule: Choose loading number greater than 0.5 on one factor, and less than 0.5 on all others. Eigenvalues: 10.772, 2.374, 2.169, 1.564, 1.199 and 1.057

2. Processes

Initial factor analysis

		Component			
	Evaluation of Citizens & Employees Feedback	Business Process (Definition, Documentation, Streamlining, Vert. Integration)	Business Process Change (Motives, Focal Areas)	Evaluation of Employees' Use	Evaluation of Impact on Stakeholders
Processes: BPC	.163	233	.529	088	163
Processes: BPC – Motives of BPC	056	.188	.941	051	.098
Processes: BPC – Focal areas of BPC	436	.241	.620	.318	.467
Processes: BPC – Define BPs	001	.765	254	.131	.279
Processes: BPC – Document BPs	228	.547	.022	.204	122
Processes: BPC – Streamline BPs	288	.881	115	.074	.082
Processes: BPC – Vertical integration	.152	.807	.372	.274	059
Processes: BPC – Horizontal integration	.557	.652	.370	123	043
Processes: Evaluation	204	.352	186	.452	.087
Processes: Evaluation – Design/reality gap	.223	.531	.088	.421	.586
Processes: Evaluation – Use of citizens	.748	.061	.104	053	111
Processes: Evaluation – Use of employees	076	.012	.080	.888	120
Processes: Evaluation – Citizens feedback – PU	.827	.028	.013	172	073

Processes: Evaluation – Citizens feedback – PEOU	.781	.109	139	173	.132
Processes: Evaluation – Citizens feedback Stsfction	.928	006	194	045	.023
Processes: Evaluation – Citizens feedback Trust	.928	.077	244	019	152
Processes: Evaluation – Employees feedback – PU	.916	088	.191	043	.184
Processes: Evaluation – Employees feedback – PEOU	.930	086	.105	.013	.189
Processes: Evaluation – Employees feedback Stsfction	.916	098	.206	053	.167
Processes: Evaluation – Impact on stkhlders	.201	.011	.010	119	.940

Extraction Method: Principal Axis Factoring. Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization. Rotation converged in 10 iterations.

Loading rule: Choose loading number greater than 0.5 on one factor, and less than 0.5 on all others.

Eigenvalues: 7.300, 4.223, 2.178, 1.502, 1.377 and 1.081

Final factor analysis

		Component				
	Evaluation of	Business Process (Definition,	Evaluation of	Evaluation of	Business Process	
	Citizens Feedback	Documentation, Streamlining, Integration)	Employees Feedback	Employees' Use	Change (BPC)	
Processes: BPC	.145	470	016	056	.527	
Processes: BPC – Motives of BPC	039	.099	.146	123	.928	
Processes: BPC – Focal areas of BPC	115	.370	135	.231	.711	
Processes: BPC – Define BPs	.144	.893	.006	.040	059	
Processes: BPC – Document BPs	173	.713	.126	.363	.106	
Processes: BPC – Streamline BPs	.004	.852	174	005	.064	
Processes: BPC – Vertical integration	.250	.757	.197	076	.398	
Processes: Evaluation – Use of citizens	.536	264	.169	538	.068	
Processes: Evaluation – Use of employees	.183	.377	.129	.754	.227	
Processes: Evaluation – Citizens feedback – PU	.951	015	.145	035	.104	
Processes: Evaluation – Citizens feedback – PEOU	.923	.061	.142	.023	.071	
Processes: Evaluation – Citizens feedback Stsfction	.933	.101	.125	.044	065	
Processes: Evaluation – Citizens feedback Trust	.941	.124	.145	025	138	

Processes: Evaluation – Employees feedback – PU	.308	015	.931	038	006
Processes: Evaluation – Employees feedback – PEOU	.301	005	.923	.003	062
Processes: Evaluation – Employees feedback Stsfction	.353	047	.913	064	.007
Processes: Evaluation – Impact on stkhlders	220	.051	.622	.065	.108

Extraction Method: Principal Axis Factoring. Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization. Rotation converged in 6 iterations.

Loading rule: Choose loading number greater than 0.5 on one factor, and less than 0.5 on all others. Eigenvalues: 5.466, 4.116, 2.307, 1.987 and 1.449

3. Technology

Initial factor analysis

		Component			-
	Website (No. of Services) - Security – H/W - Tech. Support (Reliability, Competence 1, Responsiveness, Timeliness, Comm. 1-4)	Info (Availability, Accuracy, Timeliness, Convenience, Vert. & Internet Integration) – Sys. Quality - Tech. Support (Comm. 3, Access)	Website (Content) - Tech. Support (Commitment)	Info (Horiz. Integration) - Tech. Support (Comm. 5)	Tech. Support (Competence 2)
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Info quality Content	492	.403	040	.413	016
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Info quality Availability	258	.713	071	.241	091
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Info quality Accuracy	616	.712	044	048	070
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Info quality Timeliness	.134	.622	006	.317	225
Tchnlgy: IS Structre Info quality Convenience	398	.638	232	.468	332
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Info quality – Vert. integ.	202	.760	182	173	.129
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Info quality – Horiz. Integ.	004	.498	208	.660	282
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Info quality – Intrnt integ.	.019	.709	003	241	.355
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Info quality	492	.559	.268	.319	.166
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality Reliability	576	.683	.149	104	.286
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality Ease of use	534	.716	.210	240	.122
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality Accessibility	735	.586	.049	023	019

Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality Usefulness	665	.539	.218	.104	.066	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality flexibility	479	.778	.248	095	.232	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Sys. quality – Vert. integ.	540	.629	.373	099	.191	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Sys. quality – Horiz. integ.	293	.706	036	.392	.195	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Sys. quality – Intrnt integ.	409	.737	.303	021	169	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality	036	.766	101	200	.374	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality Usability	.552	.204	.614	140	.102	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality Layout	.565	.291	.002	035	116	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality Navigation	.564	.505	.106	491	.017	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality Consistency	.709	.097	.598	145	114	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality Content	.434	.242	.568	130	451	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality – No. of services	.521	141	.461	.283	159	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality Stge1	.736	.353	.017	.360	.185	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality Stge2	.676	038	.045	.503	019	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality Stge3	.073	252	.306	.073	.471	

Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality Stge4	.277	.511	127	.195	.064	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Web quality	.107	112	.600	.144	.177	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Security Data protection	.855	100	.109	.375	.106	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Security S/W protection	.702	320	.104	.183	.479	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Security Data transfer	.893	.166	.163	.117	.127	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Security Access prvlgs	.653	169	.670	017	138	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Security Payment safty	.671	.545	.149	.117	.329	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Security	.834	.114	.394	.021	101	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – H/W Quality	.632	.152	051	354	064	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – H/W – Vert. integ.	.568	.435	.007	091	169	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – H/W – Horiz. integ.	.790	.087	135	.371	200	
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – H/W	.796	.193	.079	.182	060	
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Reliability1	.816	.124	318	.059	.334	
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Reliability2	.817	.301	289	.138	.234	
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Reliability3	.801	.360	299	.107	.075	
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Competence1	.551	.353	500	329	148	
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Competence2	.417	088	510	162	.529	
--	------	------	------	------	------	
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Responsiveness	.805	.321	144	.065	019	
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Timeliness1	.703	.322	459	026	100	
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Timeliness2	.684	.341	353	054	073	
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Comm.1	.758	.004	.068	400	.032	
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Comm.2	.037	.509	231	224	146	
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Comm.3	.340	.630	413	158	212	
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Comm.4	.658	.485	.157	315	043	
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Comm.5	.239	.352	172	.520	382	
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Commitment	.186	.397	.617	152	121	
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Access	.350	.676	.194	.218	031	

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis. Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization. Rotation converged in 9 iterations. Loading rule: Choose loading number greater than 0.5 on one factor, and less than 0.5 on all others. Eigenvalues: 17.389, 12.021, 4.929, 2.051 and 1.434

Final factor analysis

			Component		
	Security – Tech. Support	Info Quality – Sys. Quality	Info (Timeliness, Convenience, Vert. Integration)	Sys. (Hor. Integration) – Website (Content) – Tech. Support (Comm.)	Tech. Support (Commitment)
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Info quality Availability	.314	.734	.190	.084	209
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Info quality Accuracy	046	.841	120	.250	140
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Info quality Timeliness	.218	.326	.856	.077	150
Tchnlgy: IS Structre Info quality Convenience	.039	.474	.582	.140	351
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Info quality – Vert. integ.	.323	.674	.159	.163	.207
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Info quality – Horiz. Integ.	.058	.174	.029	066	.663
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Info quality – Intrnt integ.	.175	.154	.659	.209	095
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Info quality	.275	.747	.244	215	300
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality Reliability	105	.893	.081	.027	.081
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality Ease of use	229	.902	.139	.156	.186
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality Accessibility	215	.904	022	.061	148
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality Usefulness	205	.730	.123	.032	084
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality flexibility	136	.921	.067	.045	.094

Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Sys. quality – Vert. integ.	172	.867	128	016	.339
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Sys. quality – Horiz. integ.	059	.292	.012	.517	.161
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Sys. quality – Intrnt integ.	127	.633	.458	.108	041
Tchnlgy: IS Structure Sys. quality	.396	.732	.259	.160	149
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality Content	.176	.081	.126	.588	.110
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Web quality – No. of services	.254	189	.770	164	.042
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Security Data protection	.873	261	017	259	.077
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Security S/W protection	.699	336	.013	337	033
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Security Data transfer	.915	050	.084	041	.268
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – Security	.579	264	.246	007	.516
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – H/W – Horiz. integ.	.823	218	.052	.074	119
Tchnlgy: IS Structure – H/W	.873	.014	164	.108	.021
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Reliability1	.928	039	033	.091	.049
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Reliability2	.937	.045	.148	.148	008
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Reliability3	.861	.013	.333	.278	029
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Competence1	.626	.040	.095	.697	118

Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Competence2	.741	.126	104	.139	336
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Responsiveness	.801	025	.447	.166	.010
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Timeliness1	.744	070	.338	.335	095
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Timeliness2	.795	.117	.240	.222	.010
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Comm.1	.679	103	.087	.299	.321
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Comm.3	.526	.300	.367	.447	221
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Comm.4	.555	.286	.378	.314	.305
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Comm.5	.290	.320	.037	.845	002
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Commitment	.079	.107	227	066	.919
Tchnlgy: Tech. Supp. & Dev Access	.676	.504	.040	010	014

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis. Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization. Rotation converged in 16 iterations. Loading rule: Choose loading number greater than 0.5 on one factor, and less than 0.5 on all others.

Eigenvalues: 13.369, 10.329, 2.773, 2.292 and 1.421

4. People

Initial factor analysis

	Component			
	HR Training &	Impact - Adapt. To	Skillo	
People: US				
	.473	.413	.287	
People: Impact on employees	.264	.760	.167	
People: Skills – Adapt. to change	.078	.868	.167	
People: Skills – Integration	.142	.157	.919	
People: Skills – Cust. Serv.	043	.279	.849	
Like Computers	.043	.798	.142	
People: HR Train. & Dev.1	.878	.265	.160	
People: HR Train. & Dev.2	.852	.211	.154	
People: HR Train. & Dev.3	.751	.451	.062	
People: HR Train. & Dev.4	.908	.159	.140	
People: HR Train. & Dev.5	.850	.087	.117	
People: HR Train. & Dev.6	.791	012	115	
People: HR Train. & Dev.7	.815	025	116	

Extraction Method: Principal Axis Factoring.

Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization. Rotation converged in 5 iterations.

Loading rule: Choose loading number greater than 0.5 on one factor, and less than 0.5 on all others. Eigenvalues: 6.106, 2.448 and 1.093

Final factor analysis

	Component		
	HR Training &	Impact - Adapt. To	
	Development	change Skills	Skills
People: Impact on employees	.246	.709	.159
People: Skills – Adapt. to change	.090	.873	.164
People: Skills – Integration	.140	.145	.916
People: Skills – Cust. Serv.	037	.288	.858
Like Computers	.055	.823	.154
People: HR Train. & Dev.1	.879	.264	.160
People: HR Train. & Dev.2	.858	.222	.162
People: HR Train. & Dev.3	.759	.459	.070
People: HR Train. & Dev.4	.908	.163	.134
People: HR Train. & Dev.5	.852	.099	.111
People: HR Train. & Dev.6	.788	026	122
People: HR Train. & Dev.7	.808.	038	113

Extraction Method: Principal Axis Factoring.

Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization. Rotation converged in 4 iterations.

Loading rule: Choose loading number greater than 0.5 on one factor, and less than 0.5 on all others. Eigenvalues: 5.692, 2.399 and 1.090

II. Correlations

		Motives – Challenges -		Accountability -		
		Strategic Alignment –	Promotion -	Structure - Policies	IT Strategy	Action Plan -
		Leadership – Stakeholders	Leadership	& Procedures	- Goals 1	Goals 2
Motives – Challenges - Strategic	Pearson					
Alignment – Leadership –	Correlation	1	.013	.117	.189	.104
Stakeholders						
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.958	.666	.483	.702
	Ν	18	18	16	16	16
Promotion - Leadership	Pearson Correlation	.013	1	.184	.397	.120
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.958		.484	.128	.658
	Ν	18	18	16	16	16
Accountability – Structure - Policies & Procedures	Pearson Correlation	.117	.184	1	.421	.019
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.666	.484		.104	.945
	N	16	16	16	16	16
IT Strategy - Goals 1	Pearson Correlation	.189	.397	.421	1	.087
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.483	.128	.104		.749
	Ν	16	16	16	16	16
Action Plan - Goals 2	Pearson Correlation	.104	.120	.019	.087	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.984	.711	.455	.989
	N	16	16	16	16	16

1. <u>Strategy</u>

** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

2. Processes

Evaluation of Citizens feedback	Pearson Correlation	Evaluation of Citizens feedback 1	Business Process (definition, documentation, streamlining, integration) .047	Evaluation of employees feedback .295
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.861	.267
	Ν	16	16	16
Business Process (definition, documentation, streamlining, integration)	Pearson Correlation	.047	1	.099
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.861		.714
	N	16	16	16
Evaluation of employees feedback	Pearson Correlation	.295	.099	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.267	.714	
	N	16	16	16

3. <u>Technology</u>

		Security – Tech. Support	Info Quality – Sys. Quality	Info Timeliness, Convenience, & Vert. Integration	Sys. Hor. Integration – Web Content – Tech. Support Communication	Tech. Support Commitment
Security – Tech. Support	Pearson Correlation	1	.038	.067	.153	.448(*)
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.839	.720	.412	.011
	N	31	31	31	31	31
Info Quality – Sys. Quality	Pearson Correlation	.038	1	.170	.536(**)	.458(**)
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.839		.361	.002	.010
	N	31	31	31	31	31
Info Timeliness, Convenience, & Vert. Integration	Pearson Correlation	.067	.170	1	.347	.243
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.720	.361		.056	.189
	N	31	31	31	31	31
Sys. Hor. Integration – Web Content – Tech. Support Communication	Pearson Correlation	.153	.536(**)	.347	1	.427(*)
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.412	.002	.056		.017
	Ν	31	31	31	31	31
Tech. Support Commitment	Pearson Correlation	.448(*)	.458(**)	.243	.427(*)	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.011	.010	.189	.017	
	Ν	31	31	31	31	31

* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed). ** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

4. <u>People</u>

		HR Training & Development	Impact - Adapt. To change Skills	Skills
HR Training & Development	Pearson Correlation	1	.372	.159
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.060	.334
	N	39	39	39
Impact - Adapt. To change Skills	Pearson Correlation	.372	1	.223
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.060		.150
	Ν	39	43	43
Skills	Pearson Correlation	.159	.223	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.334	.150	
	N	39	43	43

* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

III. Reliability

Constructs	Cronbach's Alpha	Dimensions	Cronbach's
			Alpha
Strategy	0.9055	Motives – Challenges - Strategic Alignment –	0.9334
		Leadership – Stakeholders	
		Promotion - Leadership	0.9285
		Accountability – Structure - Policies & Procedures	0.9307
		IT Strategy - Goals 1	0.9221
		Action Plan - Goals 2	0.9534
Processes	0.8996	Evaluation of Citizens feedback	0.9019
		Business Process (definition, documentation,	0.8896
		streamlining, integration)	
		Evaluation of employees feedback	0.9012
Technology	0.9122	Security – Tech. Support	0.9256
		Info Quality – Sys. Quality	0.9138
		Info Timeliness, Convenience, & Vert. Integration	0.9296
		Sys. Hor. Integration – Web Content – Tech. Support	0.9007
		Communication	
		Tech. Support Commitment	0.9221
People	0.9199	HR Training & Development	0.9105
		Impact - Adapt. To change Skills	0.9232
		Skills	0.9563
EGR	0.9512	EGR	0.9834

IV. Convergent Validity

Construct	Dimension	Correlations	Significant level
		range	
Strategy	Motives – Challenges - Strategic Alignment – Leadership – Stakeholders	(0.688, 0.912)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Promotion - Leadership	(0.771, 0.966)	0.01 (2-tailed)
	Accountability – Structure - Policies & Procedures	(0.652, 0.855)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	IT Strategy - Goals 1	(0.671, 0.900)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Action Plan - Goals 2	(0.754, 0.972)	0.01 (2-tailed)
Processes	Evaluation of Citizens feedback	(0.713, 0.975)	0.01 (2-tailed)
	Business Process (definition, documentation, streamlining, integration)	(0.701, 0.944)	0.01 (2-tailed)
	Evaluation of employees feedback	(0.721, 0.968)	0.01 (2-tailed)
Technology	Security – Tech. Support	(0.699, 0.984)	0.01 (2-tailed)
	Info Quality – Sys. Quality	(0.714, 0.966)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Info Timeliness, Convenience, & Vert. Integration	(0.696, 0.978)	0.01 (2-tailed)
	Sys. Hor. Integration – Web Content – Tech. Support Communication	(0.637, 0.901)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Tech. Support Commitment	(0.684, 0.912)	0.01 (2-tailed)
People	HR Training & Development	(0.744, 0.986)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Impact - Adapt. To change Skills	(0.715, 0.967)	0.05 (2-tailed)
	Skills	(0.724, 0.950)	0.05 (2-tailed)

V. Partial Models

<u>Hypothesis 1 (H1): E-government strategy impacts EGR of the organisation</u> Using EGR as the dependent construct and Strategy as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a modest fit to data ($x^2 = 32.73$, df = 13, *P*-value = 0.39749).



Chi=3quare=32.73 , df=13 , P=value=0.39749 , RNSE&=0.174

Hypothesis 2 (H2): Organisation's processes impacts its EGR

Using EGR as the dependent construct and Process as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a high fit to data ($x^2 = 4.06$, df = 12, *P*-value = 0.91003)



Chi=3quare=4.06 , df=12, P-value=0.91003, RMSEA=0.000

Hypothesis 3 (H3): Technology in the organisation impacts its EGR

Using EGR as the dependent construct and Technology as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a high fit to data ($x^2 = 2.99$, df = 20, *P*-value = 0.96958).



Chi=Square=2.99 , df=20, P=value=0.96958 , RMSE&=0.000

<u>Hypothesis 4 (H4): People in the organisation impacts its EGR</u> Using EGR as the dependent construct and People as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a high fit to data ($x^2 = 4.38$, df = 18, *P*-value = 0.92781).



Chi-Square=4.38 , df=18. P-value=0.92781. RESEA=0.000

Hypothesis 5a (H5a): E-government strategy impacts processes in the organisation

Using Process as the dependent construct and Strategy as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display modest fit to data ($x^2 = 16.86$, df = 22, *P*-value = 0.45294).



Chi-Square=16.86 , df=22 , P-value=0.45294 , RMSEA=0.265

Hypothesis 5b (H2): E-government strategy impacts technology in the organisation

Using Technology as the dependent construct and Strategy as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display modest fit to data ($x^2 = 22.43$, df = 32, *P*-value = 0.51472).



Chi-Square=22.43 , df=32 . P-value=0.51472 . RMSEA=0.085

Hypothesis 5c (H5c): E-government strategy impacts people in the organisation

Using People as the dependent construct and Strategy as the independent construct in the partial model, the results display a high fit to data ($x^2 = 5.73$, df = 18, *P*-value = 0.90532).



Chi=3 guare=5.73 , df=18 , P=value=0.90532 , RM3E λ =0.000